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PART I
Item 1. BUSINESS

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K we refer to N¥ark Mortgage Trust, Inc., together with its comdated subsidiaries, as “we,” “us,
“Company,” or “our,” unless we specifically statetteerwise or the context indicates otherwise. Werred our whollyewned taxable REIT subsidiaries
“TRSs” and our wholly-owned qualified REIT subsiiés as “QRSs.”In addition, the following defines certain of thememonly used terms in t
report: “RMBS” refers to residential mortgage-backsecurities comprised of adjustable-rate, hybréjuatable-rate, fixedate, interest only and inver
interest only, and principal only securities; “AggnRMBS"refers to RMBS representing interests in or obliyad backed by pools of mortgage loans is
or guaranteed by a federally chartered corporat{é8SE"), such as the Federal National Mortgage Asisdion (“Fannie Mae”) or the Federal Home Lo
Mortgage Corporation “Freddie Mac”), or an agency of the U.S. governmesiich as the Government National Mortgage Assiocigt'Ginnie Mae”);
“Agency ARMs” refers to Agency RMBS comprised giistdble-rate and hybrid adjustable-rate RMBS; “rdgency RMBS'tefers to RMBS backed
prime jumbo and Alternative-paper (“Alt-A”) mortgage loans; “IOs” refers colletively to interest only and inverse interest amigrtgagebacked securitie
that represent the right to the interest compor@rthe cash flow from a pool of mortgage loans; &gy 10s”refers to 10s that represent the right to
interest components of the cash flow from a poahoftgage loans issued or guaranteed by a GSE aagemcy of the U.S. government; “POsgfers tc
mortgage-backed securities that represent the righhe principal component of the cash flow fromoal of mortgage loans; “ARMSs” refers to adjustabl
rate residential mortgage loans; “prime ARM loanahd “residential securitized loans” each refer toipe credit quality residential ARM loansfime
ARM loan’) held in securitization trusts; “distressed residtial loans” refers to pools of performing and performing, fixed-rate and adjustabtate, fully
amortizing, interest-only and balloon, seasoned tgagge loans secured by first liens on one- to famnily properties; “CMBS” refers to commerci
mortgage-backed securities comprised of commero@itgage passarough securities, as well as 10 or PO securitileat represent the right to a spec
component of the cash flow from a pool of commene@tgage loans; and “CLO” refers to collateraliddoan obligations.

General

We are a real estate investment trust, or REIThénbusiness of acquiring, investing in, financargl managing primarily mortgagelated asse
and, to a lesser extent, financial assets. Ourcbbgeis to manage a portfolio of investments thit deliver stable distributions to our stockhotdeove
diverse economic conditions. We intend to achidve bbjective through a combination of net interestrgin and net realized capital gains from
investment portfolio. Our portfolio includes certairedit sensitive assets and investments sourced distressed markets in recent years that ctéa
potential for capital gains, as well as more tiad#l types of mortgage-related investments thaegge interest income.

We were formed in 2003 and commenced operatiors\astically integrated mortgage origination andtfedio investment manager in 2004 u;
the completion of our initial public offering. Se@xiting the mortgage origination business in 200& have endeavored to build a diversified invest
portfolio that includes elements of interest ratd aredit risk, which we believe is best suitedétiver stable cash flows over various economides/c

Under our investment strategy, our targeted assetently include multfamily CMBS, mezzanine loans to and preferred gginvestments i
owners of multitamily properties, residential mortgage loans,udahg loans sourced from distressed markets, arh&ygRMBS. Subject to maintaining
qualification as a REIT, we also may opportunidljcacquire and manage various other types of nagegelated and financial assets that we believe
compensate us appropriately for the risks assatiatith them, including, without limitation, noAgency RMBS (which may include 10s and Pt
collateralized mortgage obligations and securitgssied by newly originated residential securit@asi including credit sensitive securities fromst
securitizations.

We strive to maintain and achieve a balanced awersk funding mix to finance our assets and opmrstiWe rely primarily on a combination
short-term borrowings, such as repurchase agresmstit terms typically of 30 days, and longer testructured financings, such as securitization and r
securitization transactions, with terms longer thaa year.

We internally manage a certain portion of our mmitf including Agency ARMs, Agency fixed-rate RMB8&onAgency RMBS, CLOs ar
residential securitized loans. In addition, as p&dur investment strategy, we also contract wéhain external investment managers to managéfispgsse
types targeted by us. We are a party to separadstiment management agreements with Headlands Mssetgement, LLC, or Headlands, RiverBanc, L
or RiverBanc, and The Midway Group, L.P., or Midwayth Headlands providing investment managememiceEs with respect to our investments in ce
distressed residential loans, RiverBanc providingestment management services with respect to rgsiments in multiamily CMBS and certa
commercial real estate-related debt investmentsMidway providing investment management servicél respect to our investments in Agency 10s.

We completed a common stock offering and a predesteck offering in 2013, generating aggregatepneteeds to us of approximately $1@6.
million, and helping to expand our stockholdeegjuity from $322.0 million at December 31, 2012%$480.7 million at December 31, 2013. We
completed a public offering of common stock in Jayu2014, generating net proceeds to us of appitein $75.8 million. The expansion of our eq
capital base over the course of the last two figegrs has increased our scale and, we believeacngss to larger and more attractive investmed
financing opportunities.




We have elected to be taxed as a REIT and havelimampnd intend to continue to comply, with th@ysions of the Internal Revenue Cod:
1986, as amended (the “Internal Revenue Codéth, respect thereto. Accordingly, we do not expgedbe subject to federal income tax on our REK&lde
income that we currently distribute to our stockless if certain asset, income and ownership tesisracordkeeping requirements are fulfilled. Eviewé
maintain our qualification as a REIT, we expedbéosubject to some federal, state and local taxesipincome generated in our TRSs.

The financial information requirements required emtthis Item 1 may be found in our consolidatedfitial statements beginning on page &* this
Annual Report.

Our Investment Strategy

We intend to continue our strategy of building aidential portfolio that includes elements of baikerest rate and credit risk by focusing
investments on (i) “credit residential” assets, ethive define as multi-family CMBS and other comnedreceal estateelated debt investments suct
mezzanine loans to and preferred equity investmandgvners of multifamily properties, as well as residential mortglgmns, including loans sourced fr
distressed markets, (ii) leveraged Agency RMBS ctvhwe expect will include Agency ARMs, Agency fixeate and Agency 10s, and (iii) the opportun
acquisition of other types of mortgagelated and financial assets that meet our invedteréeria. At the same time we pursue these tathassets, we w
continue to actively manage our existing assetictwimclude the credit residential assets and kEyed Agency RMBS referred to above as well as C
residential securitized loans and négency RMBS. Prior to deploying capital to any of ¢argeted asset classes, our management teacowdider, amor
other things, the amount and nature of anticipaseth flows from the asset, our ability to financdorrow against the asset and the terms of smetmding
the related capital requirements, the credit redlated to the asset or the underlying collaterapayment risk, liquidity, the costs of financitgdging, an
managing the asset, relative value, expected finteesst rate volatility and future expected clestp credit spreads.

Our investment strategy does not, subject to ontimoeed compliance with applicable REIT tax reqoiesmts and the maintenance of our exem,
from the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amerfther“Investment Company Act’lmit the amount of our capital that may be invesi® any of thes
investments or in any particular class or type sdess. Thus, our future investments may includetaypes different from the targeted or other &
described in this report. The investment and challacation decisions of our company and our exdemanagers depend on prevailing market conditiomn
other factors and may change over time in resptmepportunities available in different economidarapital market environments. As a result, we ot
predict the percentage of our capital that wilifeested in any particular investment at any gitiere.

For more information regarding our portfolio asécember 31, 2013, see “ltem 7- Managensebiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condi
and Results of Operations” below.

Investments in Credit Residential Assets

We seek to identify credit sensitive assets prilypaelating to residential housing from which wenaaxtract value through a combination of cur
yield and/or capital appreciation. Our portfolio @kdit residential assets is currently comprisedolti-family CMBS, mezzanine loans to and prefe
equity investments in owners of multi-family profies and residential mortgage loans, includingreissted residential loans.

We have significantly expanded our multi-family CEBBRortfolio since making our first investment inistasset class in 2011. Our portfolio of multi
family CMBS is comprised of (i) fixed rate PO sdties and a floating-rate security, in each cassyéd from the first loss tranche, or “first loss, tertair
multi-family K-series securitizations sponsored by Freddie Maqignckrtain 10 securities issued by these seiatibns. Our investments in these priva
placed first loss PO securities generally repreapptoximately 7.5% of the overall securitizatiohieh typically totals approximately $1.0 billion multi-
family residential loans consisting of 70 to 10diudual properties diversified across a wide gepgic footprint. These first loss securities angidslly
backed by balloon norecourse mortgage loans that provide for the paymkprincipal at maturity date, which is typicahgven to ten years. Moreoy
each first loss piece of mulimily CMBS in our portfolio is, in most cases, thmst junior tranche of security issued by the g@zation, meaning it wi
absorb all losses in the securitization prior teeotmore senior tranches being exposed to loss. result, each of the first loss securities in pantfolio ha
been purchased, upon completion of a credit arsalgsd due diligence by our external manager aref afinsultation with and approval of our se
management, at a significant discount to its thement par value, which we believe provides usaidequate protection against projected lossesddition
as the owner of the first loss piece, the Comptmpugh RiverBanc, has the right to participatéhie workout of any distressed property in the s&zation.
We believe this right will allow the Company to igéte or reduce any possible loss associated Widistressed property. The Company also inved®
securities from a number of the same miatrily securitizations from which we acquired oirstf loss PO investments. These 10 securities @igpsd of
the entire securitization allowing the Companyeoeive cashflows over the life of the mddinily loans backing the securitization. These staents rang
from 10 to 17 basis points and the underlying matia@amount approximates $1.0 billion each. We nmaghe future invest in more senior tranches of mult
family CMBS, which may include some form of levesagf we believe the riskdjusted returns for such assets are attractivadiition, we may acqui
multi-family CMBS from private originators of, onvestors in, mortgage loans, including rforancial institutions and other entities. With pest to th
multi-family CMBS owned by us, all of the loans that b#ok respective securitizations have been undeenrtb Freddie Mac underwriting guidelines
standards; however, our securities are not guadritg Freddie Mac.




We invest in other commercial real estettated investments, such as the origination ouia@tgpn of mezzanine loans to and preferred ei
investments in owners of mufamily properties, with a primary focus on conventl apartments, cooperative housing associatsingent housing a
other related property types in increments as levlamillion secured by properties valued at $10ianior greater. A mezzanine loan is a loan maxde
property owner that is subordinate to mortgage deltis typically secured by a pledge of the boedsvownership interests in the property and/or dioz
indirect entities that own the property. A preferegjuity investment typically takes the form ofemuity investment in the special purpose entityPES thal
owns the property and is structured such that théeped equity investor will receive cash disttibns from the SPE in seniority to a more junicass o
equity. These preferred equity interests may beoslibate to other forms of mortgage or propdeyel debt. We also may participate in struct
investments such as the acquisition of seasonelistiessed commercial loan portfolios. Our multifly CMBS and other commercial real estagtatec
debt assets are managed by RiverBanc.

Our portfolio also includes distressed residentiartgage loans held in securitization trusts arch@rARM loans held in securitization trusts (i
referred to as residential securitized loans). dis&ressed residential loans in our current pddafbbve been acquired, in each case, as a podstésse
residential loans sold by a financial instituti@uring the year ended December 31, 2013, we adajuindtiple pools of distressed residential mortghkogen:
having an estimated aggregate market value of appately $218.2 million at the time of their respee acquisitions. These distressed residentiatgage
loans generally consist of performing and re-penfag, fixed- and adjustable-rate, fully-amortizinigterestenly and balloon, seasoned mortgage |
secured by first liens on one- to fdiamily properties. The loans were purchased atsaodint to the aggregate principal amount outstapdirhich we
believe will provide us with adequate credit pratat and an opportunity to modify the loan and aeghian attractive yield. These distressed resial
mortgage loans are sourced and managed by Headlands

The prime ARM loans held in securitization trustéiich we refer to as “residential mortgage loanis lire securitization trustsin our consolidate
financial statements, are loans that primarily weriginated by our discontinued mortgage lendingifess, and to a lesser extent purchased from
parties, that we securitized in 2005. These loaassabstantially prime, full documentation, intéresly hybrid ARMs on residential properties and all
first lien mortgages. We maintain the ownershisteertificates, or equity, of these securitizagiowhich includes rights to excess interest, if,and als
take an active role in managing delinquencies afaudt risk related to the loans.

Investments in Agency RMBS

We intend to achieve more stable cash flows orcoliective investments in Agency RMBS across vasimarket cycles, including, various inte
rate, yield curve and prepayment cycles, primatilpugh investments in Agency ARMs, Agency fixede RMBS and Agency 10s. Our Agency AR
consist of whole pool pagkrough certificates, the principal and interestwich are guaranteed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Maih are backed by ARDM
or hybrid ARMs. Our current portfolio of Agency ARMas interest reset periods ranging from 10 ytedess than three months.

Our Agency RMBS also consist of fixed-rate whol®lpgassthrough certificates, the principal and interestwiich are guaranteed by Fannie |
or Freddie Mac, which are primarily backed by 1Byeesidential fixed rate mortgage loans with lessaounts invested in 20-year residential fixatt-
mortgage loans. The majority of these securitiag@upons ranging from 2.5% to 3.5%. Our invests)@n Agency RMBS attempt to identify securi
with characteristics that we believe will exhib#étter prepayment profiles in the current low insénete environment, such as loan size, type afirator
credit scores and geographic area.

Agency IOs are securities that represent the tghtceive the interest portion of the cash flomnfra pool of mortgage loans issued or guarante
Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae. Agency l{mraus to make a direct investment in borrowerpaggnent trends in the current market environn
However, Agency 10s also introduce increased riskhase securities have no underlying principah ¢asvs, which will cause them to underperform igh
prepayment environments as future interest paymeititbe reduced as a direct result of prepayments rising interest rate environment, the valfi@n
Agency 10 generally tends to increase as their ebggeaverage life increases and prepayments deci®as investments in Agency 10s and related hey
and borrowing activities are managed by Midway,cliléerves as one of our external managers purtuantnanagement agreement. We sometimes r¢
these investments and related hedging and borroadtigties as our Agency IO strategy or our Aget@yportfolio.




It should be noted that the guarantee providechbyGSEs on Agency RMBS issued by them does noegiras from prepayment risk and that
payments on Agency |Os are not guaranteed by Fara& Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae. Moreover all of dgency RMBS (including Agency I10s) are
risk to new or modified governmesponsored homeowner stimulus programs that mayedopredictable and excessively high prepaymesgdspresultir
in accelerated premium amortization and reducedntetest margin, both of which could materiallwacsely affect our business, financial conditionl
results of operations.

Our Financing Strategy

We strive to maintain and achieve a balanced anersi funding mix to finance our assets and opmratiTo achieve this, we rely primarily o
combination of short-term borrowings under repusehagreements, collateralized debt obligations OQ&D), structured financings, which we sometil
refer to as securitized debt, and long term subatdd debtThe Company's policy for leverage is based onytpe bf asset, underlying collateral and o
market conditions, with the intent of obtaining mgermanent, longer-term financing for our moriguild assets, such as our credit sensitive firsst lmult
family CMBS and distressed residential loans. Chitye we target maximum leverage ratios for cakabt shortterm financings of 8 to 1, in the case
Agency RMBS (other than Agency 10s), and 2 to lthim case of Agency 10s. We may utilize short témancing on other asset classes with leverages
driven by the nature of the underlying asset as$ ageturrent market conditions. At December 31,3@ie Company had a repurchase agreement outsg
backed by a CLO security with an advance rate pf@pmately 65% or a leverage ratio of less than 2. As of December 31, 2013, our overall leve
ratio, including both our short- and longer-termaficings (excluding the CDOs issued by the Corsil KSeries and our residential CDOs) dividec
stockholders'equity, was approximately 2.4 to 1. Our leverag®ran our short term financings or callable delisvapproximately 1.6 to 1. In each c
there may be occasional shtetm increases or decreases in the amount of lgearsed due to significant market events, and we ehange our levera
strategy at any timé&Ve monitor all at risk or short term borrowingseiesure that we have adequate liquidity to satisfygin calls and have the ability
respond to other market disruptions.

We primarily rely on repurchase agreements to fand Agency RMBS portfolio. Repurchase agreementwige us with shorterm borrowing
(typically 30 days) that bear interest rates thmatlimked to the London Interbank Offered Rate BOR”), a short term market interest rate used to dete
short term loan rates. Pursuant to these repurcdmm&ements, the financial institution that seraes counterparty will generally agree to providenitt
financing based on the market value of the seesritiat we pledge as collateral, less a “hairddatket value of the collateral represents the poiteuct
collateral obtained from generally recognized sesiror most recent closing bid quotation from sumiree plus accrued income. Our repurchase agree
may require us to deposit additional collateralspant to a margin call if the market value of ol@dged collateral declines as a result of markatltns o
due to principal repayments on the mortgages uyidgrbur pledged securities. Interest rates andtts will depend on the underlying collateral gled.

With respect to our investments in multi-family CIgBother commercial mortgage deélated investments and distressed residentials|oak
intend to finance our investment in these assetaitih working capital and, subject to market caodg, both short-term and lorigrm borrowings. Ot
financings may include repurchase agreement bongsvivith terms of one year or less, or longer tstmctured debt financing, such as lontgrr
repurchase agreement financing and securitizedwllegte the assets we intend to finance are comédbio an SPE and serve as collateral for the ¢imar
We engage in longer-term financings for the primpoypose of obtaining longer-term noecourse financing on these assets. During the gade
December 31, 2013, we completed one structuredding on our multiamily CMBS and three structured financings on distressed residential mortgi
loans, resulting in aggregate net proceeds to ubl8f.7 million. As of December 31, 2013, substdiytiall of our multifamily CMBS and distress
residential loans are financed by some form of Séred debt.Pursuant to the terms for these financings, ouityabd access the cash flows generated b
assets serving as collateral may be significarthjitéd and we may be unable to sell or otherwismgfer or dispose of or modify such assets un¢
financing has matured. In addition, we have prodidegyuarantee with respect to certain terms of saftige longerterm debt incurred by our subsidiaries
we may provide a similar guarantee in connectiah fiture financings.

At December 31, 2013, we finance our prime ARM béaeld in securitization trusts with approximat858.4 million of residential CDOs tl
were issued in securitization transactions we ceteglin 2005.

For more information regarding our outstanding daings and debt instruments at December 31, 2@E3}Item 7- Managemerst'Discussion ar
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of CGytiems” below.




Our Hedging Strategy

We intend to use hedging instruments in conjunoivdh our investment portfolio to reduce or mitigaisks associated with changes in interest |
mortgage spreads, yield curve shapes and markatilitpl These hedging instruments may include rie¢é rate swaps, interest rate swaptions, inteate
futures and options on interest rate futures, nagegderivatives such as forwagettling purchases and sales of Agency RMBS wheraihderlying pools
mortgage loans are “To-Be-Announced,” or TBAs, Bhfl. Treasuries.

We use interest rate swaps and Edotlar futures to hedge interest rate repricingmaitches between certain of our investments andetlagec
borrowings. For example, the interest coupon nesgbd on our Agency RMBS is typically greater thhe repricing period for the related liabilitieghich is
usually 30 days. We typically would use interes¢ iwaps or Eurdellar futures to extend the liability repricingtddao more closely approximate the reli
asset.

We commonly use TBA transactions to hedge inteiast and market risks associated with our Agenc: Rursuant to our TBA transactions,
agree to purchase or sell, for future delivery, AgeRMBS with interest terms and certain typesrdarlying collateral, but the particular Agency RBIR
be delivered or received, as applicable, is nattified until shortly before the TBA settlement eawWe typically do not take delivery of TBAs buathrer
settle with our trading counterparties on a netshd@y utilizing TBA transactions, we expect to ued changes in portfolio values due to changesterés
rates. Although TBAs are liquid and have quotedka@prices and represent the most actively tratkest ©of RMBS, the use of TBAS exposes us to ineg
market value risk. We typically conduct TBA andetinterest rate futures hedging transactions titt@ne of our TRSs.

In connection with our hedging strategy, we, togetiith our external managers, utilize a model Basgk analysis system to assist in projec
portfolio performances over a variety of differémterest rates and market scenarios, such as shifiserest rates, changes in prepayments anda tabeor:
impacting the valuations of our assets and liaédit However, given the uncertainties related ®payment rates, it is not possible to perfecthkioce
spread between the earnings asset yield and tkedetost of borrowings. Moreover, the cash flomd market values of certain types of structurednig
RMBS, such as the I0s we invest in, are more seasih prepayment risks than other Agency RMBS. &tbaless, through active management and the
evaluative stress scenarios, we believe that wergagate a significant amount of both value anchgas volatility.

Our External Managers
The Midway Group, L.P.

A portion of our Agency RMBS portfolio comprised 8fgency 10s is externally managed and advised bgwdy pursuant to an investm
management agreement between Midway and us (thewddi Management AgreementMidway was founded in 2000 by Mr. Robert Sherakartgag:
industry veteran with more than 25 yeaggperience, to serve as investment manager to tbe/dy Market Neutral Fund LLC, a private investmé&md
Midway has been managing a hedged portfolio of gamre-related securities for over 10 years.

Midway is responsible for administering the bustastivities and day-tday operations of our investments in Agency 10s emdain derivativ
instruments. These responsibilities include arnaggind coordinating the purchase and sale of variovestment assets and the financing and he
associated with such assets, with direct overdigim our management team. Midway also may invesnftime to time in, among other things, Age
RMBS consisting of pass-through certificates, CM@g] POs and noagency RMBS (which may include 10s and POs), alghothey have made no st
investments on our behalf since being engaged axi@nnal manager. As part of its investment prece® expect that Midway will analyze signific
amounts of data regarding the historical perforreasfanortgage-related securities transactions afidteral over various market cycles.

Midway has established portfolio management ressufor the investment assets described above aadtablished infrastructure supporting tt
resources. We expect that we will benefit from Magvs highly analytical investment processes, brbased deal flow, extensive relationships in tharfgia
community and operational expertise. Moreover, siitg founding, we believe Midway has developedrsirrelationships with a wide range of dealers
other market participants that provide Midway asdesa broad range of trading opportunities andetanformation.

As of December 31, 2013, we had allocated appraeitp&80.5 million of capital to investments manadpy Midway.




The Midway Management Agreement

We entered into an investment management agreemitniidway on February 11, 2011, as amended onchl&; 2012. The Midway Managem
Agreement has a current term that expires on DeeeBih 2014. The Midway Management Agreement israatically renewed in successive one year t
unless a termination notice is delivered by eithety to the other party at least six months piaothe end of the then current term. Pursuanteédvidway
Management Agreement, Midway implements our Agel@ynvestment strategy and related hedging andoldng activities and has complete discre
and authority to manage these assets and relatignhigeand borrowing activities, subject to comptianvith the written investment guidelines includiedhe
Midway Management Agreement and the other termscanditions of the Midway Management Agreementjuding our authority to direct Midway
modify its investment strategy for purposes of rtaiiring our qualification as a REIT and exemptimmi the Investment Company Act.

The following table summarizes the fees that wetpaylidway pursuant to the Midway Management AgreemWe will reimburse Midway for «
transaction costs and expenses incurred in commegith the management and administration of tlsetasand liabilities that they manage on our behalf

Type Description

Base management fee Payable monthly in arrears in a cash amount equtid product of (i) 1.50% per annum of our investapital in th
assets managed by Midway as of the last busingssfdae previous month, multiplied by (ii) 1/12th.

Incentive fee Midway will be entitled to a quarterly incentiveeféthe “Midway Incentive Fee'that is calculated quarterly and pait
cash in arrears. The Midway Incentive Fee is sulifea high water mark equal to an 11% return oniovested capit
in assets managed by Midway (the “High Water Markf)d shall be payable in an amount equal to thessxdeany, ¢
(i) 35% of the dollar amount by which adjusted imetome (as defined below) attributable to the assetnaged
Midway, on a rolling 12nonth basis and before accounting for the Midwaehtive Fee, exceeds an annual 12.5%
of return on invested capital (the “Hurdle Rateter (ii) the sum of the Midway Incentive Fees paicaccrued for ea
of the three immediately preceding fiscal quartdiise return rate for each rolling 12-month peritite (“Calculatior
Period”) shall be determined by dividing (i) the adjusted meome for the Calculation Period by (ii) the gleiec
average of our invested capital in assets managéditiway during the Calculation Period. Upon mutagreement «
the parties to the Midway Management Agreemenipréign of each Midway Incentive Fee payable to Méigwnay b
paid in shares of our common stock.

Adjusted net income is defined as net income (lasdtulated in accordance with generally acceptecbunting
principles in the United States (“GAAP”)ncluding any unrealized gains and losses, aftemgieffect to certai
expenses. All securities managed for us by Midwilybe valued in accordance with GAAP.

Unlike the Hurdle Rate, which is calculated on #ing 12 month basis, the High Water Mark is caftatl on a calenc
12 month basis, and will reset every 24 months. Hitgh Water Mark will be a static dollar figure thdidway will be
required to recoup, to the extent there is a dafidihe prior High Water Mark calculation periodfbre it is eligible aga
to receive a Midway Incentive Fee.

Equity Compensation In addition to the base management and incentie® eovided for in the Midway Management Agreemeet,agreed 1
issue 213,980 shares of restricted stock to Midwaylarch 2012. The restricted shares vest annuallpnethird
increments beginning on December 31, 2012. Unveskedes will be forfeited in the event Midway tematies th
Midway Management Agreement for any reason prioth® end of the restricted period; whereas allhef testricte
shares will vest if we terminate the agreemenafor reason.

Although the assets and invested capital managediiway are held in an account that is wholly owrsdour company, we may only rede
invested capital in an amount equal to the les6&0& of our invested capital managed by Midwaysd® million as of the last calendar day of the rh
upon not less than 75 days written notice, subjecbur authority todirect Midway to modify its investment strategy fpurposes of maintaining ¢
qualification as a REIT and exemption from the ktweent Company Act. Pursuant to the terms of thdwdy Management Agreement, we are
permitted to make one such redemption requestyirvarday period.
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RiverBanc LLC

In April 2011, we formed a relationship with Rivexic, a privately owned investment management aedalpy finance company founded by Ke
Donlon, for the purpose of investing in multi-fa;niCMBS, such as Freddie Mac Multifamily Loan Setimaition K-Series’assets, and, to a lesser exi
other commercial real estatelated debt investments. Pursuant to an investmaniagement agreement between RiverBanc and usiBERinc will source
structure and manage our investments in these elasses.

RiverBanc Management Agreement

On March 13, 2013, we entered into an amended esi@dted management agreement with RB Commerciatgisige LLC, our whollyawnec
subsidiary, and RiverBanc (as amended, the “RivecBlanagement Agreement”J.he RiverBanc Management Agreement, which replabesprio
management agreement between RiverBanc and RB Caimamilortgage LLC, has a term that will expire Becember 31, 2014, subject to auton
annual one-year renewals thereafter.

Pursuant to the terms of the RiverBanc Managemgneé@ment, RiverBanc will receive a monthly base agament fee in arrears in a cash am
equal to the product of (i) 1.50% per annum of “Bguas of the last business day of the previous manthitiplied by (i) 1/12th. For purposes of
RiverBanc Management Agreement, Equity is definedAssets” minus “Debt,where Assets is defined as the aggregate net ngrmglue (in accordan
with GAAP) of those assets of our company manageRilzerBanc (specifically excluding (i) any unread gains or losses that have impacted net ca
value as reported in our financial statements peepm accordance with GAAP, regardless of wheslueh items are included in other comprehensivenire
or loss or in net income, and (ii) one-time evemissuant to changes in GAAP, and certain nash items not otherwise described above, in eash, @
mutually agreed between RiverBanc and us) and Beatefined as the greater of (1) the net carryialye (in accordance with GAAP, excluding adjustre
for unrealized gains or losses) of all thpdrty debt or liabilities secured by the Assets @)drior to termination of the RiverBanc Managema&greemen
zero, or following termination of the RiverBanc Mayement Agreement, an amount equal to 50% of Asketddition, RiverBanc will be entitled to
incentive fee that is calculated quarterly and paidash in arrears. The incentive fee is basech tpe average Equity during the fiscal quarterjesitio ¢
high water mark equal to a 9% return on Equity, simall be payable in an amount equal to 35% otitiar amount by which adjusted net income (asnade
in the RiverBanc Management Agreement) attributablthe Assets, before accounting for any incentdes payable to RiverBanc, exceeds an annu.
12% rate of return on such average Equity (provithedvever, that the applicable percentage for ¢aticun of the incentive fee on any incremental metin
excess of 21% shall be reduced to 20% from 35%)y.iAcentive fee paid for the fourth fiscal quardéreach year under the agreement is calculateditm
the incentive fee earned during the calendar tweleath period less the aggregate incentive feebsfpaihe first three quarters during the period.

We may terminate the RiverBanc Management Agreemestect not to renew the agreement, subject taiceconditions and subject, in cert
cases, to paying a termination fee equal to thdumtoof (A) 24 and (B) the monthly base managenfemearned by RiverBanc during the month immedi
preceding the month in which the termination occlirgshe event we terminate the RiverBanc Managémgreement for any reason (other than for “cajse”
RiverBanc has, subject to certain conditions, htrdj first refusal to purchase from us the assetaaged by them.

Headlands Asset Management LLC

The Company engages Headlands to manage and adviséth respect to the distressed residential ragegloans acquired by us. Headl:
sourced and performed ddéigence procedures on the pools of distressadestal mortgage loans acquired by us and manggeservicing, modificatic
and final disposition or resolution of the loansieh can range from modifying a mortgage loan badaimterest rate or payment to selling the undeglyea
estate asset.

Headlands was founded on May 2008 as an investmamiager focused on purchasing, servicing and magagl aspects of a portfolio
residential mortgage loans.

Headlands Management Agreements

We are a party to multiple investment managemergeagents with Headlands. As part of our financingtegy, we have transferred substantiall
of the distressed residential loans to certain SRBE&h are treated as consolidated subsidiariéseo€ompany, for the purpose of securitizing trenk. Eac
investment management agreement by and betweerldddadand any consolidated subsidiary of the Comftne “Securitization Subsidiaries’provide:
that Headlands serves as the asset manager ahasotas issued by such Securitization Subsidigach investment management agreement has a tet
will expire upon the sale or other liquidation difraortgage loans held by the Securitization Sulbsi€s.
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Pursuant to the terms of each investment manageaggaement, Headlands will receive a monthly baseagement fee payable on the t
business day of each month in a cash amount egubétproduct of (i) 1.50% per annum of assets untinagement (“AUM™as of the first day of ea
such month, multiplied by (i) 1/1® , where AUMdefined as the net asset value of the mortgages lbaimg managed by Headlands plus asub$equel
collateral account balancedq defined in the investment management agreenierajldition, Headlands will be entitled to an intee fee that is calculat
quarterly, but is not payable until the notes issbg such Securitization Subsidiary as part of gbeuritization transaction have been retired ih fTihe
incentive fee is based upon the weighted averagkl Aluring the fiscal quarter and shall be payablarirmmount equal to 35% of the dollar amount bych
the Securitization Subsidiag/taxable income (before accounting for any insentées earned by Headlands and interest on tles)hexceeds an annuali
12% rate of return on such weighted average AUM\jded, however, that the applicable percentagedtirulation of the incentive fee on any incremt
return in excess of 22% shall be reduced by theuamnof any subordinate servicing fees). The panidsrecalculate the annual incentive fee earng
Headlands after the fourth fiscal quarter of eag@iryand will adjust any payments owed or requiogokt remitted based on such annual calculation.

Headlands may terminate any of the investment n&meagt agreements at any time upon not less thastaé notice; provided, however, tl
subject to certain exceptions, it may not termir@ateagreement or resign prior to the time suchsnistued by the respective Securitization Subsidiawe
been retired. We may terminate an investment manegeagreement in the event of an uncured violatfaihe agreement or any bankruptcy, insolven:
liquidation proceedings in respect of HeadlandstHde Headlands nor the Securitization Subsidian#sincur a termination fee upon termination afyaol
the investment management agreements. We havedagregiarantee the payment of the base manageeentahd expenses payable to Headlands |
Securitization Subsidiaries.

Conflicts of Interest with Our External Managers; guitable Allocation of Opportunities

Each of Midway, RiverBanc and Headlands manages,ismxpected to continue to manage, other clienbants with similar or overlappi
investment strategies. In connection with the seswiprovided to those accounts, these managerdenagmpensated more favorably than for the sel
provided under our external management agreemamtssuch discrepancies in compensation may afiecletvel of service provided to us by our exte
managers. Moreover, each of our external managayshave an economic interest in the accounts thayage or the investments they propose. In adc
we have in the recent past engaged in certainestment opportunities with an external managemer of its affiliates and we may participate irufet co
investment opportunities with our external managerheir affiliates. In these cases, it is possthlat our interests and the interests of our ratananage
will not always be aligned and this could resultlgtisions that are not in the best interests oEompany.

Each of Midway and RiverBanc has agreed that, whaking investment allocation decisions betweenngki other client accounts, it will, in 1
case of RiverBanc, allocate investments in a fa@t equitable manner and, in the case of Midwayk se@llocate investment opportunities on an edplg
basis and in a manner it believes is in the bastésts of its relevant accounts. Since certaiounftargeted assets are typically available onlgpacifiet
quantities and since certain of these targetedsagsk also be targeted assets for other accomasaged by or associated with our external managel
external managers may not be able to buy as muchkrtdin assets as required to satisfy the needH of its clients’or associated accounts. In these ¢
we understand that the allocation procedures atidigm® of our external managers would typicallyoalite such assets to multiple accounts in propott
among other things, the objectives, strategy, stdggevelopment or needs of each account. Moredkerjnvestment allocation policies of Midway r
permit departure from proportional allocation wtthe total allocation would result in an inefficignsmall amount of the security being purchasedafit
account. Although we believe that each of our extemanagers will seek to allocate investment dpities in a manner which it believes to be in ties
interests of all accounts involved and will seekatimcate, on an equitable basis, investment oppii¢s believed to be appropriate for us and ttiel
accounts it manages or is associated with, therdeano assurance that a particular investmentrapgty will be allocated in any particular manner.

Midway is authorized to follow broad investment dglines in determining which assets it will invést Although our Board of Directors w
ultimately determine when and how much capitalltocate to assets managed by Midway, we generallynat approve transactions in advance of 1
execution. As a result, because Midway has gradtida to determine the types of assets it mayddeaire proper investments for us, there can |
assurance that we would otherwise approve of tiesstments individually or that they will be susstul. Meanwhile, RiverBanc has complete discre
and authority to manage assets on our behalf sulgjécvestment guidelines approved by our Boar®ioéctors. However, our Board of Directors mayct
to change the investment guidelines or waive thenvérious investments. In addition to conductimgiqdic reviews, we will rely primarily on informian
provided to us by our external managers. Finally, éxternal managers may use complex investmeategies and may engage in complex transactio
our behalf, which may be difficult or impossibletowind.

Pursuant to the terms of the Midway Management é&gent, we may only redeem invested capital in aauanequal to the lesser of 10% of
invested capital in assets managed by Midway orrillion as of the last calendar day of the moagpion not less than 75 days written notice, sultfeou
authority todirect Midway to modify its investment strategy fourposes of maintaining our qualification as a REhd exemption from the Investm
Company Act, and we are only permitted to make sureh redemption request in any @&y period. In the event of a significant marketr@vor shock, w
may be unable to effect a redemption of investeita@lain greater amounts or at a greater rate snlesobtain the consent of Midway. Because a réstuct
invested capital would reduce the base manageneenufider the Midway Management Agreement, Midway i@ less inclined to consent to s
redemptions.
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None of our external managers is obligated to dediany specific personnel exclusively to us, merthey or their personnel obligated to dedi
any specific portion of their time to the managetwrour business. As a result, we cannot provitdeassurances regarding the amount of time ourrex
managers will dedicate to the management of ouinbss. Moreover, each of our external managerssigasficant responsibilities for other investm
vehicles and may not always be able to devotecsefii time to the management of our business. Guesdly, we may not receive the level of suppod
assistance that we otherwise might receive if sgchices were provided internally by us.

Certain Federal Income Tax Considerations and Our atus as a REIT

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under Seddi®®860 of the Internal Revenue Code for federal inctemepurposes, commencing with
taxable year ended December 31, 2004, and we belt our current and proposed method of operatitirenable us to continue to qualify as a REIT
our taxable year ending December 31, 2014 anddftereAccordingly, the net interest income we eamrour assets is generally not subject to fedecalme
tax as long as we distribute at least 90% of oufTRExable income in the form of a dividend to @iockholders each year and comply with variousr
requirements. Taxable income generated by TRSshjea to regular corporate income tax.

The benefit of REIT tax status is a tax treatmbat aivoids “double taxationgr taxation at both the corporate and stockholelegls, that genera
applies to distributions by a corporation to itsckholders. Failure to qualify as a REIT would sajus to federal income tax (including any apjblie
minimum tax) on our taxable income at regular coapmrates and distributions to our stockholderald/aot be deductible by us.

Summary Requirements for Qualificatio
Organizational Requirements
A REIT is a corporation, trust, or association timetets each of the following requirements:

1) Itis managed by one or more trustees or direc

2) lIts beneficial ownership is evidenced by transferahares, or by transferable certificates of herfinterest.

3) It would be taxable as a domestic corporation ftwuthe REIT provisions of the federal income taws.

4) Itis neither a financial institution nor an insace@ company subject to special provisions of theifa income tax law:
5) Atleast 100 persons are beneficial owners oftitses or ownership certificate

6) Not more than 50% in value of its outstanding sb@reownership certificates is owned, directlyratifectly, by five or fewer individuals,
which the federal income tax laws define to incledetain entities, during the last half of anyatale year

7) It elects to be a REIT, or has made such electioa previous taxable year, and satisfies all egiefiling and other administrative
requirements established by the IRS that must lid¢araect and maintain REIT stati

8) It meets certain other qualification tests, desatibelow, regarding the nature of its income aséta:

We must meet requirements 1 through 4 during otirestaxable year and must meet requirement 5 duatrieast 335 days of a taxable year ¢
months, or during a proportionate part of a taxgelar of less than 12 months.

Qualified REIT SubsidiariesA corporation that is a QRS is not treated asrparation separate from its parent REIT. All ass&abilities, an
items of income, deduction, and credit of a “QR& &reated as assets, liabilities, and items obrime, deduction, and credit of the REIT. A “QRiS"e
corporation, all of the capital stock of which iareed by the REIT. Thus, in applying the requiremettgscribed herein, any “QR&iat we own will b
ignored, and all assets, liabilities, and itemsnobme, deduction, and credit of such subsidiafy lvé treated as our assets, liabilities, and itefnimcome
deduction, and credit.
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Taxable REIT SubsidiariesA REIT is permitted to own up to 100% of the ot one or more TRSs. A TRS is a fully taxablepmration that me
earn income that would not be qualifying incomeafned directly by the parent REIT. Overall, no enttran 25% of the value of a RE$fTassets may cons
of stock or securities of one or more TRSs.

A TRS will pay income tax at regular corporate sab@ any income that it earns. In addition, the T&®8s limit the deductibility of interest paid
accrued by a TRS to its parent REIT to assurettteafTRS is subject to an appropriate level of caaotaxation. We have elected for each of Hyp@
Capital, LLC, New York Mortgage Funding, LLC, NYMResidential Tax, LLC, NYMT Residential Tax 2013-RRLC, NYMT Residential Tax 201&P2
LLC and NYMT Residential Tax 2013-RP3, LLC to bedted as TRSs. Our TRSs are subject to corpomaentax on their taxable income.

Qualified REIT AssetsOn the last day of each calendar quarter, at [E&% of the value of our assets (which includeg assets held througt
QRS must consist of qualified REIT assets — pritpagal estate, mortgage loans secured by redeestad certain mortgage-backed securiti€uélifiec
REIT Assets”),government securities, cash, and cash items. Wevbedhat substantially all of our assets are ailidcantinue to be Qualified REIT Asse
On the last day of each calendar quarter, of thetasiot included in the foregoing 75% asset tiestyalue of securities that we hold issued by @mg issue
may not exceed 5% in value of our total assetsvemdnay not own more than 10% of the voting powevalue of any one issusroutstanding securiti
(with an exception for securities of a QRS or afRS). In addition, the aggregate value of our sdesrin TRSs cannot exceed 25% of our total as¥gt
monitor the purchase and holding of our assetptdgooses of the above asset tests and seek to enanagortfolio to comply at all times with suclste

We may from time to time hold, through one or mBRSs, assets that, if we held them directly, cggderate income that would have an ad\
effect on our qualification as a REIT or on certelimsses of our stockholders.

Gross Income Tests
We must meet the following separate income-bassd &ach year:

1. The 75% Test. At least 75% of our gross incometertaxable year must be derived from Qualified RE$sets. Such income includes
interest (other than interest based in whole quairt on the income or profits of any person) origattions secured by mortgages on real
property, rents from real property, gain from tateof Qualified REIT Assets, and qualified tempgiiavestment income or interests in
real property. The investments that we have madédrdaend to continue to make will give rise priniyato mortgage interest qualifying
under the 75% income te

2. The 95% Test. At least 95% of our gross incometertaxable year must be derived from the soutwsare qualifying for purposes of t
75% test, and from dividends, interest or gainmftbe sale or disposition of stock or other astfetsare not dealer proper

Distributions

We must distribute to our stockholders on a pra kaisis each year an amount equal to at leasd%h) & our taxable income before deductio
dividends paid and excluding net capital gain, i)990% of the excess of the net income from étwsure property over the tax imposed on such ircby
the Internal Revenue Code, less (iii) any “excess-ctash income.®We have made and intend to continue to make digioibs to our stockholders
sufficient amounts to meet the distribution requieait for REIT qualification.
Competition

Our success depends, in large part, on our abdligcquire assets at favorable spreads over omwinig costs. When we invest in mortgaugeker
securities, mortgage loans and other investmermt@s&e compete with other REITS, investment banirms, savings and loan associations, insut
companies, mutual funds, hedge funds, pension furadks and other financial institutions and otrgtities that invest in the same types of assets.

Corporate Offices and Personnel

We were formed as a Maryland corporation in 2008t rporate headquarters are located at 275 Madisenue, Suite 3200, New York, N
York, 10016 and our telephone number is (212) 78270 As of December 31, 2013, we employed sixtfale employees.
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Access to our Periodic SEC Reports and Other Corpate Information

Our internet website address is www.nymtrust.core.éke available free of charge, through our imtewebsite, our annual report on FormK,0-
our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reportd-orm 8K and any amendments thereto that we file or flwrpisrsuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, oh&hge Act, as soon as reasonably practicablewéalectronically file such material with, or fushiit
to, the SEC. Our Corporate Governance GuidelindsGode of Business Conduct and Ethics and thearsaof our Audit, Compensation and Nomina
and Corporate Governance Committees are also bieitsm our website and are available in print tg stockholder upon request in writing to New Y
Mortgage Trust, Inc., c/o Secretary, 275 Madisoreue, Suite 3200, New York, New York, 10016. Infatimn on our website is neither part of
incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT S

When used in this Annual Report on Form K,0in future filings with the SEC or in press redea or other written or oral communicatit
statements which are not historical in nature,udiclg those containing words such as “believe,”pént,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “plan,” “continug,
“intend,” “should,” “would,” “could,” “goal,” “objective,” “will,” “may” or similar expressions, arenfended to identify “forward-looking statementsithin
the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Ac1883, as amended, and Section 21E of the Exchacigand, as such, may involve known and unkr
risks, uncertainties and assumptions.

”ou

Forwardiooking statements are based on our beliefs, assamspand expectations of our future performanaking into account all informatis
currently available to us. These beliefs, assumptend expectations are subject to risks and wctes and can change as a result of many possiielet
or factors, not all of which are known to us. If@ange occurs, our business, financial conditiouidity and results of operations may vary matgritom
those expressed in our forward-looking statemert® following factors are examples of those thatléaause actual results to vary from our forward
looking statements: changes in interest rates la@anarket value of our securities; changes in tigatieads; the impact of the downgrade of the teng-
credit ratings of the U.S., Fannie Mae, Freddie Maxxd Ginnie Mae; market volatility; changes in giepayment rates on the mortgage loans undertyin
investment securities; increased rates of defaultax decreased recovery rates on our assetspdily & borrow to finance our assets and the tw®thereot
changes in governmental laws, regulations, or @aiaffecting our business; our ability to maintaur qualification as a REIT for federal tax purgsisou
ability to maintain our exemption from registratiander the Investment Company Act; and risks aasegtiwith investing in real estate assets, incly
changes in business conditions and the generabaoonThese and other risks, uncertainties and fectocluding the risk factors described in Iltem 1A
“Risk Factors” elsewhere in this Annual Report ang 10K, as updated by those risks described in our gjutes# filings under the Exchange Act, cc
cause our actual results to differ materially frihrase projected in any forward-looking statemergsmake. All forwardeoking statements speak only a
the date on which they are made. New risks andrtainges arise over time and it is not possibl@tedict those events or how they may affect usepka
required by law, we are not obligated to, and doimnd to, update or revise any forwaodking statements, whether as a result of newrinédion, futur
events or otherwise.
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Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

Set forth below are the risks that we believe aratetial to stockholders. You should carefully cader the following risk factors and the various ogr
factors identified in or incorporated by referendato any other documents filed by us with the SER @valuating our company and our business. ~
risks discussed herein can adversely affect ouribass, liquidity, operating results, prospects, dfimancial condition. These risks could cause thearke:
price of our securities to decline. The risk factodescribed below are not the only risks that mafject us. Additional risks and uncertainties r
presently known to us, or not presently deemed matdy us, also may adversely affect our busindsguyidity, operating results, prospects, and finaial
condition.

Risks Related to Our Business and Our Company

Declines in the market values of assets in our istraent portfolio may adversely affect periodic refeal results and credit availability, which may rede
earnings and, in turn, cash available for distribiain to our stockholders.

The market value of the interds¢aring assets in which we invest and any relagelfjing instruments may move inversely with charigasteres
rates. We anticipate that increases in interessratill generally tend to decrease our net income the market value of our interdstaring assets.
significant percentage of the securities within awestment portfolio are classified for accountimgrposes as “available for sal€hanges in the marl
values of trading securities will be reflected arrm@ngs and changes in the market values of availi@p sale securities will be reflected in stockiers
equity. As a result, a decline in market values@tain of our investment securities may reducebthek value of our assets. Moreover, if the declit
market value of an available for sale securitytieothan temporary, such decline will reduce eaysi

A decline in the market value of our interéstaring assets may adversely affect us, partigularinstances where we have borrowed money |
on the market value of those assets. If the marstlete of those assets declines, the lender mayireegs to post additional collateral to support kben
which would reduce our liquidity and limit our abjlto leverage our assets. In addition, if we areanticipate being, unable to post the additiaudiateral
we would have to sell the assets at a time whemvgét not otherwise choose to do so. In the evieat we do not have sufficient liquidity to meetls
requirements, lending institutions may accelenatiebtedness, increase interest rates and terngoa@bility to borrow, any of which could resultanrapic
deterioration of our financial condition and caskaikable for distribution to our stockholders. Mover, if we liquidate the assets at prices lowentihe
amortized cost of such assets, we will incur losses

The market values of our investments may also dechithout any general increase in interest ratesafnumber of reasons, such as increas
defaults, actual or perceived increases in volynpaepayments for those investments that we haateatte subject to prepayment risk, and wideningredli
spreads. If the market values of our investmentg wedecline for any reason, the value of youegiment could also decline.

Changes in laws and regulations affecting the rataiship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and tbeS. government may adversely affect
business.

Payments on the Agency RMBS (excluding Agency li@s)hich we invest are guaranteed by Fannie Maeddie Mac and Ginnie Mae. Fan
Mae and Freddie Mac are government sponsored eisespor "GSEs," but their guarantees are notdzhbly the full faith and credit of the United StatAs
broadly publicized, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac hexerienced significant losses in recent yeanssing the U.S. Government to place Fannie Ma¢
Freddie Mac under federal conservatorship andjéztisignificant capital in these businesses. Questregarding the continued viability of Fanniedvin(
Freddie Mac, as currently structured, including therantees that back the RMBS issued by them ttend).S. Governmerd’ participation in the U.
residential mortgage market through the GSEs, ooatio persist. In February 2011, the U.S. Departroéthe Treasury along with the U.S. Departr
Housing and Urban Development released a much-eavaéport titled “ Reforming Ameri¢a Housing Finance Markét which outlines recommendatic
for reforming the U.S. housing system, includingueing the roles of Fannie Mae and Freddie Macteamsforming the governmestinvolvement in tr
housing market and its relationship to Fannie Mz fereddie Mac. In February 2012, the Federal HguBinance Agency, or FHFA, released i&rategi
Plan for Enterprise Conservatorshipafich set forth three goals for the next phaseheffannie Mae and Freddie Mac conservatorshipghwihtlude (i
build a new infrastructure for the secondary magtganarket, (ii) gradually reduce Fannie Mae anddéfiee Macs presence in the marketplace w
simplifying and shrinking their operations, and) (fnaintaining foreclosure prevention activitiesdasredit availability for new and refinanced modga. It
March 2013, the FHFA announced that it was creaimgw entity as it reduces the roles of Fannie Bak Freddie Mac that may serve as a founda
element of the mortgage market of the future. Silee FHFA first released its strategic plan, thease been a number of other housing finance re
proposals introduced, both from industry groups bydhe U.S. Congress. The most recent bill inh®. Congress to receive serious consideratiohe
“Housing Finance Reform and Taxpayer Protection éfc2013.” This draft bill, among other things, would elimiaeatreddie Mac and Fannie Mae
replace them with a new agency which would prowadénancial guarantee that would only be tappedrgitivate institutions and investors steppedt
remains unclear whether this or any other propos#dldecome law or, should a proposal become &wr how the enacted law will differ from the cam
draft of the bill.
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As discussed above, each of Fannie Mae, Freddie atdcGinnie Mae could be dissolved and the U.S.e@Bouent could determine to s
providing liquidity support of any kind to the mgage market. If Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or GinnaeMere eliminated, or their structures were tongk
radically or the U.S. Government significantly redd its support for any or all of them, we may bahle or significantly limited in our ability to quire
Agency RMBS, which would drastically reduce the amtoand type of Agency RMBS available for purchasbéch, in turn, could materially adversely af
our ability to maintain our exclusion from regutatias an investment company under the Investmemip@oy Act. Moreover, any changes to the natu
the guarantees provided by, or laws affecting, iEahtae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae could materiatlyersely affect the credit quality of the guagas
could increase the risk of loss on purchases ohag&MBS issued by these GSEs and could have ladeerse market implications for the Agency RN
they currently guarantee and the mortgage indggnerally. Any action that affects the credit qyadif the guarantees provided by Fannie Mae, Feeltic
and Ginnie Mae could materially adversely affeet¥hlue of the Agency RMBS and other residentialtgame-related assets that we own or seek to a&quir

In addition, we rely on our Agency RMBS as collatdor our financings under the repurchase agre¢srtbat we have entered into. Any declin
their value, or perceived market uncertainty alibetr value, would make it more difficult for us @dtain financing on our Agency RMBS on accept
terms or at all, or to maintain compliance with ttens of any financing transactions.

Difficult conditions in the mortgage and residentiaand commercial real estate markets have caused amay cause us to experience losses and 1
conditions may persist for the foreseeable future.

Our business is materially affected by conditianshie residential mortgage market, the resideatidl commercial real estate market, the fina
markets and the economy generally. Furthermoreguseca significant portion of our current assets@ur targeted assets are credit sensitive, weueeth
risks associated with our investments will be macate during periods of economic slowdown or raéces®specially if these periods are accompanie
declining real estate values and defaults. Contiraemcerns about the health of the residentialcamaimercial mortgage markets, as well as inflateorerg
costs, sovereign debt and geopolitical issues lam@vailability and cost of credit have contributedncreased volatility and diminished expectatidor the
economy and markets going forward. The resideatial commercial mortgage markets were adverselgtafieby changes in the lending landscape d
the financial market crisis of 2008, the severitymhich was largely unanticipated by the markets] there is no assurance that these markets wtillrréc
prior levels or that they will not worsen again.

In addition, an economic slowdown, delayed recowmrgeneral disruption in the mortgage markets nesylt in continued decreased demant
residential and commercial property, which woukkly further compress homeownership rates and pacitional pressure on home price performe
while forcing commercial property owners to lowents on properties with excess supply. We belibgeetis a strong correlation between home pricerii
rates and mortgage loan delinquencies. Moreovethacextent that a property owner has fewer tenantgceives lower rents, such property owners
generate less cash flow on their properties, whicreases significantly the likelihood that sucbgarty owners will default on their debt servicdigdtions
If the borrowers of our mortgage loans, or the soanderlying certain of our investment securitisfault, we may incur losses on those loans orsimven
securities. Any sustained period of increased paymelinquencies, foreclosures or losses could radie affect both our net interest income and daility
to acquire our targeted assets in the future oorédble terms or at all. The further deterioratidrthe mortgage markets, the residential or comraéreia
estate markets, the financial markets and the engrgenerally may result in a decline in the maskatie of our investments or cause us to experitrsse
related to our assets, which may adversely affactresults of operations, the availability and costredit and our ability to make distributions dai
stockholders.

Interest rate mismatches between the inte-earning assets held in our investment portfolio attte borrowings used to fund the purchases of thesset
may reduce our net income or result in a loss dugiperiods of changing interest rates.

Certain of the assets held in our investment plistttave a fixed coupon rate, generally for a digant period, and in some cases, for the ave
maturity of the asset. At the same time, our relpase agreements and certain other borrowings tiypiseovide for a payment reset period of 30 day
less. In addition, the average maturity of ourrbaings generally will be shorter than the averaggturity of the securities and loans currently i
portfolio and certain other targeted assets in whve seek to invest. Historically, we have usedpsagreements as a means for attempting to fixdse@
certain of our liabilities over a period of timegvwever, these agreements will generally not beédgefft to match the cost of all our liabilities &ust all of ou
investments. In the event we experience unexpeactédh or low prepayment rates on RMBS or othertgamgerelated assets, our strategy for matching
assets with our liabilities is more likely to besuncessful which may result in reduced earningesses and reduced cash available for distributioou!
stockholders.

In addition, the RMBS and residential mortgage foarm invest in may be comprised of, ARMs that atgext to periodic and lifetime interest 1
caps. Periodic interest rate caps limit the amamninterest rate can increase during any giverogetiifetime interest rate caps limit the amountirseres
rate can increase over the life of the securityoan. Our borrowings typically are not subject tmikar restrictions. Accordingly, in a period ofpidly
increasing interest rates, the interest rates @aidur borrowings could increase without limitatiwhile interest rate caps could limit the inteneges on th
Agency ARMs or residential mortgage loans comprisEARMs in our portfolio. This problem is magnifidor securities backed by, or residential mort
loans comprised of, ARMs and hybrid ARMs that aot fully indexed. Further, certain securities batksy, or residential mortgage loans comprise:
ARMs and hybrid ARMs may be subject to periodic payt caps that result in a portion of the intebeshg deferred and added to the principal outstay.
As a result, the payments we receive on Agency ARMsked by, or residential mortgage loans comprigedRMs and hybrid ARMs may be lower than
related debt service costs. These factors could hawmaterial adverse effect on our business, finhnondition and results of operations and outitsthiio
make distributions to our stockholders.
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Interest rate fluctuations will also cause variantethe yield curve, which may reduce our net meo The relationship between shtatm an
longer-term interest rates is often referred tahas"yield curve.” If short-term interest rateseridisproportionately relative to longerm interest rates
flattening of the yield curve), our borrowing costay increase more rapidly than the interest ince®ed on our interesarning assets. For exam
because the Agency RMBS in our investment portfiylically bear interest based on longemn rates while our borrowings typically bear et based ¢
shortterm rates, a flattening of the yield curve wowddd to decrease our net income and the market eélinese securities. Additionally, to the exteask
flows from investments that return scheduled anscbheduled principal are reinvested, the spreaddmatwhe yields of the new investments and ava
borrowing rates may decline, which would likely desise our net income. It is also possible thattdlkam interest rates may exceed longgm interest rate
(a yield curve inversion), in which event our baving costs may exceed our interest income and wéldncur significant operating losses.

Mortgage loan modification programs and future legative action may adversely affect the value afdahe returns on, our targeted assets.

The U.S. Government, through the U.S. Treasury Fémeral Housing Administration, or FHA, and thel&ml Deposit Insurance Corporation
“FDIC," commenced implementation of programs desigtee provide homeowners with assistance in avoidiggdential or commercial mortgage |
foreclosures, including the Home Affordable Modifiion Program, or “HAMP,Which provides homeowners with assistance in aagidésidential mortga
loan foreclosures, the Hope for Homeowners Progartii4H Program,” which allows certain distresdmmirowers to refinance their mortgages into FHA
insured loans in order to avoid residential moregkogn foreclosures, and the Home Affordable RefieaProgram, or “HARP yvhich allows borrowers wt
are current on their mortgage payments to refinamcbreduce their monthly mortgage payments atfoamlue ratios up to 125% without new mortg
insurance. The programs may involve, among otlirgsh the modification of mortgage loans to redileeprincipal amount of the loans or the rate tdries
payable on the loans, or to extend the paymentstefrthe loans.

Loan modification and refinance programs mdyeasely affect the performance of Agency RMBS,-Agency RMBS and residential mortg;
loans owned by us. Residential distressed mortisge and nomgency RMBS are particularly sensitive to loan nficdiion and refinance programs, ¢
significant number of loan modifications with respéo a given security or pool of loans, includitigpse related to principal forgiveness and co
reduction, could negatively impact the realizeddseand cash flows on such investments. In addiitas also likely that loan modifications wouldsult ir
increased prepayments on some RMBS and residemiiagjage loans.

The U.S. Congress and various state and localdgiss are considering, and in the future may idenslegislation, which, among other provisic
would permit limited assignee liability for certaiolations in the mortgage loan origination prageand would allow judicial modification of loanipeipal
in the event of personal bankruptcy. We cannot iptegihether or in what form the U.S. Congress @ tarious state and local legislatures may ¢
legislation affecting our business or whether amghslegislation will require us to change our picEst or make changes in our portfolio in the futdrees:
changes, if required, could materially adversefe@four business, results of operations and filhmondition and our ability to make distributiotts oul
stockholders, particularly if we make such charigagsponse to new or amended laws, regulatiomsdinances in any state where we acquire a Sigm
portion of our mortgage loans, or if such changesult in us being held responsible for any violadion the mortgage loan origination process. Thea
modification programs, future legislative or regaty actions, including possible amendments tolthekruptcy laws, which result in the modificatiof
outstanding residential mortgage loans, as wetlhahges in the requirements necessary to qualifyefinancing mortgage loans with Fannie Mae, Fie
Mac or Ginnie Mae, may adversely affect the valfjeand the returns on, our assets which, in tuonjd materially adversely affect our business, ritial
condition and results of operations and our abiitynake distributions to our stockholders.

Prepayment rates can change, adversely affecting prerformance of our asset
The frequency at which prepayments (including hathintary prepayments by the borrowers and liqudeat due to defaults and foreclosures) o
on the residential mortgage loans we own and ttleae underlie our RMBS s difficult to predict ansl affected by a variety of factors, including

prevailing level of interest rates as well as eeoizp demographic, tax, social, legal, legislativel ather factors. Generally, borrowers tend to ayeihei
mortgages when prevailing mortgage rates fall belmvinterest rates on their mortgage loans.

18




In general, “premium” securities (securities whasarket values exceed their principal or par amquate adversely affected by faster-than
anticipated prepayments because the above-markpbndhat such premium securities carry will benedrfor a shorter period of time. Generally, “diset)
securities (securities whose principal or par an®exceed their market values) are adversely affieby slower-thamnticipated prepayments. Since m
RMBS will be discount securities when interest saéee high, and will be premium securities wheerest rates are low, these RMBS may be adve
affected by changes in prepayments in any inteagstenvironment. Although we estimate prepaymatetsrto determine the effective yield of our asaat
valuations, these estimates are not precise apéymeent rates do not necessarily change in a padiicmanner as a function of interest rate changes

The adverse effects of prepayments may impact wsiiious ways. First, particular investments, sasHOs, may experience outright losses i
environment of faster actual or anticipated prepayt: Second, particular investments may upeeform relative to any hedges that we may
constructed for these assets, resulting in a msstin particular, prepayments (at par) may litmé potential upside of many RMBS to their priratipr pa
amounts, whereas their corresponding hedges ofiea the potential for unlimited loss. Furthermdrethe extent that faster prepayment rates areta
lower interest rates, the principal payments remtivom prepayments will tend to be reinvestedimdryielding assets, which may reduce our income i
long run. Therefore, if actual prepayment ratefedifrom anticipated prepayment rates, our businfassncial condition and results of operations abdity
to make distributions to our stockholders couldzgerially adversely affected.

Some of the commercial real estate loans we maynatte or invest in may allow the borrower to makepayments without incurring a prepayn
penalty and some may include provisions allowirg librrower to extend the term of the loan beyowrdattiginally scheduled maturity. Because the den
to prepay or extend a commercial loan is typicatntrolled by the borrower, we may not accuratelicipate the timing of these events, which couféa
the earnings and cash flows we anticipate and doyddct our ability to finance these assets.

Increased levels of prepayments on the mortgagedaitying structured mortgac-backed securities, particularly 10s, might decreaset interest incom
or result in a net loss, which could materially agisely affect our business, financial condition amdsults of operations and our ability to pay digmtions
to our stockholders.

When we acquire structured mortgdsgeked securities, such as 10s, we anticipatettigatinderlying mortgages will prepay at a projeaizte
generating an expected yield. When the prepaynages on the mortgages underlying these securitieBigher than expected, our returns on those isies
may be materially adversely affected. For examible,value of our Agency IOs is extremely sensitvgprepayments because holders of these secutd
not have the right to receive any principal payrment the underlying mortgages. Agency 10s currecdimprise a large percentage of our interest eg
assets. As a result, increased levels of prepayoenbur Agency 10s will negatively impact our irgerest income and may result in a loss.

Certain actions by the U.S. Federal Reserve couldtenially adversely affect our business, financiebndition and results of operations and our ability
pay dividends to our shareholder

On September 21, 2011, the U.S. Federal Resenkedaral Reserve, announced "Operation Twist,'ogram by which it purchased, by the en
December 2012, more than $650 billion of U.S. Tueasecurities with remaining maturities betweex aid 30 years and sold an equal amount of
Treasury securities with remaining maturities aethyears or less. In addition, on September 182 2the Federal Reserve announced a third rou
guantitative easing, or "QE3," which is an openezhgdrogram designed to expand the Federal Resdmielimgs of longerm securities by purchasing
additional $40 billion of Agency RMBS per month ilikey economic indicators show sufficient signdgraprovementin December 2012, in an effort to ki
longterm interest rates at low levels, the Federal Resannounced an expansion of its asset buying-@mogtarting in January 2013, at which time it vd
commence outright purchases of longgnm U.S. Treasury securities at a pace of $4®bilber month. This new U.S. Treasury securitiezipase progra
replaced "Operation Twist," which expired in Dec&mB012.

In December 2013, given indications that the Ucdnemy had improved sufficiently, the Federal Resemnounced that it would reduce the |
of its purchases of longéerm U.S. Treasury securities to $40 billion pemthoand its purchases of Agency RMBs to $35 billi@n month and that it w
likely reduce the pace of asset purchases in furtteasured steps to be announced at future meelimigeest rates increased during 2013 as a resoiarke
anticipation that the asset purchase program woelteduced. Late in January 2014, the Federal Res@nounced an additional $10 billion reductiorits
monthly asset purchases, beginning in February 28hith consists of a monthly purchase reductio®®billion in Agency RMBS and $5 billion in U
Treasury securities. Although in the immediate rafh of the purchase reduction announcementsestteates have generally traded within a rang
remains possible that the precipitous terminatib(oo even just a phasing out of) Federal Resessetapurchase programs could cause interest mates
substantially. Should the U.S. economy begin tacete signs of deterioration, the Federal Reseotddcdecide to increase its asset purchase progr
institute other measures designed to reduce intea¢ss. These measures could lead to a flatteimrthe yield curve, and increased prepayment
(resulting from lower londerm interest rates, including mortgage rates), amarrowing of our net interest margin. The madifion or termination by tl
Federal Reserve of any of its programs could nalteradversely affect our business, financial ctindi and results of operations, and our abilityriake
distributions to our stockholders.
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Our investments include high yield or subordinatedd lower rated securities that have greater riskdoss than other investments, which could advdy
affect our business, financial condition and caslvailable for dividends.

We own and seek to acquire higher yielding or sdinated or lower rated securities, including subwatkd tranches of CMBS or ndxgency
RMBS, which involve a higher degree of risk thahestinvestments. Numerous factors may affect a emyip ability to repay its high yield or subordine
securities, including the failure to meet its besis plan, a downturn in its industry or negativeneenic conditions. These securities may not berselchy
mortgages or liens on assets. Our right to paymedtsecurity interest with respect to such seegrithay be subordinated to the payment rights acutity
interests of the senior lender. Therefore, we mayirhited in our ability to enforce our rights tollect these loans and to recover any of the Icaarte:
through a foreclosure of collateral.

Our efforts to manage credit risks may fail.

Despite our efforts to manage credit risk, theeeraany aspects of credit risk that we cannot coror credit policies and procedures may nc
successful in limiting future delinquencies, defsubnd losses, or they may not be cost effectbusr. underwriting reviews may not be effective. L
servicing companies may not cooperate with our logation efforts or those efforts may be ineffee. Service providers to securitizations, suc
trustees, loans servicers, bond insurance providescustodians, may not perform in a mannergta@notes our interests. Delay of foreclosures cdeldy
resolution and increase ultimate loss severities, @sult.

The value of the properties collateralizing or uhdeg the loans or securities we own may declifige frequency of default and the loss severil
loans upon default may be greater than we antiigaterest-only loans, negative amortization lpagjustablerate loans, larger balance loans, red
documentation loans, subprime loans, alt-a loatrgd lien loans, loans in certain locations, a@h$ or investments that are partially collateealiby non
real estate assets may have increased risks aedtgef loss. If property securing or underlyirmphs become real estate owned as a result of deteel, w
bear the risk of not being able to sell the propartd recovering our investment and of being exppdsehe risks attendant to the ownership of reaperty.

If we underestimate the lo-adjusted yields of our investments in credit seivé assets, we may experience losses.

We and our managers expect to value our invessriamnany credit sensitive assets, including, kitlimited to multifamily CMBS, based ¢
lossadjusted yields, taking into account estimatedriutasses on the mortgage loans that we are imgestior that are included in a particular seczatiion
and the estimated impact of these losses on expédtge cash flows. Our loss estimates may notgexcurate, as actual results may vary from estsnét
the event that we underestimate the losses relatitree price we pay for a particular investmerd,may experience losses with respect to such imesgt

We invest in CMBS that are subordinate to more sarsecurities issued by the applicable securitinatiwhich entails certain risks.

We currently own and intend to continue to purchpgacipal only multi-family CMBS that representetHirst loss tranche of a muliamily
mortgage loan securitization. These first lossgypial only securities are subject to the first rigdoss if any losses are realized on the undaeglyhortgag
loans in the securitization. We also own and intemaontinue to purchase interest only securitessiéd by multfamily mortgage loan securitizatio
However, these interest only CMB$pically only receive payments of interest to théent that there are funds available in the sBzation to make tr
payments. CMBS generally entitle the holders thfeteaeceive payments that depend primarily ondhsh flow from a specified pool of commercia
multi-family mortgage loans. Consequently, the CMBS, engarticular, first loss principal only CMBS, wibe adversely affected by payment defa
delinquencies and losses on the underlying mortimges, each of which could have a material adveffeet on our cash flows and results of operations

Residential mortgage loans, including subprime résntial mortgage loans and non-performing and spe+forming residential mortgage loans, ¢
subject to increased risks.

We acquire and manage residential whole mortgagesloincluding loans sourced from distressed msrkesidential mortgage loans, incluc
non-performing and superforming mortgage loans as well as subprime raggdoans, are subject to increased risks of ldeke Agency RMBS, th
residential mortgage loans we invest in generailly reot guaranteed by the federal government or@8k. Additionally, by directly acquiring residen
mortgage loans, we do not receive the structueditienhancements that benefit senior tranchesMB®R A residential whole mortgage loan is dire
exposed to losses resulting from default. Therefibre value of the underlying property, the creditiiness and financial position of the borrowed &ime
priority and enforceability of the lien will signifantly impact the value of such mortgage. In thent of a foreclosure, we may assume direct owiesfithe
underlying real estate. The liquidation proceedsnugale of such real estate may not be sufficenétover our cost basis in the loan, and any aostelay
involved in the foreclosure or liquidation procesay increase losses.
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Residential whole mortgage loans are also subjetdpecial hazard" risk (property damage causeldzards, such as earthquakes or environn
hazards, not covered by standard property insurpotieies), and to bankruptcy risk (reduction ibarrower's mortgage debt by a bankruptcy cour
addition, claims may be assessed against us omgtcobour position as a mortgage holder or prgpewner, including assignee liability, responstfifior
tax payments, environmental hazards and othelitiabi In some cases, these liabilities may beduese liabilities" or may otherwise lead to lossesxces
of the purchase price of the related mortgage apenty.

Our targeted assets currently include distressgidemstial loans that we acquire from third partigpijcally at a discount. Distressed residentiahk
sell at a discount because they may constitutéerishvestments than those selling at or abovevphlre. The distressed residential loans we investay b
distressed because a borrower may have defaulezdughon or because the loan may otherwise contadtitauality that is considered to be poor.
likelihood of full recovery of a distressed loargrincipal and contractual interest is less tiwat for loans trading at or above par value. Altffowe typicall
expect to receive less than the principal amouriace value of the distressed residential loanswieapurchase, the return that we in fact recdnegeupo
may be less than our investment in such loansatigetfailure of the loans to perform or reperfoAn.economic downturn would exacerbate the riskihe
recovery of the full value of the loan or the cobur investment therein.

If we sell or transfer any whole mortgage loans #othird party, including a securitization entity, &wmay be required to repurchase such loan:s
indemnify such third party if we breach represeni@mts and warranties.

When we sell or transfer any whole mortgage loana third party, including a securitization entitye generally are required to make custotr
representations and warranties about such loathe tiird party. Our residential mortgage loan sajeeements and terms of any securitizations imighwve
sell or transfer loans will generally require ugépurchase or substitute loans in the event wachra representation or warranty given to the fmachase
or securitization. In addition, we may be requitedepurchase loans as a result of borrower fraud the event of early payment default on a mayegan
The remedies available to a purchaser of mortgagesl are generally broader than those availablgstagainst an originatinigroker or corresponde
Repurchased loans are typically worth only a foactdf the original price. Significant repurchaseivdiy could materially adversely affect our busis
financial condition and results of operations andability to pay dividends to our shareholders.

The commercial mortgage loans we may originate aqaire and the mortgage loans underlying our CMBBviestments are subject to the ability of
commercial property owner to generate net incomerfr operating the property as well as the risks efidquency and foreclosure.

Commercial mortgage loans are secured by nfatily or commercial property and are subject sksiof delinquency and foreclosure, and ris
loss that may be greater than similar risks assmtiaith loans made on the security of sinfglily residential property. The ability of a bower to repay
loan secured by an inconpeeducing property typically is dependent primatilyon the successful operation of such properherahan upon the existence
independent income or assets of the borrower elfnigt operating income of the property is redutieelborrower's ability to repay the loan may beairgd
Net operating income of an inco-producing property can be adversely affected yorag other things,

e tenant mix;

e success of tenant businesses;

e property management decisions;

e property location, condition, and design;

e new construction of competitive properties;

e changes in laws that increase operating expandasit rents that may be charged;

e changes in national, regional or local econoroitditions and/or specific industry segments, intigdhe credit and securitization markets;

e declines in regional or local real estate values;

e declines in regional or local rental or occuparatgs;

e increases in interest rates, real estate tag,ratel other operating expenses;

e costs of remediation and liabilities associatétth environmental conditions;

e the potential for uninsured or underinsured prgplesses;

e changes in governmental laws and regulations, dietufiscal policies, zoning ordinances and envinental legislation and the related cost
compliance; and

e acts of God, terrorist attacks, social unresd, @wil disturbances.

21




In the event of any default under a mortgage lozld Hirectly by us, we will bear a risk of lossthe extent of any deficiency between the valt
the collateral and the outstanding principal anchaed interest of the mortgage loan, and any segsek could have a material adverse effect onaslr fbow
from operations and our ability to make distribntdo our stockholders.

In the event of the bankruptcy of a mortgage loamdwer, the mortgage loan to such borrower wildieemed to be secured only to the extent ¢
value of the underlying collateral at the time ahkruptcy (as determined by the bankruptcy coartyl the lien securing the mortgage loan will bgesttic
the avoidance powers of the bankruptcy trusteesbtai-inpossession to the extent the lien is unenforceafdier state law. Foreclosure of a mortgage
can be an expensive and lengthy process, whiclil d@ye a substantial negative effect on our aratiegbreturn on the foreclosed mortgage loan.

The preferred equity investments or mezzanine |l@sets that we may acquire or originate will invelgreater risks of loss than senior loans secursi
income-producing properties.

We may acquire or originate mezzanine loans, wtakk the form of subordinated loans secured byrgbowortgages on the underlying propert
loans secured by a pledge of the ownership intistither the entity owning the property or adgle of the ownership interests of the entity thah® the
interest in the entity owning the property. We atsay make preferred equity investments in the ettt owns the property. These types of assetdvnw
higher degree of risk than long-term senior morgganding secured by inconpeeducing real property, because the loan may becensecured or @
equity investment may be effectively extinguishedhaesult of foreclosure by the senior lendeaddition, mezzanine loans and preferred equitystment
are often used to achieve a very high leverageugelcommercial projects, resulting in less equitthe property and increasing the risk of lospiaficipa
or investment. If a borrower defaults on our memradoan or debt senior to our loan, or in the ¢évana borrower bankruptcy, our mezzanine loa
preferred equity investment will be satisfied oafyer the senior debt, in case of a mezzanine loaall senior and subordinated debt, in case mieferre
equity investment, is paid in full. Where seniobtexists, the presence of intercreditor arrangasneray limit our ability to amend our loan docung
assign our loans, accept prepayments, exerciseeaugdies or control decisions made in bankruptoggedings relating to borrowers or preferred e
investors. As a result, we may not recover somalaf our investment, which could result in sigednt losses.

We have acquired and may acquire in the future néigency RMBS collateralized by subprime and Alt A ngage loans, which are not guaranteed
any government-sponsored entity or agency and angject to increased risks.

We have acquired and may acquire in the future Agency RMBS, which are backed by residential rethte property but, in contrast to Age
RMBS, their principal and interest are not guaradtey a GSE such as Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac. ¥eatquire nomkgency RMBS backed by collate
pools of mortgage loans that have been originasgthwnderwriting standards that are less restddtian those used in underwriting “prime mortgages
and “Alt A mortgage loans.These lower standards, which include mortgage losade to borrowers having imperfect or impairedlitrieistories, mortgac
loans where the amount of the loan at originat®o80% or more of the value of the mortgage propeniyrtgage loans made to borrowers with low ¢
scores, mortgage loans made to borrowers who htineg debt that represents a large portion of tinleome and mortgage loans made to borrowers v
income is not required to be disclosed or verifeject us to increased risk of loss on our inaest.

To the extent that due diligence is conducted origrtial assets, such due diligence may not revdbbhthe risks associated with such assets and may
reveal other weaknesses in such assets, which ctadd to losses.

Before acquiring certain assets, such as wholegaget loans, CMBS or other mortgagdated or other fixed income assets, we or theraa
manager responsible for the acquisition and manageonf such asset may decide to conduct (eithectlyror using third parties) certain due diligenSact
due diligence may include (i) an assessment ofsthengths and weaknesses of the assgedit profile, (ii) a review of all or merely subset of th
documentation related to the asset, or (iii) otieerews that we or the external manager may deqaroppate to conduct. There can be no assurantevd
or the external manager will conduct any specéiel of due diligence, or that, among other thirigs,due diligence process will uncover all relévfants o
that any purchase will be successful, which coeklit in losses on these assets, which, in tumldcadversely affect our business, financial caoditinc
results of operations and our ability to make dstions to our stockholders.

Our real estate assets are subject to risks patticto real property.

We own assets secured by real estate and may @lvestte directly in the future, either througtedi acquisitions or upon a default of mortc
loans. Real estate assets are subject to varighss mcluding:

e acts of God, including earthquakes, floods ahemhatural disasters, which may result in uninglosses;

e acts of war or terrorism, including the conseaeasmof terrorist attacks, such as those that oedwon September 11, 2001,
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e adverse changes in national and local econondiaraarket conditions; and

e changes in governmental laws and regulations, Ifipoticies and zoning ordinances and the relatestscof compliance with laws a
regulations, fiscal policies and ordinances;

The occurrence of any of the foregoing or similaergs may reduce our return from an affected ptgpar asset and, consequently, mater
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations and our ability to maké&itutions to our stockholders.

The lack of liquidity in certain of our assets magdversely affect our business.

A portion of the securities or loans we own or acgjmay be subject to legal, contractual and othstrictions on resale or will otherwise be
liquid than publicly-traded securities. For examglgortion of our multfamily CMBS is held by a securitization trust andymot be sold or transferred u
the note issued by the securitization trust mataras repaid. The illiquidity of certain of oursets may make it difficult for us to sell such asskthe nee
or desire arises. In addition, if we are requietiquidate all or a portion of our portfolio quigk we may realize significantly less than the eaat which w
have previously recorded our assets. As a resultability to vary our portfolio in response to dges in economic and other conditions may be vely
limited, which could adversely affect our resulf®perations and financial condition.

Our Level 2 portfolio investments are recorded airfvalue based on market quotations from pricingrsices and broker/dealers. Our Level 3 investm
are recorded at fair value utilizing internal valuteson models. The value of our common stock coulddmversely affected if our determinations regard
the fair value of these investments were materidligher than the values that we ultimately realimpon their disposal.

All of our current portfolio investments are, araire of our future portfolio investments will be,tive form of securities or other investments the
not publicly traded. The fair value of securitieglather investments that are not publicly tradeg mot be readily determinable. We currently valod will
continue to value these investments on a quarberdys at fair value as determined by our managebssed on market quotations from pricing service
brokers/dealers and/or internal valuation modeézaise such quotations and valuations are inhgnemtertain, they may fluctuate over short periofisme
and are based on estimates, therefore our detdiarisaf fair value may differ materially from tivalues that would have been used if a public mafide
these securities existed. The value of our comneckscould be adversely affected if our determinai regarding the fair value of these investmeres
materially higher than the values that we ultimatehlize upon their disposal.

Our adoption of fair value option accounting coulgesult in income statement volatility, which in tar could cause significant market price and tradi
volume fluctuations for our securities.

We have determined that certain securitizationtgrttgat issued certain of our muidimily CMBS or securitized debt were variable istrentities
or VIEs, of which we are the primary beneficiarpdaelected the fair value option on the assetsliabdities held within those securitization trusiss ¢
result, we are required to consolidate the undeglynultifamily loan or securities, as applicable, relatethtdinterest income and interest expense of
securitization trusts in our financial statemeatthough our actual investments in these secutiizarusts generally represent a small percentdgiee tots
assets of the trusts. Prior to the year ended Dieeeil, 2012, we historically accounted for the tirfaimily CMBS in our investment portfolio throu
accumulated other comprehensive income, pursuawhich unrealized gains and losses on those rfartily CMBS were reflected as an adjustmer
stockholdersequity. However, the fair value option requirest tti@anges in valuations in the assets and ligslitif those VIEs of which we are the prin
beneficiary, such as the Consolidated K-Seriegeblected through our earnings. As we acquire @il multifamily CMBS assets in the future that
similar in structure and form to the Consolidate@®&ries’assets or securitize investment securities ownagshywe may be required to consolidate the ¢
and liabilities of the issuing or securitizationdt and would expect to elect the fair value opf@mrthose assets. Because of this, our earningsexyerienc
greater volatility in the future as a decline ire tfair value of the assets of any VIE that we céidate in our financial statements could reducehbmii
earnings and stockholders' equity, which in tuould cause significant market price and tradinguwed fluctuations for our securities.

Failure to procure adequate funding and capital winbiadversely affect our results and may, in turnegatively affect the value of our common stock and
our ability to distribute cash to our stockholders.

We depend upon the availability of adequate funding capital for our operations. To maintain oatust as a REIT, we are required to distribu
least 90% of our REIT taxable income annually, deieed without regard to the deduction for dividenghid and excluding net capital gain, to
stockholders and therefore are not able to retaimearnings for new investments. We cannot assowetlyat any, or sufficient, funding or capital wiié
available to us in the future on terms that areeptable to us. In the event that we cannot obtafiiicgnt funding and capital on acceptable terthere ma
be a negative impact on the value of our commonksémd our ability to make distributions to ourcitbolders, and you may lose part or all of y
investment.
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Competition may prevent us from acquiring assets favorable terms or at all, which could have a mdg adverse effect on our business, financ
condition and results of operations.

We operate in a highly competitive market for irwesnt opportunities. Our net income largely depesrdsur ability to acquire our targeted as
at favorable spreads over our borrowing costschuging our targeted assets, we compete with dREETs, investment banking firms, savings and
associations, banks, insurance companies, mutadkfiwother lenders and other entities that purcheastgagerelated assets, many of which have gre
financial resources than us. Additionally, manyaf potential competitors are not subject to REIX ¢compliance or required to maintain an exempftiom
the Investment Company Act. As a result, we mayiméhe future be able to acquire sufficient quideiof our targeted assets at favorable spreagisan
borrowing costs, which could have a material advefect on our business, financial condition agglits of operations.

Lack of diversification in the number of assets wequire would increase our dependence on relativigly individual assets

Our management objectives and policies do not palimit on the size of the amount of capital usedupport, or the exposure to (by any ¢
measure), any individual asset or any group oftassigh similar characteristics or risks. In addlitj because we are a small company, we may beeutt
sufficiently deploy capital into a number of assetsasset groups. As a result, our portfolio maycbecentrated in a small number of assets or m
otherwise undiversified, increasing the risk ofsl@nd the magnitude of potential losses to us amdsickholders if one or more of these assetpe
poorly.

We may change our investment strategy, hedgingteyg and asset allocation and operational and maeagnt policies without stockholder conse
which may result in the purchase of riskier assetisd materially adversely affect our business, fir@al condition and results of operations and our itity
to make distributions to our stockholders.

We may change our investment strategy, hedgingestyaand asset allocation and operational and nesmegt policies at any time without
consent of our stockholders, which could resutbuin purchasing assets or entering into hedging#@tions that are different from, and possiblyieskhan
the assets and hedging transactions describedsimegort. A change in our investment strategy extding strategy may increase our exposure to state
values, interest rates, prepayment rates, cregfitamd other factors. A change in our asset allmtatould result in us purchasing assets in claddgteren
from those described in this report. Our Board okEtors determines our operational policies ang mraend or revise our policies, including thoseh
respect to our acquisitions, growth, operationdebtedness, capitalization and distributions or@gptransactions that deviate from these poligiisout ¢
vote of, or notice to, our stockholders. In additicertain of our external managers have gredtitaiin making investment and hedging decision®w
behalf. Changes in our investment strategy, hedsirajegy and asset allocation and operationalnaarthgement policies could materially adverselyct
our business, financial condition and results afraions and ability to make distributions to otac&holders.

Our senior management and our external managerslwiilize analytical models and data in connectiamith the valuation of certain of our assets, a
any incorrect, misleading or incomplete informatiamsed in connection therewith would subject us tat@ntial risks.

Given the complexity of certain of our target assstich as Agency I0s and multi-family CMBS, ourigemanagement team and our external
managers must rely heavily on analytical modelsiafadmation and data supplied by third parties.ddis and data will be used to value potential targe
assets, potential credit risks and reserves andralsonnection with hedging our acquisitions.he event models and data prove to be incorrecteauing
or incomplete, any decisions made in reliance theexpose us to potential risks.

In connection with our operating and investment agty, we rely on third parties, including our exteal managers, to perform certain services, corr
with applicable laws and regulations, and carry oabntractual covenants and terms, the failure of igh by any of these third parties may advers
impact our business and financial results.

In connection with our business of acquiring anttliimg loans, engaging in securitization transadjand investing in thirgarty issued securitie
we rely on third party service providers, includiogr external managers, to perform certain seryicesply with applicable laws and regulations, aad
out contractual covenants and terms. As a reselane subject to the risks associated with a fhartly’s failure to perform, including failure to perfoe tc
reasons such as fraud, negligence, errors, midatitms, or insolvency.
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We are highly dependent on information systems asystem failures could significantly disrupt our bimess, which may, in turn, materially advers
affect our business, financial condition and resalbf operations and our ability to make distributie to our stockholders.

Our business is highly dependent on communicatmasinformation systems. Any failure or interruptiof our systems could cause delays or
problems in our securities trading activities whoduld materially adversely affect our businegsafficial condition and results of operations andatniiity tc
make distributions to our stockholders.

Actions of the U.S. Government to stabilize or refothe financial markets may not achieve the intesatleffect and may adversely affect our busine

In response to the financial issues affecting theking system and financial markets and going conti®eats to commercial banks, investr
banks and other financial institutions, the Emeoyeconomic Stabilization Act (or EESA), was enddy the U.S. Congress in 2008. Although this @
and others implemented in response to the finaodisik appear to have stabilized the banking systed financial markets, there can be no assurthatehe
EESA or any other U.S. Government actions will havengterm beneficial impact on the financial markets.tfie extent such actions do not functio
intended over the longer term, our business mayuhimhately receive the anticipated positive impom the legislation and such result may have d
adverse market implications.

In July 2010, the U.S. Congress enacted the Doddk-wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection écthe DoddFrank Act, in part to impo:
significant investment restrictions and capitaluiegments on banking entities and other organimatithat are significant to U.S. financial markdis:
instance, the Dodd-Frank Act seeks to reform trsetasacked securitization market (including the tgmgebacked securities market) by requiring
retention of a portion of the credit risk inheranthe pool of securitized assets and by imposaddjtenal registration and disclosure requireme@tstain o
the new requirements and restrictions exempt Agd&RIdBS, other government issued or guaranteed s&syror other securities. Nonetheless, the Dodd
Frank Act also imposes significant regulatory liesbns on the origination and securitization ddidential mortgage loans. The DoBdank Act also creat:
a new regulator, the Consumer Financial Proted8areau (or the CFPB), which oversees many of tire &owvs which regulate the mortgage indu
including among others the Real Estate Settlemesdelures Act and the Truth in Lending Act. White full impact of the Doddrank Act and the role
the CFPB cannot be assessed until all implememnégglations are released, the Ddelank Act's extensive requirements may have afgigni effect on th
financial markets, and may affect the availability terms of financing from our lender counterpartand the availability or terms of mortgaogeke:
securities, both of which may have an adverse effeour financial condition and results of oparas.

In addition, the U.S. Government, Federal ResetV&. Treasury, the SEC and other governmental agdlatory bodies have taken or
considering taking other actions that impact thetgame industry and financial markets. We cannetigt whether or when such actions may occur ort
effect, if any such actions could have on our bessnresults of operations and financial condition.

The downgrade of the U.S.'s and certain Europearuatries' or certain European financial institutionscredit ratings, any future downgrades of the
U.S.'s and certain European countries' or certainuEopean financial institutions’ credit ratings andhe failure to resolve issues related to U.S. fisaad
debt policies may materially adversely affect owrsiness, liquidity, financial condition and resultsf operations.

Recent U.S. debt ceiling and budget deficit conedrave increased the possibility of additional itreating downgrades or economic slowdowr
the U.S. Although U.S. lawmakers passed legislatiomaise the federal debt ceiling in 2011, Stadd&rPoor's Ratings Services lowered its ldegy
sovereign credit rating on the U.S. from “AAA” té\A+" in August 2011. The impact of any further downgmatiethe U.S. Government's sovereign ¢
rating or its perceived creditworthiness could adely affect the U.S. and global financial markatsl economic conditions. If the U.S.'s credit tivere
downgraded it would likely impact the credit risksaciated with Agency RMBS in our portfolio. A dogvade of the U.S. Government's credit rating
default by the U.S. Government to satisfy its dafiigations likely would create broader financiadrhoil and uncertainty, which would weigh heavily the
global banking system and these developments @aulde interest rates and borrowing costs to rideaareduction in the availability of credit, whiaay
negatively impact the value of the assets in outfgl®m, our net income, liquidity and our abilitg finance our assets on favorable terms.

In addition, in recent years, several large Eurofg@sncial institutions have experienced finandidficulty resulting in downgrades to their cre
ratings and, in some cases, these financial itistitsi have required assistance from European sigregovernments or other large European bank
economic uncertainty in Europe continues, the fircondition and stability of many European fingh institutions remains at risk. Some of thesaficia
institutions have U.S. banking subsidiaries thates@s financing or hedging counterparties to us; fture downgrade of the credit ratings of thEseopea
financial institutions would result in greater ctenparty default risk and could materially adveysaffect our business, liquidity, access to finagcant
results of operations
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Failure to obtain and maintain an exemption from b®y regulated as a commaodity pool operator couldgct us to additional regulation and complian
requirements and may result in fines and other pédties which could materially adversely affect ourusiness, financial condition and results
operations.

The Dodd-Frank Act established a comprehensive negwlatory framework for derivative contracts conmiyoreferred to as “swapsAs a resul
any investment fund that trades in swaps may bsidered a “commodity poolyhich would cause its operators (and in some dasefind's directors) to
regulated as “commodity pool operators” ("CPOs'\der new rules adopted by the U.S. Commodity Fatlirading Commission (the “CFTCthose fund
that become commodity pools solely because of the& of swaps must register with the National Fagulssociation ("NFA"). Registration requi
compliance with the CFTC's regulations and the NFRAles with respect to capital raising, disclosueporting, recordkeeping and other business acit
However, the CFTC's Division of Swap Dealer ancedmediary Oversight issued a aoction letter in December 2012 saying, althougheiieves th:
mortgage REITs are properly considered commoditlgdt would not recommend that the CFTC take er@ment action against the operator of a mori
REIT who does not register as a CPO if, among dtfings, the mortgage REIT limits the initial margind premiums required to establish its swaparde
and other commodity interest positions to not ntben five percent of its total assets, the mortgaBeT limits the net income derived annually fronmse
commodity interest positions that are not qualifylredging transactions to less than five perceitisgfross income and interests in the mortgagerl Ried
not marketed to the public as or in a commaodityl po@therwise as or in a vehicle for trading ie tommodity futures, commodity options or swapskeizs

We use hedging instruments in conjunction with ionestment portfolio and related borrowings to reglor mitigate risks associated with chai
in interest rates, mortgage spreads, yield curepeh and market volatility. These hedging instrusérclude interest rate swaps, interest rate éstam
options on interest rate futures. We do not culyesmigage in any speculative derivatives activibesther norhedging transactions using swaps, future
options on futures. We do not use these instrunfentbie purpose of trading in commodity interests] we do not consider our company or our operatic
be a commaodity pool as to which CPO registratiocampliance is required. We have submitted theireduiling to claim the naction relief afforded
the above-described no-action letter. Consequentywill be restricted to operating within the parters discussed in the action letter and will not ent
into hedging transactions covered by the no-ad&tar if they would cause us to exceed the lirs@sforth in the naction letter. In the event that we fai
comply with statutory requirements relating to datives or with the CFTC's rules thereunder, inclgdhe noaction letter described above, we ma'
subject to significant fines, penalties and otheil or governmental actions or proceedings, anywtiich could have a materially adverse effect or
business, financial condition and results of openat

Risk Related to Our Debt Financing and Hedging

Our access to financing sources, which may not beaitable on favorable terms, or at all, may be li@d, and this may materially adversely affect
business, financial condition and results of opei@is and our ability to make distributions to outackholders.

We depend upon the availability of adequate capital financing sources on acceptable terms to funmdoperations. However, as previot
discussed, the capital and credit markets haveriexped unprecedented levels of volatility and ufision in recent years that has generally cau:
reduction of availability credit. Continued voléil or disruption in the credit markets or a downtin the global economy could materially adversafgc
one or more of our lenders and could cause oneooe wf our lenders to be unwilling or unable toyide us with financing, or to increase the costshal
financing, or to become insolvent. Although we fina some of our assets with longemn structured financing having terms of threeryea more, we re
heavily on access to shdagrms borrowings, primarily in the form of repurekaagreements, to finance our investments. Weuarertly party to repurcha
agreements of a short duration and there can lmssurance that we will be able to roll over ose¢these borrowings on favorable terms, if atlalthe
event we are unable to roll over orget our repurchase agreement borrowings, it mawgdre difficult for us to obtain debt financing cawvbrable terms or
all. In addition, if regulatory capital requiremsritnposed on our lenders change, they may be ezhjtorlimit, or increase the cost of, financingytipeovide
to us. In general, this could potentially increase financing costs and reduce our liquidity oruieg us to sell assets at an inopportune time iceptUnde
current market conditions, securitizations are gaheunavailable or limited, which has also lindteorrowings under warehouse facilities and othedit
facilities that are intended to be refinanced bshssecuritizations. Consequently, depending on etarinditions at the relevant time, we may havekp or
additional equity issuances to meet our capital farahcing needs, which may be dilutive to our ktadders, or we may have to rely on less efficfents
of debt financing that consume a larger portionoof cash flow from operations, thereby reducingdiiravailable for our operations, future busi
opportunities, cash distributions to our stockhmddend other purposes. We cannot assure you thatilveave access to such equity or debt capite
favorable terms (including, without limitation, ¢aand term) at the desired times, or at all, whitdly cause us to curtail our investment activitied/al
dispose of assets, which could materially advera#ct our business, financial condition and ressaf operations and our ability to make distribos to ou
stockholders.
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We may incur increased borrowing costs related épurchase agreements and that would adversely affec profitability.

Currently, a significant portion of our borrowingge collateralized borrowings in the form of refhase agreements. If the interest rates on
agreements increase at a rate higher than theaseie rates payable on our investments, our ploliity would be adversely affected.

Our borrowing costs under repurchase agreemengragncorrespond to short-term interest rates achIBOR or a shotierm Treasury inde
plus or minus a margin. The margins on these bongs over or under shotérm interest rates may vary depending upon a nuwibfactors, including
without limitation:

e the movement of interest rates;
e the the availability of financing in the markatd
e the the value and liquidity of our mortgage-rethassets.

During 2008 and 2009, many repurchase agreemetedemequired higher levels of collateral than thag required in the past to support repurc
agreements collateralized by RMBS. Although thedlateral requirements have been reduced to mgueopfate levels, we cannot assure you that thé
not again experience a dramatic increase. If ttexést rates, lending margins or collateral requénets under our shoterm borrowings, including repurchi
agreements, increase, or if lenders impose othenoas terms to obtain this type of financing, asults of operations will be adversely affected.

The repurchase agreements that we use to finance iauestments may require us to provide additior@lllateral, which could reduce our liquidity ar
harm our financial condition.

We intend to use repurchase agreements to finaertairc of our investments, primarily RMBS. If thearket value of the loans or securities plec
or sold by us to a funding source decline in value,may be required by the lending institution tovide additional collateral or pay down a portiafithe
funds advanced, but we may not have the fundsableiko do so. Posting additional collateral topgurpour repurchase agreements will reduce ouidity
and limit our ability to leverage our assets. la #vent we do not have sufficient liquidity to meath requirements, lending institutions can acagdeou
indebtedness, increase our borrowing rates, liqeidar collateral at inopportune times and terngnadir ability to borrow. This could result in a id
deterioration of our financial condition and po$gitequire us to file for protection under the UB&nkruptcy Code.

We intend to leverage our equity, which will exabate any losses we incur on our current and futuirevestments and may reduce cash available
distribution to our stockholders.

We intend to leverage our equity through borrowjrggnerally through the use of repurchase agreenant other shoterm borrowings or throug
longerterm structured debt, such as CDOs and other fafrsecuritized debt. We may, in the future, utilaimer forms of borrowing. The amount
leverage we incur varies depending on the asset typr ability to obtain borrowings, the cost oé ttiebt and our lenders'stimates of the value of ¢
portfolio’s cash flow. The return on our investments and aaaklable for distribution to our stockholders nimyreduced to the extent that changes in
conditions cause the cost of our financing to iaseerelative to the income that can be derived tierassets we hold in our investment portfoliatier, the
leverage on our equity may exacerbate any losseésone

Our debt service payments will reduce the net ire@wailable for distribution to our stockholderse\Way not be able to meet our debt se
obligations and, to the extent that we cannot, iglkethe loss of some or all of our assets to sakatisfy our debt obligations. A decrease in theier of thi
assets may lead to margin calls under our repuechgeements which we will have to satisfy. Sigaifit decreases in asset valuation, could leacctease
margin calls, and we may not have the funds aveilabsatisfy any such margin calls. Although weéhastablished target leverage amounts for maioy
assets, there is no established limitation, othan tmay be required by our financing arrangememsyur leverage ratio or on the aggregate amounti
borrowings.
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If we are unable to leverage our equity to the exteve currently anticipate, the returns on certaof our assets could be diminished, which may lirar
eliminate our ability to make distributions to owgtockholders.

If we are limited in our ability to leverage oursasts to the extent we currently anticipate, thernston these assets may be harmed. A key elerf
our strategy is our use of leverage to increasesthe of our portfolio in an attempt to enhance miturns. Our repurchase agreements are not ciy
committed facilities, meaning that the countergarto these agreements may at any time choosstt@trer eliminate our future access to the ftiesi an
we have no other committed credit facilities throwghich we may leverage our equity. If we are ueabl leverage our equity to the extent we curr
anticipate, the returns on our portfolio could lraidished, which may limit or eliminate our ability make distributions to our stockholders.

We directly or indirectly utilize norrecourse securitizations and recourse structureddncings and such structures expose us to risksttbauld result ir
losses to us.

We sometimes utilize norecourse securitizations of our investments in gage loans or CMBS to the extent consistent wighntlaintenance of @
REIT qualification and exemption from the Investm@ompany Act of 1940, as amended, in order to ggaeash for funding new investments and/
leverage existing assets. In most instances,ithislves us transferring loans or CMBS owned bytaisa SPE in exchange for cash and typically
ownership certificate or residual interest in thétg. In some sale transactions, we also retanlmordinated interest in the loans or CMBS saldhsas a B
note. The securitization or other structured fiiag of our portfolio investments might magnify axposure to losses on those portfolio investmieatsaus
the subordinated interest we retain in the loanGMBS sold would be subordinate to the senior @gemn the loans or CMBS sold, and we would, thore
absorb all of the losses sustained with respeatit@n sold before the owners of the senior intenggerience any losses. Under the terms of thesecings
which generally have terms of three to ten yearsnvay agree to receive no cash flows from the sigsmtsferred to the SPE until the debt issuecdhk
special purpose entity has matured or been refdéédcannot be assured that we will be able to adbessecuritization markets in the future, or ble &b dc
so at favorable rates. The inability to consumniager term financing for the credit sensitive &s$e our portfolio could require us to seek otf@ms o
potentially less attractive financing or to liquidassets at an inopportune time or price, whichdcadversely affect our performance and our ahititgrow
our business.

In addition, under the terms of the securitizat@nstructured financing, we may have limited oratality to sell, transfer or replace the as
transferred to the SPE, which could have a matedsakrse effect on our ability to sell the assgigootunistically or during periods when our liguidis
constrained or to refinance the assets. Finallyhae in the past and may in the future guarargetain terms or conditions of these financingsluding the
payment of principal and interest on the debt iddmethe SPE, the cash flows for which are typjce#rived from the assets transferred to the erifiey SPt
defaults on its obligations and we have guarantieedatisfaction of that obligation, we may be mially adversely affected.

If a counterparty to our repurchase transactionsfdelts on its obligation to resell the underlyingesurity back to us at the end of the transactiomrteor if
we default on our obligations under the repurchaagreement, we may incur losses.

When we engage in repurchase transactions, weabnsell RMBS or CMBS to lenders (i.e., repurchageeement counterparties) and receive
from the lenders. The lenders are obligated tdlrfmesame security back to us at the end oféha bf the transaction. Because the cash we edam the
lender when we initially sell the security to tlendler is less than the value of those securitg (ifference is referred to as the “haircuif)the lende
defaults on its obligation to resell the same sgcback to us we would incur a loss on the tratisacequal to the amount of the haircut (assumirege wa
no change in the value of the security). Certaithefassets that we pledge as collateral, incluBigency 10s and CLOs, are currently subject to ifiicant
haircuts. Further, if we default on one of our ghations under a repurchase transaction, the lezadeterminate the transaction and cease enteringaim
other repurchase transactions with us. Our repseclagreements contain cratefault provisions, so that if a default occurs emdny one agreement,
lenders under our other agreements could also réealaefault. Any losses we incur on our repurchiemesactions could adversely affect our earning!
thus our cash available for distribution to ourcktmlders.

Our use of repurchase agreements to borrow fundsyngéve our lenders greater rights in the event thether we or a lender files for bankruptcy.

Our borrowings under repurchase agreements mayfygtal special treatment under the bankruptcy cagieing our lenders the ability to avoid
automatic stay provisions of the bankruptcy code tantake possession of and liquidate our collatemder the repurchase agreements without delalye
event that we file for bankruptcy. Furthermore, #pecial treatment of repurchase agreements uhdebankruptcy code may make it difficult for ut
recover our pledged assets in the event that @tditels for bankruptcy. Thus, the use of repurehagreements exposes our pledged assets to tis @ver
of a bankruptcy filing by either a lender or us.
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Our liquidity may be adversely affected by margialls under our repurchase agreements because wedsgendent in part on the lenders' valuation of
collateral securing the financing.

Each of these repurchase agreements allows therlendvarying degrees, to revalue the collateratiues that the lender considers to reflect m
value. If a lender determines that the value ofdbkateral has decreased, it may initiate a macgih requiring us to post additional collateralcmver th
decrease. When we are subject to such a marginwmlinust provide the lender with additional c@tat or repay a portion of the outstanding borr@s
with minimal notice. Any such margin call could traour liquidity, results of operation and finanaaindition. Additionally, in order to obtain caghsatisf
a margin call, we may be required to liquidate tssata disadvantageous time, which could causeiitcur further losses and adversely affect oaults o
operations and financial condition.

Adoption of the Basel Il standards and other proped supplementary regulatory standards may negdivepact our access to financing or affect t
terms of our future financing arrangements.

In response to various financial crises and thatily of financial markets, the Basel Committee Banking Supervision adopted the Base
standards several years ago. The final packageséIBIl reforms was approved by the G20 leadeianember 2010. In January 2013, the Basel Come
agreed to delay implementation of the Basel llhdtds and expanded the scope of assets pernatteglihcluded in a bank’liquidity measurement. U
regulators have elected to implement substantillpf the Basel Il standards. Financial institus$ will have until 2019 to fully comply with theaBel Il|
standards, which could cause an increase in capdairements for, and could place constraintgt@nfinancial institutions from which we borrow.

Shortly after approving the Basel Il standardsS.Wregulators also issued a notice of proposedmaleing calling for enhanced supplemen
leverage ratio standards, which would impose chptguirements more stringent than those of theeBlllsstandards for the most systematically sitpaify
banking organizations in the U.S. The enhancediatals are currently subject to public comment, thede can be no assurance that they will be adapt
if adopted, that they will resemble the currentpm®al. Adoption and implementation of the Baselstindards and the supplemental regulatory stas
proposed by U.S. regulators may negatively impaciacess to financing or affect the terms of oture financing arrangements.

Hedging against credit events and interest rate ngas and other risks may materially adversely affear business, financial condition and results
operations and our ability to make distributions tar stockholders.

Subject to compliance with the requirements to ifuals a REIT, we engage in certain hedging traiisas to limit our exposure to change:
interest rates and therefore may expose oursetveisks associated with such transactions. We ntifigeuinstruments such as interest rate swapss.
collars and floors and Eurodollar and U.S. Treadutyres to seek to hedge the interest rate riskc@ated with our portfolio. Hedging against a dexin the
values of our portfolio positions does not elima#te possibility of fluctuations in the valuessoth positions or prevent losses if the valuesiohosition
decline. However, we may establish other hedgirgitipns designed to gain from those same develofsntrereby offsetting the decline in the valuswadt
portfolio positions. Such hedging transactions raksp limit the opportunity for gain if the valuekthe portfolio positions should increase. Moregwran'
point in time we may choose not to hedge all opdipn of these risks, and we generally will notlpe those risks that we believe are appropriatei$ax
take at such time, or that we believe would be anfical or prohibitively expensive to hedge.

Even if we do choose to hedge certain risks, feargety of reasons we generally will not seek tmleish a perfect correlation between our hec
instruments and the risks being hedged. Any sugeifaect correlation may prevent us from achievimg intended hedge and expose us to risk of losk
hedging activity will vary in scope based on thenposition of our portfolio, our market views, andaaging market conditions, including the level
volatility of interest rates. When we do chooséé¢dge, hedging may fail to protect or could maligredversely affect us because, among other things

e eitherwe or our external managers may fail to correctiyeas the degree of correlation between the pexfarenof the instruments used in
hedging strategy and the performance of the asséis portfolio being hedged;

e either we or our external managers may fail taleilate, re-adjust and execute hedges in ariesffiand timely manner;

e the hedging transactions may actually resulibiorpr over-all performance for us than if we hatlemgaged in the hedging transactions;
e credit hedging can be expensive, particularly mtine market is forecasting future credit detetioraand when markets are more illiquid;
e interest rate hedging can be expensive, partigufairing periods of volatile interest rates;

e available hedges may not correspond directly tithrisks for which protection is sought;

e the durations of the hedges may not match thatidms of the related assets or liabilities beiadded;

e many hedges are structured as overethdnter contracts with counterparties whose cregditviness is not guaranteed, raising the possikthia
the hedging counterparty may default on their payrobligations; and

e to the extent that the creditworthiness of a heglgiounterparty deteriorates, it may be difficultimpossible to terminate or assign any hed
transactions with such counterparty.

For these and other reasons, our hedging activity materially adversely affect our business, fimancondition and results of operations and
ability to make distributions to our stockholders.



Hedging instruments and other derivatives may niot,many cases, be traded on regulated exchangeguaranteed or regulated by any U.S. or fore
governmental authorities and involve risks and ceghat could result in material losse

Hedging instruments and other derivatives involig& because they may not, in many cases, be tradesgulated exchanges and may nc
guaranteed or regulated by any U.S. or foreign gowental authorities. Consequently, for these imsémts, there are no requirements with respe@dore
keeping, financial responsibility or segregatiorcoétomer funds and compliance with applicableustay and commodity and other regulatory requirets
and, depending on the identity of the counterpaapplicable international requirements. We arericstl from dealing with any particular counteryant
from concentrating any or all of our transactiorithvone counterparty. The business failure of agiveyl counterparty with whom we enter into a hed
transaction will most likely result in a defaultder the hedging agreement. Default by a party witlom we enter into a hedging transaction may res
losses and may force us to re-initiate similar lesdgith other counterparties at the theavailing market levels. Generally we will seekéserve the right
terminate our hedging transactions upon a countgtgainsolvency, but absent an actual insolvency, \ag not be able to terminate a hedging transa
without the consent of the hedging counterpartyl e may not be able to assign or otherwise dispdse hedging transaction to another counter,
without the consent of both the original hedgingrmterparty and the potential assignee. If we teataim hedging transaction, we may not be ablettr ertc
a replacement contract in order to cover our fi$lere can be no assurance that a liquid secondaryetwill exist for hedging instruments purchasedold
and therefore we may be required to maintain awlging position until exercise or expiration, whiobuld materially adversely affect our businessafiicia
condition and results of operations.
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The U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission, BTC, and certain commodity exchanges have estaoliimits referred to as speculat
position limits or position limits on the maximunetriong or net short position which any personrmoug of persons may hold or control in particulaufe:
and options. Limits on trading in options contraaiso have been established by the various opéroisanges. It is possible that trading decisiong haave
to be modified and that positions held may havbddiquidated in order to avoid exceeding suchtmBuch modification or liquidation, if requirechulc
materially adversely affect our business, financ@idition and results of operation and our abttitynake distributions to our stockholders.

Certain of our hedging instruments are regulated thye CFTC and such regulations may cause us to indwcreased compliance costs.

From time to time, we enter into interest rate ssvapd other derivative instruments on corporate@wdto hedge risks associated with our port
Entities entering into such swaps are exposeddditclosses in the event of nperformance by counterparties to these transactkgffisctive October 1
2012, the CFTC issued new rules regarding such swaper the authority granted to it pursuant to Dlogld+rank Act. Although the new rules do
directly affect the negotiations and terms of indiixal hedging transactions between counterpairtiey, do require that since September 9, 2013, thes¢
transactions be cleared through registered devesttlearing organizations, or swap execution ifas| through standardized documents under whéat
swap counterparty transfers its position to anoémgity, In this arrangement, the centralized défegirouse effectively becomes the counterparty th esde
of the swap. It is the intent of the Do#idank Act that the clearing of swaps in this mariaetesigned to avoid concentration of swap risérig single entit
by spreading and centralizing the risk in the dlegirouse and its members. In addition to greatéinirand periodic margin (collateral) requirements
additional transaction fees both by the swap exacdéacility and the clearinghouse, the swap tratisas are now subjected to greater regulationdii khe
CFTC and the SEC. These additional fees, costsgimaequirements, documentation, and regulatiordcaalversely affect our business and resul
operations.

Additionally, for all swaps we entered into prior$eptember 9, 2013, we are not required to diesam through the central clearinghouse and these
swaps are still subject to the risks of nonperfaroeaby any of the individual counterparties withowhwe entered into these transactions.

Our delayed delivery transactions, including TBAsybject us to certain risks, including price risksd counterparty risks.

We purchase a significant portion of our Agency R8Brough delayed delivery transactions, includiBf\s. In a delayed delivery transaction,
enter into a forward purchase agreement with ateoparty to purchase either (i) an identified AgeRMBS, or (ii) a to-be-issued (or “to-be-annouriged
Agency RMBS with certain terms. As with any forwgrdrchase contract, the value of the underlyingnsgeRMBS may decrease between the contrac
and the settlement date. Furthermore, a transactianterparty may fail to deliver the underlyingehgy RMBS at the settlement date. If any of theve
risks were to occur, our financial condition ansulés of operations may be materially adverselgaéd.

Risks Related to Our Agreements with Our External Managers

We are dependent on certain of our external manag@and certain of their key personnel and may natdia suitable replacement if they terminate tr
respective management agreements with us or sughgersonnel are no longer available to us.

We historically were organized as a saffvised company that acquired, originated, sold mataged its assets; however, as we modifie:
business strategy and the targeted assets we @eaktire in response to changing market conditim@sbegan to outsource the management of ¢
targeted asset classes for which we had limiteztial resources or experience. We presently utilizee external managers to manage certain of saat
and investment strategies. Each of our externakigens, in some manner, identifies, evaluates, r&gst structures, closes and monitors certainsinvent
on our behalf. In each case, we have engaged thiegdeparties because of the expertise of certain personnel of our external managers. The degaot
any of the senior officers of our external manager®f a significant number of investment professils or principals of our external managers, chalde
material adverse effect on our ability to achieue iavestment objectives. We are subject to thle that our external managers will terminate thespectiv
management agreement with us or that we may dematéssary to terminate such agreement or preeetatrt individuals from performing services for
and that no suitable replacement will be found &mage certain of our assets and investment steategi
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Pursuant to our management agreements, our extermanagers are entitled to receive a managementtfee is payable regardless of the performanc:
the assets under their management.

We will pay each of our external managers substhhtise management fees, based on our invested|dagi such term is defined in the respe:
management agreements), regardless of the perfoemainthe assets under their management. The ekteranagers’ entitlement in many cases to-non
performance based compensation may reduce itstimeen devote the time and effort of its professils to seeking profitable investment opportunifa
our company, which could result in the ungerformance of assets under their management agatively affect our ability to pay distributions tau
stockholders or to achieve capital appreciation.

Pursuant to the terms of our management agreemenis; external managers are generally entitled tacedve an incentive fee, which may induce ther
make certain investments, including speculativetogh risk investments.

In addition to the base management fees payableutoexternal managers, our external managers amergjy entitled to receive incent
compensation based, in part, upon the achievenetargeted levels of net income. In evaluating stweents and other management strategie:
opportunity to earn incentive compensation basedainincome may lead our external managers to pladee emphasis on the maximization of net inc
at the expense of other criteria, such as preservaf capital, maintaining liquidity and/or managent of interest rate, credit or market risks, ideo tc
achieve higher incentive compensation. Investmauitis higher yield potential are generally riskier more speculative. In addition, Midway has bt
discretion regarding the types of investments It mvake pursuant to its management agreement \gitfTlis could result in increased risk to the vaitieul
assets under the management of our external manager

We compete with our external managers’ other clisrior access to them.

Each of our external managers manages, and is texpbés continue to manage, other client accounts wimilar or overlapping investme
strategies. In connection with the services pravibethose accounts, these managers may be conpeémnsare favorably than for the services provideda:
our external management agreements, and such phsmies in compensation may affect the level ofiserprovided to us by our external manag
Moreover, each of our external managers may havecanomic interest in the accounts they manageeinvestments they proposAs a result, we wi
compete with these other accounts and interesecf@ss to our external managers and the benefited from those relationships. For the same regsbe
personnel of our external managers may be unaldediate a substantial portion of their time mamgg@ur investments to the extent they manage &
associated with any future investment vehiclesrelated to us.

There are conflicts of interest in our relationshipwith our external managers, which could result gecisions that are not in the best interests ofr
stockholders.

We may acquire or sell assets in which an extemeager or its affiliates have or may have an ésteror we may participate in @ovestmer
opportunities with our external managers or théitiaes. In these cases, it is possible that ioterests and the interests of our external massagér not
always be aligned and this could result in deciithrat are not in the best interests of our comp&iyilarly, our external managers or its affiliatesy
acquire or sell assets in which we have or may kawvaterest. Although such acquisitions or disfimss may present conflicts of interest, we nonlet
may pursue and consummate such transactions. Adality, we may engage in transactions directly waitih external managers or their affiliates, inchg
the purchase and sale of all or a portion of aettadasset.

Acquisitions made for entities with similar objeets may be different from those made on our beRalf. external managers may have econ
interests in or other relationships with otherswihose obligations or securities we may acquirepanticular, such persons may make and/or ho
investment in securities that we acquire that mapdri passu, senior or junior in ranking to odeiiast in the securities or in which partners, sgcholders
officers, directors, agents or employees of suechqres serve on boards of directors or otherwise loagoing relationships. Each of such ownershipaihe
relationships may result in securities laws restnits on transactions in such securities and otiserareate conflicts of interest. In such instantes extern:
managers may, in their sole discretion, make recenuations and decisions regarding such securitiesther entities that may be the same as or éifi
from those made with respect to securities acquisgeds and may take actions (or omit to take asidgm the context of these other economic interet
relationships, the consequences of which may beradwo our interests.

The key personnel of our external managers andgffitiates devote as much time to us as our extenamagers deem appropriate, however, 1
individuals may have conflicts in allocating théme and services among us and their other accamtsnvestment vehicles. During turbulent condiidar
the mortgage industry, distress in the credit marke other times when we will need focused supaodt assistance from our external managers, ofttitiee
for which our external managers serve as managehetr accounts, will likewise require greaterdscand attention, placing the resources of ourreal
managers in high demand. In such situations, we nodyreceive the necessary support and assistaaacequire or would otherwise receive if we v
internally managed.
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We, directly or through our external managers, mibtain confidential information about the compareesecurities in which we have investe:
may invest. If we do possess confidential informratabout such companies or securities, there magdigctions on our ability to dispose of, incredke
amount of, or otherwise take action with respedh® securities of such companies. Our externalagers’ management of other accounts could cre
conflict of interest to the extent such externahager is aware of material ngublic information concerning potential investmeetisions and this in tu
could impact our ability to make necessary invesiintecisions. Any limitations that develop as auliesef our access to confidential information cc
therefore materially adversely affect our businéaancial condition and results of operations and ability to make distributions to our stockhakle

There are limitations on our ability to withdraw wested capital from the account managed by Midwang aur inability to withdraw our invested capit
when necessary may materially adversely affect business, financial condition and results of opei@ts and our ability to make distributions to o
stockholders.

Pursuant to the terms of the Midway Management é&gent, we may only redeem invested capital in aauanequal to the lesser of 10% of
invested capital in the account managed by Midwa$1® million as of the last calendar day of thenthaupon not less than 75 days written notice,esthif
our authority todirect Midway to modify its investment strategy faurposes of maintaining our qualification as a RRhd exemption from the Investm
Company Act. In addition, we are only permittedntake one such redemption request in ang&pperiod. In the event of a significant marke¢rgvo
shock, we may be unable to effect a redemptiomwdsted capital in greater amounts or at a greaterunless we obtain the consent of Midway. Moeg,
because a reduction of invested capital would redbe base management fee under the Midway Managehgeeement, Midway may be less incline:
consent to such redemptions. If we are unable tiodraw invested capital as needed to meet our atiigs in the future, our business and financialdétion
could be materially adversely affected.

Termination of our external management agreementayrbe difficult and costly.

Termination of the RiverBanc Management Agreematitout cause is subject to several conditions wihiely make such a termination difficult ¢
costly. The RiverBanc Management Agreement providas we may only terminate RiverBanc without caasd not be obligated to pay a terminatior
unless we realize a negative 15% return on thetsassanaged for us by RiverBanc. Moreover, excepdessribed in the preceding sentence, we ¢
terminate RiverBanc without cause until expiratafrthe initial term and then only upon providing0l&ays advance notice and subject to the paymes
termination fee equal to the product of (A) 24 &B)ithe base management fee earned by RiverBamegdilre one month period immediately preceding
termination date. Thus, in the event we elect asthew the RiverBanc Management Agreement forraagon other than cause or as otherwise descn
this paragraph, we will be required to pay thisii@ation fee. In addition, the RiverBanc Managem&grteement provides RiverBanc with an exclusivét
of first refusal to purchase any of our assets maddy it subject to certain exceptions, in thenévee terminate them for any reason. This provisiounlc
result in our loss of assets that our earningslependent upon or may cause us to sell assets@mor recovery of lost value. These provisiony inareas
the effective cost to us of terminating the RivatB&anagement Agreement, thereby adversely affgctim ability to terminate RiverBanc without cause.

Pursuant to the Midway Management Agreement, wenargermitted to terminate our agreement with Maglvprior to the end of the initial ter
and while we have agreed with Midway that we cosldpend additional capital contributions to Midwaythe event we experience a 20% declir
cumulative return on our invested capital in asessaged by Midway during any calendar year iniit@l term, we do not have the right to cause Wg
to liquidate the assets in that account. In thenevee determine to terminate the Midway Managenmfsmteement at any time in the future follow
expiration of the initial term, Midway has the rigb liquidate the assets it manages on our béhat$ sole discretion. Moreover, as discussed apther
are certain restrictions on our ability to redeewested capital under the Midway Management Agreen#es a result, we may have little control oveg
liquidation of any of our assets that are managetigdway or the timing of the full redemption of oinvested capital, which may make it more difficio
terminate our agreement with Midway and could heaweaterial adverse effect on our business, finhnoiadition and results of operations.
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Risks Related to an Investment in Our Capital Stock
The market price and trading volume of our stock ynbe volatile.

The market price of our stock is highly volatiledasubject to wide fluctuations. In addition, thading volume in our stock may fluctuate and c
significant price variations to occur. Some of thetors that could result in fluctuations in theécp or trading volume of our stock include, amatbe!
things: actual or anticipated changes in our eur@ future financial performance; changes in raaiikterest rates and general market and ecol
conditions. We cannot assure you that the marke pf our stock will not fluctuate or decline sificantly.

We have not established a minimum dividend paymienel for our common stockholders and there are assurances of our ability to pay dividends
common or preferred stockholders in the future.

We intend to pay quarterly dividends and to malstrihiutions to our common stockholders in amouanthghat all or substantially all of our taxe
income in each year, subject to certain adjustméntdistributed. This, along with other factorkpsld enable us to qualify for the tax benefitsaaded to
REIT under the Internal Revenue Code. We have siaibished a minimum dividend payment level for oammon stockholders and our ability to
dividends may be harmed by the risk factors desdrifeerein. From July 2007 until April 2008, our Bba@f Directors elected to suspend the payme
quarterly dividends on our common stock. Our Baaudicision reflected our focus on the eliminatibroperating losses through the sale of our mort
lending business and the conservation of capitabuitd future earnings from our portfolio managemeperations. All distributions to our comn
stockholders will be made at the discretion of Baard of Directors and will depend on our earniras, financial condition, maintenance of our REtats:
and such other factors as our Board of Directorg deem relevant from time to time. There are naii@sges of our ability to pay dividends to our coon
or preferred stockholders in the future at theentrrate or at all.

Future offerings of debt securities, which would m& senior to our common stock and preferred stogkom our liquidation, and future offerings of equi
securities, which would dilute our existing stocklders and may be senior to our common stock for theposes of dividend and liquidating distributio)
may adversely affect the market price of our comnsinck.

In the future, we may attempt to increase our ehpésources by making offerings of debt or adddaloofferings of equity securities, includ
commercial paper, mediutefrm notes, senior or subordinated notes and daxfspreferred stock or common stock. Upon ligtiadg holders of our de
securities and lenders with respect to other bamgswwill receive a distribution of our availablssats prior to the holders of our preferred stagk@mmo
stock, with holders of our preferred stock havingnity over holders of our common stock. Additdrequity offerings may dilute the holdings of
existing stockholders or reduce the market priceusfcommon stock, or both. Because our decisidesue securities in any future offering will dedeor
market conditions and other factors beyond ourrobnive cannot predict or estimate the amount,rtgrar nature of our future offerings. Thus, hotdef ou
common stock bear the risk of our future offeringgducing the market price of our common stock ahding their stock holdings in us.

Future sales of our stock could have an adversesetfon the price of our stock.

We cannot predict the effect, if any, of futureesabf our stock, or the availability of sharesfigure sales, on the market price of our commc
preferred stock. Sales of substantial amountdawks or the perception that such sales could gamay adversely affect prevailing market prices dai
common or preferred stock.

Your interest in us may be diluted if we issue atitttial shares.

Current stockholders of our company do not haverpgtive rights to any common stock issued by ubénfuture. Therefore, our stockholders |
experience dilution of their equity investment i€ well additional common stock in the future, selturities that are convertible into common staclkssue
shares of common stock or options exercisableHares of common stock. In addition, we could sstisities at a price less than our tleemrent book valt
per share.

Investing in our securities may involve a high desgr of risk.
The investments we make in accordance with oursitivent strategy may result in a high degree of rislatility or loss of principal than alternat

investment options. Our investments may be highicalative and aggressive, and therefore, an imergtin our securities may not be suitable for smme
with lower risk tolerance.
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Risks Related to Our Company, Structure and Changé Control Provisions
Our directors have approved broad investment guiides$ for us and do not approve each investment waken

Our external managers are generally authorizedltow broad investment guidelines in determiningichhassets we will invest in. Although «
Board of Directors will ultimately determine whendahow much capital to allocate to our investmérttegies, we generally will not, with certain egtiens
approve transactions in advance of their execubprihese managertn addition, in conducting periodic reviews, we witly primarily on informatio
provided to us by our external managers. Compfigatiatters further, our external managers may as®lex investment strategies and transactions,h
may be difficult or impossible to unwind. As a ritsbecause our external managers have greatdatitni determine the types of assets it may deci
proper investments for us, there can be no asseithat we would otherwise approve of these investsiadividually or that they will be successful.

We are dependent on certain key personnel.

We are a small company and are substantially degméngoon the efforts of our Chief Executive Offi@rd President, Steven R. Mumma,
certain key individuals employed by our externahagers. The loss of Mr. Mumma or any key persoannéteir services could have a material advers
on our operations.

Certain provisions of Maryland law and our chartemnd bylaws could hinder, delay or prevent a charigecontrol which could have an adverse effect
the value of our securities.

Certain provisions of Maryland law, our charter and bylaws may have the effect of delaying, défgror preventing transactions that involve
actual or threatened change in control. Theseigioms include the following, among others:

e our charter provides that, subject to the righteraf or more classes or series of preferred stoelett one or more directors, a director
be removed with or without cause only by the affitive vote of holders of at least twhirds of all votes entitled to be cast by
stockholders generally in the election of direct

e our bylaws provide that only our Board of Directehall have the authority to amend our byla

e under our charter, our Board of Directors has aitthto issue preferred stock from time to timeine or more series and to establist
terms, preferences and rights of any such sefiesithout the approval of our stockholde

e the Maryland Business Combination Act; ¢
e the Maryland Control Share Acquisition A

Although our Board of Directors has adopted a rgsmh exempting us from application of the MarylaBalsiness Combination Act and our byl
provide that we are not subject to the Maryland t@drShare Acquisition Act, our Board of Directarsy elect to make the “business combinatistatut
and “control share” statute applicable to us attamg and may do so without stockholder approval.

Maintenance of our Investment Company Act exemptiomposes limits on our operation

We have conducted and intend to continue to congluicbperations so as not to become regulated asvastment company under the Investr
Company Act. We believe that there are a numbexofusions under the Investment Company Act thata@plicable to us. To maintain the exclusion
assets that we acquire are limited by the provssifithe Investment Company Act and the rules agdlations promulgated under the Investment Comr
Act. On August 31, 2011, the SEC published a caonapase entittedCompanies Engaged in the Business of Acquiring émgés and Mortgage Rela
Instruments” (nvestment Company Act Rel. No. 29778). This redemisggests that the SEC may modify the exempti@gdrapon by companies similar to
that invest in mortgage loans and mortghgeked securities. If the SEC acts to narrow tteglahility of, or if we otherwise fail to qualifyof, our exclusiot
we could, among other things, be required eithgrtdachange the manner in which we conduct our atjfmers to avoid being required to register a
investment company or (b) to register as an investroompany, either of which could have a materiserse effect on our operations and the markee o
our common stock.
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The stock ownership limit imposed by our charter ynanhibit market activity in our common stock and ay restrict our business combinati
opportunities.

In order for us to maintain our qualification aREIT under the Code, not more than 50% in valuthefissued and outstanding shares of our ¢
stock may be owned, actually or constructivelyfileg or fewer individuals (as defined in the Codariclude certain entities) at any time during ldes hal
of each taxable year (other than our first yean &EIT). This test is known as the “5/50 tesAftribution rules in the Code apply to determineaify
individual or entity actually or constructively owmour capital stock for purposes of this requiremexdditionally, at least 100 persons must beriatfic own
our capital stock during at least 335 days of daghble year (other than our first year as a REIQ.help ensure that we meet these tests, outechastrict
the acquisition and ownership of shares of ourtabpiock. Our charter, with certain exceptiongharizes our directors to take such actions asnecessal
and desirable to preserve our qualification as &TRiad provides that, unless exempted by our Be&rirectors, no person may own more than 9.9
value of the aggregate of the outstanding sharesiotapital stock or more than 9.9% in value onimber of shares, whichever is more restrictivehe
aggregate of our outstanding shares of common stbhk ownership limits contained in our chartenldalelay or prevent a transaction or a changetrol
of our company under circumstances that otherwdsgdcprovide our stockholders with the opportunityrealize a premium over the then current mi
price for our common stock or would otherwise béhim best interests of our stockholders.

Tax Risks Related to Our Structure
Failure to qualify as a REIT would adversely affeour operations and ability to make distributions.

We have operated and intend to continue to opste qualify as a REIT for federal income tax pags. Our continued qualification as a k
will depend on our ability to meet various requimts concerning, among other things, the ownershgur outstanding stock, the nature of our asskt
sources of our income, and the amount of our bigtions to our stockholders. In order to satisfgse requirements, we might have to forego invastsnae
might otherwise make. Thus, compliance with thdTREquirements may hinder our investment perforoearMoreover, while we intend to continue
operate so to qualify as a REIT for federal incamepurposes, given the highly complex nature efrtiies governing REITs, there can be no assurtwa
we will so qualify in any taxable year.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable yeard we do not qualify for certain statutory reliedvisions, we would be subject to federal inc
tax (including any applicable alternative minimuax)t on our taxable income at regular corporatesrat¥e might be required to borrow funds or liqté
some investments in order to pay the applicable @or payment of income tax would reduce our rehiags available for investment or distributiol
stockholders. Furthermore, if we fail to qualify a REIT and do not qualify for certain statutoeliaf provisions, we would no longer be requiredrtake
distributions to stockholders. Unless our failtoejualify as a REIT were excused under the fedacaime tax laws, we generally would be disqualifiem
treatment as a REIT for the four taxable year®¥faihg the year in which we lost our REIT status.

REIT distribution requirements could adversely affeour liquidity.

In order to qualify as a REIT, we generally areuiegd each year to distribute to our stockholdétsast 90% of our REIT taxable income, exclu
any net capital gain. To the extent that we diste at least 90%, but less than 100% of our REX&lle income, we will be subject to corporate meda:
on our undistributed REIT taxable income. In addit we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible egciax on the amount, if any, by which cer
distributions paid by us with respect to any cadengkar are less than the sum of (i) 85% of oumarg REIT income for that year, (ii) 95% of our Rl
capital gain net income for that year, and (iiip#of our undistributed REIT taxable income froriopyears.

We have made and intend to continue to make disioibs to our stockholders to comply with the 90%tribution requirement and to av
corporate income tax and the nondeductible exeise However, differences in timing between theogeition of REIT taxable income and the actual ig
of cash could require us to sell assets or to mofumds on a shoiterm basis to meet the 90% distribution requirenagmk to avoid corporate income tax
the nondeductible excise tax.

Certain of our assets may generate substantial abi$res between REIT taxable income and availaldb. c&uch assets could include mortgage
backed securities we hold that have been issueddécount and require the accrual of taxable iredmadvance of the receipt of cash. As a resuk
taxable income may exceed our cash available 8irillition and the requirement to distribute a safi$al portion of our net taxable income could s
to:

e sell assets in adverse market conditions,

e  borrow on unfavorable terms or

e distribute amounts that would otherwise be iregsh future acquisitions, capital expenditureseprayment of debt in order to comply with
the REIT distribution requirements.
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Further, our lenders could require us to enter ir@gative covenants, including restrictions on ahitity to distribute funds or to employ levere
which could inhibit our ability to satisfy the 90&tstribution requirement.

Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for theduced tax rates on dividend income from regularporations.

The maximum U.S. federal income tax rate for dimide payable to domestic stockholders that are iishails, trust and estates is 20%. Divide
payable by REITs, however, are generally not digfbr the reduced rates. Although the reduced f&&eral income tax rate applicable to dividentbme
from regular corporate dividends does not adveraéyct the taxation of REITs or dividends paid REITs, the more favorable rate applicable to ren
corporate dividends could cause investors who madéviduals, trusts and estates to perceive invesisna REITs to be relatively less attractive 1
investments in the stocks of n®EIT corporations that pay dividends, which couliyersely affect the value of the shares of REIlfeluiding our commc
shares.

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our aliy to hedge effectively.

The REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Codestantially limit our ability to hedge the RMBS @nir investment portfolio. Our aggregate g
income from non-qualifying hedges, fees, and centéer nonqualifying sources cannot exceed 5% of our annt@dggincome. As a result, we might h
to limit our use of advantageous hedging techniguresnplement those hedges through a TRS. Any ingdgcome earned by a TRS would be subje
federal, state and local income tax at regular@@te rates. This could increase the cost of edgimg activities or expose us to greater riske@ated witl
changes in interest rates than we would otherwesg ¥o bear.

A decline in the value of the real estate securitige mortgage loans that back RMBS could cause atjwor of our income from such securities to
nonqualifying income for purposes of the REIT 75%ags income test, which could cause us to fail tatify as a REIT.

Pools of mortgage loans back the RMBS that we holdur investment portfolio and in which we invesit. general, the interest income frol
mortgage loan is qualifying income for purposeshaf 75% gross income test applicable to REITs ¢oektent that the mortgage loan is secured b
property. If a mortgage loan has a loarvédde ratio greater than 100%, however, then onpyoportionate part of the interest income is dyilg income
for purposes of the 75% gross income test and ampisoportionate part of the value of the loanésited as a “real estate asget’purposes of the 75% as
test applicable to REITs. This loanstatue ratio is generally measured at the time thatREIT commits to acquire the loan. Although RS has rule
generally that the interest income from MOMO RMBS is qualifying income for purposes of thg%4 gross income test, it is not entirely clear hbig
guidance would apply if we purchase non-CMO RMB$hia secondary market at a time when the loavatoe ratio of one or more of the mortgage It
backing the non-CMO RMBS is greater than 100%, andordingly, a portion of any income from such @O RMBS may be treated as nqoalifying
income for purposes of the 75% gross income tesaddition, that guidance does not apply to CMOBBM In the case of CMO RMBS, if less than 95¢
the assets of the issuer of the CMO RMBS constittgtal estate assetsthien only a proportionate part of our income detifiom the CMO RMBS wi
qualify for purposes of the 75% gross income tédthough the law is not clear, the IRS may take plosition that the determination of the loansatue ratic
for mortgage loans that back CMO RMBS is to be n@ue quarterly basis. A decline in the valuehef teal estate securing the mortgage loans thatdaa
CMO RMBS could cause a portion of the interest medrom those RMBS to be treated as momdifying income for purposes of the 75% grosome
test. If such nomualifying income caused us to fail the 75% grogoine test and we did not qualify for certain staturelief provisions, we would fail
qualify as a REIT.

Our ability to invest in distressed mortgage loamsly be limited by our intention to maintain our glification as a REIT, and our investments in
distressed residential mortgage loans may affect ahility to qualify as a REIT.

We have acquired distressed mortgage loans andaotpyre distressed mortgage loans in the futurgeheral, under the applicable Treasury
Regulations, if a loan is secured by real proparty other property and the highest principal amotittie loan outstanding during a taxable year edse¢he
fair market value of the real property securinglt@a as of (i) the date we agreed to acquiredhn br (ii) in the event of a significant modificat, the date
we modified the loan, then a portion of the interesome from such a loan will not be qualifyingame for purposes of the 75% gross income testyibut
be qualifying income for purposes of the 95% giassme test.

Although the law is not entirely clear, a portidttee loan will also likely be a non-qualifying &sgor purposes of the 75% asset test. The non-
qualifying portion of such a loan would be subjegtamong other requirements, the 10% value testeRue Procedure 2011-16 provides a safe harber und
which the IRS has stated that it will not challerg®EIT’s treatment of a loan as being, in part, a qualifyeal estate asset in an amount equal to therlet
(i) the fair market value of the real property s@uog the loan determined as of the date the REMimited to acquire the loan or (i) the fair markatue of
the loan on the date of the relevant quarterly R&d3et testing date. This safe harbor will helpamaply with the REIT asset tests immediately follogvthe
acquisition of a distressed mortgage loan. It dllless helpful if the value of the distressed gage loan increases over time. Under the safe haxben
the current value of a distressed mortgage loaesesisthe fair market value of the real property skeaures the loan, determined as of the date menitbed
to acquire the loan, the excess will be treateal msn-qualifying asset. Accordingly, an increagiogtion of a distressed mortgage loan will be gdats a
non-qualifying asset as the value of the distressedgage loan increases.
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Additionally, Revenue Procedure 2011-16 statestti@atRS will treat distressed mortgage loans sgtby real property and other property as
producing in part non-qualifying income for the 78%ss income test. Specifically, Revenue Proce@0id-16 indicates that interest income on a disee
mortgage loan will be treated as qualifying incdmased on the ratio of (i) the fair market value¢hef real property securing the loan determined #seodate
we committed to acquire the loan and (ii) the faseunt of the loan (and not the purchase pricaioent value of the loan). The face amount of &reised
mortgage loan will typically exceed the fair markatue of the real property securing the loan @ndhte we commit to acquire the loan. Accordingly,
distressed mortgage loan that is secured by realepty and other property may produce a signifieemount of non-qualifying income for purposes @& th
75% gross income test and a significant portioa distressed mortgage loan may be treated as guadifying asset for the REIT asset tests oncddhae
increases in value.

As noted above, the applicable Treasury Regulatiegsire the apportionment of interest for purpasfahe 75% gross income test only if the
mortgage loan in question is secured by both neglgrty and other property. To the extent thatdistressed residential mortgage loan that we aedsiir
secured by both real property and other propeutsh $0an will be subject to the apportionment rdescribed above. If we determine that a distressed
residential mortgage loan is not subject to theodfignment rules described above because it issdanly by real property, no assurance could bergiha
the IRS would not assert successfully that theelised residential mortgage loan was secured Ipegyoother than real property. In that case, aiagnt
portion of our interest income from the distresgexidential mortgage loan would be treated as nalifgiing income for the 75% gross income test. & did
not satisfy the 75% gross income test, we could tag REIT qualification or be required to pay agléy to the IRS.

Accordingly, we may be limited in our ability tovest in distressed mortgage loans and maintaimealification as a REIT, and our investments in
distressed residential mortgage loans could affectbility to qualify as a REIT.

Our ability to invest in and dispose of “to be anmaced” securities could be limited by our REIT status, ameé could lose our REIT status as a resul
these investments.

In connection with our investment in Agency 10s, may purchase Agency RMBS through TBAs, or dol@ transactions. In certain instanc
rather than take delivery of the Agency RMBS subjeca TBA, we will dispose of the TBA through alldo roll transaction in which we agree to purct
similar securities in the future at a predetermipeide or otherwise, which may result in the redtign of income or gains. We account for dollarl
transactions as purchases and sales. The law lsanmegarding whether TBAs will be qualifying asstor the 75% asset test and whether income aind
from dispositions of TBAs will be qualifying inconier the 75% gross income test.

Until such time as we seek and receive a favorpbiate letter ruling from the IRS, or we are aédsy counsel that TBAs should be treate
qualifying assets for purposes of the 75% assg&tweswill limit our investment in TBAs and any ngualifying assets to no more than 25% of our as®
the end of any calendar quarter. Further, untihdiroe as we seek and receive a favorable priedterlruling from the IRS or we are advised by amlitha
income and gains from the disposition of TBAs shidug treated as qualifying income for purpose$ieft5% gross income test, we will limit our gaireni
dispositions of TBAs and any napalifying income to no more than 25% of our groeme for each calendar year. Accordingly, oufigbio purchas
Agency RMBS through TBAs and to dispose of TBAsotigh dollar roll transactions or otherwise, copddlimited.

Moreover, even if we are advised by counsel thaABhould be treated as qualifying assets or ti@ime and gains from dispositions of TE
should be treated as qualifying income, it is galssihat the IRS could successfully take the pmsithat such assets are not qualifying assetsuwstdiscom
is not qualifying income. In that event, we coulldubject to a penalty tax or we could fail to dyals a REIT if (i) the value of our TBAs, togethaith oul
non-qualifying assets for the 75% asset test, exce@886 of our gross assets at the end of any calemakater or (ii) our income and gains from
disposition of TBAs, together with our non-qualifgiincome for the 75% gross income test, exceeligeldf our gross income for any taxable year.

We may incur a significant tax liability as a resubf selling assets that might be subject to thelpbited transactions tax if sold directly by us.

A REIT’s net income from prohibited transactionsumbject to a 100% tax. In general, prohibitedgeations are sales or other dispositions of assets
held primarily for sale to customers in the ordjnaourse of business. There is a risk that celtains that we are treating as owning for federadine tax
purposes and property received upon foreclosutieesie loans will be treated as held primarily fiego customers in the ordinary course of business
Although we expect to avoid the prohibited tranigsnst tax by contributing those assets to one off®®’s and conducting the marketing and sale afeho
assets through that TRS, no assurance can be thiaethe IRS will respect the transaction by whiobse assets are contributed to our TRS. Evedeh
contribution transactions are respected, our TRISbeisubject to federal, state and local corpoirateme tax and may incur a significant tax liagiiks a
result of those sales.
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Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
Iltem 2. PROPERTIES

Other than real estate owned, acquired througin dieu of, foreclosures on mortgage loans, the Gamy does not own any properties. A
December 31, 2013, our principal executive and athtnative offices are located in leased spac& &tMadison Avenue, Suite 3200, New York, New Y
10016.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are at times subject to various legal proceedaniging in the ordinary course of our businessofthe date of this report, we do not believe
any of our current legal proceedings, individualtyin the aggregate, will have a material adveffeeeon our operations, financial condition or ledlews.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STORHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Price of and Dividends on the Regist’'s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globale&eMarket under the trading symbol “NYMTAs of December 31, 2013, we |
64,102,029 shares of common stock outstanding amaf ®ecember 31, 2013, there were approximatelhd8ers of record of our common stock. ~

figure does not reflect the beneficial ownershigludres held in nominee name.

The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the high, low and quarter end closing sailees per share of our common stock and the
cash dividends paid or payable on our common stack per share basis:

Common Stock Prices Cash Dividends
Declaration Payment Amount
High Low Quarter End Date Date Per Share
Year Ended December 31, 2013
Fourth quarter $ 73C % 6.0¢ $ 6.9¢ 12/10/201: 01/27/201- $ 0.27
Third quarter 6.8C 5.57 6.24 09/12/201. 10/25/201.: 0.27
Second quarter 7.3¢ 6.57 6.77 06/18/201. 07/25/201. 0.27
First quarter 7.6C 6.4¢€ 7.54 03/18/201. 04/25/201. 0.27
Common Stock Prices Cash Dividends
Declaration Payment Amount
High Low Quarter End Date Date Per Share
Year Ended December 31, 2012
Fourth quarter $ 711 % 56 $ 6.32 12/14/201. 01/25/201:  $ 0.27
Third quarter 7.6 6.67 7.0 09/18/201. 10/25/201.: 0.27
Second quarter 7.1% 6.44 7.0 06/15/201. 07/25/201. 0.27
First quarter 7.12 6.3€ 6.54 03/19/201. 04/25/201. 0.2

We intend to continue to pay quarterly dividend&ietders of shares of common stock. Future ditiobs will be at the discretion of the Boarc
Directors and will depend on our earnings and faircondition, maintenance of our REIT qualificetj restrictions on making distributions under Mang
law and such other factors as our Board of Directi@ems relevant.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer afiladéd Purchaser:

The Company has a share repurchase program, whpreviously announced in November 2005. At manageis discretion, the Company
authorized to repurchase shares of Company cominck & the open market or through privately negfeti transactions through December 31, 2015
plan may be temporarily or permanently suspendadisoontinued at any time. The Company has notrobased any shares since March 2006 and cur
has no intention to recommence repurchases inghefature.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity gensation Plans

The following table sets forth information as of d@enber 31, 2013 with respect to compensation plenter which equity securities of -
Company are authorized for issuance. The Compasybdauch plans that were not approved by sedunitfers.

Number of
Number of Securities
Securities to Remaining
be Issued upon Weighted Average Auvailable for
Exercise Exercise Price of Future Issuance
of Outstanding Outstanding under
Options, Options, Equity
Warrants and Warrants and Compensation
Plan Category Rights Rights Plans
Equity compensation plans approved by securityérsld — 3 — 995,02¢

Performance Grapl!

The following line graph sets forth, for the periodm December 31, 2008 through December 31, 28t®mparison of the percentage change i
cumulative total stockholder return on the Compamgmmon stock compared to the cumulative totarmedf the Russell 2000 Index and the FTSE Nat
Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts MaggREIT (“FTSE NAREIT Mortgage REITsIhdex. The graph assumes that the value of thesiman
in the Company’s common stock and each of the @wdicere $100 as of December 31, 2008.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN®
Aerorsy New York Morigags Trust Inc., the Russe 2000 Inder,
and the FTSE NAREIT Mortgage REITs lndex
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"HI00 ivesed on 423008 inshck of ind, incldie reinvesimenl of dividends
Frsiaal yoar ending Decamber 11

Capynigtif 2014 Russed Invsiment Group, Al righls risened

The foregoing graph and chart shall not be deenmedrporated by reference by any general statemseudrporating by reference this Annual Repor
Form 1(-K into any filing under the Securities Act of 1983under the Exchange Act, except to the extenspeeifically incorporate this information
reference, and shall not otherwise by deemed €iteder those acts.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our selected histakioperating and financial data. The selectedhéstl operating and financial data for the y
ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 andZd@9been derived from our historical financiatestzents.

The information presented below is only a summarg does not provide all of the information contdine our historical financial statemer
including the related notes. You should read ttierination below in conjunction with “ManagemenDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiol
Results of Operations” and our historical finansi@tements, including the related notes, (amduartteousands, except per share data):

Selected Statement of Operations Data:
For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Interest income $ 291,720 % 137,34¢ $ 24,291 $ 19,89¢ $ 31,09t
Interest expense 231,17¢ 105,92¢ 4,83 9,611 14,23t

Net interest income 60,54¢ 31,42 19,45¢ 10,28¢ 16,86(
Other income (expense) 29,06: 9,10¢ (3,699 3,33: 901
General, administrative and other experides 19,917 11,42; 10,51¢ 7,95( 6,871
Net income attributable to common stockholc $ 65,387 $ 28,27¢ $ 477¢ % 6,80t $ 11,67(
Per share basic income $ 1.11 % 1.0¢ $ 0.4 $ 0.7z $ 1.2
Per share diluted income $ 1.11 % 1.0 $ 0.4 $ 0.7z $ 1.1¢
Dividends declared per common share $ 1.06 $ 1.06 $ 1.0 $ 0.7¢ $ 0.91
Weighted average shares outstanding-basic 59,10z 26,06 10,49t 9,42 9,367
Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted 59,10 26,067 10,49t 9,42; 11,86

@ Includes expenses incurred on termination of mamagé contract amounting to $0, $40,000 and $2.Ramifor the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011.

Selected Balance Sheet Data:
As of December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Investment securities, available for sale, at¥alue $ 912,44 $ 1,034,71. $ 200,34: $ 86,04 $ 176,69:
Investment securities, available for sale, at¥alue held in

securitization trusts 92,57¢ 71,15¢ — — —
Residential mortgage loans held in securitizatiosts (net) 163,23 187,22¢ 206,92( 228,18! 276,17t
Distressed residential mortgage loans held in #&ation

trusts (net) 254,72: 60,45¢ — — —
Multi-family loans held in securitization trustg,fair value 8,111,02; 5,442,901 — — —
Total asset§) 9,898,67! 7,160,40. 682,70" 374,29: 488,81«
Financing arrangements, portfolio investments 791,12t 889,13 112,67 35,63: 85,10¢
Residential collateralized debt obligations 158,41( 180,97¢ 199,76: 219,99¢ 266,75:
Multi-family collateralized debt obligations, atifaalue 7,871,02 5,319,57. — — —
Securitized debt 304,96 117,59: — — —
Subordinated debentures (net) 45,00( 45,00( 45,00( 45,00( 44,89:
Convertible preferred debentures (net) — — — — 19,85
Total liabilities(®) 9,418,00! 6,838,39! 596,39¢ 305,80° 425,82
Total stockholders’ equity $ 480,66t $ 322,00¢ $ 85,27¢ $ 63,487 $ 62,987

(1) Our consolidated balance sheets include assetdiatitities of consolidated variable interest eiest ("VIES") as the Company is the prim
beneficiary of these VIEs. As of December 31, 2@h8 December 31, 2012, assets of consolidated Yased $8,665,829 and $5,786,¢
respectively, and the liabilities of consolidatelEY totaled $8,365,345 and $5,636,650, respectiBdg Note 7 for further discussion.
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Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations
General

We are a REIT, for federal income tax purposeghénbusiness of acquiring, investing in, financamgl managing primarily mortgagelated asse
and, to a lesser extent, financial assets. Ourcbbgeis to manage a portfolio of investments thit deliver stable distributions to our stockhotdeove
diverse economic conditions. We intend to achiehie bbjective through a combination of net intemegtrgin and net realized capital gains from
investment portfolio. Our portfolio includes certairedit sensitive assets and investments sourced distressed markets in recent years that ctéa
potential for capital gains, as well as more tiad#l types of mortgage-related investments thaegge interest income.

We have endeavored to build in recent years a sifiedt investment portfolio that includes elemeoftinterest rate and credit risk, as we belie
portfolio diversified among interest rate and crediks are best suited to delivering stable cdmivs over various economic cycles. Under our invest
strategy, our targeted assets currently includeiffarhily CMBS, mezzanine loans to and preferredigginvestments in owners of mufamily properties
residential mortgage loans, including loans soufoesh distressed markets, and Agency RMBS. Sultgeataintaining our qualification as a REIT, we
may opportunistically acquire and manage variobsrotypes of mortgageslated and financial assets that we believe withpensate us appropriately for
risks associated with them, including, without Eation, nonAgency RMBS (which may include 10s and POs), celialized mortgage obligations ¢
securities issued by newly originated residengalsitizations, including credit sensitive secestfrom these securitizations.

We strive to maintain and achieve a balanced awers funding mix to finance our assets and omeratiTo this end, we rely primarily ol
combination of shorterm borrowings, such as repurchase agreements taiths typically of 30 days, and longer term stued financings, such
securitization and re-securitization transactiovith terms longer than one year.

We internally manage a certain portion of our pitf including Agency ARMSs, fixed-rate Agency RMB&onAgency RMBS, CLOs ar
residential securitized loans. In addition, as p&dur investment strategy, we also contract wéttain external investment managers to managéfispesse
types targeted by us. We are a party to separaéstiment management agreements with Headlands, afidand RiverBanc, with Headlands provic
investment management services with respect tongestments in certain distressed residential nagegoans, Midway providing investment manage
services with respect to our investments in Ageixy, and RiverBanc providing investment managersentices with respect to our investments in rulti
family CMBS and certain commercial real estateteglalebt investments.

Significant Events in 2013
e We generated net income attributable to commackkblders of $1.11 per share;
e \We declared aggregate 2013 dividends of $1.08 granton share

e We issued 13,600,000 shares of common stock irbbcpffering at a net price to the public of $6 9 share resulting in net proceeds to |
$94.4 million, after deducting underwriting disceaand commissions and offering expenses;

e We issued 3,000,000 shares of 7.75% Series B CtiveilBedeemable Preferred Stock with a liquidafioeference of $25.00 per share,
public offering for net proceeds of approximateR2$! million, after deducting underwriting discosiaind offering expenses;

e We acquired two first loss PO securities andaietO securities issued by two Freddie Mgmmnsored securitizations for an aggregate pur
price of $71.6 million;

e We acquired distressed residential mortgage l&aren aggregate purchase cost of $218.2 milkort
e We completed a term structured financing of mfalthily CMBS and three separate structured finargiofy distressed residential mortg

loans, resulting in net proceeds to us, after esegrof $55.1 million and $136.6 million, respeetyv
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Key Fourth Quarter 2013 Developments
Multi -Family CMBS Transaction

On November 22, 2013, we acquired the first lossseQurity in a newly issued Freddie Mac-sponsoredtifdmily K-Series securitization a
entered into a master repurchase agreement witl@acted thregear term for the purpose of financing this seguaitd other PO securities owned by us
were issued by Freddie Mac-sponsored Multifamilg&ries securitizations that are collateralized jtinflamily mortgage loans. As part of the financing
received net cash proceeds of approximately $58libmafter deducting expenses associated withtri#wesaction.

Fourth Quarter 2013 Common Stock Dividend

On December 10, 2013, our Board of Directors deda regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.27 menroon share for the quarter en
December 31, 2013. The dividend was paid on Jarigr2014 to our common stockholders of recordf&eaember 20, 2013.

Preferred Stock Dividen:

On December 10, 2013, our Board of Directors dedax Series B Preferred Stock quarterly cash diddef $0.484375 per share of Serie
Preferred Stock. The dividend was paid on Janudy2Q014 to our preferred stockholders of recordfalanuary 1, 2014.

Subsequent Developments

On January 10, 2014, we closed on the issuanc#,50Q,000 shares of common stock in an underwritdsiic offering (including 1,500,000 sha
issuable pursuant to an option granted to the wwriters), resulting in net proceeds of approximat®¥5.8 million after deducting estimated offel
expenses.

In January 2014, the Company sold a pool of dise@sesidential mortgage loans with a carrying ealt approximately $29.4 million for
aggregate purchase price of approximately $36.8omilThis sale will result in a net realized galiefore income taxes to the Company, of approxily
$7.5 million.

Current Market Conditions and Commentar y

General. The U.S. economy continued to exhibit mixed result2013, with real gross domestic product (“GDE&timated to have expandec
1.9% for the full year, as compared to growth &2.in 2012. However, the U.S. economy showed sifrexpansion during the second half of the yeath
GDP growing at an annual rate of 4.1% and 2.4%énthird and fourth quarters of 2013, respectivAlgcording to the U.S. Department of Labor, the.
unemployment rate fell from 7.9% as of the end et&@nber 2012 to 6.7% as of the end of December, 20i& total nonfarm payroll employment pos
an average monthly increase of 194,000 jobs in 2&18ompared to an average monthly increase 00@8J3obs in 2012. While these signs of employr
growth are encouraging, the economy continued tmyme mixed employment results in 2013 and evidesfca continued decline in the labor fc
participation rate has raised concerns that theeotiunemployment rate is not an accurate meagute@®conomys overall health. However, the impro
performance of the U.S. economy during the secaifddf 2013 has contributed to an improved outlebkmany U.S. Federal Reserve, or Federal Res
policymakers in recent months. According to the utés of a meeting of the Federal Reserve Open KM&k&mmittee (the “FOMC"of the U.S. Feder
Reserve from December 1B, 2013, most meeting participants expressede@reanfidence in their outlook for the U.S. econcammg almost all continued
project that the rate of growth of economic acyivitould strengthen in coming years, projecting Gip&wth of 2.8% to 3.2% in 2014 and 3.0% to 3.4¢
2015. Based, in part, on this data, and as mohe digcussed below, the FOMC announced on Deceit®e2013 that it would commence tapering of ¢
purchases under QE3 (defined below) beginning imudegy 2014. Markets reacted to this news mostlpray, with many market participants relieved
tapering had finally begun.

The Federal Reserve has undertaken three roungisaotitative easing in an effort to support a gfeneconomic recovery and to help ensure
inflation, over time, is at a rate that is most sietent with the Federal Reservelual mandate of fostering maximum employment @ik stability. Th
most current version of the Federal Reserve’s dpaéine easing program, which is referred to as 3QRvas originally announced in September 2012 :
openended program to purchase an additional $40 bitioAgency RMBS per month until the unemploymenéramong other economic indicators, shc
signs of improvement. This program, when combinét ¥he Federal Reserve's programs to extend ififgs' average maturity, or “operation twisfic
reinvest principal payments from its holdings oéagy debt and Agency RMBS into Agency RMBS, waseeigd to increase the Federal Reserve's ho
of long-term securities by approximately $85 billiper month through the end of 2012. As “operatwist” expired in December 2012, the Federal Re:
announced that it would continue purchasing addificAgency RMBS by about $40 billion per month dodgerterm U.S. Treasury securities at a pac
$45 billion per month, and would continue its pplaf reinvesting the principal payments from itddings of Agency debt and Agency RMBS in Age
RMBS. This accommodative monetary policy contrillute historically lowlevels of interest rates and higher valuationsAgency RMBS, resulting in
extremely attractive investment environment for AgeRMBS-focused strategies.

As data began to show signs of a strengthening é&c&omy during the second quarter of 2013, spgonlaurrounding the timing and size ¢
possible reduction in the Federal Reses\asset purchase program grew more significant FIOMC meeting minutes released on May 22, 2013 amrex
for the first time, that the Federal Reserve wassimering beginning to taper the pace of purchatdgiency RMBS as early as June 2013. In dide 201:
Chairman Bernanke announced that the Federal Resepuld begin to scale back Agency RMBS purchaats lin 2013 if the economy continuec
improve in line with the FOMG current projections and that such purchases weedde entirely when the unemployment rate rea@ZddChairma
Bernanke reiterated a similar view in mid-July 2@t8le reporting to the U.S. House of RepresengatiFinancial Services Committee, but then softene
statement by noting that any such moderation irchases could be adjusted depending on incomingoetondata. However, despite the Chairngan’



uncertain outlook for tapering and the sluggishaggion of GDP in the first half of 2013, the maskbkad priced in the expectation that the FC
would begin to taper in the near term, and thah $apering might be announced as early as Septeinb@id-September 2013, contrary to the general m
consensus, the FOMC announced that it would mairitsicurrent level of asset purchases under Qi3eby causing further uncertainty for intereses
and the credit markets. Finally, on December 1832@iven indications that the U.S. economy hadrawed sufficiently, the Federal Reserve announbei
it would reduce the pace of its purchases of ¢(gkrterm U.S. Treasury securities to $40 billion pemthcand (i) Agency RMBS to $35 billion per mor
and that it would likely reduce the pace of assetipases in further measured steps to be annowtdedure meetings. In late January 2014, the R
Reserve announced that it would reduce its assehases by an additional $10 billion per month beigig in February 2014.
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The market reaction during the second and thirdtgrsaof 2013 to the possible tapering of QE3 wdgeenely negative, although volatility ea
some and pricing improved for many fixed-incomeetssubsequent to the FOMC’s mid-September 2018usmmement. The rate on the tggar U.S
Treasury note moved sharply higher after droppind.63% in early May, rising to 2.49% at the endhef second quarter and to as high as 2.99% ig
September before falling to 2.61% at the end oft&@eper, and then rising again to close at 3.03%eatnd of December 2013. As the yield on theytsm-
U.S. Treasury note advanced during 2013, Agency BMBderperformed, in some cases dramatically, @emeed by significantly lower pricing on thi
assets. However, losses on these assets recowenedssibsequent to the FOMCSeptember announcement. With tapering now welewmay, we belie
that market conditions for many types of fixed imssecurities will be less volatile in 2014.

Notwithstanding the changes to QE3, the FOMC hasitaiaed its intent to keep the target range fer fdkderal funds rate between 0% and 0.
until either the unemployment rate drops below 6&%he projected inflation rate over the next emeéwo years increases above 2.5% and loteyer-
inflation expectations continue to be well anchorathough the FOMC has recently indicated thamaty be necessary to maintain the current targefe
until well past the time that the unemployment deelines below 6.5%.

Unlike many mortgage REITs, the market movementned above generally had a positive impact on agrall portfolio and results in 20:
Although these movements had a meaningful negativgct on our existing Agency RMBS portfolio (inding our Agency 10s), primarily during t
second quarter of 2013, which suffered from negativice movements outside of our hedged expecttie@uations for our mulfiamily CMBS an
distressed residential loans responded to the markgements of 2013 in a generally positive mantiegreby mitigating to a large extent the down
impact of these events on our overall portfolio &etping us to achieve earnings growth in 2013.

Single-Family Homes and Residential Mortgage Markbe residential real estate market showed sigeemfinued improvement in 2013, althor
the rate of price gains have begun to slow someeskpril 2013. Data released by S&P Indices forS&P/CasesShiller Home Price Indices for Novem
2013 showed that, on average, home prices haveased by 23.7% for the Zlity Composite as compared to March 2012. In aoldjtaccording to da
provided by the U.S. Department of Commerce, thernee 617,800 privatelpwned housing starts for single family homes in2Qthe highest since 2008 ¢
up 15.4% over last year. We expect the sirigieilly residential real estate market to continu@niprove in the near term, but believe that highterest rate
and tepid job creation will contribute to slowingusing gains for single family homes over the rigkmonths.

Multi-family Housing.Apartments and other residential rental propergesain one of the better performing segments ottilemercial real este
market. According to data provided by the U.S. Depant of Commerce, there were 305,600 starts dii-fiaumily homes, such as apartment buildings
highest since 2007 and up 24.6% over last yearb®lieve the performance of mufémily housing in the past year is due, in par@atsignificant decline
new construction during the recent economic downtamd increased demand from former homeowners,hwés driven stronger rental income grc
across the country. In turn, these factors havedecent valuation improvements for multi-famgyoperties and negligible delinquencies on new imult
family loans originated by Freddie Mac and Fanni&eM
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Developments at Fannie Mae and Freddie M@ayments on the Agency ARMs and fixede Agency RMBS in which we invest are guarantesy
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. In addition, althoughguaranteed by Freddie Mac, all of our midtirily CMBS has been issued by securitization Viek
sponsored by Freddie Mac. As broadly publicizesyi@Mae and Freddie Mac are presently under féderservatorship as the U.S. Government cont
to evaluate the future of these entities and wblgt the U.S. Government should continue to platha housing markets in the future. Since beingegr
under federal conservatorship, there have beemd@uof proposals introduced, both from industryugrs and by the U.S. Congress, relating to charipi
role of the U.S. government in the mortgage masgat reforming or eliminating Fannie Mae and Freddi&c. The most recent bill to receive ser
consideration is the Housing Finance Reform andh@gar Protection Act of 2013, also known as thek€awarner Bill, which was introduced in the L
Senate. This legislation, among other things, walithinate Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae and replaeentwith a new agency which would provic
financial guarantee that would only be tapped giterate institutions and investors stepped imethains unclear how this or any other proposal battom
law or, should a proposal become law, if or howehacted law will differ from the current drafttbis bill. It is unclear how the proposal or anhert simila
proposal would impact housing finance, and whataocbpif any, they will have on mortgage REITs.

Credit SpreadsCredit spreads in the residential and commerciakeata have generally continued to tighten furtharirdy 2013, continuing a tre
exhibited during a significant part of 2012. Typigavhen credit spreads widen, credit-sensitiveetssuch as CLOs and mulimily CMBS, as well ¢
Agency IOs, are negatively impacted, while tightgncredit spreads typically have a positive immacthe value of such assets.

Financing markets and liquidityrhe 30-day London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBORVas 0.17% at December 31, 2013, marking a decia
approximately 4 basis points from December 31, 2QbRger term interest rates were higher as of Bibee 31, 2013 as compared to the 2012 year enla
the rate on the 19Qear U.S. Treasury note increasing by approximalt@ly basis points to 3.03%. We expect interessrateise over the longer term as
U.S. and global economic outlook improves.
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Significant Estimates and Critical Accounting Poliéges

We prepare our consolidated financial statementsiriormity with U.S. GAAP, which requires the wfeestimates, judgments and assumptions
affect reported amounts. These estimates are basgdrt, on our judgment and assumptions regargarpus economic conditions that we believe
reasonable based on facts and circumstances gxatithe time of reporting. The results of thesdareges affect reported amounts of assets, liadslian
accumulated other comprehensive income at the afathe consolidated financial statements and thmorted amounts of income, expenses and
comprehensive income during the periods presented.

Changes in the estimates and assumptions could dnawvaterial effect on these financial statementzofinting policies and estimates relate
specific components of our consolidated financtatesnents are disclosed in the notes to our catadeli financial statements. In accordance with
guidance, those material accounting policies atithates that we believe are most critical to aregtors understanding of our financial results and caom
and which require complex management judgmentiaceissed below.

Revenue Recognitiarinterest income on our investment securities abkdléor sale and on our mortgage loans is accrasedon the outstand
principal balance and their contractual terms. Ruema and discounts associated with investment g@suand mortgage loans at the time of purcha
origination are amortized into interest income oter life of such securities using the effectivelgimethod. Adjustments to premium amortizationraeel
for actual prepayment activity.

Interest income on our credit sensitive securisesh as our noAgency RMBS and certain of our CMBS that were pasgd at a discount to |
value, is recognized based on the security’s affednterest rate. The effective interest rate lmese securities is based on managemeasfimate from ea
security of the projected cash flows, which arénestied based on the Compasigssumptions related to fluctuations in interatts, prepayment speeds
the timing and amount of credit losses. On at laagtarterly basis, the Company reviews and, if@mate, makes adjustments to its cash flow ptmae
based on input and analysis received from extemalces, internal models, and its judgment abdatést rates, prepayment rates, the timing and atral
credit losses, and other factors. Changes in clasts ffrom those originally projected, or from thosstimated at the last evaluation, may result
prospective change in the yield/interest incomegezed on these securities.

Based on the projected cash flows from the Compafingt loss principal only CMBS purchased at adist to par value, a portion of the purct
discount is designated as non-accretable purchaseuiht or credit reserve, which partially mitigatthe Companyg risk of loss on the mortgac
collateralizing such CMBS, and is not expectedda@bcreted into interest income. The amount det@gres a credit reserve may be adjusted over bass
on the actual performance of the security, its dgi®y collateral, actual and projected cash flowwni such collateral, economic conditions and ¢
factors. If the performance of a security with edit reserve is more favorable than forecastedyraom of the amount designated as credit reserag I
accreted into interest income over time. Conversiélyhe performance of a security with a credisere is less favorable than forecasted, the ar
designated as credit reserve may be increasemhpairiment charges and write-downs of such secsititieéx new cost basis could result.

With respect to interest rate swaps that have aehlesignated as hedges, any net payments undiGtaations in the fair value of, such sw
will be recognized in current earnings.

Fair value. The Company has established and documented precgssdetermining fair values. Fair value is bas@dn quoted market pric
where available. If listed prices or quotes areawailable, then fair value is based upon intéyrdéveloped models that primarily use inputs #irat market
based or independentourced market parameters, including interest yal curves. Such inputs to the valuation methogplare unobservable &
significant to the fair value measurement. The Canyfs 10s, POs, multi-family loans held in secastion trusts and mulfamily CDOs are considered
be the most significant of its fair value estimates

The Company'’s valuation methodologies are describeétlote 13 — Fair Value of Financial Instrumenistluded in Item 8 of this Annual Rep
on Form 10-K.

Residential Mortgage Loans Held in Securitizatiomsts — Impaired Loans (nethimpaired residential mortgage loans held in theusgzatior
trusts are recorded at amortized cost less spéa#it loss reserves. Impaired loan value is basetianagemers’ estimate of the net realizable value ta
into consideration local market conditions of th&treéssed property, updated appraisal values gbritygerty and estimated expenses required to rexeetii
impaired loan.
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Variable Interest Entities- A variable interest entity (“VIE")s an entity that lacks one or more of the chargsttes of a voting interest entity.
VIE is defined as an entity in which equity investdo not have the characteristics of a controffingncial interest or do not have sufficient eguit risk fo
the entity to finance its activities without addital subordinated financial support from otheripart The Company consolidates a VIE when it ispttieary
beneficiary of such VIE. As primary beneficiary hias both the power to direct the activities thastrsignificantly impact the economic performan€¢he
VIE and a right to receive benefits or absorb lessiethe entity that could be potentially signifitao the VIE. The Company is required to reconsith
evaluation of whether to consolidate a VIE eacloriépg period, based upon changes in the factcaodmstances pertaining to the VIE.

Loan Consolidation Reporting Requirement for Certilulti-Family K-Series SecuritizationsAs of December 31, 2013, we owned 100% o
first loss securities of the “Consolidated K-Seriéthe Consolidated K-Series, collectively repreasesix separate Freddie Mac sponsored nfialtily loar
K-Series securitizations, of which we, or one of special purpose entities, or SPEs, own the fist RO securities and certain 10 securities. Wergdtec
that the Consolidated K-Series were VIEs and thexwe the primary beneficiary of the Consolidate8dfies. As a result, we are required to consolithe
Consolidated K-Series’ underlying mutéimily loans including their liabilities, income éexpenses in our consolidated financial statem&wshave electe
the fair value option on the assets and liabilitiell within the Consolidated Beries, which requires that changes in valuatioribé assets and liabilities
the Consolidated K-Series will be reflected in oansolidated statement of operations. As of Decer@be2012, the Consolidated Beries represented f
separate Freddie Mac sponsored multi-family loa8dfies securitizations.

Fair Value Option- The fair value option provides an election thab\wa companies to irrevocably elect fair value foaficial assets and liabiliti
on an instrument-byastrument basis at initial recognition. Changeain value for assets and liabilities for whictetalection is made will be recognizet
earnings as they occur. The Company elected ihevdbue option for its Agency IO strategy and Wensolidated KSeries (as defined in Note 2 to
consolidated financial statements included in t@jort).

Acquired Distressed Residential Mortgage Loamscquired distressed residential mortgage loanstihaé evidence of deteriorated credit quali
acquisition are accounted for under ASC Subtopi@-31, "Loans and Debt Securities Acquired with Dietated Credit Quality” ("ASC 3160"). Unde
ASC 31030, the acquired loans may be aggregated and aecbfar as a pool of loans if the loans being agated have common risk characteristics. A
is accounted for as a single asset with a singieposite interest rate and an aggregate expectatioash flows. Once a pool is assembled, it igéas if i
was one loan for purposes of applying the accogngimdance. The Company applied pool accountinglistiessed residential mortgage loans acquir
2013; distressed residential mortgage loans addjpitier to 2013 are accounted for individually .(i@ot in pools).

Under ASC 310-30, the excess of cash flows expeoctdxt collected over the carrying amount of trenk referred to as the “accretable yield,”
accreted into interest income over the life of kb&ns in each pool or individually using a levetlgi methodology. Accordingly, our acquired distez
residential mortgage loans accounted for under 88G30 are not subject to classification as nonacalaasification in the same manner as our resid
mortgage loans that were not distressed when atjby us. Rather, interest income on acquirededised residential mortgage loans relates to thretabd
yield recognized at the pool level or on an indixdtloan basis, and not to contractual interestrgays received at the loan level. The differendevéer
contractually required principal and interest pagtaeand the cash flows expected to be collectddiresl to as the “non-accretable differendeg¢lude:
estimates of both the impact of prepayments anéagp credit losses over the life of the individealn, or the pool (for loans grouped into a pool).

The Company monitors actual cash collections ag@m&xpectations, and revised cash flow expemtatare prepared as necessary. A decre
expected cash flows in subsequent periods maydteihat the loan pool or individual loan, as aggilie, is impaired thus requiring the establishnoérar
allowance for loan losses by a charge to the pi@vifr loan losses. An increase in expected clastsfin subsequent periods initially reduces argvjmusly
established allowance for loan losses by the iseré@athe present value of cash flows expectea teolected, and results in a recalculation ofahmunt o
accretable yield for the loan pool. The adjustn@raccretable yield due to an increase in expectesth flows is accounted for prospectively as a ghar
estimate. The additional cash flows expected tediected are reclassified from the naceretable difference to the accretable yield, gaedamount ¢
periodic accretion is adjusted accordingly overrégmaaining life of the loans in the pool or indival loan, as applicable.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

A discussion of recent accounting pronouncementts the possible effects on our financial statemémtscluded in “Note 2 —Summary ¢
Significant Accounting Policies” included in Itemo8this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Capital Allocation

The following tables set forth our allocated cagitainvestment type at December 31, 2013 and Dbeed1, 2012, respectively (dollar amount
thousands):

At December 31, 2013:
Distressed  Residential

Agency Multi- Residential ~ Securitized
RMBS 1)  Agency I0s  Family @ Loans Loans (3) Other 4) Total
Carrying value $ 74526! $ 131,60¢ $ 360,43( $ 26539 $ 163,237 $ 39,82f $ 1,705,75
Liabilities:
Callable®) (687,92) (94,699 — — — (8,500 (791,12)
Non-callable — — (135,09) (169,87) (158,410 (45,000 (508,379
Hedges (Net§®) 3,47¢ 11,25¢ — — — — 14,73(
Cash — 30,44 — — — 31,79¢ 62,23¢
Other 1,91¢ 1,861 1,21¢ 7,97¢ 1,74F (17,279 (2,560
Net capital allocate $ 62,72 $ 80,46¢ $ 22655 $ 103,49 $ 6,572 $ 84 $ 480,66t
@ Includes both Agency ARMs and Agency fixed rate R34

@ The Company determined it is the primary beneficiaf the Consolidated K-Series and has consolidéied Consolidated Kseries into th

Company’s financial statements. A reconciliatiorotw financial statements as of December 31, 26l18ws:

Multi-Family loans held in securitization trusts fair value $ 8,111,02,
Multi-Family CDOs, at fair value (7,871,02i)
Net carrying value 240,00:
Investment securities available for sale, at falue held in securitization trusts 92,57¢
Total CMBS, at fair value 332,58(
First mortgage loan, mezzanine loan and prefergedyeinvestments 27,85(
Securitized debt (135,09)
Other 1,21¢
Net Capital in Mult-Family $ 226,55!
® Represents our residential mortgage loans helddargization trusts.
4 Other includes CLOs having a carrying value 8.2 million, nonAgency RMBS and loans held for investment. Othdabke liabilities include a
$8.5 million repurchase agreement on our CLO stesrand other non-callable liabilities consis$db.0 million in subordinated debentures.
®) Includes repurchase agreements.
(6) Includes derivative assets, derivative liakibti payable for securities purchased and restrietekl posted as margin.
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At December 31, 2012:

Distressed  Residential

Agency Multi- Residential  Securitized
RMBS 1)  Agency IOs  Family (2) Loans Loans (3) Other (4) Total
Carrying value $ 90186 $ 9937 $ 19449. $ 6045¢ $ 187,22¢ $ 41,80( $ 1,485,21
Liabilities:
Callable(®) (806,47 (74,70) — — — (7,950 (889,13,
Non-callable — — (78,89)) (38,700 (180,979 (45,000 (343,57
Hedges (Net§®) 3,71¢€ 10,78 — — — — 14,49¢
Cash — 25,79 — — — 31,771 57,574
Other 3,12¢ 1,57¢ 1,971 2,92¢ 1,41( (13,59) (2,58))
Net capital allocate $ 10223 $ 6281¢ $ 11757 $ 2468 $ 7660 $ 7,03¢ $ 322,00
@ Includes both Agency ARMs and Agency fixed RBS.

@ The Company determined it is the primary beneficiaf the Consolidated K-Series and has consolidéted Consolidated Kseries into th

Company’s financial statements. A reconciliatiorotw financial statements as of December 31, 26l@s:

Multi-Family loans held in securitization trusts fair value $ 5,442,90
Multi-Family CDOs, at fair value (5,319,57)
Net carrying value 123,33
Investment securities available for sale, at faiue held in securitization trusts 71,15¢
Total CMBS, at fair value 194,49:
Securitized debt (78,89)
Other 1,971
Net Capital in Mult-Family $ 117,57:

® Represents our residential mortgage loans helddargization trusts.

* Other includes CLOs having a carrying value .8 million, nonAgency RMBS and loans held for investment. Othdabke liabilities include a
$8.0 million repurchase agreement on our CLO stesrand other non-callable liabilities consis$db.0 million in subordinated debentures.

®) Includes repurchase agreements.

(6) Includes derivative assets, derivative lialgtipayable for securities purchased and restrietshl posted as margin.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2013 the Year Ended December 31, 2012

For the year ended December 31, 2013, we repodethocome attributable to common stockholders d&.46million, as compared to net incc
attributable to common stockholders of $28.3 millfor the prior year. The main components of thaenge in net income for the year ended Decemb
2013 as compared to the prior year are detail¢lderiollowing table (dollar amounts in thousandsept per share data):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 $ Change
Net interest incom $ 60,54¢ $ 31,42: $ 29,12°
Total other income $ 29,06: $ 9,10t $ 19,957
Total general, administrative and other expenses $ 19917 $ 11,427 $ 8,49(
Income from continuing operations before income$ax $ 69,69 $ 29,10C $ 40,59
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 73¢ % 93z % (299
Net income $ 68,95¢ $ 28,18: $ 40,77
Preferred stock dividends $ (3,56 $ —  $ (3,56¢)
Net income attributable to common stockholc $ 65,387 $ 28,27¢ $ 37,10¢
Basic income per common share $ 111 % 1.0¢ $ 0.0
Diluted income per common share $ 111 $ 1.06 $ 0.0z

In general, the significant increases in a humliehe line items above are largely a function @ trowth in the Company’s stockholdeesjuity
from $322.0 million as of December 31, 2012 to $78dillion as of December 31, 2013 and the corradpm growth in the size of the Compasyortfolic
of interest earning assets, combined with an imgilamvestment environment for the Company’s mualtiily CMBS.

Net Interest Income

The significant increase in net interest incom@04.3 is directly attributable to the growth in @uerage interest earning assets, which increas
$294.5 million in 2013 as compared to the priorry&airing the year ended December 31, 2013, theg@omincreasingly allocated capital to credit sre
higher yielding investments and allocated less tabpo its Agency RMBS portfolio, which is lowsielding. As of December 31, 2013, 69% of
Company’s capital was allocated to investments idtifemily CMBS, other multifamily investments and distressed residential lpampsfrom 44% ¢
December 31, 2012. In particular, this selectivecaltion of capital favorably impacted net intenesirgin for the third and fourth quarters of 20IBe fourtt
quarter of 2013 was also favorably impacted bygaiicant slowdown in prepayment rates in our AgeRMBS and Agency 10 portfolios as detailed in
“Quarterly Comparative Net Interest Spread” sechietow.

The combination of investment allocation to credihsitive assets and decreased prepayment ratéedds a 77 basis point increase in net int
spread when comparing the fourth quarter of 201tBedourth quarter of 2012. During the year enBedember 31, 2012, the Compasylet interest marc
experienced a steady decline throughout the yewradted, in part, by (i) the disproportionate intghat higher yielding, CLO investments had on &h
smaller portfolio of interest earning assets dutimgfirst half of 2012, and (ii) the expansionttoeé Companys lower yielding Agency RMBS portfolio in t
second half of 2012, which was driven by deploynwngublic offering proceeds during that time.
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Other Income

Total other income increased by $20.0 million fog {ear ended December 31, 2013 as compared poitig/ear. The changes in total other inci
for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compairtbe farevious year were primarily driven by:

e an increase in net unrealized gains on nfaftiily loans and debt held in securitization trust$24.8 million for the year ended Decembel
2013 as compared to the previous year, primarig/ tdumproved pricing on our multi-family CMBS irstenents as well as an increase in multi
family CMBS investments as compared to the previgear. As of December 31, 2013, the net carryinigevaf our multifamily CMBS
investments, which measures unrealized gains asdes$othrough earnings, amounts to approximately0.$24nillion as compared
approximately $123.3 million at December 31, 2012;

e a decrease in unrealized loss on investment siesuaind related hedges of $9.4 million and a deeré@arealized gain on investment secul
and related hedges of $17.0 million for the yeateehDecember 31, 2013, respectively, as comparéuetprevious year, which is prima
related to our Agency IO portfolio. Increased iatdrrate volatility combined with illiquidity in ¢ghinverse 10 market resulted in larger 1
expected losses in this strategy during the seqaader of 2013, with a partial reversal realizedm the third and fourth quarters of 2013; .

e an increase in realized gains on distressed regaflemortgage loans of $1.5 million for the yeaded December 31, 2013 as compared t
previous year. The realized gains are derived fiman refinancings, workouts and resales, with tlagonity of the realized income in 2013 fr
loan refinancings. The Company’s investment in &siset class did not commence until the fourthtquaf 2012.

Comparative General, Administrative and Other Exps(dollar amounts in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,

General, Administrative and Other Expenses: 2013 2012 $ Change
Salaries, benefits and directors’ compensation $ 2,78 $ 2,07¢ $ 70¢
Professional fees 2,721 1,79¢ 927
Management fees 8,13: 5,01C 3,12¢
Expenses on distressed residential mortgage loans 3,86¢ — 3,86¢
Other 2,40¢ 2,54t (13€)
Total $ 19917 $ 11,427 $ 8,49(

The increase in general, administrative and otkpemrses was largely attributable to the increasmanagement fees and expenses related
distressed residential mortgage loan investmeriits.ificrease in management fees was driven in [@ageby the increase in assets managed by oumai
managers. The increase in expenses related testist residential mortgage loans is due to thefis@m increase in our investment in this assassla
compared to the prior year. The distressed resalemortgage loan strategy typically has a highestcas loan servicing and resolution processir
distressed loans is more operationally intensie@ {erforming loans.
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Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2012 the Year Ended December 31, 2011

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we repogtthcome attributable to common stockholders &.$2nillion, as compared to net incc
attributable to common stockholders of $4.8 millfon the year ended December 31, 2011. The mairpoaents of the change in net income for the
ended December 31, 2012 as compared to the prwraye detailed in the following table (dollar amtauin thousands, except per share data):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 $ Change
Net interest incom $ 31,42: $ 19,45 $ 11,96¢
Total other income (expense) $ 9,10t $ (3,699 $ 12,79¢
Total general, administrative and other expenses $ 11,427 $ 10,51¢ $ 90¢
Income from continuing operations before income$ax $ 29,10C $ 524: $ 23,851
Income tax expense $ 93z % 43 $ 49¢
Net income $ 28,18. % 487 $ 23,30¢
Net income attributable to common stockholc $ 28,27¢ $ 477¢ $ 23,50¢
Basic income per common share $ 1.0¢ $ 04€ $ 0.62
Diluted income per common share $ 1.0¢ $ 04€ $ 0.62

In general, the significant increases in a numbighe line items are largely a function of the gtiovin the Company’s stockholdersguity from
$85.3 million as of December 31, 2011 to $322.0iomlas of December 31, 2012 and the correspongingth in the size of the Compasyportfolio o
interest earning assets. The increase in net indsmeamarily due to an increase in net interestgimaof $12.0 million, an increase in unrealizedngar
multi-family loans and debt held in securitization trusts$6.7 million, a decrease in unrealized lossirorestment securities and related hedges of
million, a decrease in provision for loan loss 6f%million, an increase in realized gain on inwestt securities and related hedges of $0.5 millhamtially
offset by a decrease in income from investmentsriited partnership and limited liability compan§ %iL.4 million, an increase in general, adminisaaganc
other expenses of $0.9 million, and an increasedome tax expense of $0.5 million.

Net Interest Income

The increase in net interest margin of $12.0 nrillie primarily due to an increase of $365.0 milliaraverage interest earning assets driven k
deployment of proceeds totaling $231.6 million frémar public equity offerings completed in 2012 ghé use of leverage in connection with our Age
RMBS investments. The proceeds were mainly inveistéddjency RMBS and multi-family CMBS during 2012.

Other Income

Total other income increased by $12.8 million foe {ear ended December 31, 2012 as compared puithe/ear. The changes in total other inc
for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compairtbe farior year were primarily driven by:

e an increase in unrealized gain related to nfattily loans and debt held in securitization trusfs$6.7 million due to improving mark
conditions for these assets during the year endmzbmber 31, 2012. There were no mfatiily loans and debt held in securitization tr
investments during the year ended December 31,; 2011

e adecline in net unrealized loss on investmentrigesiand related hedges due to an improved emwiemt for our investment portfoli
particularly our Agency 1O portfolio, as comparedhe comparative 2011 period. During the secoitidofi2011, a confluence of factors,
including uncertainty and concerns of systemic redlted to the European sovereign debt crisissamyamping of the rules for HARP I,
contributed to a significant widening of creditspds and prepayment speed concerns, which innegatively impacted the pricing of our
Agency IOs at December 31, 20:
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Comparative General, Administrative and Other Exps(dollar amounts in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,

General, Administrative and Other Expenses: 2012 2011 $ Change
Salaries, benefits and directors’ compensation $ 2,07¢ $ 1,51¢ $ 56(
Professional fees 1,79¢ 1,521 273
Management fees 4,97( 3,25(C 1,72C
Termination of management contréét 40 2,19t (2,159
Other 2,54t 2,03¢ 511
Total $ 11,427 $ 10,51¢ $ 90¢

@ Expenses are related to the termination of oursadyiagreement with Harvest Capital Strategies (IHIZS").

The increase in general, administrative and otkperses was due primarily to an increase in managefaes offset by a $2.2 million decreas
termination of management contract. The increasmanagement fees for the year ended December 32, i@@primarily a result of an increase in as
managed by third parties and increased profitgbdft our investments. The decrease in terminatibmanagement contract is due to the terminatios
related to the termination of the advisory agredrbetween the Company and HCS amounting to $2.[Bomilsubstantially all of which was recorded dg
the year ended December 31, 2011.
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Quarterly Comparative Net Interest Spread

Our results of operations for our investment pdidfauring a given period typically reflects thetrieterest income earned on our investr
portfolio of Agency and norgency RMBS, CMBS (including CMBS held in secuddiion trusts), residential securitized loans, disged residential loe
including distressed residential loans held in g&zation trusts, loans held for investment, lodredd for sale and CLOs (collectively, ounterest Earnin
Assets”).The net interest spread is impacted by factors aschur cost of financing, the interest rate thatiovestments bear and our interest rate he:
strategies. Furthermore, the amount of premiumisgodint paid on purchased portfolio investments thiedprepayment rates on portfolio investments
impact the net interest spread as such factorsbeiimortized over the expected term of such invests. Realized and unrealized gains and loss@88s,
Eurodollar and Treasury futures and other derieati@ssociated with our Agency 10 investments, whiiot utilize hedge accounting for financial rejg
purposes, are included in other income (expenseliirstatement of operations, and therefore, ritgated in the data set forth below.

The following table sets forth, among other thin& net interest spread for our portfolio of letrEarning Assets by quarter for the eight
recently completed quarters, excluding the costsuosubordinated debentures:

Weighted

Average Average

Interest Yield

Earning on Interest

Assets ($ Earning Cost of Funds Net Interest
Quarter Ended millions) (2) Assets(3) 4) Spread ®)
December 31, 2013) $ 1,644. 5.9¢% 1.8% 4.1(%
September 30, 2013 $ 1,586.¢ 5.21% 1.62% 3.5¢%
June 30, 2018V $ 1,524.: 4.8<% 1.41% 3.4&%
March 31, 20131 $ 1,446.: 4.8t% 1.38% 3.4&%
December 31, 2012 $ 1,350.: 4.4€% 1.13% 3.3%%
September 30, 2012 $ 698.t 5.9¢% 1.2% 4.7(%
June 30, 2012 $ 409.¢ 7.28% 1.3%% 5.95%
March 31, 2012 $ 396.¢ 7.5% 1.01% 6.56%

@ Average Interest Earning Assets for the quartedueles all Consolidated ISeries assets other than those securities issuatiebgecuritizatior
comprising the Consolidated K-Series that arealgteained by us.

@ our Average Interest Earning Assets is calculathequarter as the daily average balance of oerdst Earning Assets for the quarter, exclu
unrealized gains and losses.

@ our Weighted Average Yield on Interest Earning Asseas calculated by dividing our annualized irgeiecome from Interest Earning Assets for
quarter by our average Interest Earning Assetthfoguarter.

) Our Cost of Funds was calculated by dividing ounwaiized interest expense from our Interest Eardissgets for the quarter by our average finar
arrangements, portfolio investments, ResidentiaDS[@nd Securitized Debt for the quarter. Our cbfirads includes impact of our liability interesite
hedging activities.

®  Net Interest Spread is the difference between oeigiied Average Yield on Interest Earning Assets@umr Cost of Fund

Prepayment Histor

The following table sets forth the actual consfaepayment rates (“CPR”) for selected asset clabyeguarter, for the periods indicated:

Weighted
Average
Agency Agency Agency Non-Agency Residential for Overall
Quarter Ended ARMs Fixed Rate I0s RMBS Securitizations Portfolio
December 31, 2013 6.7% 5.2% 13.5% 16.6% 12.€% 10.(%
September 30, 2013 16.£% 8.5% 20.%% 23.6% 12.(% 15.2%
June 30, 2013 22.2% 6.4% 21.%% 18.2% 6.5% 15.2%
March 31, 2013 20.8% 3.8% 21.€% 15.% 10.2% 12.<%
December 31, 2012 14.5% 1.5% 21.8% 16.2% 11.€% 12.52%
September 30, 2012 17.5% 2.C% 19.2% 15.1% 4.€% 15.1%
June 30, 2012 24.8% N/A 19.4% 15.2% 7.4% 16.€%
March 31, 2012 18.1% N/A 19.€% 13.2% 8.1% 16.€%
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When prepayment expectations over the remainimgdifassets increase, we have to amortize premawasa shorter time period resulting i
reduced yield to maturity on our investment assétsversely, if prepayment expectations decre&geptemium would be amortized over a longer ps
resulting in a higher yield to maturity. In additiche market values and cash flows from our Agdfg/can be materially adversely affected duringopl=
of elevated prepayments. We monitor our prepayregpérience on a monthly basis and adjust the aratidn rate to reflect current market conditions.

As a result of the significant increase in lalegm term treasury rates and mortgage rates duhagquarter ended June 30, 2013, mort
originations related to refinancing decreased,ltieguin lower prepayment speeds in many of our AgeRMBS portfolio in the latter part of the year.

Portfolio Asset Yields for the Quarters Ended Decetwer 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011

The following table summarizes the Companyignificant assets at December 31, 2013, cladsifiy relevant categories (dollar amour

thousands):

Carrying Value Coupons(1) Yield (1) CPR (1)
Agency Fixed Rate RMBS $ 535,94: 2.94% 2.0€% 5.3%
CMBS ) $ 332,58( 0.12% 11.7%% N/A
Distressed Residential Loans $ 264,43: 5.32% 6.64% N/A
Agency ARMs $ 209,32: 2.92% 2.21% 6.7%
Residential Securitized Loans $ 163,23° 2.61% 2.55% 12.€%
Agency IOs $ 131,60¢ 5.6% 14.7%% 13.5%
CLOs $ 33,20¢ 4.2:% 41.36% N/A

@ Coupons, yields and CPRs are based on fourth g8 daily average balances. Yields are caladilatreamortized cost bas

@ cmBs carrying value, coupons and yield calculatiaresbased on the underlying CMBS that are actaaityed by the Compa
and do not include the other consolidated assetdianilities of the Consolidated-Series not owned by the Compa

The following table summarizes the Comp’s significant assets at December 31, 2012, cledsliiy relevant categories (do

amount in thousands

Carrying Value Coupons(1) Yield () CPR (1)
Agency Fixed Rate RMBS $ 627,94« 2.96% 2.34% 1.€%
CMBS ) $ 194,49: 0.12% 11.9%% N/A
Distressed Residential Loans $ 60,45¢ 5.7% 9.5¢% N/A
Agency ARMs $ 273,92 2.98% 1.75% 14.5%
Residential Securitized Loans $ 187,22¢ 2.91% 2.81% 11.€%
Agency I0s $ 99,37: 5.94% 10.82% 21.&%
CLOs $ 30,78t 4.35% 40.5%% N/A

@ Coupons, yields and CPRs are based on fourth g1 daily average balances. Yields are caladilatreamortized cost bas

@ cmMBs carrying value, coupons and yield calculatiaresbased on the underlying CMBS that are actaaityed by the Compa
and do not include the other consolidated assetdiailities of the Consolidated-Series not owned by the Compa

The following table summarizes the Compangignificant interest earning assets at Decemher2811, classified by relev:

categories (dollaamount in thousands

Carrying Value Coupons(1) Yield (1) CPR ()
CMBS $ 41,18t 5.02% 11.0% N/A
Agency ARMs $ 68,77¢ 3.7% 2.97% 16.£%
Residential Securitized Loans $ 206,92( 2.71% 2.66% 5.2%
Agency IOs $ 63,68 5.21% 18.0€% 19.5%
CLOs $ 22,75¢ 4.3% 34.82% N/A

@ Coupons, yields and CPRs are based on fourth quirid. daily average balances. Yields are caladilateamortized cost bas
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Financial Condition

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately $8li®n of total assets, as compared to approxitgei@.2 billion of total assets as of Decen
31, 2012. The increase is primarily due to the obdation of multifamily loans held in securitization trusts on oalamce sheet for six separate Fre
Mac-Sponsored multi-family loan securitizationslimted in Consolidated Kseries at December 31, 2013 (amounting to $8.ibhiit December 31, 201
as compared to four separate securitizations iedud the Consolidated Keries at December 31, 2012, and the purchaseddfomzl distressed residen
mortgage loans with cash proceeds from our pubfierings of preferred and common stock in 2013. Sgignificant Estimates and Critical Account
Policies - Loan Consolidation Reporting RequirenfenCertain Multi-Family K-Series Securitizatiohs.

Balance Sheet Analysis

Investment Securities Available for Sale At December 31, 2013, our securities portfolidudles Agency RMBS, including Agency fixed-rate and
ARM pass-through certificates, Agency I0s, non-AgeRMBS and CLOs, which are classified as investrsenurities available for sale. At December 31,
2013, we had no investment securities in a sirggledr or entity that had an aggregate book valegdass of 10% of our total assets. The decrease in
investment securities available for sale as of b 31, 2013 as compared to December 31, 20Ithisuply a result of principal paydowns, as well as
changes in market value.

The following tables set forth the balances of iovestment securities available for sale by vintége, by issue year) as of December 31, 201.
December 31, 2012, respectively (dollar amounthdnisands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Par Value Carrying Par Value Carrying
Value Value
Agency RMBS
ARMs
Prior to 2011 $ 24500 $ 2581 $ 32,86¢ $ 34,69
2011 25,79¢ 27,24 37,257 39,60:
2012 153,86: 156,26 189,72¢ 199,63:
Total ARMs 204,15¢ 209,32: 259,85! 273,92
Fixed
2011 3,02¢ 3,08t 4,57: 4,80z
2012 526,46! 532,85¢ 586,68: 623,14.
Total Fixed 529,49: 535,94: 591,25: 627,94
10
Prior to 2010 71,164 10,321 76,69¢ 10,35¢
2010 176,57 24,47: 238,29' 32,38¢
2011 160,85¢ 26,35( 137,21 20,37¢
2012 293,32. 52,38¢ 193,72: 36,24¢
2013 100,65¢ 18,07¢ — —
Total 10s 802,57¢ 131,60¢ 645,93’ 99,37:
Total Agency RMBS 1,536,22. 876,87: 1,497,04. 1,001,23
Non Agency RMBS
2006 3,001 2,361 3,86¢ 2,681
CLOs
2007 35,55( 33,20¢ 35,55( 30,78t
Total $ 157477 $ 912,44 $ 1,536,460 $ 1,034,71.
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Detailed Composition of Loans Securitizing Our CLOs

The following tables summarize the loans secuniizour CLOs grouped by range of outstanding balaawmt industry greater than 5%
outstanding balance as of December 31, 2013 andrbleer 31, 2012, respectively (dollar amounts ingamds):

As of December 31, 2013 As of December 31, 2012
Range of Number of Total Number of
Outstanding Balance Loans Maturity Date Principal Loans Maturity Date Total Principal
$0 - $500 18 12/2013 - 4/2019 $ 6,00¢ 32 8/2015 - 8/2019 $ 12,50¢
$500 - $2,000 107 5/2014-8/2020 137,54! 131 12/2013 - 12/2019 163,93¢
$2,000 - $5,000 68 12/2014-8/2020 202,50¢ 74  4/2013 - 12/2019 210,99:
$5,000+ 9 5/2016-5/2018 63,48: 5 2/2013 - 5/2018 31,24¢
Total 20z $ 409,54t 247 $ 418,68
December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
% of % of
Number of Outstanding Outstanding Number of Outstanding Outstanding
Industry Loans Balance Balance Loans Balance Balance
Healthcare, Education & Childcare 22 $ 57,66¢ 14.1% 23 % 50,19: 12.(%
Chemicals, Plastics and Rubber 14 42,53. 10.2% 17 32,05¢ 7.7%
Diversified/Conglomerate Service 16 28,10t 6.6% 20 33,76: 8.1%
Retail Store 13 26,55¢ 6.5% 19 35,74¢ 8.5%
Leisure, Amusement, Motion Pictures &
Entertainment 10 21,49: 5.2% 10 18,72:¢ 4.5%

Investment Securities Available for Sale Held in Geitization Trusts. At December 31, 2013, our securities portfolioliides multifamily
CMBS classified as investment securities availédreale held in securitization trusts, which andtirfamily CMBS transferred to securitization trustspas
of securitization transactions. The increase imy@iag value is primarily due to improved pricing oor CMBS investments. The following table setgHdhe
balances of our investment securities availablesébe held in securitization trusts by vintage. (iby issue year) as of December 31, 2013 (doftazumts it
thousands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Carrying Carrying
Par Value Value Par Value Value
CMBS:
2011 $ 900,137 $ 29,28¢ $ 908,60t $ 22,61(
2012 1,101,54 63,28¢ 1,104,411 48,54¢
Total $ 2,001,680 $ 9257¢ $ 2,013,011 $ 71,15¢

Residential Mortgage Loans Held in Securitizatiorriists (net). Included in our portfolio are prime ARM loans tlve¢ originated or purchasec
bulk from third parties that met our investmentarnia and portfolio requirements and that we subeetly securitized in 2005.

At December 31, 2013, residential mortgage loatd inesecuritization trusts totaled approximately3$.2 million. The Compang’net investme
in the residential securitization trusts, whiclihie maximum amount of the Compasyfivestment that is at risk to loss and represtetslifference betwe
the carrying amount of the ARM mortgage loans aedl estate owned held in residential securitizatimsts and the amount of Residential Cl
outstanding, was $6.6 million. Of the residentiarigage loans held in securitized trusts, 100%traditional ARMs or hybrid ARMs, 82.5% of which .
ARM loans that are interest only. With respectite hybrid ARMs included in these securitizatiomseiiest rate reset periods were predominatelyyidags o
less and the interest-only period is typically &nge which mitigates the “payment sho@kt’the time of interest rate reset. None of thélesgial mortgag
loans held in securitization trusts are pay op#dtiMs or ARMs with negative amortization.
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The following table details our residential mortgdgans held in securitization trusts at Decemter2813 and December 31, 2012, respect
(dollar amounts in thousands):

Number of Loans Par Value Carrying Value
December 31, 2013 42z % 165,22: $ 163,23
December 31, 2012 474 % 189,00¢ $ 187,22¢

Characteristics of Our Residential Mortgage LoareldHin Securitization Trusts:

The following table sets forth the composition af cesidential mortgage loans held in securitizatioists as of December 31, 2013 and Dece
31, 2012 respectively (dollar amounts in thousands)

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Average High Low Average High Low

General Loan Characteristics:

Original Loan Balance $ 43¢ $ 295 $ 48 % 44C % 295( $ 48
Current Coupon Rate 2.71% 7.25% 1.25% 3.06% 7.25% 2.5(%
Gross Margin 2.31% 4.1% 1.12% 2.37% 4.1% 1.12%
Lifetime Cap 11.32% 13.25% 9.1™% 11.2% 13.25% 9.1%%
Original Term (Months) 36C 36C 36C 36C 36C 36C
Remaining Term (Months) 25€ 264 22¢ 26¢ 27¢€ 23t
Average Months to Reset 3 11 1 3 11 1
Original FICO Score 727 81¢ 598 72¢ 81¢ 598
Original LTV 70.21% 95.0(% 13.94% 70.4% 95.0(% 13.94%

The following tables detail the activity for thesi@ential mortgage loans held in securitizatiostsynet) for the years ended December 31, 2013 anc
2012, respectively (dollar amounts in thousands):

Allowance for Net Carrying

Principal Premium Loan Losses Value
Balance, January 1, 2013 $ 189,00¢ $ 1,19¢ $ (2,979 $ 187,22¢
Principal repayments (22,200 (22,200
Provision for loan loss (747) (747)
Transfer to real estate owned (1,63€) 62¢€ (1,00¢)
Charge-Offs 10¢€ 10¢
Amortization of premium (14%) (14%)
Balance, December 31, 2013 $ 165,17. $ 1,05: $ (2,989 $ 163,23

Allowance for Net Carrying

Principal Premium Loan Losses Value
Balance, January 1, 2012 $ 208,93: $ 1,317 $ (333) $ 206,92(
Principal repayments (17,579 — — (17,57)
Provision for loan loss — — (675) (675)
Transfer to real estate owned (2,467) — 89¢ (1,56¢)
Charge-Offs 113 — 12¢ 24z
Amortization of premium — (11€) — (119
Balance, December 31, 2012 $ 189,00¢ $ 1,19¢ $ (2,979 $ 187,22¢

Acquired Distressed Residential Mortgage Loan®istressed residential mortgage loans held iur#&ation trusts and distressed reside
mortgage loans are comprised of pools of fixed aljdstable rate residential mortgage loans acquiyeitie Company at a discount to par value (thdui
in part, to credit quality of the borrower). Disgsed residential mortgage loans held in secuiitizdtusts are distressed residential mortgageslt@msferre
to Consolidated VIEs that have been securitizeul tieneficial interests.
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At December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, disidesesidential mortgage loans held in securibmatiusts, had a carrying value of $2¢
million and $60.5 million, respectively. The Compannet investment in the securitization trusts,ickhis the maximum amount of the Company’
investment that is at risk to loss and represdmgsdifference between the carrying amount of thieassets and liabilities associated with the dist
residential mortgage loans held in securitizatiosts, was $93.9 million and $24.7 million at Debem31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

At December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, désicesesidential mortgage loans included in recé®gbnd other assets account in
accompanying consolidated balance sheets hadyantpwalue of $9.7 million and $0, respectively

The following table details our portfolio of distsed residential mortgage loans, including thoseratised residential mortgage loans he
securitization trusts, at December 31, 2013 anceBéer 31, 2012, respectively (dollar amounts ingands):

Number of Loans Unpaid principal Carrying Value
December 31, 2013 2580 $ 339,57¢ $ 264,43:
December 31, 2012 512 % 91,831 $ 60,45¢

Characteristics of Our Distressed Residential Magg Loans, including Distressed Residential Moreghgans Held in Securitization Trusts

December 31,

December 31,

Loan to Value at Purchase 2013 2012
50.00% or less 4.2% 1.4%
50.01% - 60.00% 4.2% 2.8%
60.01% - 70.00% 7.4% 5.4%
70.01% - 80.00% 9.¢% 7.2%
80.01% - 90.00% 14.5% 16.£%
90.01% - 100.00% 12.2% 12.%
100.01% and over 47 % 53.¢%
Total 100.(% 100.(%
December 31, December 31,
FICO Scores at Purchase 2013 2012
550 or less 16.4% 16.€%
551 to 600 22.% 22.%%
601 to 650 24.% 30.€%
651 to 700 18.6% 16.%%
701 to 750 11.7% 9.7%
751 to 800 5.2% 2.2%
801 and over 0.7% 1.4%
Total 100.(% 100.(%
December 31, December 31,
Current Coupon 2013 2012
3.00% or less 17.%% 13.¢%
3.01% - 4.00% 9.€% 13.7%
4.01% - 5.00% 10.1% 12.(%
5.01% — 6.00% 14.¢% 20.6%
6.01% and over 47 .5% 40.1%
Total 100.(% 100.(%
December 31, December 31,
Delinquency Status 2013 2012
Current 79.5% 73.(%
31 - 60 days 12.(% 21.%%
61 — 90 days 4.1% 4.2%
90+ days 4.4% 0.8%
Total 100.(% 100.(%
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December 31, December 31,

Origination Year 2013 2012

2005 or earlier 33.%% 20.2%
2006 15.¢% 7.C%
2007 44.(% 62.2%
2008 or later 7.C% 10.4%
Total 100.(% 100.(%

Consolidated K-SerieAs of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 wed 100% of the first loss securities of the Cdidated KSeries
The Consolidated K-Series are comprised of muttitfia mortgage loans held in six and four FreddiecNdponsored multi-family kKSeries securitizations
of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, raégplyctof which we, or one of our SPEs, own thetfipss securities and certain 10s. We determihal
the securitizations comprising the Consolidate®dfies were VIEs and that we are the primary beiag§i of these securitizations. Accordingly, we
required to consolidate the Consolidated K-Sengslerlying multifamily loans and related debt, income and expemsaui financial statements. We h
elected the fair value option on the assets arilitias held within the Consolidated eries, which requires that changes in valuatiorthé assets a
liabilities of the Consolidated K-Series will belegted in our statement of operations. As of Desen81, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the Consalid&te
Series was comprised of $8.1 billion and $5.4 dnilli respectively in multiamily loans held in securitization trusts and $Biflion and $5.3 billior
respectively, in multfamily CDOs outstanding with a weighted averageriest rate of 4.16% and 4.59% respectively. Thee@se in balances at Decen
31, 2013 as compared to December 31, 2012 is ghmaresult of our consolidation of two additionateddie Mac KSeries securitizations in 2013.
addition, as a result of the consolidation of thensblidated KSeries, our statement of operations for the yede@&rDecember 31, 2013 included $2:
million in interest income and $210.2 million inténest expense, respectively. Also, we recogniz&Bh5 million unrealized gain in the statemer
operations for the year ended December 31, 20H83rasult of the fair value accounting method etectiWe do not have any claims to the assets (thiae
the security represented by our first loss piece)ldigations for the liabilities of the Consoliddt K-Series. Our investment in the Consolidate8édfies i
limited to the multi-family CMBS comprised of firkiss tranche PO securities and or/certain |IOb&y these KSeries securitizations with an aggregatt
carrying value of $240.0 million and $123.3 millias of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 20]&ctgely.

Multi-Family CMBS Loan Characteristics:

The following table details the loan charactersstif the loans that back our multi-family CMBS (inding the Consolidated ISeries) in ot
portfolio as of December 31, 2013 and DecembeRB12, respectively (dollar amounts in thousandsepixas noted):

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012

Current balance of loans $ 12,585,13 $ 9,932,16
Number of loan: 74z 60¢
Weighted average original LTV 69.(% 69.2%
Weighted average underwritten debt service coveratipe 1.5(x 1.4
Current average loan size $ 16,96 $ 16,30¢
Weighted average original loan term (in months) 112 10¢
Weighted average current remaining term (in months) 85 89
Weighted average loan rate 4.31% 4.5/%
First mortgages 10C% 10%
Geographic state concentration (greater than 5.0%):

California 14.(% 13.€%

Texas 13.7% 14.(%

New York 7.2% 6.6%

Florida 6.5% 7.4%

Washington 5.2% 5.C%

Georgia 4.4% 5.4%

Financing Arrangements, Portfolio Investments As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, we had approgi;n&791.1 million and $889.1 million
repurchase borrowings outstanding, respectives of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012¢cuhent weighted average borrowing rate on t
financing facilities was 0.49% and 0.54%, resp&tyivOur repurchase agreements typically have tefr38 days or less.

As of December 31, 2013, we had no counterpartferevthe amount at risk was in excess of 5% ofkbders’Equity. As of December 31, 20:

the Company’s only exposure where the amount ktimiexcess of 5% of StockholdeSuity was to JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. at 5.7%. dieunt ¢
risk is defined as the fair value of securitiesdgled as collateral to the repurchase agreememtess of the repurchase agreement liability.
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As of December 31, 2013, the outstanding balandemour repurchase agreements was funded at anaavate of 92.2% that implies an ave
haircut of 7.8%. As of December 31, 2012, the amiding balance under our repurchase agreementfun@ad at an advance rate of 93.1% that implie
average haircut of 6.9%. The weighted average ¢h#irelated to our repurchase agreement financing forAgency RMBS (excluding Agency 10
Agency 10s and CLOs was approximately 5%, 25% &%,3espectively, for a total weighted averagerthat of 7.8% and 6.9% as of December 31, -
and December 31, 2012, respectively.

The following table details the ending balance,rtprly average balance and maximum balance at amtmend during the quarter over the
three years for repurchase agreement borrowingsamating (dollar amounts in thousands):

Quarterly Average End of Quarter Maximum Balance

Quarter Ended Balance Balance at any Month-End

December 31, 2013 $ 796,04: $ 791,12 $ 800,19:
September 30, 2013 $ 799,34. % 794,18. % 810,50t
June 30, 2013 $ 88594: $ 855,15 $ 924,66
March 31, 2013 $ 879,73 % 878,82: % 882,61:
December 31, 2012 $ 878,20 $ 889,13 $ 889,13:
September 30, 2012 $ 446,61( $ 580,17¢ $ 592,97t
June 30, 2012 $ 129,10: $ 138,87 $ 138,87:
March 31, 2012 $ 113,09: $ 118,38" $ 118,38t
December 31, 2011 $ 116,91¢ $ 112,67 $ 123,78t
September 30, 2011 $ 117,23 $ 111,50 $ 121,92(
June 30, 2011 $ 82,46¢ $ 96,37C $ 96,37(
March 31, 2011 $ 38,711 % 46,56: $ 46,56

Residential Collateralized Debt Obligations As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, we had resalentllateralized debt obligations,
Residential CDOs, of $158.4 million and $181.0 imil] respectively. As of December 31, 2013 and 2Qhk& weighted average interest rate of t
Residential CDOs was 0.55% and 0.59%, respectidlg. Residential CDOs are collateralized by ARMheavith a principal balance of $165.2 million
$189.0 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respely. The Company retained the owner trust fieates, or residual interest for three securiimrat
and, as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, had avestment in the residential securitization tru$t$66 million and $7.0 million, respectively.

Securitized Debt The following table summarizes the Company’s sé¢ized debt collateralized by muf@gmily CMBS and distressed resider
mortgage loans (dollar amounts in thousands):

Distressed
Residential
Multi-family Collateralized Mortgage
CMBS Recourse Loan
Re-securitization Financings Securitizations
Original Face amount of Notes issued by the VIE mmathased by 3rd party investc $ 35,000 $ 107,85¢ $ 176,971
Principal Amount at December 31, 2013 $ 34,50¢ $ 107,85: % 169,87:
Principal Amount at December 31, 2012 $ 35,000 $ 52,00 $ 38,70(
Carrying Value at December 31, 2013 $ 27,24 $ 107,85 $ 169,87:
Carrying Value at December 31, 2012 $ 26,89 $ 52,00 $ 38,70(
Onemonth LIBOR

Pass-through rate of Notes issued 5.35% plus 5.25% 6.50% 4.25%- 4.8"%

Refer to Note 7 of our consolidated financial staets included in this report for more informatam Securitized Debt.

Subordinated DebenturesAs of December 31, 2013, certain of our wholly odrseibsidiaries had trust preferred securities antshg of $45.
million with a weighted average interest rate di8. The securities are fully guaranteed by us wéspect to distributions and amounts payable
liquidation, redemption or repayment. These seiegrdre classified as subordinated debentureitiahility section of our consolidated balanceetbe
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Derivative Assets and Liabilitie&Ve generally hedge the risks related to changegénest rates related to our borrowings as wethaset value
of our overall portfolio.

In order to reduce our interest rate risk relatedur borrowings, we may utilize various hedgingtinments, such as interest rate swap agre:
contracts whereby we receive floating rate paymémtexchange for fixed rate payments, effectivebnwerting our short term repurchase agree
borrowings or Residential CDOs to a fixed rate D&cember 31, 2013, the Company had $350.0 millfarotional amount of interest rate swaps outstag
with a fair market asset value of $2.0 million. Bé&cember 31, 2012, the Company had $358.4 millfamotional amount of interest rate swaps outstag
with a fair market liability value of $1.7 milliorThe interest rate swaps qualify as cash flow hedgefinancial reporting purposes.

In addition to utilizing interest rate swaps, weynpairchase or sell short U.S. Treasury securitiesnter into Eurodollar or other futures contraar
options on futures to help mitigate the potentigbact of changes in interest rates on the perfocmai our Agency 10s. We may borrow securitiesdeer
short sales of U.S. Treasury securities under sevepurchase agreements. Realized and unreabiresiand losses associated with purchases andsste
of U.S. Treasury securities, Eurodollar or othéurfes and swaptions are recognized through earimrtye consolidated statements of operations.

The Company uses To-B®anounced securities, or TBAs, U.S. Treasury séegrand U.S. Treasury futures and options to haugeest rate ris
as well as spread risk associated with its investsia Agency |Os. For example, we may utilize TBAedge the interest rate or yield spread riblkerian
in our long Agency RMBS positions associated witin imvestments in Agency 10s by taking short posisiin TBAs that are similar in character. In a 1
transaction, we would agree to purchase or sellfuiure delivery, Agency RMBS with certain prinalpand interest terms and certain types of unda
collateral, but the particular Agency RMBS to béivdeed is not identified until shortly before tR@&A settlement date. The Company typically doestakd
delivery of TBAs, but rather settles with its tnagicounterparties on a net basis. TBAs are liguid bave quoted market prices and represent the
actively traded class of RMBS. For TBA contractattive have entered into, we have not assertegthaical settlement is probable. Because we hat
designated these forward commitments associatddowit Agency 10s as hedging instruments, realizetiunrealized gains and losses associated witle
TBAs, U.S. Treasury securities and U.S. Treasumyrés and options are recognized through earnimtjgei condensed consolidated statements of opesa

The use of TBAs exposes the Company to market vidlieas the market value of the securities thatGompany is required to purchase pursus
a TBA transaction may decline below the agrapdn purchase price. Conversely, the market vafube securities that the Company is required it
pursuant to a TBA transaction may increase abov@gieed upon sale price. The use of TBAs assdamth our Agency 10 investments creates signift
short term payables (and/or receivables) on owartzal sheet.

Derivative financial instruments may contain craibk to the extent that the institutional countetigs may be unable to meet the terms o
agreements. We minimize this risk by limiting owuaterparties to major financial institutions wigbod credit ratings. In addition, we regularly monithe
potential risk of loss with any one party resultingm this type of credit risk. Accordingly, we diot expect any material losses as a result of ddisothe
parties, but we cannot guarantee that we will mpeeence counterparty failures in the future.

In connection with our investment in Agency 10s, wilize several types of derivative instrumentshidge the overall risk profile of the
investments. This hedging technique is dynamicature and requires frequent adjustments, whichrdoogly makes it very difficult to qualify for hed
accounting treatment. Hedge accounting treatmentines specific identification of a risk or grouprisks and then requires that we designate aqudai
trade to that risk with no minimal ability to adjuser the life of the transaction. Because we Mitivay are frequently adjusting these derivativeinment
in response to current market conditions, we haterchined to account for all the derivative instemts related to our Agency 10 investments as devies
not designated as hedging instruments.

Balance Sheet Analysis - Stockholders’ Equity

Stockholders’equity at December 31, 2013 was $480.7 million @arauded $3.1 million of accumulated other compratiee income. Tt
accumulated other comprehensive income consist&d 47 million in unrealized gains primarily reldt® our CLOs, $18.3 million in net unrealized g
related to our CMBS and $2.0 million in unrealizitivative gains related to cash flow hedges, giirtoffset by $31.9 million in unrealized lossetated ti
our Agency RMBS and non-Agency RMBS. Stockholdexgiity at December 31, 2012 was $322.0 million imctuded $18.1 million of accumulated ot
comprehensive income. The accumulated other corapséfe income consisted of $20.0 million in unseadi gains primarily related to our CLOs, parti
offset by $1.7 million in unrealized derivative $es related to cash flow hedges and $0.2 millioonrealized losses related to our Agency RMBS.
increase in stockholdersquity at December 31, 2013, as compared to Deae®ihe012, is primarily due to our issuance of own and preferred stock
public and at-thenarket offerings with net proceeds to us of $10@iffion and $72.4 million, respectively, after deting underwriting discounts a
commissions and offering expenses, during the geded December 31, 2013.
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Analysis of Changes in Book Value

The following table analyzes the changes in bodikeréor the quarter and year ended December 313,28%pectively (amounts in thousands, e»

per share):
Quarter Ended December 31, 2013 Year Ended December 31, 2013
Amount Shares Per Share(t) Amount Shares Per Share(t)
Beginning Balance $ 402,68: 63,75¢ $ 6.3z $ 322,00t 49,57 $ 6.5C
Common stock issuance, net 2,51¢ 347 101,10¢ 14,52
Preferred stock issuance, net — 72,397
Preferred stock liquidation preference — (75,000
Balance after share issuance activity 405,19¢ 64,10: 6.32 420,50¢ 64,10z 6.5€
Dividends declared (17,29 (0.27) (65,219 (1.02)
Net change AOCI(2)
Hedges 44¢ 0.01 3,78t 0.0¢
RMBS (8,119 (0.19) (31,772 (0.49)
CMBS 4,30¢ 0.07 15,53: 0.24
CLOs (710) (0.03) (2,56)) (0.09)
Net income 21,83: 0.34 65,38 1.02
Ending Balance $ 405,66¢ 64,10: $ 6.3 $ 405,66¢ 64,10: $ 6.3¢%

(1) Outstanding shares used to calculate book valushzee for the quarter and year ended periodsamedon outstanding shares as of December 31

of 64,102,029.

(@  Accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI").

The following table analyzes the changes in bodkeséor the quarter and year ended December 312,28%pectively (amounts in thousands, e»

per share):
Quarter Ended December 31, 2012 Year Ended December 31, 2012
Amount Shares Per Share(®) Amount Shares Per Share(®)
Beginning Balance $ 222,01« 34,04: $ 652 $ 85,27¢ 13,93¢ $ 6.12
Stock issuance, net 104,24¢ 15,53 232,46: 35,637
Balance after share issuance activity 326,26 49,57 6.5€ 317,74( 49,57¢ 6.41
Dividends declared (13,389 (0.27) (30,809 (0.62)
Net change AOCI()
Hedges 17¢ 0.0C (1,440 (0.03)
RMBS (3,640 (0.07) (327) (0.01
CMBS 3,00(¢ 0.0€ 3,76¢€ 0.0¢
CLOs 197 0.0C 4,797 0.1C
Net income 9,39( 0.1¢ 28,27¢ 0.57
Ending Balance $ 322,00¢ 49578 $ 6.5C $ 322,00¢ 4957t $ 6.5(C

(1) Outstanding shares used to calculate book valushzee for the quarter and year ended periodsamedoon outstanding shares as of December 31

of 49,575,331.

(& Accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI").

Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

Liquidity is a measure of our ability to meet pdtehcash requirements, including ongoing committeen repay borrowings, fund and main
investments, comply with margin requirements, faud operations, pay management, incentive and tomgtiees, pay dividends to our stockholders
other general business needs. Our investmentssasetsaexcluding the principal only mutimily CMBS we invest in, generate liquidity on amgoing bas
through principal and interest payments, prepaysardt earnings retained prior to payment of divitbeand distributions from unconsolidated invests
while the principal only multi-family CMBS we inve# are backed by balloon neaeourse mortgage loans that provide for the payragprincipal a
maturity date, which is typically seven to ten yedn addition, depending on market conditions, sake of investment securities, structured finageio
capital market transactions may provide additidigaiidity. However, our intention is to meet ouquidity needs through normal operations with thel gd
avoiding unplanned sales of assets or emergencgvaiog of funds.

63




During the year ended December 31, 2013, net saghimarily unchanged, as a result of $152.3 nmillised in investing activities, which was of
by $99.0 million provided by financing activitiea&$53.3 million of cash provided by operating dti#s. Our investing activities primarily includ&218.:
million of purchases of distressed residential gege loans, $72.1 million of purchases of investnsecurities, $71.6 million in purchases of médtmily
CMBS, $16.8 million in the funding of mezzaninerisaand preferred equity investments, $11.0 millionet payments on other derivative instrumentses
during the period, and $6.5 million in the fundiofya first mortgage loan, partially offset by $12%nillion in principal paydowns on investment setes
available for sale, $73.8 million in principal repeents received on mulfamily loans held in securitization trusts, $22.8lion in principal repaymen
received on residential mortgage loans held inrdEzation trusts, $15.6 million in principal paymis received on distressed residential mortgages|dg2.!
million in restricted cash, $1.3 million of proceeffom sales of investment securities and $3.6ianilin return of capital from investments in lind
partnership and limited liability companies. Ourdicing activities primarily included $191.7 miliién net proceeds from securitized debt, net preé®n
common and preferred stock issuances of $172.¢omilpartially offset by $98.0 million in paymeras$ financing arrangements, $73.8 million in payns
made on multfamily CDOs, $63.4 million in dividends paid on coran and Series B Preferred Stock, $22.7 milliopagments made on Residential CC
and $7.4 million in payments made on securitizeat.de

We fund our investments and operations throughlanbad and diverse funding mix, which includes pemts from equity offerings, shagrm an
longerterm repurchase agreement borrowings, CDOs, seedtitlebt, and trust preferred debentures. Thedypeterms of financing used by us depenc
the asset being financed. In those cases wheretilim some form of structured financing, be itahgh CDOs, longeterm repurchase agreement:
securitized debt (including financings similar tar €MBS Master Repurchase Agreements), the cashgtoduced by the assets that serve as collatn
these structured finance instruments may be réstrio terms of its use or applied to pay principainterest on CDOs, repurchase agreements, es rtloé
are senior to our interests. At December 31, 20&3had cash and cash equivalents balances of &8li@, which was unchanged from December 31, 2
Based on our current investment portfolio, new §treent initiatives, leverage ratio and availabld ariure possible borrowing arrangements, we beligy
existing cash balances, funds available under atipws financing arrangements and cash flows frperations will meet our liquidity requirements i
least the next 12 months.

Liquidity — Financing Arrangements

We rely primarily on shorterm repurchase agreements (typically 30 days)nan€e the more liquid assets in our investmentf@ar, such a
Agency RMBS and CLOs. As of December 31, 2013, eselputstanding short-term repurchase agreemefasmaof collateralized shoterm borrowing
with eleven different financial institutions. Theagreements are secured by certain of our investaszrities and bear interest rates that haverfdatly
moved in close relationship to LIBOR. Our borrowsngnder repurchase agreements are based on thvaltaérof our investment securities portfolio. hets
rate changes and increased prepayment activithaam a negative impact on the valuation of theser#is, reducing the amount we can borrow unkest
agreements. Moreover, our repurchase agreemenis #ile counterparties to determine a new marketevalf the collateral to reflect current ma
conditions and because these lines of financinqrateommitted, the counterparty can call the laany time. Market value of the collateral repnésehe
price of such collateral obtained from generallgognized sources or most recent closing bid qumtaffom such source plus accrued income.
counterparty determines that the value of the ta#d has decreased, the counterparty may initiateargin call and require us to either post adoak
collateral to cover such decrease or repay a podidhe outstanding borrowing in cash, on minimatice. Moreover, in the event an existing courdes
elected to not renew the outstanding balance atétsirity into a new repurchase agreement, we woelcequired to repay the outstanding balance eet
or proceeds received from a new counterparty @utoender the securities that serve as collateraht outstanding balance, or any combinationeibfer
we are unable to secure financing from a new copatty and had to surrender the collateral, we @exipect to incur a loss. In addition, in the evamd o
our lenders under the repurchase agreement defauits obligation to “re-selldr return to us the securities that are securiegotirrowings at the end of
term of the repurchase agreement, we would inclosa on the transaction equal to the amount ofrén#li associated with the shasgrm repurchas
agreement, which we sometimes refer to as the “amatrisk.” As of December 31, 2013, we had an aggregate amaiurisk under our repurchg
agreements with eleven counterparties of approxin&62.1 million, with no greater than approxintat®21.0 million at risk with any single counterpa
The volatility in the market place during 2013 Ima¢ had an impact on our liquidity or our ability finance our more liquid assets through siem
repurchase agreements.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had sterts repurchase agreement borrowings of $791.liomikhs compared to $889.1 million as
December 31, 2012. In addition to our excess daghCompany has $59.2 million in unencumbered ##sirincluding $40.8 million of RMBS, of whi
$38.4 million are Agency RMBS. The $31.8 million cdish, the $40.8 million in RMBS, and $30.4 millibald in overnight deposits in our Agency
portfolio included in restricted cash that is aable to meet margin calls as it relates to our Agd® portfolio repurchase agreements, which ctiltety
represent 13% of our financing arrangements, partiovestments, are liquid and could be monetiweday down or collateralize the liability immeaibt.
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At December 31, 2013, we also had other longer-tdeht, including Residential CDOs outstanding o6&24 million, multifamily CDOs
outstanding of $7.9 billion (which represent obtigas of the Consolidated Keries), subordinated debt of $45.0 million andusdzed debt of $305
million. The CDOs are collateralized by residential multifamily loans held in securitization trusts, respesty. The securitized debt represents the r
issued in (i) our May 2012 multi-family re-securétion transaction, (ii) our November 2012 and Nolver 2013 multfamily CMBS collateralized recour
financing transaction, and (iii) our December 2012y 2013 and September 2013 distressed resitlemiidgage loan securitization transactions, wladd
described in Note 7 in our consolidated finandiatesments.

As of December 31, 2013, our overall leverage raticluding both our short- and longer-term finamciand excluding the CD®'issued by tt
Consolidated K-Series and our Residential CDOspdiV by stockholder®quity, was approximately 2.4 to 1. As of Decen®fer2013, our leverage ratio
our short term financings or callable debt was apipnately 1.6 to 1. We monitor all at risk or sht@tm borrowings to ensure that we have adequguélity
to satisfy margin calls and have the ability tqoasd to other market disruptions.

Liquidity — Hedging and Other Factors

Certain of our hedging instruments may also impactliquidity. We use interest rate swaps, swaidrBAs, Eurodollar or other futures contri
to hedge interest rate risk associated with ouestments in Agency RMBS (including Agency 10s). RMMiespect to interest rate swaps, futures contea
TBAs, initial margin deposits will be made uponegimg into these contracts and can be either caskaurities. During the period these contractsopen
changes in the value of the contract are recogrésednrealized gains or losses by marking to marked daily basis to reflect the market value @fst
contracts at the end of each dayrading. We may be required to satisfy variabsegim payments periodically, depending upon whetimeealized gains
losses are incurred.

We also use TBAs to hedge interest rate risk aatamtiwith our investments in Agency 10s. Sincewieli for these securities extends beyonc
typical settlement dates for most nderivative investments, these transactions are imamee to market fluctuations between the trade dat the ultima
settlement date, and thereby are more vulnerabteteasing amounts at risk with the applicablenterparties. The use of TBAs associated with ouznfeg
10 investments creates significant short term pessand/or receivables), amounting to $191.6 ariliat December 31, 2013, and is included in payfal
securities purchased on our consolidated balarest.sh

We also use U.S. Treasury securities and U.S. Tirgdistures and options to hedge interest rateagdociated with our investments in Agency
and interest rate swap agreements and swapticnsashanism to reduce the interest rate risk oAg@ncy ARMs and mortgage loans held in securitn
trusts.

For additional information regarding the Compangterivative instruments and hedging activitiestfier periods covered by this report, including
fair values and notional amounts of these instrumend realized and unrealized gains and lossatnglto these instruments, please see Note 8r
consolidated financial statements included in tkjgsort. Also, please see Item 7A. Quantitative guulitative Disclosures about Market Risk, undes
caption, “Fair Value Risk”, for a tabular preserdatof the sensitivity of the market value and detation changes of the Compasygortfolio across vario
changes in interest rates, which takes into acctenCompany’s hedging activities.

Liquidity — Equity Offerings

In addition to the financing arrangements descriealve under the caption “Liquidity—Financing Argements ,we also rely on secondary eqt
offerings as a source of both short-term and lngs liquidity. During the year ended DecemberZ113, we closed on the following public equity oiffigs:

e On April 29, 2013, we entered into an underwritagreement whereby the underwriters agreed to psechd,600,000 shares of our comi
stock from us at a price of $6.96 per share. On Bla3013, we closed on the issuance of 13,600,68fes of common stock to the underwrit
resulting in net proceeds of approximately $94 Hioni, after deducting estimated offering expenses.

e On May 28, 2013, we entered into an underwritingeament for the issuance and sale of 3,000,000eshar 7.75% Series B Cumulat
Redeemable Preferred Stock (“Series B Preferredk3towith a liquidation preference of $25.00 per shdoe,net proceeds of approximat
$72.4 million, after deducting underwriting discésiand offering expenses payable by us. On JuB81&, we closed on the issuance and s:
the 3,000,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock.
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e On January 7, 2014, we entered into an underwraigigement whereby the underwriters agreed to paectil,500,000 shares of our com
stock (including the 1,500,000 shares that wengaiske pursuant to an ovellotment option) from us at a price of $6.81 peare. On January
2013, we closed on the issuance of 11,500,000 sharecommon stock to the underwriters, resultingnet proceeds to the Company
approximately $75.8 million, after deducting estiethoffering expenses.

We used substantially all of the net proceeds fthase offerings to fund additional investments im targeted assets, particularly, mditimily
CMBS and distressed residential mortgage loans.

We also may generate liquidity through the saleslidires of our common stock in an “at the markétéring program pursuant to an eq:
distribution agreement, as well as through the sh#hares of our common stock pursuant to ourdeind Reinvestment Plan, or DRIP. On January 143,
we filed a registration statement on Form3 & enable us to issue up to $20,000,000 of stedresr common stock pursuant to our DRIP. On JLhe2012
we entered into an equity distribution agreemerh WMP Securities LLC as the placement agent, jamtsio which we may sell up to $25,000,000 of st
of our common stock from time to time through ti@cpment agent. Pursuant to the equity distribudigreement, the shares may be offered and soldgr
the placement agent in transactions that are degémbd “at the marketbfferings as defined in Rule 415 under the Seasifct of 1933, as amend
including sales made directly on The Nasdaq Gl&mdéct Market or sales made to or through a markader other than on an exchange or, subject !
terms of a written notice from us, in privately négted transactions. We have no obligation tba®f of the shares under the equity distributigreamer
and may at any time suspend solicitations and ®ffeder the equity distribution agreement. Durimg) year ended December 31, 2013, we issued 82
shares under the equity distribution agreemenitiegun total net proceeds to the Company of agpnately $5.8 million, after deducting sales consios:
and expenses.

Management Agreements

We have investment management agreements withBiner Midway and Headlands, pursuant to which wetpase managers a base manage
and incentive fee quarterly in arrears. See "- Resii Operations - Comparison of the Year Endedddgber 31, 2013 to Year Ended December 31, 2012
Comparative Expenses" for more information regaydite management fees paid during the year endeeniizer 31, 2013. In addition, pursuant to the t
of our former advisory relationship with HCS, we@may pay incentive compensation to HCS with retsjpethose assets of our company that were ma
by HCS at the time the advisory relationship witB¥concluded (the “Incentive Tail Assetsifjtil such time as such Incentive Tail Assets aspabed of b
us or mature.

Dividends

For information regarding the declaration and paytmaf dividends on our preferred stock, see “No#e-1Stockholders’ Equity'below. Fo
information regarding the declaration and paymentigidends on our common stock, see “ltem 5. Marke Registrans Common Equity, Relat
Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of EQdtyrities” above.

We expect to continue to pay quarterly cash divideon our common stock during the near term. Howexe Board of Directors will continue
evaluate our dividend policy each quarter and milke adjustments as necessary, based on a vafrifgtors, including, among other things, the néa
maintain our REIT status, our financial condititiquidity, earnings projections and business protpeOur dividend policy does not constitute arngatior
to pay dividends.

We intend to make distributions to our stockholdersomply with the various requirements to maimtair REIT status and to minimize or av
corporate income tax and the nondeductible exeiseHowever, differences in timing between the gmition of REIT taxable income and the actual rpi
of cash could require us to sell assets or to loftmds on a shotierm basis to meet the REIT distribution requireta@mnd to minimize or avoid corpor
income tax and the nondeductible excise tax.
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Exposure to European financial counterparties

We finance the acquisition of a significant portiminour mortgagdsacked securities with repurchase agreements.rinemion with these financi
arrangements, we pledge our securities as collai@rsecure the borrowings. The amount of collatpiadged will typically exceed the amount of
financing with the extent of ovamllateralization from 4% of the amount borrowed ffie case of Agency ARM and Agency fixed rate RMi2Bateral)
25% (in the case of Agency I0s) and up to 35%HK@dase of CLO collateral).While our repurchaseagyent financing results in us recording a liabitd
the counterparty in our consolidated balance sheetare exposed to the counterparty, if duringtédren of the repurchase agreement financing, a k
should default on its obligation and we are noedblrecover our pledged assets. The amount oéxpiesure is the difference between the amounefba
us plus interest due to the counterparty and tiheddue of the collateral pledged by us to thedlem(including accrued interest receivable on suadlateral).

Several large European banks have experiencedcfaladifficulty in recent years, some of whom haeguired a rescue or assistance from
large European banks or the European Central Bzarke of these banks have U.S. banking subsidiahiech have provided repurchase agreement fina
or interest rate swap agreements to us in conmeetith the acquisition of various investments, ithg mortgagdsacked securities investments. We t
outstanding repurchase agreement borrowings wiglli€CBuisse First Boston LLC in the amount of $8@iftion at December 31, 2013 with a net expo
of $4.5 million. We have outstanding repurchaseagrent borrowings with Barclays Capital Inc. in &mount of $42.1 million at December 31, 2013 v
net exposure of $3.3 million. We have outstandintgriest rate swap agreements with Credit Suisgenaional as a counterparty in the amount of &
million notional with a net exposure of $0.9 mihioln addition, certain of our U.S. based countdigs may have significant exposure to the findnara
economic turmoil in Europe which could impact thieiture lending activities or cause them to defaulier agreements with us. In the event one or i
these counterparties or their affiliates experidigpadity difficulties in the future, our liquidit could be materially adversely affected.

Inflation

For the periods presented herein, inflation hasbetatively low and we believe that inflation hast had a material effect on our result:
operations. The impact of inflation is primarilyflezted in the increased costs of our operationgudlly all our assets and liabilities are finaaldin nature
Our consolidated financial statements and corredipgnnotes thereto have been prepared in accordaitteGAAP, which require the measuremen
financial position and operating results in terrh$istorical dollars without considering the chasge the relative purchasing power of money ovaetdu
to inflation. As a result, interest rates and offaetors influence our performance far more thdlation. Inflation affects our operations primartlyrough it
effect on interest rates, since interest rateéllyi increase during periods of high inflation aetrease during periods of low inflation. Duringripds o
increasing interest rates, demand for mortgagesadmarowers ability to qualify for mortgage financing in arphase transaction may be adversely affe
During periods of decreasing interest rates, boerevmay prepay their mortgages, which in turn naheesely affect our yield and subsequently the evai
our portfolio of mortgage assets.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The Company had the following contractual obligasi at December 31, 2013 (dollar amounts in thaigan

Less than More than

Total 1 year 1to 3 years 4 to 5 years 5 years
Operating leases $ 2,130 % 207 % 414 % 42z % 1,081
Financing arrangements 791,12 791,12¢ — — —
Subordinated debenturés 85,12« 1,864 3,73¢ 3,72¢ 75,79¢
Securitized deb#)(3) 312,76 14,03¢ 298,72¢ — —
Interest rate swagd) 5,98 1,81¢ 3,13¢ 1,03( —
Management fee@) 13,09¢ 7,322 5,77¢ — —
Employment agreements 50C 50C — — —
Total contractual obligatiorfd $ 1210,73 $ 816,87t $ 311,78¢ % 518C $ 76,88¢
@) Amounts include projected interest paymentsradytie period. Interest based on interest ratefféat on December 31, 2013.

@ Amounts include the base fees for Midway, RiverBand Headlands based on the current invested taffie management fees exclude incel

fees which are based on future performance.

® We exclude our Residential CDOs from the contrdctldigations disclosed in the table above as thébt is non-recourse and not cross
collateralized and, therefore, must be satisfiedusively from the proceeds of the residential mage loans and real estate owned held i
securitization trusts. See Note 10 in the NoteSdasolidated Financial Statements for further imfation regarding our Residential CDOs. We
exclude the securitized debt related to our May22@lsecuritization transaction as this debt is-remourse to the Company. See Note 7 in the |
to Consolidated Financial Statements for furthéorimation regarding our Securitized Debt. The Cony& Multi-Family CDOs, which represe
the CDOs issued by the Consolidated K-Series ikidgd as this debt is non-recourse to the Company.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not maintain any relationships with uncoitsaied entities or financial partnerships, suclemtities often referred to as structured financ

special purpose entities, established for the mepd facilitating offbalance sheet arrangements or other contractuathpw or limited purposes. Furth
we have not guaranteed any obligations of uncotsigld entities nor do we have any commitment @ninto provide funding to any such entities.

68




Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosues about Market Risk

This section should be read in conjunction wittetit 1A. Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on FatfiK and our subsequent periodic rept
filed with the SEC

We seek to manage risks that we believe will impagtbusiness including, interest rates, liquidiyepayments, credit quality and market ve
When managing these risks we consider the impaotiomssets, liabilities and derivative positioihile we do not seek to avoid risk completely, vedidwe
the risk can be quantified from historical expeceand seek to actively manage that risk, to gémeisk-adjusted total returns that we believe compenss
appropriately for those risks and to maintain pévels consistent with the risks we take.

The following analysis includes forwaftdeking statements that assume that certain madwditions occur. Actual results may differ mathyi
from these projected results due to changes irporifolio assets and borrowings mix and due to tigraeents in the domestic and global financial ae®
estate markets. Developments in the financial markelude the likelihood of changing interest satend the relationship of various interest rates tagil
impact on our portfolio yield, cost of funds andsleaflows. The analytical methods that we use tesssnd mitigate these market risks should n
considered projections of future events or opegaperformance.

Interest Rate Risl

Interest rates are sensitive to many factors, dinty governmental, monetary, tax policies, domeatid international economic conditions,
political or regulatory matters beyond our cont©hanges in interest rates affect the value offithencial assets we manage and hold in our inves
portfolio and the variableate borrowings we use to finance our portfolioa@fjes in interest rates also affect the interéstsa@aps and caps, Eurodollar
other futures, TBAs and other securities or instnta we use to hedge our portfolio. As a result,n@t interest income is particularly affected Inanges i
interest rates.

For example, we hold RMBS, some of which may haxedf rates or interest rates that adjust on varitates that are not synchronized to
adjustment dates on our repurchase agreementsnéral, the re-pricing of our repurchase agreenwausrs more quickly than the re-pricing of ouriable-
interest assets. Thus, it is likely that our flogtrate borrowings, such as our repurchase agraéspmeay react to interest rates before our RMB%bse th
weighted average next gicing dates on the related borrowings may hawetehtime periods than that of the RMBS. In additithe interest rates on
Agency ARMs backed by hybrid ARMs may be limitedatéperiodic cap,’or an increase of typically 1% or 2% per adjustnpartod, while our borrowing
do not have comparable limitations. Moreover, clesnig interest rates can directly impact prepaymseeeds, thereby affecting our net return on RI
During a declining interest rate environment, theppyment of RMBS may accelerate (as borrowers apayo refinance at a lower interest rate) caui
amount of liabilities that have been extended leyube of interest rate swaps to increase reladitieet amount of RMBS, possibly resulting in a dezlin ou
net return on RMBS, as replacement RMBS may hal@var yield than those being prepaid. Converselyjrd) an increasing interest rate environrr
RMBS may prepay more slowly than expected, reqgids to finance a higher amount of RMBS than oslijynforecast and at a time when interest rates
be higher, resulting in a decline in our net relmmrRMBS. Accordingly, each of these scenariosregatively impact our net interest income.

We seek to manage interest rate risk in our paotfoy utilizing interest rate swaps, swaptions,s;dpurodollar and other futures, options and
Treasury securities with the goal of optimizing #enings potential while seeking to maintain loegn stable portfolio values. We continually monitioe
duration of our mortgage assets and have a palityetige the financing of those assets such thatahduration of the assets, our borrowed fundsedltc
such assets, and related hedging instrumentsssstian one year. In addition, we utilize TBAs tiigate the risks on our long Agency RMBS posit
associated with our investments in Agency IOs.

We utilize a modebased risk analysis system to assist in projeqtimgfolio performances over a scenario of differgniérest rates. The moi

incorporates shifts in interest rates, changesépayments and other factors impacting the valoataf our financial securities and instruments|uding
mortgage-backed securities, repurchase agreenmet®st rate swaps and interest rate caps, TBA£anodollar futures.
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Based on the results of the model, the instantamebanges in interest rates specified below woalkktad the following effect on net inte
income for the next 12 months based on our asadttabilities as of December 31, 2013 (dollar amtsun thousands):

Changes in Net Interest Income
Changes in Net Interest

Changes in Interest Rates Income
+200 $ (1,940
+100 $ 79C
-100 $ (13,92))

Interest rate changes may also impact our net bable as our financial assets and related hedgeatiees are marked-tmarket each quart
Generally, as interest rates increase, the vallmipfmortgage assets, other than I@screases, and conversely, as interest rates dectba value of su
investments will increase. The value of an 10 \ikitly be negatively affected in a declining intetreate environment due to the risk of increasirgpaymer
rates because the 10galue is wholly contingent on the underlying moggdoans having an outstanding balance. In genemalexpect that, over tin
decreases in the value of our portfolio attribugatol interest rate changes will be offset, to tegrde we are hedged, by increases in the valuardhteres
rate swaps or other financial instruments usedhéoiging purposes, and vice versa. However, théaeship between spreads on securities and spreads
hedging instruments may vary from time to timeph#sg in a net aggregate book value increase olirde That said, unless there is a material inmpeurt ir
value that would result in a payment not being ikexkon a security or loan, changes in the bookevaff our portfolio will not directly affect our carring
earnings or our ability to make a distribution to stockholders.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity is a measure of our ability to meet pdtehcash requirements, including ongoing committeen repay borrowings, fund and main
investments, pay dividends to our stockholders @hér general business needs. We recognize thetode/e funds available to operate our busingss
our policy to have adequate liquidity at all tim&ge plan to meet liquidity through normal operasianith the goal of avoiding unplanned sales of tassi
emergency borrowing of funds.

Our principal sources of liquidity are the repurshagreements on our mortgdgeked securities, the CDOs we have issued todeanr loan
held in securitization trusts, securitized dehtstpreferred securities, the principal and intepayments from our assets and cash proceeds fenisguanc
of equity or debt securities (as market and otleditions permit). We believe our existing cashabaks and cash flows from operations will be sidfficfor
our liquidity requirements for at least the nextm@nths.

We are subject to “margin califsk under the terms of our repurchase agreembentle event the value of our assets pledged dated! sudden
decreases, margin calls relating to our repurchgseements could increase, causing an adverseelrangr liquidity position. Additionally, if oneranore
of our repurchase agreement counterparties chouset® provide ongoing funding, we may be unableegplace the financing through other lender
favorable terms or at all. As such, we provide ssuaance that we will be able to roll over our repase agreements as they mature from time toitirtie
future. See Item 7, "Management's Discussion analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operat Liquidity and Capital Resources" in this Ant
Report on Form 10-K for further information about diquidity and capital resource management .

Derivative financial instruments used to hedgeragerate risk are subject to “margin calBk. For example, under our interest rate swamscally
we pay a fixed rate to the counterparties while/ thay us a floating rate. If interest rates drofowethe fixed rate we are paying on an interest satap, w
may be required to post cash margin.

Prepayment Risl

When borrowers repay the principal on their residémortgage loans before maturity or faster thiagir scheduled amortization, the effect i
shorten the period over which interest is earned, taerefore, reduce the yield for residential mage assets purchased at a premium to their threen
balance, as with our portfolio of Agency RMBS. Cersely, residential mortgage assets purchasedefsr than their then current balance, such a
distressed residential mortgage loans, exhibitévighelds due to faster prepayments. Furthermareiah prepayment speeds may differ from our moc
prepayment speed projections impacting the effeogs of any hedges we have in place to mitigagaéing and/or fair value risk. Generally, when kgt
interest rates decline, borrowers have a tendemagfinance their mortgages, thereby increasinggments. The impact of increasing prepayment,
whether as a result of declining interest rategegument intervention in the mortgage markets bentise, is particularly acute with respect to Agency
I0s. Because the value of an 10 security is whotiyitingent on the underlying mortgage loans hawdngoutstanding principal balance, an unexps
increase in prepayment rates on the pool of moetd@ans underlying the 10s could significantly nidggdy impact the performance of our Agency 10s.

70




Our modeled prepayments will help determine thewarhof hedging we use to ofet changes in interest rates. If actual prepaymages are high
than modeled, the yield will be less than modefedases where we paid a premium for the partigesidential mortgage asset. Conversely, when we
paid a premium, if actual prepayment rates expeeédrare slower than modeled, we would amortizeptieenium over a longer time period, resulting
higher yield to maturity.

In an environment of increasing prepayment spe#us,timing difference between the actual cash ptcef principal paydowns and 1
announcement of the principal paydown may resudididitional margin requirements from our repurchag®ement counterparties.

We mitigate prepayment risk by constantly evaluigtor residential mortgage assets relative to yrepat speeds observed for assets with si
structures, qualities and characteristics. Furtloegmwe strestest the portfolio as to prepayment speeds andesstteate risk in order to further develoj
make modifications to our hedge balances. Histllyicae have not hedged 100% of our liability codte to prepayment risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that we will not fully celtt the principal we have invested in our creditsitése assets, including distressed residentid
other mortgage loans, CMBS, and CLOs, due to baraefaults. In selecting the credit sensitive @sgeour portfolio, we seek to identify and invas
assets with characteristics that we believe offséimit the exposure of borrower defaults to thenany.

We seek to manage credit risk through our grquisition due diligence process, and by factoprajected credit losses into the purchase pric
pay for all of our credit sensitive assets. In geheve evaluate relative valuation, supply and dedntrends, prepayment rates, delinquency and ltdefdes
vintage of collateral and macroeconomic factorpasg of this process. Nevertheless, these procediwenot guarantee unanticipated credit lossesh
would materially affect our operating results.

With respect to the $264.4 million of distressesidential loans the Company owned at December @&13,2he mortgage loans were purchaset
discount to par reflecting their distressed stateperceived higher risk of default, which may irduhigher loan to value ratios and, in ce
instances, delinquent loan payments. Prior taattwpiisition of distressed residential mortgage dodme Company validates key information providgdHz
sellers that is necessary to determine the valdkeoflistressed residential mortgage loans. We dhek to maximize the value of the mortgage lohaswe
acquire either through borrower assisted refinagadutright loan sale or through foreclosure arsdiee of the underlying home. We evaluate creditityuan
an ongoing basis by reviewing borroveepayment status and current financial and econeomdition. Additionally, we look at the carryinglue of an
delinquent loan and compare to the current valubefinderlying collateral.

As of December 31, 2013, we own $260.6 millioniostfloss CMBS comprised primarily of first loss P@at are backed by commercial mortg
loans on multifamily properties at a weighted average amortizedhase price of approximately 28.5% of current paior to the acquisition of each of
first loss CMBS securities, the Company completegxensive review of the underlying loan collatteirzcluding loan level cash flow readerwriting, sit
inspections on selected properties, property spezsh flow and loss modeling, review of appraisptoperty condition and environmental reports|, aie
credit risk analyses. We continue to monitor cregliality on an ongoing basis using updated proplentgl financial reports provided by borrowers
periodic site inspection of selected properties. 8#® reconcile on a monthly basis the actual bdisttibutions received against projected distritwsi tc
assure proper allocation of cash flow generatethbyunderlying loan pool. As of December 31, 2048,0wn approximately $33.2 million of notes issly
a CLO at a discounted purchase price equal to 52p@io The securities are backed by a portfolicafporate loans. We also own approximately $
million of first mortgage loan and mezzanine finigcat December 31, 2013, backed by residentiaihamiti-family properties.

Fair Value Risk

Changes in interest rates also expose us to madhee (fair value) fluctuation on our assets, ligibs and hedges. While the fair value of
majority of our assets (when excluding all Consatidi KSeries assets other than the securities we actonthy that are measured on a recurring bas
determined using Level 2 fair values, we own cartasets, such as our CMBS, for which fair valuag not be readily available if there are no actraeling
markets for the instruments. In such cases, fdiresgawould only be derived or estimated for thes@s$tments using various valuation techniques, sk
computing the present value of estimated futurén dasvs using discount rates commensurate with ribkes involved. However, the determinatior
estimated future cash flows is inherently subjectiwnd imprecise. Minor changes in assumptions tanaton methodologies can have a material effa
these derived or estimated fair values. Our faiuev@stimates and assumptions are indicative ointieeest rate environments as of December 31, .28
do not take into consideration the effects of sqbeat interest rate fluctuations.
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We note that the values of our investments in @érie instruments, primarily interest rate hedgesor debt, will be sensitive to changes in me
interest rates, interest rate spreads, credit dpraad other market factors. The value of thesesiments can vary and has varied materially frorrogec
period.

The following describes the methods and assumpti@ngse in estimating fair values of our finanawstruments:

Fair value estimates are made as of a specifict jioitime based on estimates using present valughar valuation techniques. These techni
involve uncertainties and are significantly affectey the assumptions used and the judgments magedieg risk characteristics of various finan
instruments, discount rates, estimate of futurd dasvs, future expected loss experience and ddwtors.

Changes in assumptions could significantly affeese estimates and the resulting fair values. Bérgir value estimates cannot be substantiat
comparison to independent markets and, in manyscasrild not be realized in an immediate sale ef ittstrument. Also, because of difference
methodologies and assumptions used to estimatedies, the fair values used by us should nobbepared to those of other companies.

The table below presents the sensitivity of theketavalue and net duration changes of our portfati@f December 31, 2013, using a discot
cash flow simulation model assuming an instantaséuerest rate shift. Application of this methedults in an estimation of the fair market valuarge o
our assets, liabilities and hedging instruments®érbasis point (“bp”) shift in interest rates.

The use of hedging instruments is a critical p&mwr interest rate risk management strategies,taacffects of these hedging instruments ol
market value of the portfolio are reflected in thedel's output. This analysis also takes into dsrstion the value of options embedded in our nao
assets including constraints on theprieing of the interest rate of assets resultiranfrperiodic and lifetime cap features, as well espayment option
Assets and liabilities that are not interest raesgtive such as cash, payment receivables, preppiehses, payables and accrued expenses areezkclud

Changes in assumptions including, but not limigdvblatility, mortgage and financing spreads, psepent behavior, defaults, as well as the tir
and level of interest rate changes will affectribgults of the model. Therefore, actual resultdikedy to vary from modeled results.

Market Value Changes

Changes in Changes in Net
Interest Rates Market Value Duration
(Amounts in thousands)
+200 $ (81,199 2.7¢
+100 $ (40,979 2.5¢
Base 1.3¢
-100 $ 22,03¢ 0.0t

It should be noted that the model is used as atdoidientify potential risk in a changing intereate environment but does not include any cham
portfolio composition, financing strategies, margpteads or changes in overall market liquidity.

Although market value sensitivity analysis is widelccepted in identifying interest rate risk, itedonot take into consideration changes that
occur such as, but not limited to, changes in itaest and financing strategies, changes in magkeiasls and changes in business volumes. Accordiwg
make extensive use of an earnings simulation modelkther analyze our level of interest rate risk.

There are a number of key assumptions in our egsrsimulation model. These key assumptions inctidages in market conditions that af
interest rates, the pricing of ARM products, thaibability of investment assets and the availapiéihd the cost of financing for portfolio assetshé ke
assumptions made in using the simulation modeldelprepayment speeds and management's invesfinanting and hedging strategies, and the isst
of new equity. We typically run the simulation mbd&der a variety of hypothetical business scesatiat may include different interest rate scers
different investment strategies, different prepagtmeossibilities and other scenarios that providenmith a range of possible earnings outcomes ieroit
assess potential interest rate risk. The assungptisad represent our estimate of the likely efééathanges in interest rates and do not necesseafic
actual results. The earnings simulation model takesaccount periodic and lifetime caps embeddenlir assets in determining the earnings at risk.
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our financial statements and the related notegtieg with the Report of Independent Registeredi®Alacounting Firm thereon, as required by
Item 8, are set forth beginning on page F-1 of #riaual Report on Form 10-K and are incorporate®ineby reference.

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
None.
Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure®¥/e maintain disclosure controls and procedures aha designed to ensure that informe
required to be disclosed in the reports that wedil submit under the Securities Exchange Act 8419s amended, is recorded, processed, summaiiz
reported within the time periods specified in thées and forms of the SEC, and that such informascccumulated and communicated to our manag:
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regardiaguired disclosures. An evaluation was performedeun the supervision and with the participatiorooi
management, including our Chief Executive Officad £hief Financial Officer, of the effectivenessonfr disclosure controls and procedures (as defin
Rules 13a-15(e) and 18d(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934araended) as of December 31, 2013. Based uporevastation, our Chir
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer congkd that our disclosure controls and procedures eféective as of December 31, 2013.

Management’'s Report on Internal Control Over Finahdreporting. Our management is responsible for establishird) raaintaining adeque
internal control over financial reporting, as suelm is defined in Exchange Act Rule 1B&{f). Our internal control system was designecprtovide
reasonable assurance to our management and BoBickofors regarding the reliability, preparatiamdair presentation of published financial statataér
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfez Under the supervision and with the partittigpa of our management, including our princ
executive officer and principal financial officave conducted an evaluation of the effectivenessuofinternal control over financial reporting basedthe
framework inInternal Control - Integrated Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiof the Treadway Commission. Based or
evaluation under the framework linternal Control Integrated Frameworkour management concluded that our internal cbotrer financial reporting wi
effective as of December 31, 2013.

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has beditealiby Grant Thornton LLP, an indepenc
registered public accounting firm, as stated inrtteport which appears in Item 15(a) of this AnnBaport on Form 16 and is incorporated by referei
herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial RepogiThere have been no changes in our internal cootl financial reporting during the qua
ended December 31, 2013 that have materially &fflectr are reasonably likely to materially affeaty internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Contr@sir management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, does
expect that our disclosure controls or our inteamadtrol over financial reporting will prevent oeteéct all error and all fraud. A control system,matter hov
well designed and operated, can provide only restsen not absolute, assurance that the controésystobjectives will be met. The design of a cor
system must reflect the fact that there are resoconstraints, and the benefits of controls mustdresidered relative to their costs. Further, beeaf th
inherent limitations in all control systems, no lexadion of controls can provide absolute assurahaemisstatements due to error or fraud will netuw o
that all control issues and instances of fraudnif, have been detected. These inherent limitatiwisde the realities that judgments in decisioaking ca
be faulty and that breakdowns can occur becausargdle error or mistake. Controls can also be aneented by the individual acts of some person
collusion of two or more people, or by managemeetriade of the controls. The design of any systémoatrols is based in part on certain assumpta.
the likelihood of future events, and there can beassurance that any design will succeed in agigei$ stated goals under all potential future dibomks.
Projections of any evaluation of controls effectigss to future periods are subject to risks. Queg,tcontrols may become inadequate because ofjebai
conditions or deterioration in the degree of coanpte with policies or procedures.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
ADDITIONAL MATERIAL FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIO NS

The following is a summary of additional materiabéral income tax considerations with respect éoalWwnership of our stock. This summ
supplements and should be read together with grus§ion under “Material Federal Income Tax Comaiitens”in the prospectus dated April 9, 2012
filed as part of a registration statement on Forf(8lo. 333-179314).
Recent Legislation

Pursuant to recently enacted legislation, as ofidign1, 2013, (1) the maximum tax rate on "qualifdividend income" received by U
stockholders taxed at individual rates is 20%,t2) maximum tax rate on lortgrm capital gain applicable to U.S. stockholderet! at individual rates
20%, and (3) the highest marginal individual incaiaerate is 39.6%. Pursuant to such legislatioa,itackup withholding rate remains at 28%. We yia
to consult your tax advisors regarding the impéchis legislation on the purchase, ownership aald ef our stock.

Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders

For payments after June 30, 2014, a U.S. withhgldax at a 30% rate will be imposed on dividend& g our stock received by U



stockholders who own their stock through foreigncamts or foreign intermediaries if certain disal@srequirements related to U.S. accoun
ownership are not satisfied. In addition, if thalgclosure requirements are not satisfied, a Uithhwlding tax at a 30% rate will be imposed ongeed
from the sale of our stock received after Decen®ier2016 by U.S. stockholders who own their stdeckuagh foreign accounts or foreign intermediariéfs
will not pay any additional amounts in respectimf amounts withheld.

Taxation of Non-U.S. Stockholders

For payments after June 30, 2014, a U.S. withhglthx at a 30% rate will be imposed on dividendd pa our stock received by certain nors
stockholders if they held our stock through foreggnities that fail to meet certain disclosure iegaents related to U.S. persons that either hazeumt:
with such entities or own equity interests in sediities. In addition, if those disclosure requiesnts are not satisfied, a U.S. withholding tax 8086 rat:
will be imposed on proceeds from the sale of ooclsteceived after December 31, 2016 by certair@ stockholders. If payment of withholding taxs
required, nord.S. stockholders that are otherwise eligible foreaemption from, or reduction of, U.S. withholditaxes with respect of such dividends
proceeds will be required to seek a refund fromltiternal Revenue Service to obtain the benefisuirh exemption or reduction. We will not pay
additional amounts in respect of any amounts withhe
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PART IlI
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CORPORATE GOVERNAGE

The information required by this item is includeddur Proxy Statement for our 2014 Annual Meetifigstockholders to be filed with the S
within 120 days after the end of the fiscal yeadtexhDecember 31, 2013 (the “2014 Proxy Statememiti)is incorporated herein by reference.

Iltem 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this item is includedtie 2014 Proxy Statement and is incorporatedrhbsereference.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Except as set forth below, the information requisgdhis item is included in the 2014 Proxy Statetrand is incorporated herein by reference.

The information presented under the heading “Marfkeet the Registrant's Common Equity and Relatedc&iolder Matters —Securitie
Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensatilam$ in Item 5 of Part Il of this Form 10-K is ioporated herein by reference.

Iltem 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, ANCDIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this item is includedtie 2014 Proxy Statement and is incorporatedrhbsereference.
Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is includedtie 2014 Proxy Statement and is incorporatedrhbsereference.
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PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(€) Financial Statements

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfing - Grant Thornton LLP
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive IncomssjLo
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockhol&epsity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem

(b)  Exhibits.

The information set forth under “Exhibit Index” ol is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigsthas duly caused this report to be signe
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly atgkd.

NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC.

Date: March 10, 2014 By: /s/ Steven R. Mumma
Steven R. Mumma
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 10, 2014 By: /s/ Fredric S. Starker
Fredric S. Starker
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xg@ Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the datiisdted.

Signature Title Date
/sl Steven R. Mumma Chief Executive Officer, President and Director March 10, 2014
Steven R. Mumma (Principal Executive Officer)
/sl Fredric S. Starker Chief Financial Officer March 10, 2014
Fredric S. Starker (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/ Douglas E. Neal Chairman of the Board March 10, 2014

Douglas E. Neal

/sl Alan L. Hainey Director March 10, 2014
Alan L. Hainey
/sl Steven G. Norcutt Director March 10, 2014

Steven G. Norcutt

/s/ David R. Bock Director March 10, 2014
David R. Bock
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
New York Mortgage Trust, Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. (a Mang corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”
as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the relatesbtidated statements of operations, comprehensieee (loss), equity, and cash flows for eacthe
three years in the period ended December 31, ZH&se financial statements are the responsibifith@® Companys management. Our responsibility i
express an opinion on these financial statemersisdcban our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting Oversighaf8lo(United States). Those standards requirt
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonabfrance about whether the financial statemeatéree of material misstatement. An audit inch
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportingatheunts and disclosures in the financial statesnefat audit also includes assessing the accot
principles used and significant estimates made bBpagement, as well as evaluating the overall fimhstatement presentation. We believe that ouits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaaeferred to above present fairly, in all materé&spects, the financial position of New York Myage
Trust, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 313201 2012, and the results of their operationstiaeid cash flows for each of the three years enghrioc
ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with accaungirinciples generally accepted in the UnitedeStaf America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bog@nited States), the Compasyihternal contre
over financial reporting as of December 31, 20E&ehl on criteria established in the 18®2rnal Control—Integrated Frameworigsued by the Committ
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comimis@OSO), and our report dated March 10, 2014esqed an unqualified opinion.

/sl Grant Thornton LLP

New York, New York
March 10, 2014




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
New York Mortgage Trust, Inc

We have audited the internal control over financéglorting of New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. (a Miyd corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Comparg”)
of December 31, 2013, based on criteria establishethe 1992Internal Control—Integrated Frameworlssued by the Committee of Sponso
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO} Tompanys management is responsible for maintaining effeciiternal control over financ
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiserg internal control over financial reportingclided in the accompanying ManagemsriReport o
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our rasgibility is to express an opinion on the Comparigternal control over financial reporting basedoai
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statalof the Public Company Accounting Oversight@d&nited States). Those standards require th
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonablerasse about whether effective internal controlraugancial reporting was maintained in all matt
respects. Our audit included obtaining an undedatgnof internal control over financial reportirggsessing the risk that a material weakness etésti(
and evaluating the design and operating effectis®mé internal control based on the assessedaiskperforming such other procedures as we cors
necessary in the circumstances. We believe thaaudit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeliregthe reliability of financial reporting a
the preparation of financial statements for extepuaposes in accordance with generally accepteduaating principles. A company'internal control ow
financial reporting includes those policies andcedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance ofrdscthat, in reasonable detail, accurately andyfagéflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assetth@fcompany; (2) provide reasonable assurancetthasactions are recorded as necessary to |
preparation of financial statements in accordanitk generally accepted accounting principles, drad teceipts and expenditures of the company arey
made only in accordance with authorizations of rgan@ent and directors of the company; and (3) pevehsonable assurance regarding preventi
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, usedisposition of the company’s assets that coalketa material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtover financial reporting may not prevent or @ttmisstatements. Also, projections of any evatuati
effectiveness to future periods are subject tarilethat controls may become inadequate becauskasfges in conditions, or that the degree of ciangd
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over fio@l reporting as of December 31, 2013, basedriterie
established in the 1998ternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boéunited States), the consolidated finar
statements of the Company as of and for the yedeceDecember 31, 2013, and our report dated Madcl2A14 expressed an unqualified opinion on t
financial statements.

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP

New York, New York
March 10, 2014
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NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

December 31,

December 31,

2013 2012
ASSETS

Investment securities, available for sale, atv¥alue (including pledged securities of $853,223 and

$954,656, respectively) $ 912,44 $ 1,034,71.
Investment securities, available for sale, atfalue held in securitization trusts 92,57¢ 71,15¢
Residential mortgage loans held in securitizatiosts (net) 163,23 187,22¢
Distressed residential mortgage loans held in #&ation trusts (net) 254,72: 60,45¢
Multi-family loans held in securitization trustg,fair value 8,111,02; 5,442,901
Derivative assets 197,59( 246,12
Cash and cash equivalents 31,79¢ 31,77
Receivables and other assets 135,28t 86,03:
Total Assets(1) $ 9,898,67 $ 7,160,40.

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Liabilities:
Financing arrangements, portfolio investments $ 791,12 % 889,13«
Residential collateralized debt obligations 158,41( 180,97¢
Multi-family collateralized debt obligations, atifaalue 7,871,02 5,319,57.
Securitized debt 304,96 117,59:
Derivative liabilities 1,432 5,542
Payable for securities purchased 191,59 245,93:
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (includifgBand $211 to related parties, respectively) 54,46¢ 34,64¢
Subordinated debentures 45,00( 45,00(
Total liabilities (1) 9,418,00! 6,838,39!
Commitments and Contingencies
Stockholders' Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 7.75% SeriesrButative redeemable, $25 liquidation preference pel

share, 3,450,000 shares authorized, 3,000,000 ahdr@s issued and outstanding as of December 2

2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively 72,39 —
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 400,000,000 shartbe@zed, 64,102,029 and 49,575,331 s hares iss

and outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and Dece3ib@012, respectively 641 49¢€
Additional paid-in capital 404,55¢ 355,00t
Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,07¢ 18,08¢
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) — (51,589
Total stockholders' equity 480,66¢ 322,00t
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 9,898,67' $ 7,160,40

(1) Our consolidated balance sheets include aasettiabilities of consolidated variable interesties ("VIES") as the Company is the primary bigsiary
of these VIEs. As of December 31, 2013 and Decerdbe?012, assets of consolidated VIEs totaledéfB&29 and $5,786,569, respectively, and the

liabilities of consolidated VIEs totaled $8,365,3#%d $5,636,650, respectively. See Note 7 for &urthiscussion.

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdnsolidated financial statements.
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NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2013 2012 2011
INTEREST INCOME:
Investment securities and other $ 46,64¢ $ 26,93: $ 18,75:
Multi-family loans held in securitization trusts 228,63: 104,41( —
Residential mortgage loans held in securitizatrasts 4,70¢ 5,57¢ 5,54(
Distressed residential mortgage loans 11,741 432 —
Total interest income 291,72 137,34¢ 24,29:
INTEREST EXPENSE:
Investment securities and other 6,65¢ 3,64t 1,51¢
Multi-family collateralized debt obligations 210,22¢ 97,03 —
Residential collateralized debt obligations 1,12¢ 1,337 1,42¢
Securitized debt 11,29: 1,94¢ —
Subordinated debentures 1,87¢ 1,967 1,891
Total interest expense 231,17¢ 105,92¢ 4,83
NET INTEREST INCOME 60,54¢ 31,42 19,45«
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Provision for loan losses (1,262 (76€) (1,697
Impairment loss on investment securities (22%) — (250
Realized gain (loss) on investment securities atated hedges, net (20,719 6,26¢ 5,74(
Realized gain on distressed residential mortgageslo 1,60( 85 —
Unrealized gain (loss) on investment securitiesrafated hedges, net 5,464 (3,949) (9,659
Unrealized gain on multi-family loans and debt hieldecuritization trusts, net 31,49t 6,662 —
Other income (including $306, $0, and $0 from edabarties, respectively) 2,70¢ 803 2,167
Total other income (expense) 29,06: 9,10¢ (3,699
Management fees (including $3,360, $892 and $2(G46lated parties, respective 8,13 5,01( 5,44¢
Expenses related to distressed residential mortigans 3,86¢ — —
Other general and administrative expenses (inctp#is98, $652 and $539 to relal
parties, respectively) 7,91¢ 6,417 5,07:
Total general, administrative and other expenses 19,917 11,42] 10,51¢
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAS 69,69 29,10( 5,24:
Income tax expense 73€ 932 43:
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 68,95t 28,16¢ 4,81(
Income from discontinued operation - net of tax 14 63
NET INCOME 68,95¢ 28,18: 4,87:
Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrollinteiest — (97) 97
Preferred stock dividends (3,56¢) — —
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS $ 65,38 28.27¢ $ 4,77¢
Basic income per common share $ 111 $ 1.06 $ 0.4¢
Diluted income per common share $ 111 $ 1.06 $ 0.4¢
Weighted average shares outstanding-basic 59,10z 26,06 10,49t
Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted 59,102 26,06% 10,49¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdnsolidated financial statements.
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NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

For the Years

Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS $ 65,387 $ 28,27¢ $ 4,77¢
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(Decrease) increase in net unrealized gain onablaifor sale securities (18,800 9,31( (3,33))

Reclassification adjustment for net gain includedét income — (1,079 (3,88¢)

Increase (decrease) in fair value of derivativérimeents utilized for cash flow

hedges 3,78t (1,440 78¢
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (15,01%) 6,79¢ (6,440
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON
STOCKHOLDERS $ 50,37: $ 3507t $ (1,664

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdnsolidated financial statements.
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NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’

Balance, January 1, 2011
Net income
Stock issuance, net
Dividends declared
Increase in non-controlling interests relats
to consolidation of interest in a limited
liability company
Reclassification adjustment for net gain
included in net income
Decrease in net unrealized gain on availa
for sale securities
Increase in fair value of derivative
instruments utilized for cash flow hedge
Balance, December 31, 2011
Net income
Stock issuance, net
Dividends declared
Decrease in noncontrolling interestated tc
sale of interest in a mortgage loan held
investment
Reclassification adjustment for net gain
included in net income
Increase in net unrealized gain on availak
for sale securities
Decrease in fair value of derivative
instruments utilized for cash flow hedge
Balance, December 31, 2012
Net income
Common Stock issuance, net
Preferred Stock issuance, net
Dividends declared on common stock
Dividends declared on preferred stock
Decrease in net unrealized gain on availa
for sale securities
Increase in fair value of derivative
instruments utilized for cash flow hedge
Balance, December 31, 2013

EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 201

(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Retained Accumulated
Additional Earnings Other Non-
Common Preferred Paid-In (Accumulated Comprehensive controlling
Stock Stock Capital Deficit) Income Interest Total
$ 9 $ — $ 135300 $ (84,639 $ 17,73: $ — $ 6848
— — — 4,77¢ — 97 4,87:
45 — 29,86: — — — 29,90%
— — (11,45) — — — (11,459
— — — — — 93z 93z
— — — — (3,88¢) — (3,88¢)
— — — — (3,337) — (3,339)
— — — 78% — 785
13¢ — 153,71( (79,86%) 11,29: 1,02¢ 86,30’
— — — 28,27¢ — (97) 28,18:
357 232,10¢ — — — 232,46
— — (30,809 — — — (30,809
— — — — — (932) (932)
— — — — (1,079 — (1,079
— — — — 9,31( — 9,31(
— — — — (1,440 — (1,440
49¢ — 355,00t (51,589 18,08t — 322,00t
— — — 68,95¢ — — 68,95¢
14t = 100,95¢ — = — 101,10:
— 72,39 — — — 72,39%
= = (51,410 (13,809 — — (65,217
— — — (3,56¢) — — (3,56%)
— - — — (18,800 — (18,800
— - — — 3,78¢ — 3,78t
$ 641 $ 72390 $ 404,55 $ — 3 3,070 $ — $ 480,66t

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdnsolidated financial statements.
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NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activities:
Net amortization
Realized loss (gain) on investment securities atated hedges, net
Realized gain on distressed residential mortgagiesitneld in securitization trusts
Unrealized (gain) loss on investment securitiesrefated hedges, net
Unrealized gain on loans and debt held in multiifgisecuritization trusts, net
Impairment loss on investment securities
Net decrease in loans held for sale
Provision for loan losses
Income from investments in limited partnership &éndted liability companies
Distributions of income from investments in limitpdrtnership and limited liability
companies
Amortization of stock based compensation, net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables and other assets
Accrued expenses and other liabilities and accexpanses, related parties
Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Restricted cash

Proceeds from sales of investment securities

Purchases of investment securities

Return of capital from investments in limited parship and limited liability
companies

Purchases of other assets

Funding of first mortgage loan

Funding of mezzanine loan, preferred equity investis and investments in limite
partnership and limited liability companies

Proceeds from mortgage loans held for investment

Net (payments) receipts on other derivative instnts settled during the period

Principal repayments received on residential mgedaans held in securitization
trusts

Principal repayments received on distressed resadenortgage loans

Principal repayments received on multi-family lod&edd in securitization trusts

Principal paydowns on investment securities - abdd for sale

Purchases of distressed residential mortgage loans

Purchases of investments held in multi-family siization trusts

Net cash used in investing activiti

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
(Payments to) proceeds from financing arrangemests,
Common stock issuance
Preferred stock issuance
Costs associated with common stock and preferoexk $$sued
Dividends paid on common stock
Dividends paid on preferred stock
Payments made on residential collateralized deligations
Payments made on multi-family collateralized ddiigations
Capital (distributed to) contributed by nonconirajlinterest
Proceeds from securitized debt
Payments made on securitized debt
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalent
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year

For the Years Ended

December 31,

2013 2012 2011
68,95 $ 28,18 $ 4,87:
13,42¢ 10,48¢ 5,68¢
10,71¢ (6,26¢) (5,740)
(1,600 (85) —
(5,46 3,947 9,651
(31,499 (6,662) —
225 — 25C
341 93t 31
1,262 76€ 1,69:
(2,29)) (622) (2,167
1,97¢ 14¢ 1,07¢
897 82€ 21C
(18,09)) (20,660) (2,929
14,45; 18,09¢ 767
53,30: 29,08¢ 13,41
2,467 (20,789 (24,32¢)
1,25¢ 50,57¢ 167,80
(72,189 (1,033,92) (291,21))
3,55¢ 9,047 10,90
(99€) — (2,520
(6,500) — —
(16,789 (3,349 (5,329
21 3,344 5,00¢
(11,019 7,191 4,961
22,29: 18,49¢ 19,95(
15,64¢ — —
73,83 28,03 —
125,91 47,68 19,45¢
(218,16¢) (61,700 —
(71,629 (111,00)) —
(152,28) (1,066,38) (95,29)
(98,009 776,46( 77,04:
100,55: 232,66¢ 30,38:
72,63 — —
(584) (1,039 (686€)
(61,309 (22,309 (8,270)
(2,119 — —
(22,65 (18,879 (20,319
(73,819 (28,039 —
— (932) 932
191,70 114,71¢ —
(7,409) (184) —
99,00¢ 1,052,48. 79,08¢
21 15,19’ (2,789
31,77 16,58¢ 19,37
31,79t $ 31,77, $ 16,58




Supplemental Disclosures:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

Non-Cash Investment Activities:

Sale of securities not yet settled

Purchase of securities not yet settled

Consolidation of multi-family loans held in secimittion trusts
Consolidation of multi-family collateralized dettlmations

Transfer of investment securities from investmariirnited liability company
Non-Cash Financing Activities:

Dividends declared on common stock to be paid bssquent period
Dividends declared on preferred stock to be paglivssequent period

$ 268,55, $ 115,65t $ 4,66¢
$ 794 $ 1200 $ 232
$ — 3 — 3 1,13
$ 19159: $ 24593 $ 228,30
$ 3,21830. $ 530593 $ —
$ 3,146,670 $ 519516/ $ —
$ — 3 — 3 5,46:
$ 17,29 $ 13,38 $ 4,87¢
$ 1,45: $ —_ 3 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdnsolidated financial statements.
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NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

1. Organization

New York Mortgage Trust, Inc., together with itsnsolidated subsidiaries (“NYMT,” and th&€tmpany"), is a real estate investment trus
REIT, in the business of acquiring, investing imahcing and managing primarily mortgagdated assets and, to a lesser extent, finans&gta Ot
objective is to manage a portfolio of investmettst twill deliver stable distributions to our stocktters over diverse economic conditions. We intto
achieve this objective through a combination ofome generated by net interest margin and net eshapital gains from our investment portfolio.
portfolio includes investments in mortgage-relaéed financial assets, including multi-family CMB@rect financing to owners of multamily propertie
through mezzanine loans and preferred equity invests, residential mortgage loans, including lososrced from distressed markets, Agency RI
consisting of fixed-rate, adjustable-rate and hytadjustable-rate RMBS and Agency |Os consistingntdrest only and inverse interestty RMBS tha
represent the right to the interest component®ttsh flow from a pool of mortgage loans.

The Company conducts its business through the pam@mpany, NYMT, and several subsidiaries, inclgdspecial purpose subsidial
established for residential loan, distressed resigleloan, and CMBS securitization purposes, téx&@REIT subsidiaries ("TRSs") and qualified R
subsidiaries ("QRSs"). The Company consolidateflts subsidiaries under generally accepted autog principles in the United States of Ame
(“GAAP”).

The Company is organized and conducts its opematiorgualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income paxposes. As such, the Company
generally not be subject to federal income taxethahportion of its income that is distributedstockholders if it distributes at least 90% ofREIT taxabl
income to its stockholders by the due date ofeitiefal income tax return and complies with varigiler requirements.

2. Summary of Significant Accountim Policies

Definitions— The following defines certain of the commonly diserms in these financial statements: “RMBS” refier residential adjustabtete
hybrid adjustable-rate, fixed-rate, interest onhd anverse interest only and principal only morterdoigcked securities; “Agency RMBS$éfers to RMB:
representing interests in or obligations backecpbgls of mortgage loans issued or guaranteed l®derdlly chartered corporation (“GSE%uch as tt
Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mael the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporationrgtidie Mac”),or an agency of the U.
government, such as the Government National Mogdgssociation (“Ginnie Mae”); “non-Agency RMB®&fers to RMBS backed by prime jumbo mortg
loans; “lOs” refers collectively to interest onlpdainverse interest only mortgabacked securities that represent the right to ikerést component of t
cash flow from a pool of mortgage loans issueduargnteed by a GSE or an agency of the U.S. gowaritPOs” refers to mortgadeacked securities tt
represent the right to the principal componenthef ¢ash flow from a pool of mortgage loans; “Aget©g” refers to an IO that represents the right tc
interest component of the cash flows from a poatesidential mortgage loans issued or guaranteeal ®E or an agency of the U.S. government; “ARMs
refers to adjustable-rate residential mortgagedpahgency ARMs” refers to Agency RMBS comprisedaafjustable-rate and hybrid adjustakdée RMBS
“multi-family CMBS” refers to commercial mortgagextked securities backed by commercial mortgagesloarmultifamily properties, as well as 1O or
securities that represent the right to a spectgimmonent of the cash flow from a pool of commeraiartgage loans; and “CLQ%fers to collateralized lo
obligations.

Basis of Presentatiorr The accompanying consolidated financial statemleat® been prepared on the accrual basis of acoguntiaccordant
with GAAP. The preparation of financial statemeintsconformity with GAAP requires management to maaimates and assumptions that affec
reported amounts of assets and liabilities andasisce of contingent assets and liabilities atdhte of the financial statements and the repomeouats o
revenues and expenses during the reporting peAditiough the Company’ estimates contemplate current conditions and ihewxpects them to change
the future, it is reasonably possible that actaalditions could be different than anticipated ingé estimates, which could materially impact thenGany’s
results of operations and its financial conditioManagement has made significant estimates in akweas, including valuation of its CM
investments, multi-family loans held in securitinattrusts and multfamily CDOs, as well as, income recognition on réissed residential mortgage lo
purchased at a discount.

Reclassifications- Certain prior period amounts have been reclassifiethe consolidated financial statements to canféo current peric
presentation.

Principles of Consolidation and Variable Interesntlies — The accompanying consolidated financial statemehtthe Company include t

accounts of all its subsidiaries which are majeoityned, controlled by the Company or a variablergst entity (“VIE")where the Company is the prim
beneficiary. All significant intercompany accouatsd transactions have been eliminated in consaita
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A VIE is an entity that lacks one or more of theuctteristics of a voting interest entity. A VKedefined as an entity in which equity investor
not have the characteristics of a controlling fitiahinterest or do not have sufficient equity iskrfor the entity to finance its activities withtoadditiona
subordinated financial support from other parti#éae Company consolidates a VIE when it is the primbeneficiary of such VIE. As primary beneficiait
has both the power to direct the activities thashsignificantly impact the economic performancéehef VIE and a right to receive benefits or ab3osses ¢
the entity that could be potentially significanttte VIE. The Company is required to reconsideeyaluation of whether to consolidate a VIE eagiorénc
period, based upon changes in the facts and citameess pertaining to the VIE.

Investment Securities Available for Sal@he Company's investment securities, where thevilire option has not been elected and whic
reported at fair value with unrealized gains arebés reported in Other Comprehensive Income (“O@iglude Agency RMBS, noAgency RMBS an
CLOs. Our investment securities are classifieehaslable for sale securities. Realized gains asdds recorded on the sale of investment secuaitaabl¢
for sale are based on the specific identificaticethad and included in realized gain (loss) on itmesit securities and related hedges in the accoyimm
consolidated statements of operations. Purchaseiyomes or discounts on investment securities areréaed or accreted to interest income over thevest(
life of the investment securities using the effeztyield method. Adjustments to amortization arelenfor actual prepayment activity.

The Company accounts for debt securities that fiégh credit quality (generally those rated AAklmtter by a Nationally Recognized Statis!
Rating Organization, or NRSRO), at date of acquisitn accordance with Accounting Standards Codifan (“ASC”) 32010. The Company accounts
debt securities that are not of high credit qudity., those whose risk of loss is less than renot securities that can be contractually pregaich that w
would not recover our initial investment at theedat acquisition in accordance with ASC 328-The Company considers credit ratings, the Uyidegrcredi
risk and other market factors in determining whethe debt securities are of high credit qualitgwever, securities rated lower than AA or an edeivi
rating are not considered of high credit qualitgd ane accounted for in accordance with ASC 8Q5¥ ratings are inconsistent among NRSROs, th@an
uses the lower rating in determining whether tteigges are of high credit quality.

The Company assesses its impaired securities mastta quarterly basis and designates such impatenas either “temporary” or “other-than
temporary” by applying the guidance prescribed BICATopic 320t0. When the fair value of an investment secustiess than its amortized cost as o
reporting balance sheet date, the security is densil impaired. If the Company intends to selhgpaired security, or it is more likely than noattit will be
required to sell the impaired security before fiicipated recovery, then it must recognize an methantemporary impairment through earnings equal ti
entire difference between the investment’'s amattizest and its fair value as of the balance shatet ¢f the Company does not expect to sell anretia
temporarily impaired security, only the portion thle other-thartemporary impairment related to credit losses geized through earnings with
remainder recognized as a component of other cdmpeive income (loss) on the accompanying condeliddalance sheets. Impairments recogi
through other comprehensive income (loss) do npathearnings. Following the recognition of an ottiantemporary impairment through earnings, a
cost basis is established for the security, whiely mot be adjusted for subsequent recoveries invéile through earnings. However, other-tbemporar
impairments recognized through earnings may bectatiback to the amortized cost basis of the ggaomi a prospective basis through interest incorhe
determination as to whether an other-than-tempanapgirment exists and, if so, the amount considietaer-thartemporarily impaired is subjective, as s
determinations are based on both factual and siNgeinformation available at the time of assessm&s a result, the timing and amount of other-than
temporary impairments constitute material estimtitesare susceptible to significant change.

The Companys investment securities classified as availablestde also include its investment in a wholly owrs@dount referred to as -
Agency 10 portfolio. These investments primarilglide Agency 10s. The Company has elected thevfdire option for these investment securities, h
measures unrealized gains and losses through garimirthe accompanying consolidated statementpefations, as the Company believes this accot
treatment more accurately and consistently reflésteesults of operations. The Agency 10 portdiso includes derivative investments not desaghai
hedging instruments for accounting purposes, witfealized gains and losses recognized throughregnin the accompanying consolidated statemel
operations.

Investment Securities Available for Sale Held ircuBiéization Trusts— The Compang investment securities available for sale hel
securitization trusts are comprised of médtmily CMBS consisting of PO securities that repraghe first loss tranche of the securitizatiawsf which the
were issued, or “first loss tranche”, a first lassnche floating rate security and certain 10sésistrom four Freddie Mac-sponsored multi-familyS¢érie:
securitizations. These securities are reportddiravalue with unrealized gains and losses regabim OCI. Realized gains and losses recorded ®sdte ¢
investment securities available for sale held gusézation trusts are based on the specific ifieation method and included in realized gain ¢losn sale ¢
securities and related hedges in the accompanyingotidated statements of operations. Purchaseiypmesror discounts are amortized or accreted toes
income over the estimated life of the investmentigdes using the effective yield method.
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Residential Mortgage Loans Held in Securitizatiorusts — Residential mortgage loans held in securitizatiomsts are comprised
certain ARM loans transferred to Consolidated Vil have been securitized into sequentially rataslses of beneficial interests. The Company adec
for these securitization trusts as financings wlaoh consolidated into the Compasijinancial statements. Residential mortgage Idead in securitizatic
trusts are carried at their unpaid principal baésnmet of unamortized premium or discount, unamextloan origination costs and allowance for
losses. Interest income is accrued and recograsedevenue when earned according to the termseohtbrtgage loans and when, in the opinio
management, it is collectible. The accrual of ieséron loans is discontinued when, in managemeniinion, the interest is not collectible in therma
course of business, but in no case when paymepies greater than 90 days delinquent. Loans réduaccrual status when principal and interest be
current and are anticipated to be fully collectible

We establish an allowance for loan losses basechamagement's judgment and estimate of credit Ideéesent in our portfolio of resident
mortgage loans held in securitization trusts. Estiom involves the consideration of various credlated factors, including but not limited to, macr
economic conditions, current housing market coodsj loan-toralue ratios, delinquency status, historical créais severity rates, purchased mort
insurance, the borrower's current economic conugiod other factors deemed to warrant consideratidditionally, we look at the balance of any dglien
loan and compare that to the current value of thlateralizing property. We utilize various homduation methodologies including appraisals, bragkering
opinions, internet-based property data services\wiew comparable properties in the same arearmsutbwith a realtor in the property's area.

Acquired Distressed Residential Mortgage LoarBistressed residential mortgage loans held in #&ation trusts are comprised of pools
fixed and adjustable rate residential mortgagedayuired by the Company at a discount (that & dlupart, to credit quality of the borrower). Désse
residential mortgage loans held in securitizatroists are distressed residential mortgage loansfeaed to Consolidated VIES that have been siediintc
beneficial interests. The Company accounted fagethsecuritization trusts as financings which aresobdated into the Company'’s financial statements.

The Company considers the purchase price for theisex distressed residential mortgage loans tat ff@ir value at the date of acquisition. Tt
acquired distressed residential mortgage loans ingi@ly recorded at fair value with no allowanfog loan losses.

Acquired distressed residential mortgage loanstthaé evidence of deteriorated credit quality gugsition are accounted for under ASC Subt
310-30, "Loans and Debt Securities Acquired withteBierated Credit Quality” ("ASC 310-30"). Under 8881030, the acquired loans may be aggrec
and accounted for as a pool of loans if the loaginghaggregated have common risk characteristiqgsod is accounted for as a single asset with gle
composite interest rate and an aggregate expettatioash flows. Once a pool is assembled, itdatad as if it was one loan for purposes of applyin
accounting guidance. The Company applied pool agauy on distressed residential mortgage loansissdjin 2013; distressed residential mortgage |
acquired prior to 2013 are accounted for indivitiuéle., not in pools).

Under ASC 310-30, the excess of cash flows expeotée collected over the carrying amount of thenkj referred to as the “accretable yield,”
accreted into interest income over the life of kh@ns in each pool or individually using a levedlgi methodology. Accordingly, our acquired distez
residential mortgage loans accounted for under 88G30 are not subject to classification as nonacalaasification in the same manner as our residi
mortgage loans that were not distressed when adjbly us. Rather, interest income on acquiredediséd residential mortgage loans relates to thretabdx
yield recognized at the pool level or on an indixatloan basis, and not to contractual interestrgays received at the loan level. The differencevber
contractually required principal and interest pagtaeand the cash flows expected to be collectddrreal to as the “nonaccretable differendaglude:
estimates of both the impact of prepayments aneéagp credit losses over the life of the individoahn, or the pool (for loans grouped into a pool).

The Company monitors actual cash collections ag#émexpectations, and revised cash flow expemiatare prepared as necessary. A decre
expected cash flows in subsequent periods mayatalibhat the loan pool or individual loan, as aggilie, is impaired thus requiring the establishnoérar
allowance for loan losses by a charge to the pimvifor loan losses. An increase in expected clastsfin subsequent periods initially reduces argvjmusly
established allowance for loan losses by the iseré@the present value of cash flows expectea teollected, and results in a recalculation ofahmunt o
accretable yield for the loan pool. The adjustm#riiccretable yield due to a significant increasexpected cash flows is accounted for prospegtiasli
change in estimate. The additional cash flows exgeto be collected are reclassified from the noretable difference to the accretable yield, ardatmour
of periodic accretion is adjusted accordingly ober remaining life of the loans in the pool or widual loan, as applicable.

An acquired distressed residential mortgage loay mearesolved either through receipt of paymenfuihor in part) from the borrower, the sale
the loan to a third party, or foreclosure of thélateral. For acquired distressed residential nagégloans held in pools, in the event of a salthefloan,
gain or loss on sale is recognized and reporteeldbas the difference between the sales proceedtharwhrrying amount of the acquired distresseideasia
mortgage loan. In the case of a foreclosure, awithehl loan is removed from the pool at the faatue of the underlying collateral less costs th &&lr loan:
satisfied by payment in full, the loan is removeshi the pool. The Company uses the specific alilocahethod for the removal of loans as the estithases!
flows and related carrying amount for each indiaidiean are known. In these cases, the remainiogetable yield is unaffected and any material clan
remaining effective yield caused by the removalkte loan from the pool is addressed by the@ssessment of the estimate of cash flows for thud
prospectively. Acquired distressed residential gage loans subject to modification are not remdvenh the pool even if those loans would otherwis
considered troubled debt restructurings becauspdbk and not the individual loan, representsuthi¢ of account.
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For individual loans not accounted for in poolstthge sold or satisfied by payment in full, a gairloss on sale is recognized and reported |
on the difference between the sales proceeds anchtinying amount of the acquired distressed raimlanortgage loan. In the case of a foreclostire Jos:
is recognized if the carrying value exceeds theviaiue of the collateral (less costs to sell).angis not recognized if the fair value of collatiefless costs
sell) exceeds the carrying value.

Multi-Family Loans Held in Securitization TrustsMulti-family loans held in securitization trustse comprised of mulfiamily mortgage loar
held in six Freddie Mac-sponsored multi-family Kries securitizations (the “Consolidated K-Seriea¥) of December 31, 2013 and four Freddie Mac
sponsored multi-family KSeries securitizations as of December 31, 2012=dBas a number of factors, we determined that we wees primary beneficia
of each VIE within the Consolidated K-Series, ningt triteria for consolidation and, accordingly, @@ensolidated these Freddie Mac-sponsored fizurtily
K-Series securitizations, including their assetsilitees, income and expenses in our financialestants. The Company has elected the fair valuempti
each of the assets and liabilities held within @©ensolidated KSeries, which requires that changes in valuationshe assets and liabilities of
Consolidated KSeries be reflected in the Company's accompanyingatidated statement of operations, as the Compaligves this accounting treatm
more accurately and consistently reflects its tesafl operations.

Interest income is accrued and recognized as revamen earned according to the terms of the mogtdegns and when, in the opinior
management, it is collectible. The accrual of ieseron loans is discontinued when, in managemeqginion, the interest is not collectible in therma
course of business, but in no case when paymepites greater than 90 days delinquent. Loans réduaiccrual status when principal and interest be
current and are anticipated to be fully collectible

Mezzanine Loan and Preferred Equity Investmeifise- Company invests in mezzanine loans and prefemeity of entities that have signific
real estate assets. The mezzanine loan is secyredptedge of the borrower’'s equity ownership ie froperty.Unlike a mortgage, this loan does
represent a lien on the property. Therefore, @hgays junior and subordinate to any filieth as well as second liens, if applicable, onpheperty. Thes
loans are senior to any preferred equity or comewprity interests. Purchasers of mezzanine loansfibdrom a right to foreclose on the ownershipiggin
a more efficient manner than senior mortgage debt.

A preferred equity investment is an equity invesimi& the entity that owns the underlying properfreferred equity is not secured by
underlying property, but holders have priority tela to common equity holders on cash flow disttibas and proceeds from capital events. In add
preferred equity holders may be able to enhande plosition and protect their equity position witbvenants that limit the entity’activities and grant t
holder the exclusive right to control the propeatier an event of default.

Mezzanine loans and preferred equity investmerttgravthe risks and payment characteristics arevalgmit to mezzanine loans, are accounte
as loans held for investment and are stated atidigpancipal balance, adjusted for any unamortipeeimium or discount, deferred fees or expensespf
valuation allowances, and are included in rece®slind other assets. We accrete or amortize iaoguthts or premiums over the life of the relatear
receivable utilizing the effective interest mettardstraight linemethod, if the result is not materially differeki{e evaluate the collectibility of both inter
and principal of each of our loans, if circumstanearrant, to determine whether they are impaifethan is impaired when, based on current inforom
and events, it is probable that we will be unabledllect all amounts due according to the existingtractual terms. When a loan is impaired, thewamho
the loss accrual is calculated by comparing theyoay amount of the investment to the estimatedvalue of the loan or, as a practical expedienthé valu
of the collateral if the loan is collateral depenide

Mezzanine loans and preferred equity investmentrethe risks and payment characteristics are abgunit/to an equity investment are accou
for using the equity method of accounting. Sdavestment in Limited Partnership and Limited LiapiCompanies’ for a description of our accounti
policy for Investments in Limited Partnerships amaited Liability Companies. The preferred equitywéstments are included in receivables and otlsatas

Mortgage Loans Held for InvestmentMortgage loans held for investment are stated paighprincipal balance, adjusted for any unamaod
premium or discount, deferred fees or expensesyfnatluation allowances, and are included in neslglies and other assets. Interest income is atcmiéhe
principal amount of the loan based on the Iearontractual interest rate. Amortization of premmsuand discounts is recorded using the effectigll ynethoc
Interest income, amortization of premiums and dist® and prepayment fees are reported in intemestrie. A loan is considered to be impaired whés
probable that based upon current information arehtsy the Company will be unable to collect all ants due under the contractual terms of the
agreement. Based on the facts and circumstanctedhdividual loans being impaired, loan specifaluation allowances are established for the e
carrying value of the loan over either: (i) the gmet value of expected future cash flows discouatethe loars original effective interest rate, (ii) 1
estimated fair value of the loan’s underlying cital if the loan is in the process of foreclosor@therwise collateral dependent, or (iii) then@aobservab
market price.
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Investments in Limited Partnership and Limited lliab Companies— In circumstances where the Company has aceatrolling interest bl
either owns a significant interest or is able teréinfluence over the affairs of the enterpribe, Company utilizes the equity method of accountiper th:
equity method of accounting, the initial investméntincreased each period for additional capitaitiGoutions and a proportionate share of the erstity
earnings or preferred return and decreased for disstibutions and a proportionate share of théyestlosses. Where the Company is not required to
additional losses, the Company does not continuedord its proportionate share of the entity’sésssuch that its investment balance would go betra.

Management periodically reviews its investmentsifigpairment based on projected cash flows fromethiity over the holding period. When
impairment is identified, the investments are writdown to recoverable amounts.

Cash and Cash EquivalentsCash and cash equivalents include cash on handyrasndue from banks and overnight deposits, altfith haw
original maturities of 90 days or less. The Comparaintains its cash and cash equivalents in higditlyd financial institutions, and at times thesktee:
exceed insurable amounts.

Receivables and Other AssetReceivables and other assets as of December 33, &t 2012 include restricted cash held by thindigg o
$44.1 million and $46.5 million, respectively. lnded in restricted cash is $30.4 million and $2%i8ion held in our Agency 10 portfolio to be uséar
trading purposes and $10.2 million and $19.8 nmillieeld by counterparties as collateral for hedgimgruments as of December 31, 2013 and :
respectively. Interest receivable on mddtimily loans held in securitization trusts is alscluded in receivables and other assets in theuatsoof $30.
million and $18.3 million as of December 31, 2008l 2012, respectively.

Financing Arrangements, Portfolio InvestmentsThe Company finances the majority of its Agency R3/ABurchases using repurck
agreements. Under a repurchase agreement, anisasekt to a counterparty to be repurchased atuad date at a predetermined price, which reptsghe
original sales price plus interest. The Comparmpants for these repurchase agreements as finanaider ASC 860 ransfers and Servicing Under AS(
860, for these transactions to be treated as fingacthey must be separate transactions andmadi If the Company finances the purchase afdtaritie
with repurchase agreements with the same countgripam which the securities are purchased and bratisactions are entered into contemporaneousth
contemplation of each other, the transactions egsuymed under GAAP to be part of the same arrangemea "Linked Transaction," unless certain cid
are met. None of the Compasy’epurchase agreements are accounted for as lirdkeshctions because they met the applicableierite accordance wi
ASC 860-10-40.

Residential Collateralized Debt Obligations (“Resiial CDOs”") — We use Residential CDOs to permanently financeresidential mortgag
loans held in securitization trusts. For financgorting purposes, the ARM loans held as collatmarecorded as assets of the Company and thddRaa
CDOs are recorded as the Companyébt. The Company has completed four securitizatsince inception. The first three were accoufdeds a permane
financing while the fourth was accounted for agle snd accordingly, is not included in the Compmagcompanying consolidated financial statements

Multi-Family Collateralized Debt Obligations (“MuH~amily CDOs”) — We consolidated the ConsolidatedSEries including their debt, referrec
as Multi-Family CDOs, in our financial statemenfse Multi-Family CDOs permanently finance the migiimily mortgage loans held in the Consolidated K
Series securitizations. For financial reportinggoges, the loans held as collateral are recordedsets of the Company and the M&kimily CDOs ar
recorded as the Company’s debt. We refer to batRisidential CDOs and Multi-Family CDOs as CDOthia report.

Securitized DebtSecuritized Debt represents thpdrty liabilities of Consolidated VIEs and excludesilities of the VIEs acquired by t
Company that are eliminated on consolidation. Then@any has entered into several financing trarmagtihat resulted in the Company consolidatir
VIEs the special purpose entities (the “SPERJt were created to facilitate the transactiorts tarwhich underlying assets in connection with fihancing
were transferred. The Company engaged in thessaittians primarily to obtain permanent or longemtéinancing on a portion of its mulamily CMBS
and acquired distressed residential mortgage loans.

Costs related to issuance of securitized debt wimiclude underwriting, rating agency, legal, acamgmand other fees are reflected as defi
charges. Such costs are included on the Compamgcompanying consolidated balance sheets invedites and other assets in the amount of $4.1am
and $2.6 million as of December 31, 2013 and Deeerth, 2012, respectively. These deferred chargesraortized as an adjustment to interest ex|
using the effective interest method, or straighedmethod, if the result is not materially diffetren
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Derivative Financial Instruments The Company has developed risk management prograchprocesses, which include investments in dévi
financial instruments designed to manage intesdstand prepayment risk associated with its séesiiitvestment activities.

Derivative instruments contain an element of riskhie event that the counterparties may be unabfeeet the terms of such agreements.
Company minimizes its risk exposure by limiting tmunterparties with which it enters into contractdanks and investment banks who meet estab
credit and capital guidelines.

The Company invests in To-Be-Announced securiti€BAs”) through its Agency IO portfolio. TBAs are@fwardsettling purchases and sale
Agency RMBS where the underlying pools of mortghmns are “To-Be-AnnouncedPursuant to these TBA transactions, we agree tchpse or sell, fi
future settlement, Agency RMBS with certain priratignd interest terms and certain types of undeglgollateral, but the particular Agency RMBS tc
delivered is not identified until shortly beforeetPBA settlement date. For TBA contracts that weehantered into, we have not asserted that ph
settlement is probable, therefore we have not dasigl these forward commitments as hedging instntsndrealized and unrealized gains and Ic
associated with these TBAs are recognized throaghiregs as part of the other income (expense) ogatag the consolidated statements of operations.

For derivative instruments that are designatedcaradify as a cash flow hedge, the effective porttbthe gain or loss on the derivative instrun
is reported as a component of OCI and reclassifigal earnings in the same period or periods duvitich the hedged transaction affects earnings
remaining gain or loss on the derivative instruragntexcess of the cumulative change in the presdoe of future cash flows of the hedged itenany, it
recognized in current earnings during the periodnainge.

For instruments that are not designated or quabfa cash flow hedge, such as our use of U.S. Umeascurities or financial futures and opti
on financial futures contracts, any realized anckalized gains and losses associated with thesiiimsnts are recognized through earnings as aticeric
(expense) in the consolidated statements of opeati

Termination of Hedging RelationshipsThe Company employs risk management monitoring guoes to ensure that the designated he
relationships are demonstrating, and are expeotedritinue to demonstrate, a high level of effentess. Hedge accounting is discontinued on a prge
basis if it is determined that the hedging relattdp is no longer highly effective or expected &Highly effective in offsetting changes in failwe of the
hedged item.

Additionally, the Company may elect to un-designathedge relationship during an interim period esdesignate upon the rebalancing
hedge profile and the corresponding hedge relatipn¥Vhen hedge accounting is discontinued, the izom continues to carry the derivative instrumex
fair value with changes recorded in earnings.

Revenue Recognition Interest income on our investment securities andwnresidential mortgage loans held in securitimatrusts is accrue
based on the outstanding principal balance and tbeiractual terms. Premiums and discounts ageacwith investment securities and mortgage loarise
time of purchase or origination are amortized interest income over the life of such securitieagishe effective yield method. Adjustments to atizatior
are made for actual prepayment activity.

Interest income on our credit sensitive securitiegh as our CLOs and certain of our CMBS that vperehased at a discount to par valu
recognized based on the security’s effective ister@e. The effective interest rate on these gigxzirs based on management'stimate from each security
the projected cash flows, which are estimated baseithe Compang’ assumptions related to fluctuations in interagts, prepayment speeds and the til
and amount of credit losses. On at least a quartersis, the Company reviews and, if appropriai@kes adjustments to its cash flow projections bas
input and analysis received from external sourtgernal models, and its judgment about interesrgprepayment rates, the timing and amount afit
losses, and other factors. Changes in cash flowm those originally projected, or from those estadaat the last evaluation, may result in a prosype
change in the yield/interest income recognizedhessée securities.

Based on the projected cash flows from the Comgafingt loss tranche PO mufimily CMBS purchased at a discount to par valugorion o
the purchase discount is designated as non-aclrepaiochase discount or credit reserve, which glytimitigates the Compang’risk of loss on tf
mortgages collateralizing such multimily CMBS, and is not expected to be accreted interest income. The amount designated as atcesgirve may |
adjusted over time, based on the actual performahtiee security, its underlying collateral, actaaid projected cash flow from such collateral, ecoia
conditions and other factors. If the performanceaecurity with a credit reserve is more favorahbn forecasted, a portion of the amount desighas
credit reserve may be accreted into interest incoma time. Conversely, if the performance of ausiég with a credit reserve is less favorable 1
forecasted, the amount designated as credit reseayebe increased, or impairment charges and wateas of such securities to a new cost basis
result.

F-14




With respect to interest rate swaps that have eehldlesignated as hedges, any net payments undlectoations in the fair value of, such sw
will be recognized in earnings.

See“Acquired Distressed Residential Mortgage Loarfst a description of our revenue recognition policy fagaired distressed residen
mortgage loans.

Other Comprehensive Income (LossThe Companyg comprehensive income/(loss) available to comntockbolders includes net income,
change in net unrealized gains/(losses) on itdaeifor sale securities and its derivative heddistruments, currently comprised of interest sat@ps, (t
the extent that such changes are not recordedriinga), adjusted by realized net gains/(lossedassified out of accumulated other comprehengigere
(loss) for available for sale securities and isucsd by dividends declared on the Company’s predestock.

Employee Benefits PlarsThe Company sponsors a defined contribution fitaa “Plan”)for all eligible domestic employees. The Plan diex
as a deferred salary arrangement under Sectiorkj6flthe Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amefithed‘Internal Revenue Code”fhe Company mat
no contributions to the Plan for the years endeceber 31, 2013 and 2012.

Stock Based CompensatisrCompensation expense for equity based awards aokl issued for services are recognized over théngeperiod o
such awards and services based upon the fair valhe stock at the grant date.

Income Taxes- The Company operates in such a manner so as tifygeala REIT under the requirements of the IntefRRavenue Cod
Requirements for qualification as a REIT includeimas restrictions on ownership of the Companstock, requirements concerning distribution ahltde
income and certain restrictions on the nature sé@sand sources of income. A REIT must distrilatiieast 90% of its taxable income to its stockbddo
which 85% plus any undistributed amounts from therpyear must be distributed within the taxablarya order to avoid the imposition of an excise
Distribution of the remaining balance may extendiluimely filing of the Companys tax return in the subsequent taxable year. Quradjfdistributions ¢
taxable income are deductible by a REIT in compgutiaxable income.

Certain activities of the Company are conductedugh TRSs and therefore are subject to federalvanidus state and local income ta
Accordingly, deferred tax assets and liabilities aecognized for the future tax consequences at#tite to differences between the financial statd
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilitesl their respective tax bases. Deferred tax sigset liabilities are measured using enacted tae¢
expected to apply to taxable income in the yeawshith those temporary differences are expectdubtoecovered or settled. The effect on deferrechszel
and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recagdiin income in the period that includes the enaat date.

ASC 740,Income Taxes provides guidance for how uncertain tax positishsuld be recognized, measured, presented, antbsis in th
financial statements. ASC 740 requires the evalnadif tax positions taken or expected to be taketihé course of preparing the Compantax returns t
determine whether the tax positions are “more-jikkban-not”of being sustained by the applicable tax authohitysituations involving uncertain tax positit
related to income tax matters, we do not recognéresfits unless it is more likely than not thatthell be sustained. ASC 740 was applied to allrotexabls
years as of the effective date. Managensedgterminations regarding ASC 740 may be subfeceview and adjustment at a later date based ctorf
including, but not limited to, an ongoing analysf¢ax laws, regulations and interpretations ther€be Company will recognize interest and pensgjtitany
related to uncertain tax positions as income tpense.

Earnings Per Share Basic earnings per share excludes dilution andnspaited by dividing net income available to comrstotkholders by tt
weightedaverage number of shares of common stock outstaridinthe period. Diluted earnings per share rédlélee potential dilution that could occu
securities or other contracts to issue common steete exercised or converted into common stockesulted in the issuance of common stock that
shared in the earnings of the Company.

Segment Reporting ASC 280, Segment Reporting, is the authoritativielajnce for the way public entities report infornatiabout operatir

segments in their annual financial statements. YWeadREIT focused on the business of acquiringgstimg in, financing and managing primarily mortgag
related assets, and to a lesser extent, finangselts, and currently operate in only one reportsdjgnent.
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Summary of Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Balance Sheet (ASC 21

In January 2013, the Financial Accounting Stand&aksrd (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards UpdafesU”) 2013-01, Clarifying the Scorg
of Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liaegi{ASC 210), Balance Sheéthe update addresses implementation issues ASlI201111 and applie
to derivatives accounted for in accordance with A8, Derivatives and Hedgingincluding bifurcated embedded derivatives, repase agreements ¢
reverse repurchase agreements, and securitiesatiogrand securities lending transactions that éheeoffset in accordance with ASC 210 or ASC 8t
subject to an enforceable master netting arrangeoresimilar agreement. The guidance was effeclaeuary 1, 2013 and was applied retrospectivelg
adoption of ASU 2013-01 had an effect on our disates but did not have an effect on our accompagrgdmsolidated financial statements.

Comprehensive Income (ASC 220)

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-B2porting of Amounts Reclassified Out of AccumdlaBther Comprehensi
Income. ASU No. 20132 requires registrants to provide information dbitve amounts reclassified out of Accumulated Ofemprehensive Incor
(“AOCI") by component. In addition, an entity is requiredpresent significant amounts reclassified out @CA by the respective line items of
income. ASU No. 20182 is effective for fiscal years, and interim pegowithin those years, beginning after December2082. The impact of the
amendments are reflected beginning with the Compa@uarterly Report on Form 1Q-for the period ended March 31, 2013. As the stamdard does r
change the current requirements for reporting nebrme or other comprehensive income in the accoyipgconsolidated financial statements,
consolidated financial position and results of afiens were not impacted.

Derivatives and Hedging (ASC 815)

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2018; Inclusion of the Fed Funds Effective Swap RateOvernight Index Swap Rate) as a Benchi
Interest Rate for Hedge Accounting Purposes (aastaus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force) (“R81B-10").The amendments of this ASU appl'
all entities that elect to apply hedge accountifithe benchmark interest rate under Derivativestedging (FASB Accounting Standards Codificatiorpit
815). ASU 2013t0 permits the Federal Funds Effective Rate (adferred to as the Overnight Index Swap Rate, or) @%e used as a U.S. benchn
interest rate for hedge accounting purposes irtiaddo the interest rates on direct Treasury @hians of the U.S. government and London Interl@ffkerec
Rate (“LIBOR”). ASU 201310 was effective prospectively for qualifying nemredesignated hedging relationships entered intorafter July 17, 2013. T
Company's adoption of ASU 2013-10 did not have terra impact on the Company's consolidated finalngtiatements.
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3. Investment Securities Availableor Sale

Investment securities available for sale consisheffollowing as of December 31, 2013 and Decer8the2012 (dollar amounts in thousands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Amortized Unrealized Fair Amortized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value Cost Gains Losses Value
Agency RMBS:
Agency ARMs
Freddie Mac $ 67,12 $ 37 $ (2,10) $ 65,057 $ 80,10¢ $ 341 % 83 $ 80,36¢
Fannie Mae 130,48 58 (3,12¢) 127,41 169,02( 65¢ (11¢) 169,56:
Ginnie Mae 17,04¢ — (207) 16,84¢ 24,127 — (129) 23,99¢
Total Agency ARMs 214,65 95 (5,430) 209,32: 273,25! 1,00( (330 273,92
Agency Fixed Rate
Freddie Mac 43,92( — (1,719 42,20¢ 49,89¢ 24 (162) 49,76
Fannie Mae 518,59¢ — (24,86)) 493,73° 578,30( 1,16¢ (1,287) 578,18:
Total Agency Fixed Rate 562,51¢ — (26,57%) 535,94 628,19¢ 1,19( (1,445 627,94«
Agency 10
Freddie Mac 43,46¢ 252 (5,187) 38,53:¢ 38,02¢ 92 (3,217) 34,90(
Fannie Mae 60,81: 1,30(¢ (5,007) 57,10¢ 40,85¢ 65€ (5.26¢€) 36,24¢
Ginnie Mae 37,66( 70€ (2,396 35,97( 30,53( 73€ (3,044 28,22¢
Total Agency 10s 141,94: 2,25¢ (12,590 131,60¢ 109,41: 1,48¢ (11,52 99,37:
Total Agency RMBS 919,11¢ 2,35: (44,59%) 876,87« 1,010,86! 3,67¢ (13,302 1,001,23!
Non-Agency RMBS 2,41% 13€ (18¢) 2,361 3,291 — (604) 2,68
CLOs 18,47¢ 14,73( — 33,20¢ 13,49 17,29( — 30,78¢
Total investment securities
available for sale $ 940,000 $ 17,21¢ $  (44,78) $ 912/44. $ 102765 $ 20,96¢ $ (13,900 $ 1,034,71
CMBS $ 7431 $ 18,26: $ — 3 9257¢ $ 68,42t $ 3,006 $ 273 $ 71,15¢
Total investment securities
available for sale held in
securitization trusts $ 7431: % 18,26+« $ — % 9257¢ $ 68,42¢ $ 3,006 $ 273 $ 71,15¢

(@ Included in investment securities available foesas of December 31, 2013 and 2012 are AgencyA@ancy I0s are measured at fair value thrc
earnings.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynpeceived total proceeds of approximately $1.3iom) realizing approximately $C
million of net gains from the sale of investmentig&ies available for sale. During the year enBetember 31, 2012, the Company received total px
of approximately $50.6 million, realizing approxitely $0.5 million of net gains from the sale of @stment securities available for sale. During tha
ended December 31, 2011, the Company receivedpatabeds of approximately $20.8 million, realizeagproximately $5.0 million of net gains from
sale of investment securities available for sale.

Actual maturities of our available for sale sedasitare generally shorter than stated contractaflimities (which range up to 30 years), as the
affected by the contractual lives of the underlyingrtgages, periodic payments and prepaymentsirdipal. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, bas¢
management’s estimates, the weighted average flitheoCompanys available for sale securities portfolio was appmately 7.03 years and 4.83 ye
respectively.
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The following tables set forth the stated resetggisrof our investment securities available foesaid investment securities available for sale
in securitization trusts at December 31, 2013 aaddinber 31, 2012 at carrying value (dollar amoimtisousands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Less than € 61to 24 More than Less than € 61t0 24 More than
months months 24 months Total months months 24 months Total

Agency RMBS $ 97,38 $ 1482: $ 76466t $ 87687: $ 91,63 $ 15,55¢ $ 894,04 $ 1,001,23
Non-Agency RMBS 2,361 — — 2,361 2,687 — — 2,681
CLOs 33,20¢ — — 33,20¢ 30,78¢ — — 30,78¢
Total investment securities

available for sale $ 13295 $ 14820 $ 76466t $ 91244; $ 12510¢ $ 1555¢( $ 894,047 $ 1,034,71
CMBS $ 28,23: % — 3 64,34¢ $ 9257¢ % 2221t $ — 3 48,94 $ 71,15¢
Total investment securities

available for sale held in

securitization trusts $ 28,23: $ — % 64,34¢ $ 9257¢ $ 22,21 $ — % 48,94: $ 71,15¢

The following tables present the Company's investreecurities available for sale and investmentiisiées available for sale held in securitiza
trusts in an unrealized loss position reportedughoOCI, aggregated by investment category andtheafytime that individual securities have beers
continuous unrealized loss position at DecembeRB13 (dollar amounts in thousands):

December 31, 2013 Less than 12 Months Greater than 12 months Total
Gross Gross Gross
Carrying Unrealized Carrying Unrealized Carrying Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Agency RMBS $ 332,51¢ $ (11,429 % 398,32! $ (20,587 $ 730,84: $ (32,009
Non-Agency RMBS — 1,104 (18¢) 1,104 (18¢)
Total investment securities available for « $ 332,51¢  $ (11,429 $ 399,42¢ $ (20,770 % 73194t $ (32,199
CMBS $ — 3 — 3 — 3 — 3 — 3 —
Total investment securities available for ¢
held in securitization trusts $ — 3 — 3 — 3 — $ — $ —

The following tables present the Company's investreecurities available for sale and investmenaisées available for sale held in securitiza
trusts in an unrealized loss position reportedugloOCI, aggregated by investment category andtheafytime that individual securities have beers
continuous unrealized loss position at DecembeRB12 (dollar amounts in thousands):

December 31, 2012 Less than 12 Months Greater than 12 months Total
Gross Gross Gross
Carrying Unrealized Carrying Unrealized Carrying Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Agency RMBS $ 513,73. $ 1,749 $ 6,15¢ $ 26) $ 519,88¢ $ 1,775
Non-Agency RMBS — — 2,681 (604) 2,687 (604)
Total investment securities available for « $ 513,73. $ (1,749 $ 8,84t $ (630) $ 52257t $ (2,379
CMBS $ 16,357 $ 273 $ — $ — $ 16,357 $ (279)
Total investment securities available for ¢
held in securitization trusts $ 16,357 $ (279 $ — $ — $ 16,357 $ (279)
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For the year ended December 31, 2013 and Decenihed021, the Company recognized $0.2 million and $0illion in other-thartemporar
impairment through earnings, respectively. Forybar ended December 31, 2012, the Company didawa tinrealized losses in investment securitie:
were deemed other-than-temporary.

4. Residential Mortgage Loans Held iSecuritization Trusts (Net) and Real Estate Owned

Residential mortgage loans held in securitizatioists (net) consist of the following at December Z113 and December 31, 2012, respect
(dollar amounts in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Unpaid principal balance $ 165,17: 189,00¢
Deferred origination costs — net 1,05¢ 1,19¢
Reserve for loan losses (2,989 (2,97¢)
Total $ 163,23 187,22

Allowance for Loan LossesThe following table presents the activity in then@many's allowance for loan losses on residentiatgage loans he
in securitization trusts for the years ended Deaarsfh, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively (dollanwams in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Balance at beginning of period $ 297¢ % 3331 % 2,58¢
Provisions for loan losses 701 67E 1,38(
Transfer to real estate owned (407) (899) (192
Charge-offs (289 (129 (44¢)
Balance at the end of period $ 298¢ % 297t $ 3,331

On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates theuadgef its allowance for loan losses. The Compsiaflowance for loan losses at Decer
31, 2013 was $3.0 million, representing 181 basiatp of the outstanding principal balance of resitél loans held in securitization trusts as ot&mbe
31, 2013, as compared to 158 basis points as aérbieer 31, 2012. As part of the Compangllowance for loan adequacy analysis, managewiérasses
an overall level of allowances while also assessmeglit losses inherent in each noerforming residential mortgage loan held in sdiation trusts. The:
estimates involve the consideration of various itmetated factors, including but not limited tayrcent housing market conditions, current loanatue ratios
delinquency status, the borrower’s current econ@nit credit status and other relevant factors.

Real Estate Owned Fhe following table presents the activity in thengmanys real estate owned held in residential securntinatrusts for th
years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 ctasghe (dollar amounts in thousands):

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Balance at beginning of period $ 73z $ 454 $ 74C
Write downs (433) (124 (87
Transfer from mortgage loans held in securitizatrosts 1,18¢ 1,56¢ 69¢
Disposal (375) (1,167) (897)
Balance at the end of period $ 1,10¢ $ 732 $ 454

Real estate owned held in residential securitinatrasts are included in receivables and othertasse the balance sheet and write down:
included in provision for loan losses in the statatrof operations for reporting purposes.

All of the Companys mortgage loans and real estate owned held idemal securitization trusts are pledged as caitdtfor the Resident
CDOs issued by the Company. As of December 313 201d 2012, the Comparsyhet investment in the residential securitizatiarsts, which is tt
maximum amount of the Compasyinvestment that is at risk to loss and represtetslifference between the carrying amount ofnlogtgage loans and r
estate owned held in residential securitizatiosttrand the amount of Residential CDOs outstangiag,$6.6 million and $7.0 million, respectively.
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Delinquency Status of Our Residential Mortgage Loas Held in Securitization Trusts

As of December 31, 2013, we had 34 delinquent ledgtisan aggregate principal amount outstandingp@roximately $18.9 million categoriz
as Residential Mortgage Loans Held in Securitirafiousts (net). Of the $18.9 million in delinquédo&ns, $9.1 million, or 48%, are under some fori
modified payment plan. The table below shows dekmgies in our portfolio of residential mortgagarie held in securitization trusts, including resthé
owned through foreclosure (REO), as of DecembeRB13 (dollar amounts in thousands):

December 31, 2013

Number of Total

Delinquent Unpaid % of Loan
Days Late Loans Principal Portfolio
30 - 60 3 601 0.36%
61 -90 1 23¢ 0.1%%
90 + 30 18,03¢ 10.7€%
Real estate owned through foreclosure 5 2,381 1.42%

As of December 31, 2012, we had 35 delinquent ledtisan aggregate principal amount outstandingp@roximately $19.5 million categoriz
as Residential Mortgage Loans Held in Securitizafiousts (net). Of the $19.5 million in delinquéodns, $15.2 million, or 78%, were under some forf
modified payment plan. The table below shows delémgies in our portfolio of residential mortgagare held in securitization trusts, including RE@tigt
foreclosure, as of December 31, 2012 (dollar amoimthousands):

December 31, 2012

Number of Total

Delinquent Unpaid % of Loan
Days Late Loans Principal Portfolio
30 - 60 3 % 751 0.3%
61 - 90 — % — —%
90 + 32 3 18,76: 9.85%
Real estate owned through foreclosure 4 % 1,421 0.75%

The geographic concentrations of credit risk exozgp8% of the total loan balances in our residémtiartgage loans held in securitization tr
and real estate owned held in residential secatitia trusts at December 31, 2013 and 2012 arellasvs:

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
New York 35.¢% 37.€%
Massachusetts 24.% 25.2%
New Jerse) 10.4% 9.5%
Florida 5.8% 5.1%
Connecticut 5.6% 5.C%

5. Distressed Residential Mortgageohns

As of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012¢dhying value of the Comparsyacquired distressed residential mortgage loaagjding
distressed residential mortgage loans held in gemtion trusts amounts to approximately $254.7liom and $60.5 million, respectively. Distres
residential mortgage loans with a carrying valueanting to approximately $9.7 million are includiedreceivables and other assets in the accompe
consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2013.

The Company considers its purchase price for tlygised distressed residential mortgage loans, dietudistressed residential mortgage ¢
held in securitization trusts, to be at fair vaduehe date of acquisition. The Company only ei&hbb an allowance for loan losses subsequentjtasigon.
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The following table presents information regardthg estimates of the contractually required paymehe cash flows expected to be colle
and the estimated fair value of the distresseddeasial mortgage loans acquired during the yeade@rDecember 31, 2013 and December 31, .
respectively (dollar amounts in thousands):

December 31, December 31
2013 2012
Contractually required principal and interest $ 368,57 $ 174,74¢
Nonr-accretable yield (47,459 (21,619
Expected cash flows to be collected 321,11¢ 153,13
Accretable yield (102,95) (91,73)
Fair value at the date of acquisition $ 218,16t $ 61,39¢

The following table details activity in accretalyiield for the distressed residential mortgage lparduding distressed residential mortgage |
held in securitization trusts, for the years enBedember 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, resplyctdalar amounts in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Balance at beginning of period $ 91,25 $ —
Additions 102,95: 91,73:
Disposals (11,229 (53
Accretion (11,74) (432)
Allowance for loan losses (128) —
Balance at end of perid¥) $ 171,11 $ 91,25:
1) Accretable yield is the excess of the diseds®sidential mortgage loaresish flows expected to be collected over the pseipgice. The cash flo

expected to be collected represents the Con’s estimate, of the amount and timing of undiscaliptincipal and interest cash flov

The geographic concentrations of credit risk exoep8% of the unpaid principal balance in our disted residential mortgage loans, inclu
distressed residential mortgage loans held in gexation trusts, as of December 31, 2013 and Déeg1, 2012, respectively, are as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
California 14.4% 24.1%
Florida 8.2% 6.5%
New York 8.1% 3.¢%
Texas 6.€% 7.C%
Maryland 3.1% 5.5%

The Companys distressed residential mortgage loans held inrgzation trusts are pledged as collateral fataia of the Securitized Debt isst
by the Company ¢ee Note 7.

6. Consolidated K-Series
The Company has elected the fair value option enasets and liabilities held within the ConsobdaK-Series, which requires that change
valuations in the assets and liabilities of the &didated KSeries be reflected in the Company's statemeragpefations. Our investment in the Consolid

K-Series is limited to the multi-family CMBS comped of first loss tranche PO securities and/oagetOs issued by certain Beries securitizations with
aggregate net carrying value of $240.0 million &&&3.3 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012, retbpy (see Note 7.
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During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coympansolidated two additional Freddie MacSeries securitizations. The conder
consolidated balance sheets of the Consolidat&kilkes at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 284@ectively, are as follows (dollar amount
thousands):

December 31, December 31,
Balance Sheets 2013 2012
Assets
Multi-family loans held in securitization trusts $ 8,111,02. $ 5,442,901
Receivables 30,22 18,34
Total Assets $ 8,141.24. $ 5,461,24:
Liabilities and Equity
Multi-family CDOs $ 7,871,020 $ 5,319,57.
Accrued expenses 29,76¢ 18,02:
Total Liabilities 7,900,78! 5,337,59!
Equity 240,45¢ 123,65:
Total Liabilities and Equity $ 8,141,24. % 5,461,24

The multifamily loans held in securitization trusts had udparincipal balance of approximately $8.0 billiamd $4.9 billion at December :
2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. The ffartily CDOs had unpaid principal balance of appmately $8.0 billion and $4.9 billion at Decem
31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. ABamfember 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, theentiweighted average interest rate on these Multi
Family CDOs was 4.16% and 4.59%.

The condensed consolidated statements of operatibtise Consolidated ISeries for the years ended December 31, 2013, 241,201
respectively, are as follows (dollar amounts inusends):

Year Ended December 31,

Statements of Operations 2013 2012 2011
Interest income $ 228,63: $ 104,41 $ —
Interest expense 210,22¢ 97,03 —
Net interest income 18,40z 7,37¢ —
Unrealized gain on multi-family loans and debt hieldecuritization trusts 31,49¢ 6,662 —
Net Income $ 49,897 $ 14,04C $ —

The geographic concentrations of credit risk exoep&% of the total loan balances related to ourBSMnvestments included in investm
securities available for sale and multi-family ledreld in securitization trusts as of December2813 and December 31, 2012, respectively, arellasvin

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Texas 14.(% 14.(%
California 13.7% 13.¢%
New York 7.2% 6.8%
Florida 6.5% 7.4%
Washington 5.2% 5.C%
Georgia 4.4% 5.4%

7. Use of Special Purpose EntitieschVariable Interest Entities

A Special Purpose Entity (“SPEI$ an entity designed to fulfill a specific limitected of the company that organized it. SPEs fe@ osed t
facilitate transactions that involve securitizifigaincial assets or reecuritizing previously securitized financial assethe objective of such transactions
include obtaining nomecourse financing, obtaining liquidity or refinamg the underlying securitized financial assetsimproved terms. Securitizati
involves transferring assets to an SPE to conVleot a portion of those assets into cash befoeg thould have been realized in the normal courdmieines
through the SPE’issuance of debt or equity instruments. Investoan SPE usually have recourse only to the sigs#he SPE and depending on the ov
structure of the transaction, may benefit from aasi forms of credit enhancement, such as ow#ateralization in the form of excess assetshim $PE
priority with respect to receipt of cash flows tela to holders of other debt or equity instrumeistsied by the SPE, or a line of credit or othemfal
liquidity agreement that is designed with the otiyecof ensuring that investors receive principadl/ar interest cash flow on the investment in adanct
with the terms of their investment agreement.

The Company has evaluated its CMBS investmentsréddie Mac-sponsored Keries securitizations to determine whether they\dEs. Ir
addition, the Company also evaluated its financimgssactions, such as its Residential CDOs coenplat 2005, its multi-family CMBS reecuritizatiol
transaction completed in May 2012, its collatesdizecourse financing transactions completed ineldyer 2012 and November 2013 and its distr
residential mortgage loan securitization transasticompleted in December 2012, July 2013 and Sdme2013 (each a “Financing VIEhd collectively
the “Financing VIEs”) and concluded that the eastcreated to facilitate each of the transactioad/tEs.
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The Company then completed an analysis of whetteeMtEs should be consolidated by the Company,daseconsideration of its involvem
in each of the VIEs, including the design and paegpof the SPE, and whether its involvement reftbeteontrolling financial interest that resultedtlia
Company being deemed the primary beneficiary oMites. In determining whether the Company wouldtbasidered the primary beneficiary, the follow
factors were assessed:

° whether the Company has both the power to direcattivities that most significantly impact the remic performance of the VIE; ai
° whether the Company has a right to receive benefiabsorb losses of the entity that could bemlly significant to the VIE.

The Company has determined that it has a variabdedst in the Consolidated 8eries for which it is the primary beneficiary dvab a controllin
financial interest and, accordingly, has consoédaheir assets, liabilities, income and expenseékdé accompanying consolidated financial statesnésee
Notes 2 and /).

Also, based on its evaluation of the factors disedsabove, including its involvement in the purpasé design of the entity, the Comp
determined that the Financing VIEs met the criteaiaconsolidation and, accordingly, consolidateel Financing VIEs created to facilitate these atisns.
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The following table presents a summary of the asaad liabilities of these consolidated Financings/ Intercompany balances have
eliminated for purposes of this presentation.

Assets and Liabilities of consolidated Financing¥ ks of December 31, 2013 (dollar amounts in todss):

Financing VIEs

Distressed
Multi-family Residential Residential
CMBS re- Collateralized Mortgage Mortgage
securitization Recourse Loan Loan
(6h) Financings(®  Securitization  Securitizations Total
Investment securities available for sale, at falue held in
securitization trusts $ 29,28¢ $ 63,28¢ $ — % — 3% 92,57¢
Residential mortgage loans held in securitizatiosts (net) — — — 163,23 163,23
Distressed residential mortgage loans held in s&ation
trusts (net) — — 254,72: — 254,72:
Multi-family loans held in securitization trustg,fair value 1,234,08 6,876,93: — 8,111,02;
Receivables and other assets 5,241 27,19¢ 10,07z 1,76( 44,27
Total assets $ 1,268,61. $ 6,967,42! $ 264,790 $ 164,990 $ 8,665,382
Residential collateralized debt obligations $ — 3 — 3 — $ 158,41( $ 158,41
Multi-family collateralized debt obligations, atifaalue 1,195,63 6,675,38: — — 7,871,02
Securitized debt 27,24( 107,85! 169,87: — 304,96:
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 4,64( 25,31¢ 981 15 30,95:
Total liabilities $ 122751 $ 680855 $ 170,85. $ 158,42 $  8,365,34
@ The Company classified the m-family CMBS issued by two -Series securitizations and held by this Financing ¥s available for se

securities as the purpose is not to trade thesgises. The Financing VIE consolidated one K-8gecuritization that issued certain of the multi
family CMBS owned by the Company, including its edss liabilities, income and expenses, in its feiahstatements, as based on a numb
factors, the Company determined that it was theany beneficiary and has a controlling financiaénest in this particular ISeries securitizatic
('see Note ).

@ The multifamily CMBS serving as collateral under the collalized recourse financings are comprised of stesrissued from seven sepa
Freddie Mac-sponsored multi-family K-Series se@ations. The Financing VIE classified the mudiFfily CMBS issued by the two Kerie:
securitizations and held by the Financing VIE aailable for sale securities as the purpose is mdtade these securities. The Financing
consolidated five of the ISeries securitizations, including their assetdilliies, income and expenses, in its financiatesteents as based o
number of factors, the Company determined that as whe primary beneficiary and has a controllingaficial interest in such Rerie:
securitizations §ee Note 6.
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Assets and Liabilities of Consolidated VIEs as etBmber 31, 2012 (dollar amounts in thousands):

Non-financing

Financing VIEs VIEs
Distressed
Multi-family Residential Residential
CMBS re- Collateralized Mortgage Mortgage
securitization Recourse Loan Loan Multi-family
(1) Financing (@) Securitization ~ Securitizations CMBS ) Total

Investment securities available for sale,

fair value held in securitization trusts ~ $ 22,61 $ 48,54¢ $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 71,15¢
Residential mortgage loans held in

securitization trusts (net) — — — 187,22¢ — 187,22¢
Distressed residential mortgage loans he

in securitization trust (net) — — 60,45¢ — — 60,45¢
Multi-family loans held in securitization

trusts, at fair value 1,335,86: 2,610,271 — — 1,496,76: 5,442,901
Receivables and other assets 5,372 11,79: 3,18 1,42¢ 3,03t 24,81¢
Total assets $ 136384 $ 267062 $ 63,64¢ $ 188,65« $  1,499,80. $  5,786,56!
Residential collateralized debt obligation: $ — $ — 3 — $ 180,97¢ $ — $ 180,97!
Multi-family collateralized debt obligation

at fair value 1,306,76! 2,547,01! — — 1,465,79 5,319,57.
Securitized debt 26,89: 52,00( 38,70( — — 117,59:
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 4,70¢ 10,60¢ 25¢ 15 2,91¢ 18,50°
Total liabilities $ 133835 $ 2,609,620 $ 38,95¢ $ 180,99: $ 1,468,711 $  5,636,65

D The Company classified the multi-family CMBS issusdtwo K-Series securitizations and held by the Financing & available for sale securitie:
the purpose is not to trade these securities. Fihancing VIE consolidated one K-Series securitirathat issued certain of the muliéimily CMBS
owned by the Company, including its assets, liabilj income and expenses, in its financial statésnes based on a number of factors, the Con
determined that it was the primary beneficiary had a controlling financial interest in this pawtar K-Series securitizationsge Note 6.

@ The multifamily CMBS serving as collateral under the collatieed recourse financing are comprised of sdesrissued from four separate Fre:
Mac-sponsored multifamily K-Series securitizatioffhe Financing VIE classified the multi-family CNBBissued by two KSeries securitizations a
held by the Financing VIE as available for saleusigies as the purpose is not to trade these d@m=uriThe Financing VIE consolidated two of the K
Series securitizations, including their assetdiliiees, income and expenses, in its financiatesteents as based on a number of factors, the Cy
determined that it was the primary beneficiary had a controlling financial interest in such K-8ersecuritizationsgee Note §.

®  One of the four Freddie Mac-sponsored multi-farkibBeries securitizations included in the ConsobdaK-Series was not subject to any Financing
as of December 31, 201

F-25




The following table summarizes the Company’s s¢ized debt collateralized by mufimily CMBS and distressed residential mortgagend

(dollar amounts in thousands):

Distressed

Residential

Multi-family Mortgage

CMBS Collateralized Loan
Re-securitization Recourse Securitizations
@ Financings (@ @)
Original Face amount of Notes issued by the VIE pin@¢hased by 3rd party investors $ 35,000 $ 107,850 $ 176,97(
Principal Amount at December 31, 2013 $ 34,50¢ % 107,85 $ 169,87:
Principal Amount at December 31, 2012 $ 35,000 $ 52,00 $ 38,70(
Carrying Value at December 31, 2048 $ 27.24C  $ 107,85: $ 169,87:
Carrying Value at December 31, 2042 $ 26,89 $ 52,000 $ 38,70(
One-month LIBOR

Pass-through rate of Notes issued 5.35% plus 5.25% 6.50% 4.25%- 4.85%

@

@

®

*

The Company engaged in the re-securitization tiimgaprimarily for the purpose of obtaining noreoerse financing on a portion of its muimily
CMBS portfolio. As a result of engaging in thisrtsaction, the Company remains economically exptsetle first loss position on the underly
multi-family CMBS transferred to the Consolidated VIE.eTholders of the Note have no recourse to the géweedit of the Company, but 1
Company does have the obligation, under certaitugistances, to repurchase assets upon the breantah representations and warranties.
Company will receive all remaining cash flow, ifyathrough its retained ownership.

The Company entered into CMBS Master Repurchaseekgents with a three-year term for the purposenafnting a portion of its mulfamily
CMBS portfolio. In connection with these transaatipthe Company agreed to guarantee the due amtuplipayment of its whollpwned subsidiary
obligations under the CMBS Master Repurchase Agesésn

The Company engaged in these transactions forutmope of financing distressed residential mortdages acquired by the Company. The distre
residential mortgage loans serving as collaterattie financings are comprised of performing, refgrening and to a lesser extent nperforming
fixed and adjustable-rate, fulgmortizing, interest only and balloon, seasonedtgage loans secured by first liens on one to faanilfy properties
Two of the four securitization transactions provfde a revolving period of one to two years frone tiiate of the respective financindrRévolving
Period”)where no principal payments will be made on thenétl cash proceeds generated by the distressidiergial mortgage loans and recei
by the respective securitization trust during trevétving Period, after payment of interest on tléenreserve amounts and certain other transi
expenses, will be available for the purchase byt of additional mortgage loans that satisfitaie eligibility criteria.

Classified as securitized debt in the liability tsme of the Company’s accompanying consolidatedred sheets.

The following table presents contractual matunitformation about the Financing VIEsécuritized debt as of December 31, 2013 and DeeefSth 201:
respectively:

Scheduled Maturity (principal amount) December 31, 201  December 31, 201:
(Dollar amount in thousands)

Within 24 months $ 90,70 $ —
Over 24 months to 36 months 187,02: 90,70(
Over 36 months 34,50% 35,00(
Total 312,23: 125,70(
Discount (7,267) (8,109
Carrying value $ 304,96: $ 117,59:

There is no guarantee that the Company will recaiwecash flows from these securitization trusts.
Residential Mortgage Loan Securitization Transattio

The Company has completed four residential mortdage securitizations (other than the distresseitlemtial mortgage loan securitizati

discussed above) since inception; the first threeewaccounted for as permanent financings and baee included in the Compasyaccompanyir
consolidated financial statements.
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Unconsolidated VIEs

The Company has evaluated its Multi-family CMBSedstments in four Freddie Mac-sponsore&&ries securitizations and its mezzanine
preferred equity and other equity investments temeine whether they are VIEs and should be codatad by the Company. Based on a number of fa
the Company determined that it does not have aatng financial interest and is not the primamnigficiary of these VIEs. The following table pnetsethe
classification and carrying value of unconsolidai#ls as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 (dollar artsoin thousands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Investment Investment
securities securities
available for sale available for sale
at fair value, held Receivables at fair value, held Receivables
in securitization and other in securitization and other
trusts Assets Total trusts Assets Total
Multi-Family CMBS $ 9257¢ $ 182 $ 92,761 $ 71,15¢ $ 18¢ $ 71,34°
Mezzanine loan and equity
investments — 28,05¢ 28,05¢ — 3,622 3,62:
Total assets $ 9257¢ $ 28,24. $ 120,81¢ $ 71,15¢ $ 3,71C $ 74,86¢

Our maximum loss exposure on the Miamily CMBS investments, mezzanine loan and ednitgstments is approximately $120.8 million
$74.9 million at December 31, 2013 and December281?2, respectively. The Compasymaximum exposure does not exceed the carryingevef it
investments.

8. Derivative Instruments and Hedgip Activities
The Company enters into derivative instruments &mage its interest rate risk exposure. These dmévanstruments include interest rate sw
swaptions and futures. The Company may also puechiasell short TBAs and U.S. Treasury securifieschase put or call options on U.S. Treasury &s

or invest in other types of mortgage derivativeusiges.

The following table presents the fair value of dative instruments that were not designated asihgdgstruments and their location in
consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2@1lBecember 31, 2012, respectively (dollar amounthousands):

Derivatives Not Designated December 31, December 31,
as Hedging Instruments Balance Sheet Location 2013 2012
TBA securities?) Derivative assets $ 190,74: $ 244,78¢
U.S. Treasury futures Derivative assets 3,257 67¢€
Swaptions Derivative assets 1,30¢ 597
Interest rate swap futures Derivative assets 23€ 8
Options on U.S. Treasury futures Derivative assets 7 58
Eurodollar futures Derivative liabilities 1,43: 3,79¢

(1) Open TBA purchases and sales involving the samateqarty, same underlying deliverable and the saetdement date are reflected in
accompanying consolidated financial statements aetabasis. TBA sales amounting to $0 million &245.6 million have been netted against -
purchases and are included in payable for secaiptiechased in the accompanying consolidated balsimeets at December 31, 2013 and Decemb
2012, respectively.
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The tables below summarize the activity of deriwatinstruments not designated as hedges for thes yaaled December 31, 2013 and 2
respectively (dollar amounts in thousands).

Notional Amount For the Year Ended December 31, 2L

Settlement,
Derivatives Not Designated December 31, Expiration December 31,
as Hedging Instruments 2012 Additions or Exercise 2013
TBA securities $ 234,000 $ 2,563,000 $ (2,609,000 $ 188,00(
U.S. Treasury futures (172,100 875,60( (715,400 (11,900
Interest rate swap futures (23,000 542,70( (772,400 (242,701)
Eurodollar futures (2,852,001 3,492,00! (4,000,00i) (3,360,001
Options on U.S. Treasury futures 70,00( 310,00( (340,000 40,00(
Swaptions 100,00( — — 100,00(

Notional Amount For the Year Ended December 31, 2@L

Settlement,
Derivatives Not Designated December 31, Expiration December 31,
as Hedging Instruments 2011 Additions or Exercise 2012
TBA securities $ 202,000 $ 3,088,000 $ (3,056,00) $ 234,00!
U.S. Treasury futures (92,800 1,142,101 (1,221,40i) (172,101
Interest rate swap futures — 6,00( (29,000 (13,000
Eurodollar futures (2,422,001 1,531,001 (1,961,00i) (2,852,001
Options on U.S. Treasury futures 199,50( 1,181,501 (1,311,00i) 70,00(
Swaptions — 100,00( — 100,00(

The following table presents the components ofizedland unrealized gains and losses related tdarirative instruments that were not designated
as hedging instruments included in other incomedaze) in our consolidated statements of operaf@ribe years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and
2011:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Realized Unrealized Realized Gain: Unrealized Realized Gain: Unrealized

Gains (Losses Gains (Losses (Losses) Gains (Losses (Losses) Gains (Losses

TBA $ (12,39) $ (629 $ 16,397 $ 134y $ 2,88 $ 1,36:

Eurodollar Future§b) (3,599 2,36¢ (1,047 (2,049) (1,98¢) (1,749

Swaptions — 1,15¢ — (26¢) — —
U.S. Treasury and Interest rate swap futi

and options 5,41¢ 2,86¢ (9,54¢) 1,30( (197) (740)

Total $ (10,566 $ 575¢ $ 5807 $ (2,369 $ 705§ (1,126)

@ At December 31, 2013, the Eurodollar futures cani8,360 contracts with expiration dates randiegveen March 2014 and September 2!

The use of TBAs exposes the Company to market valkeas the market value of the securities thatGompany is required to purchase purs
to a TBA transaction may decline below the agrepdn purchase price. Conversely, the market valubeosecurities that the Company is required tt
pursuant to a TBA transaction may increase abowatieed upon sale price. At December 31, 2012@ahd, our consolidated balance sheets include-TBA
related liabilities of $191.6 million and $245.9lkon included in payable for securities purchasedpectively. Open TBA purchases and sales invglthe
same counterparty, same underlying deliverablettmdame settlement date are reflected in our idased financial statements on a net basis.

The following table presents the fair value of dative instruments designated as hedging instrusnand their location in the Compaay’
consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2@1Becember 31, 2012, respectively (dollar amounthousands):

Derivatives Designated December 31, December 31,

as Hedging Instruments Balance Sheet Location 2013 2012
Interest Rate Swaps Derivative assets $ 2,041 $ —
Interest Rate Swaps Derivative liabilities $ — % 1,744
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The Company has netting arrangements by countgmdttt respect to its interest rate swaps. Congratt liability position of $0.3 million ha
been netted against the asset position of $2.3omilind contracts in an asset position of $0.lionilhave been netted against the liability positdri$l.¢
million in the accompanying consolidated balanceesh at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2Gizatévely.

The following table presents the impact of the Camps derivative instruments on the Compangiccumulated other comprehensive inc
(loss) for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2682011 (dollar amounts in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments 2013 2012 2011
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) éoivdtive instruments:
Balance at beginning of the period $ 1,749 $ (304 $ (1,087
Unrealized (loss) gain on interest rate swaps 3,78¢ (1,440 783
Balance at end of the period $ 2,041 $ (1,749 $ (309

The Company estimates that over the next 12 moafispximately $1.6 million of the net unrealizeadrgs on the interest rate swaps will be
reclassified from accumulated other comprehensigerne (loss) into earnings.

The following table details the impact of the Comya interest rate swaps included in interest expémsthe years ended December 31, 2
2012 and 2011, respectively (dollar amounts in $aods):

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Interest Rate Swaps:
Interest expense-investment securities $ 1,731 $ 81C $ 89:

The Companys interest rate swaps are designated as cash flolges against the benchmark interest rate riskciassd with its short ter
repurchase agreements. There were no costs inaifrthd inception of our interest rate swaps, umdgch the Company agrees to pay a fixed rate tef@s
and receive a variable interest rate based on amhnb.IBOR, on the notional amount of the intemagé swaps.

The Company documents its riskanagement policies, including objectives and eglias, as they relate to its hedging activitiesl, gmon enterin
into hedging transactions, documents the relatipnsbtween the hedging instrument and the hedgdility contemporaneously. The Company asse
both at inception of a hedge and on an on-goingbafiether or not the hedge is “highly effectivefien using the matched term basis.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting on gectise basis and recognizes changes in the faievérough earnings when: (i) it
determined that the derivative is no longer effectn offsetting cash flows of a hedged item (inihg forecasted transactions); (ii) it is no longeobabl
that the forecasted transaction will occur; o)) tiis determined that designating the derivatgea hedge is no longer appropriate. The Compaisrivativi
instruments are carried on the Compariyalance sheets at fair value, as assets, iffdieivalue is positive, or as liabilities, if tmdair value is negative. F
the Company’s derivative instruments that are degigd as “cash flow hedgesfianges in their fair value are recorded in accated| other comprehens
income (loss), provided that the hedges are effecA change in fair value for any ineffective ambof the Companyg derivative instruments would
recognized in earnings. The Company has not rezedrany change in the value of its existing deireaihstruments designated as cash flow hedgesgh
earnings as a result of ineffectiveness of anysafiedges.
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The following table presents information about @@mpanys interest rate swaps as of December 31, 2013 acdriber 31, 2012, respectiv
(dollar amounts in thousands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Notional Fixed Pay Notional Fixed Pay
Maturity (1) Amount Interest Rate Amount Interest Rate
Within 30 Days $ — —% $ 8,38( 2.9%%
Over 30 days to 3 months — — — —
Over 3 months to 6 months — — — —
Over 6 months to 12 months — — — —
Over 12 months to 24 months 135,00( 0.4t — —
Over 24 months to 36 months — — 135,00t 0.4t
Over 36 months to 48 months 215,00( 0.8: — —
Over 48 months to 60 months — — 215,00( 0.8¢
Total $ 350,00( 0.6% $ 358,38 0.7%

@ The Company enters into interest rate swap traioseacivhereby the Company pays a fixed rate of ésteand receives one month LIBOR.

The use of derivatives exposes the Company to equentty credit risks in the event of a default byoanterparty. If a counterparty defaults ui
the applicable derivative agreement, the Company lngaunable to collect payments to which it is teedi under its derivative agreements, and may
difficulty collecting the assets it pledged as atdral against such derivatives. The Company ctiyréas in place with all counterpartieslateral margi
agreements requiring a party to post collaterahto Company for any valuation deficit. This arramget is intended to limit the Compasyéxposure 1
losses in the event of a counterparty default.

The Company is required to pledge assets undefla@doal margin arrangement, including either castAgency RMBS, as collateral for
interest rate swaps, futures contracts and TBAgseltollateral requirements vary by counterparty @mange over time based on the market value, mat
amount, and remaining term of the agreement. Iretleat the Company is unable to meet a margirucaléer one of its agreements, thereby causing am
of default or triggering an early termination eventler one of its agreements, the counterpartyc¢b agreement may have the option to terminatef ailict
counterparty’s outstanding transactions with then@any. In addition, under this scenario, any closeamount due to the counterparty upon terminati
the counterpartg transactions would be immediately payable by Goenpany pursuant to the applicable agreement. dmpany believes it was
compliance with all margin requirements under iseaments as of December 31, 2013 and 2012. Thep&uomhad $10.2 million and $19.8 million
restricted cash related to margin posted for ite@gents as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, resplgctThe restricted cash held by third partiem@udec
in receivables and other assets in the accompapingplidated balance sheets.

9. Financing Arrangements, Portfadi Investments

The Company has entered into repurchase agreemihtshird party financial institutions to finandes investment portfolio. The repurch
agreements are shdgrm borrowings that bear interest rates typichged on a spread to LIBOR, and are secured bsgettwwities which they finance.
December 31, 2013, the Company had repurchasemagnéewith an outstanding balance of $791.1 mildod a weighted average interest rate of 0.499
December 31, 2012, the Company had repurchasenagnée with an outstanding balance of $889.1 milaad a weighted average interest rate of 0.54%
of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the average dagstarity for all repurchase agreements are 31 dags39 days, respectively. The Compangtcrue
interest payable on outstanding repurchase agrasraeBecember 31, 2013 and 2012 amounts to $0liémand $0.2 million, respectively, and is incag
in accrued expenses and other liabilities on then@my’s consolidated balance sheets.
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The following table presents detailed informatidaoat the Company’s borrowings under repurchasecageats and associated assets pledged as
collateral at December 31, 2013 and December 3112 2fbllar amounts in thousands):

2013 2012
Amortized Amortized
Outstanding Fair Value of Cost Outstanding Fair Value of Cost
Repurchase Collateral Of Collateral Repurchase Collateral Of Collateral
Agreements Pledged Pledged Agreements Pledged Pledged
Agency RMBS
Agency ARMs $ 197,97: $ 208,70 % 214,03¢ % 240,44 % 253,84. % 253,28:
Agency Fixed Rate 489,95! 516,01( 541,58( 566,03" 597,62( 597,76¢
Agency I0Os 94,69¢ 113,72: 122,87¢ 74,707 90,25( 100,07t
CLOs 8,50( 14,78¢ 8,941 7,95( 12,94¢ 6,87
Balance at end of the period $ 791,12' $ 853,220 $ 887,44« $ 889,13 $ 954,65t $ 958,00:

The following table presents contractual matunitiprmation about the Comparsybutstanding repurchase agreements at Decemb20383,an
2012 (dollar amounts in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
Contractual Maturity 2013 2012
Within 30 days $ 509,56 $ 765,59:
Over 30 days to 90 days 281,56: 123,54:
Total $ 791,12 % 889,13

As of December 31, 2013, the outstanding balandemour repurchase agreements was funded at an@exate of 92.2% that implies an ave
haircut of 7.8%. The weighted average “hairaetated to our repurchase agreement financing dorA@ency RMBS (excluding Agency 10s), Agency
and CLOs was approximately 5%, 25% and 35%, resedgtfor a total weighted average “haircut” 08%.

In the event we are unable to obtain sufficientrstezm financing through repurchase agreements @rwibe, or our lenders start to req
additional collateral, we may have to liquidate owrestment securities at a disadvantageous tirh&hacould result in losses. Any losses resultimgnf the
disposition of our investment securities in thisnmar could have a material adverse effect on oaratimg results and net profitability. At DecemBér 201.
and December 31, 2012, the Company had repurclgaeeraents with 11 counterparties. As of December2813, we had no counterparties where
amount at risk was in excess of 5% of Stockholdegsiity. As of December 31, 2012, the Compargnly exposure where the amount at risk in exo&58t
of StockholdersEquity was to JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. at 5.7%. dineunt at risk is defined as the fair value ofusiies pledged as collateral to
repurchase agreement in excess of the repurchesenagnt liability.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had $31.8amilh cash and $59.2 million in unencumbered itmesit securities to meet additio
haircut or market valuation requirements, includg®.8 million of RMBS, of which $38.4 million a®gency RMBS. The $31.8 million of cash, the $:
million in RMBS, and $30.4 million held in overnigtieposits in our Agency IO portfolio included ®stricted cash (that is available to meet margiis ez
it relates to our Agency 10 portfolio repurchaseeggnents), which collectively represent 13.0% af Bmancing arrangements, portfolio investments
liquid and could be monetized to pay down or celalize the liability immediately.

10. Residential Collateralized Debt Qigations

The Company’s Residential CDOs, which are recomediabilities on the Comparg/’consolidated balance sheets, are secured by ARM
pledged as collateral, which are recorded as as$é¢he Company. As of December 31, 2013 and 202 Company had Residential CDOs outstandil
$158.4 million and $181.0 million, respectively. 88December 31, 2013 and 2012, the current weibaterage interest rate on these CDOs was 0.55
0.59%, respectively. The Residential CDOs are tmtidized by ARM loans with a principal balance$d%65.2 million and $189.0 million at December
2013 and 2012, respectively. The Company retainedivner trust certificates, or residual interesttfiree securitizations, and, as of December @13 2n:
2012, had a net investment in the residential stiation trusts of $6.6 million and $7.0 milliorespectively.
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11. Subordinated Debentures

Subordinated debentures are trust preferred sieutitat are fully guaranteed by the Company wagpect to distributions and amounts pay
upon liquidation, redemption or repayment. Thediwihg table summarizes the key details of the Camijzasubordinated debentures as of Decembe
2013 and December 31, 2012 (dollar amounts in thods):

NYM Preferred Trust | NYM Preferred Trust Il
Principal value of trust preferred securities $ 25,000 $ 20,00(
Three month LIBOR plus 3.75'  Three month LIBOR plus 3.95'
Interest Rate resetting quarter resetting quarter
Scheduled maturity March 15, 203 October 30, 202

As of March 10, 2014 the Company has not beeniadtifand is not aware, of any event of default unile covenants for the subordine
debentures.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Loans Sold to Third Parties Fhe Company sold its discontinued mortgage lenbinginess in March 2007. In the normal course ofmass, th
Company is obligated to repurchase loans basedotations of representations and warranties inltlae sale agreements. The Company did not repua
any loans during the three years ended Decembe@03B.

Outstanding Litigation -The Company is at times subject to various legat@edings arising in the ordinary course of businds of Decemb:
31, 2013, the Company does not believe that antsafurrent legal proceedings, individually or retaggregate, will have a material adverse effeats
operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Leases -in December 2012, the Company entered into a tan lgase agreement with GP 275 Owner, L.L.C. wkiseeCompany relocated
corporate office in March 2013. The lease is actediffor as a nogancelable operating lease. Total property leaperese on this lease amounted to
million for the year ended December 31, 2013. Hasé is secured by a $0.2 million cash deposit.

The prior corporate office lease with VanderbiltsAsiates I, L.L.C. expired in March 2013. Totalpecty lease expense on this lease amoun
$0.1 million, $0.2 million and $0.2 million for elaof the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 aht 20

As of December 31, 2012, obligations under non-ekatide operating leases are as follows (dollar artsoin thousands):

Year Ending December 31, Total
2014 $ 207
2015 207
2016 207
2017 207
2018 21t
Thereafter 1,08
$ 2,13(
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13. Fair Value of Financial Instrumets

The Company has established and documented precémseetermining fair values. Fair value is basgmbn quoted market prices, wh
available. If listed prices or quotes are not ke, then fair value is based upon internallyedeped models that primarily use inputs that areketdase:
or independently-sourced market parameters, inofuiliterest rate yield curves.

A financial instrumens categorization within the valuation hierarchybased upon the lowest level of input that is sigaift to the fair valt
measurement. The three levels of valuation hiésaare defined as follows:

Level 1- inputs to the valuation methodology are quotédasr(unadjusted) for identical assets or liale#itin active markets.

Level 2- inputs to the valuation methodology include quagiedes for similar assets and liabilities in actimarkets, and inputs that are observ
for the asset or liability, either directly or imélctly, for substantially the full term of the fimaial instrument.

Level 3- inputs to the valuation methodology are unobdaerand significant to the fair value measurement.

The following describes the valuation methodologised for the Company’financial instruments measured at fair valueyalt as the gener
classification of such instruments pursuant tovidleation hierarchy.

a. Investment Securities Available for Sale (RMBS@h@s) — Fair value for the RMBS in our portfolio are valuesing a thirdparty pricing
service or are based on quoted prices provideddayeds who make markets in similar financial instemts. The dealers will incorpor
common market pricing methods, including a spre@&surement to the Treasury curve or interest ragp surve as well as underly
characteristics of the particular security inclgdooupon, periodic and life caps, collateral typade reset period and seasoning or age ¢
security. If quoted prices for a security are regsonably available from a dealer, the securityheilreclassified as a Level 3 security anc
a result, management will determine the fair vddased on characteristics of the security that iv@any receives from the issuer and b
on available market information. Management reviealisprices used in determining valuation to enstivey represent current mar
conditions. This review includes surveying simifaarket transactions, comparisons to interest micimodels as well as offerings of |
securities by dealers. The Company's investmenirisies that are comprised of RMBS and CLOs areie@lbased upon readily observi
market parameters and are classified as Level dies.

b. Investment Securities Available for Sale Held icusiéization Trusts (CMBS — As the Company CMBS investments are comprise(
securities for which there are not substantialiyilsir securities that trade frequently, the Compalagsifies these securities as Level 3
values. Fair value of the CompasyCMBS investments is based on an internal valnatiodel that considers expected cash flows fror
underlying loans and yields required by marketipigants. The significant unobservable inputs ugettie measurement of these investr
are projected losses of certain identified loanthiwithe pool of loans and a discount rate. Thealist rate used in determining fair ve
incorporates default rate, loss severity and ctimmgarket interest rates. The discount rate ranges #.2% to 16.1%. Significant increase
decreases in these inputs would result in a sianifly lower or higher fair value measurement.

c. Multi-Family Loans Held in Securitization TrustsMulti-family loans held in securitization trusts are releal at fair value and classifiec
Level 3 fair values. Fair value is based on anriretevaluation model that considers expected clstsffrom the underlying loans and yie
required by market participants. The significanbliservable inputs used in the measurement of timeestments are discount rates.
discount rate used in determining fair value incoapes default rate, loss severity and current etarkerest rates. The discount rate ra
from 3.4% to 6.5%. Significant increases or decreases in these inpotttd result in a significantly lower or higher faialue measurement.

d. Derivative Instrument— The fair value of interest rate swaps, swaptiomioaos and TBAs are based on dealer quotes. Thevétiie o
futures are based on exchange-traded prices. Thp&uw/’'s derivatives are classified as Level 1 ordl@ fair values.

e . Multi-Family CDOs— The fair value of MultiFamily CDOs is determined using a third party migcservice or are based on quoted p
provided by dealers who make markets in similaarditial instruments. The dealers will consider attral cash payments and yi¢
expected by market participants. Dealers also pawrate common market pricing methods, includingp@ad measurement to the Trea
curve or interest rate swap curve as well as uyidericharacteristics of the particular securityliling coupon, periodic and life ca
collateral type, rate reset period and seasoniragerof the securit
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The following table presents the Companfihancial instruments measured at fair value oacarring basis as of December 31, 2013 and
respectively, on the Company’s consolidated balsheets (dollar amounts in thousands):

Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis at

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets carried at fair value
Investment securities availab
for sale:
Agency RMBS $ — $ 876,87 $ — $ 876,87 $ — $1,001,23 % — $ 1,001,23
Non-Agency RMBS — 2,361 — 2,361 — 2,681 — 2,681
CLOs — 33,20¢ — 33,20¢ — 30,78¢ — 30,78¢
Investment securities availab
for sale held in securitizatic
trusts:
CMBS — — 92,57¢ 92,57¢ — — 71,15¢ 71,15¢
Multi-family loans held in
securitization trusts — — 8,111,02. 8,111,02; — — 5,442 .90 5,442 90
Derivative Assets: — — — —
TBA Securities — 190,74: — 190,74: — 244,78 — 244,78
Options on U.S. Treasury
futures 7 — — 7 — 59 — 59
U.S. Treasury futures 3,257 — — 3,257 67€ — — 67¢
Interest rate swap futures 23€ — — 23¢ 8 — — 8
Interest rate swaps — 2,041 — 2,041 — — — —
Swaptions — 1,30 — 1,30¢ — 597 — 597
Total $ 3,50z $ 1,106,53. $ 8,203,600 $ 9,313,63. $ 684 $ 1,280,151 $ 5,514,060 $ 6,794,90!
Liabilities carried at fair
value
Multi- family collateralized del
obligations $ — 3 — $ 7,871,020 $ 7,871,020 $ —  $ — $ 5,319,57 $ 5,319,57:
Derivative liabilities:
Interest rate swaps — — — — — 1,744 — 1,74¢
Eurodollar futures 1,432 — — 1,43 3,79¢ — — 3,79¢
Total $ 143: $ — $ 7,871,020 $ 7,872,45 $ 3,79¢ $ 1,74¢ $ 5,319,57. $ 5,325,11!

The following table details changes in valuation fioe Level 3 assets for the years ended DecembeP@®L3, 2012 and 2011, respecti
(amounts in thousands):

Level 3 Assets:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Balance at beginning of period $ 5,514,06! $ 41,18 $ —
Total gains (realized/unrealized)

Included in earning&) (470,46 167,09- —

Included in other comprehensive income 15,53: 3,76¢ (1,03¢)
Purchases 3,218,30. 4,212,00! 42,22
Paydowns (73,83) (28,039 —
Transferd?) — 1,118,04. —
Balance at the end of period $ 8,203,601 $ 5,514,060 $ 41,18t

@ Amounts included in interest income from multi-fymioans held in securitization trusts and unrealigain on multfamily loans and debt held
securitization trusts, net.

Based on a number of factors, we determined thaivexe the primary beneficiary of one $eries securitization as of January 4, 2012 ana
consolidated its assets, liabilities, income ange@ses in our consolidated financial statements.

&)
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The following table details changes in valuation tloe Level 3 liabilities for the years ended Debem31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respecti
(amounts in thousands):

Level 3 Liabilities:
Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Balance at beginning of period $ 5,319,57. $ — 3 —
Total gains (realized/unrealized)

Included in earning§) (521,419 152,44( —

Included in other comprehensive income — — —
Purchases 3,146,67! 4,077,271 —
Paydowns (73,819 (28,039 —
Transferd? — 1,117,89. —
Balance at the end of period $ 7,871,020 $ 5319,57. $ —

@ Amounts included in interest income from multi-fynioans held in securitization trusts and unreadiggain on multfamily loans and debt held

securitization trusts, net.
Based on a number of factors, we determined thatvere the primary beneficiary of one $eries securitization as of January 4, 2012 ana
consolidated its assets, liabilities, income ange@ses in our consolidated financial statements.

@

The following table details the changes in unregligains (losses) included in earnings for our L&8vassets and liabilities for the years er
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectivelyaamounts in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Change in unrealized gains (losses) — assets $ (423,949 $ 194,36: $ —
Change in unrealized gains (losses) — liabilities 455,44 (187,70) —
Net change in unrealized gains included in earnfogassets and liabilitie $ 31,49 $ 6,66z $ —

Any changes to the valuation methodology are regtblsy management to ensure the changes are ageophis markets and products dev
and the pricing for certain products becomes maesparent, the Company continues to refine iteatedn methodologies. The methods described ¢
may produce a fair value calculation that may retriglicative of net realizable value or reflectofefuture fair values. Furthermore, while the Camy
believes its valuation methods are appropriatecamgistent with other market participants, the afsdifferent methodologies, or assumptions, to hailee
the fair value of certain financial instruments lcbresult in a different estimate of fair valuetla¢ reporting date. The Company uses inputs tieatwrent ¢
of each reporting date, which may include periodsarket dislocation, during which time price trpeasency may be reduced. This condition could c#uwe
Company'’s financial instruments to be reclassifiedh Level 2 to Level 3 in future periods.

The following table presents assets measured awvédile on a nomecurring basis as of December 31, 2013 and 2@dshectively, on tf
consolidated balance sheets (dollar amounts irstrals):

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Bds at
December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Residential Mortgage loans

held in securitization trusts

impaired loans (net) $ $ $ 6,591 $ 6,591 $ — 3 — 3 505¢ $ 5,05¢
Real estate owned held in

residential securitization

trusts 1,10¢ 1,10¢ — — 73z 732
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The following table presents losses incurred faetss measured at fair value on a meedrring basis for the years ended December 313,201
and 2011, respectively, on the Company’s consditiatatements of operations (dollar amounts inghiods):

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Residential mortgage loans held in securitizatioets — impaired loans (net) $ 701 % 707 % 1,38(
Real estate owned held in residential securitipattiosts 432 45 87

Residential Mortgage Loans Held in Securitizationsts — Impaired Loans (net)lmpaired residential mortgage loans held in seization trust
are recorded at amortized cost less specific loas teserves. Impaired loan value is based on reermags estimate of the net realizable value taking
consideration local market conditions of the propearpdated appraisal values of the property atithated expenses required to remediate the impéeed

Real Estate Owned Held in Residential Securitinafiousts —Real estate owned held in the residential secatitin trusts are recorded at
realizable value. Any subsequent adjustment willltein the reduction in carrying value with theresponding amount charged to earnings. Net gt
value based on an estimate of disposal takingdatsideration local market conditions of the proparpdated appraisal values of the property atichatec
expenses required to sell the property.

The following table presents the carrying valud astimated fair value of the Compasyinancial instruments at December 31, 2013 ari®,
respectively, (dollar amounts in thousands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Fair Value Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Hierarchy Level Value Fair Value Value Fair Value
Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents Level 1 $ 31,79¢ $ 31,79¢ $ 31,777 $ 31,77:
Investment securities available for sale Level 2 912,44 912,44 1,034,71. 1,034,71.
Investment securities available for sale, at falue held in
securitization trusts Level 3 92,57¢ 92,57¢ 71,15¢ 71,15¢
Residential mortgage loans held in securitizatiasts (net) Level 3 163,23° 152,10 187,22¢ 165,91¢
Distressed residential mortgage loans (fiet) Level 3 264,43 254.54: 60,45¢ 60,45¢
Multi-family loans held in securitization trusts Level 3 8,111,02; 8,111,02; 5,442,90! 5,442,90
Derivative assets Level 1 or 2 197,59( 197,59( 246,12¢ 246,12¢
Mortgage loans held for sale (n&) Level 3 2,49¢ 2,59t 2,831 2,83
First mortgage loan@ Level 3 8,24¢ 8,31¢ 1,75¢ 1,77F
Mezzanine loan and equity investme@ts Level 3 21,56¢ 21,81 3,522 3,522
Financial Liabilities:
Financing arrangements, portfolio investments Level 2 $ 791,12 $ 791,12 $ 889,13« $ 889,13
Residential collateralized debt obligations Level 3 158,41( 151,91( 180,97¢ 160,50t
Multi-family collateralized debt obligations Level 3 7,871,02 7,871,020 5,319,57. 5,319,57.
Securitized debt Level 3 304,96 311,53¢ 117,59: 118,40:
Derivative liabilities Level 1 or 2 1,43: 1,432 5,542 5,542
Payable for securities purchased Level 1 191,59: 191,59: 245,93: 245,93:
Subordinated debentures Level 3 45,00( 39,31( 45,00( 34,10¢

(M Includes distressed residential mortgage loans imetcuritization trusts with a carrying value amting to approximately $254.7 million and $€
million at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 20&8pectively. Distressed residential mortgage doatith a carrying value amounting
approximately $9.7 million are included in receilesband other assets in the accompanying consatidstlance sheets at December 31, 2013.

(@ Included in receivables and other assets imtitempanying consolidated balance sheets.
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In addition to the methodology to determine the VYailue of the Compang’financial assets and liabilities reported at ¥aiue on a recurring ba
and nonrecurring basis, as previously described, the ¥alg methods and assumptions were used by the Gomipaarriving at the fair value of t
Company'’s other financial instruments in the tabiemediately above:

a. Cash and cash equivalent&stimated fair value approximates the carrying @afisuch assets.

b. Residential mortgage loans held in securitizatiamsts (net)— Residential mortgage loans held in the securitizatrusts are recorded
amortized cost. Fair value is based on an interallation model that considers the aggregated ctarstics of groups of loans such as,
not limited to, collateral type, index, interesteramargin, length of fixedate period, life cap, periodic cap, underwritingnslards, age a
credit estimated using the estimated market pfmesimilar types of loans.

c. Distressed residential mortgage loans (r— Fair value is estimated using pricing models takirig consideration current interest rates,
amount, payment status and property type, and dste®f future interest rates, home prices andeptppalues, prepayment speeds, del
loss severities, and actual purchases and sasitr loans.

d. Mortgage loans held for sale (ne& The fair value of mortgage loans held for sale)(aet estimated by the Company based on the pr&
would be received if the loans were sold as whota$ taking into consideration the aggregated chenistics of the loans such as, but
limited to, collateral type, index, interest rameargin, length of fixed interest rate period, liflme cap, periodic cap, underwriting stande
age and credit.

e. First mortgage loan and mezzanine loan and equaigs$tment— Estimated fair value is determined by both markenhgarable pricing at
discounted cash flows. The discounted cash flowshased on the underlying contractual cash flovdsesstimated changes in market yie
The fair value also reflects consideration of cleanigp credit risk since the origination or timerafial investment.

f.  Financing arrangement- The fair value of these financing arrangements@pprates cost as they are short term in nature.

g. Residential collateralized debt obligatio— The fair value of these CDOs is based on discounssth flows as well as market pricing
comparable obligations.

h. Securitized debt The fair value of securitized debt is based eoalinted cash flows using management’s estimamdoket yields.
i. Payable for securities purchas— Estimated fair value approximates the carrying @afisuch liabilities.

j. Subordinated debenturesTHe fair value of these subordinated debenturbased on discounted cash flows using managemestimate fc
market yields.

14. Stockholders’ Equity
(a) Dividends on Preferred Sto

The Company had 200,000,000 authorized shareseéérped stock, par value $0.01 per share, withB@D shares issued and outstanding
December 31, 2013. There was no preferred stocktamding at December 31, 2012. During the year éridkecember 31, 2013, the Company is:
3,000,000 shares of 7.75% Series B Cumulative Redele Preferred Stock (“Series B Preferred Stoakith a par value of $0.01 per share and a liquich
preference of $25 per share, 3,450,000 sharesraetipin an underwritten public offering, for mabceeds of approximately $72.4 million, after detthg
underwriting discounts and offering expenses. $bBes B Preferred Stock is entitled to receidévalend at a rate of 7.75% per year on the $25idiatior
preference and is senior to the common stock veispect to distributions upon liquidation, dissaator winding up. The Series B Preferred Stoclegalty
does not have any voting rights, subject to an gtkme in the event the Company fails to pay dividemn such stock for six or more quarterly pei
(whether or not consecutive). Under such circuntss, the Series B Preferred Stock will be entitiedvote to elect two additional directors to
Company’s Board of Directors (the “Boardigsignating the Series B Preferred Stock untibaflaid dividends have been paid or declared andpset fo
payment. In addition, certain material and advetsanges to the terms of the Series B PreferreckS@nnot be made without the affirmative vote allere
of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shareSearies B Preferred Stock.
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The Series B Preferred Stock is not redeemablenbyCompany prior to June 4, 2018, except undeumistances intended to preserve
Companys qualification as a REIT and except upon the getiwe of a Change of Control (as defined in théckes Supplementary designating the Seri
Preferred Stock). On and after June 4, 2018, thagaoy may, at its option, redeem the Series B RegfeStock, in whole or in part, at any time omfréime
to time, for cash at a redemption price equal .82 per share, plus any accumulated and unpaidedigs.

In addition, upon the occurrence of a Change oft@brthe Company may, at its option, redeem theeSa& Preferred Stock, in whole or in p
within 120 days after the first date, on which s@ange of Control occurred, for cash at a redemptrice of $25.00 per share, plus any accumulate
unpaid dividends.

The Series B Preferred Stock has no stated matusityot subject to any sinking fund or mandataegamption and will remain outstand
indefinitely unless repurchased or redeemed byCihimapany or converted into the Compagbmmon stock in connection with a Change of @bty the
holders of the Series B Preferred Stock.

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, eadtiehaf Series B Preferred Stock will have the tiginless the Company has exercised its
right to redeem the Series B Preferred Stock) toved some or all of the Series B Preferred Stoekl by such holder into a number of shares of our
common stock per share of Series B Preferred Stdetérmined by a formula, in each case, on the temassubject to the conditions described in the
Articles Supplementary.

From the time of original issuance of the SerieBrBferred Stock through December 31, 2013, the @osnpas declared and paid all requ
quarterly dividends on such stock. The followingléapresents the relevant dates with respect to guarterly cash dividends on the Series B PredeBtecl
from issuance through December 31, 2013:

Cash
Dividend
Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Per Share
June 18, 2013 July 1, 2013 July 15, 2013 $ 0.22066!
September 12, 2013 October 1, 2013 October 15, 2013 $ 0.48437!
December 10, 2013 January 1, 2014 January 15, 2014 $ 0.48437!

(b) Dividends on Common Sto

The following table presents cash dividends dedldrg the Company on its common stock with respecedch of the quarterly peric
commencing January 1, 2011 and ended Decembef33; 2

Cash
Dividend
Period Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Per Share

Fourth Quarter 2013 December 10, 2013 December 20, 2013 January 27, 2014 $ 0.27
Third Quarter 2013 September 12, 2013 September 23, 2013 October 25, 2013 0.27
Second Quarter 2013 June 18, 2013 June 28, 2013 July 25, 2013 0.27

First Quarter 2013 March 18, 2013 March 28, 2013 April 25, 2013 0.217
Fourth Quarter 2012 December 14, 2012 December 24, 2012 January 25, 2013 0.27
Third Quarter 2012 September 18, 2012 September 28, 2012 October 25, 2012 0.217
Second Quarter 2012 June 15, 2012 June 25, 2012 July 25, 2012 0.27

First Quarter 2012 March 19, 2012 March 29, 2012 April 25, 2012 0.2t
Fourth Quarter 2011 December 15, 2011 December 27, 2011 January 25, 2012 0.3:®W
Third Quarter 2011 September 20, 2011 September 30, 2011 October 25, 2011 0.2t
Second Quarter 2011 May 31, 2011 June 10, 2011 June 27, 2011 0.22

First Quarter 2011 March 18, 2011 March 31, 2011 April 26, 2011 0.1¢

(€Y

Includes a $0.10 per share special dividend.

During 2013, dividends for our common stock weteO8 per share. For tax reporting purposes, th& 2didends were classified as ordir

income and return of capital in the amounts of $&B8d $0.27, respectively per share. During 20i/&jehds for our common stock were $1.06 per sHamt
tax reporting purposes, the 2012 dividends werssdlad as ordinary income and return of capitahie amounts of $0.92 and $0.14, respectively pare
During 2011, dividends for our common stock werédd®Iper share. For tax reporting purposes, theleinds were classified as ordinary income.

F-38




(c) Public Offering of Common Sto

The table below presents information with respecthares of the Compasytommon stock issued through public offeringsrduthe three yee
ended December 31, 2013:

Share Issue Date Shares Issued Net Proceedd?)
(Amounts in Thousands)

May 3, 2013 13,60( $ 94,43
October 9, 2012 15,52 % 104,14«
September 4, 2012 1,50C $ 9,76%
August 21, 2012 10,00( $ 64,89:
July 17, 2012 517t $ 33,15(
May 31, 2012 3,16 $ 20,03:
December 16, 2011 36C $ 2,36(
December 6, 2011 2,40C $ 15,42:
July 14, 2011 22 % 1,60:
July 1, 2011 1,50C $ 10,32t

@ proceeds are net of underwriting costs and offegigenses paid by the Company.
(d) Equity Distribution Agreemel

On June 11, 2012, we entered into an equity digioh agreement with JIMP Securities LLC (“JMRY the placement agent, pursuant to whic
may sell up to $25,000,000 worth of shares of mmmon stock from time to time through JMP. We hawveobligation to sell any of the shares unde
equity distribution agreement and may at any tiospend solicitations and offers under the equigyritiution agreement. As of December 31, 2013, e
issued 827,313 shares under the equity distribiggneement resulting in total net proceeds to thmany of $5.8 million, after deducting the placet
fees.

15. Earnings Per Share

The Company calculates basic net income per shadivinling net income for the period by weightaderage shares of common stock outstar
for that period. Diluted net income per share taikés account the effect of dilutive instrumentsgls as convertible preferred stock, stock optiomd
unvested restricted or performance stock, but tieeaverage share price for the period in detengittie number of incremental shares that are sbded t

the weighted-average number of shares outstan@iveye were no dilutive instruments for the yeameghDecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

The following table presents the computation ofibasid dilutive net income per share for the pesigwicated (dollar amounts in thousa
except per share amounts):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Numerator :

Net income attributable to common stockholc— Basic $ 65,387 $ 28,27¢ $ 4.77¢
Net income from continuing operations 65,381 28,26¢ 4,71
Net income from discontinued operations (net of tax — 14 63

Net income attributable to common stockhol— Dilutive 65,381 28,27¢ 4,77¢
Net income from continuing operations 65,38 27,26¢ 4,71
Net income from discontinued operations (net of tax $ — % 14 $ 63

Denominator:

Weighted average basic and dilutive shares outstgnd 59,10 26,067 10,49t

EPS:

Basic EPS $ 111 $ 1.0¢ $ 0.4¢€
Basic EPS from continuing operations 1.11 1.0¢ 0.4¢
Basic EPS from discontinued operations (net of tax) — — 0.01

Dilutive EPS $ 111 8 1.0¢ $ 0.4¢€
Dilutive EPS from continuing operations 1.11 1.0¢ 0.4t
Dilutive EPS from discontinued operations (netaof)t — — 0.01
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16. Stock Incentive Plan

In May 2010, the Company’s stockholders approved@ompany’s 2010 Stock Incentive Plan (the “201&nB| with such stockholder acti
resulting in the termination of the Company’s 2@b6ck Incentive Plan (the “2005 PlanThe terms of the 2010 Plan are substantially tieesas the 20(
Plan. Pursuant to the 2010 Plan, eligible emplayefficers and directors of the Company have thpoojunity to acquire the Company's common <
through the award of restricted stock and otheitg@uvards under the 2010 Plan. The maximum nurobehares that may be issued under the 2010 F
1,190,000.

Of the common stock authorized at December 31, 20182012, 995,029 shares and 1,094,414 sharpgcte®ly, were reserved for issua
under the Compang’ 2010 Stock Incentive Plan. At December 31, 2048 2012, there were 94,873 and 31,580 shares ofstew restricted sto
outstanding under the 2010 Plan. The Compadirectors have been issued 83,311 and 59,31&sshader the 2010 Plan as of December 31, 2013Gi®
respectively. The Company'’s officers have beenedsil 1,660 and 36,275 shares under the 2010 PlafrDecember 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012abd, the Company recognized ncash compensation expense of $0.2 million, $0.lian
and $0.1 million, respectively. Dividends are paidall restricted stock issued, whether those shizage vested or not. In general, n@sted restricted sto
is forfeited upon the recipient's termination offgoayment. There were no forfeitures during the gearded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

A summary of the activity of the Company's naested restricted stock under the 2010 Plan forydas ended December 31, 2013, 201z
2011, respectively, is presented below:

2013 2012 2011
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Per Number of Average Per Number of Average Per
Non-vested Share Non-vested Share Non-vested Share
Restricted Grant Date Restricted Grant Date Restricted Grant Date
Shares Fair Value (1) Shares Fair Value (1) Shares Fair Value (1)
Nor-vested shares at January 1 31,58( $ 6.5¢ 14,08 $ 7.1C 28,99¢ $ 5.42
Granted 75,38¢ 7.1% 22,191 6.3€ 14,08¢ 7.1C
Forfeited — — — — — —
Vested (12,097 6.6¢ (4,695 7.1C (28,999 5.4%
Non-vested shares as of December 31 94,87 $ 7.01 3158 $ 6.5¢ 14,08¢ $ 7.1C
Weighted-average restricted stock grante
during the period 75,388 $ 7.1% 22,191 $ 6.3€ 14,08¢ $ 7.1C

@ The grant date fair value of restricted stock awasthased on the closing market price of the Coy's common stock at the grant de¢

At each of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Compadyunrecognized compensation expense of $0.4omillind $0.1 million, respective
related to the normested shares of restricted common stock unde2Ghé Plan. The unrecognized compensation experidecaimber 31, 2013 is expecte
be recognized over a weighted average period of&as. The total fair value of restricted shamested during the years ended December 31, 2012, &
2011 was $86,000, $33,000 and $0.2 million, respelgt The requisite service period for restricidres at issuance is three years.

17. Income Taxes

At December 31, 2013, one of the Companyholly owned TRSs had approximately $59 millidnnet operating loss carryforwards which
Company does not expect to be able to utilize teedfuture taxable income, other than taxablerime@rising from certain “built in gaingn its CLOs. Th
carryforwards will expire between 2024 through 20Z8e Internal Revenue Code places certain linitastion the annual amount of net operating
carryforwards that can be utilized if certain chesign the Compang’ ownership occur. The Company determined durint2bat it had undergo
ownership changes within the meaning of InternaledRee Code Section 382 that the Company believitsulistantially eliminate utilization of these
operating loss carryforwards to offset future td@abhcome. In general, if a company incurs an owhigr change under Section 382, the company'syati
utilize a NOL carryforward to offset its taxableeame becomes limited to a certain amount per ya&013, the Company, through its wholly owned T
incurred net operating losses in the aggregate atafuapproximately $2.5 million. The Compasycarryforward net operating losses will expire203 il
they are not offset by future taxable income. Aiddilly, during 2013, the Company, through onet®fiholly owned TRSs, also incurred approximatelye
million in capital losses. The Compasytarryforward capital losses will expire by 2018hiey are not offset by future capital gains. Te@mpany he
recorded a full valuation allowance against itsdeferred tax assets at December 31, 2013 as ntapag€eoes not believe that it is more likely tham tha
the net deferred tax assets will be realized.
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The Company files income tax returns with the WeBeral government and various state and locadigiions. The Company is no longer sut
to tax examinations by tax authorities for yeaisro 2010. The Company has assessed its taxigusifor all open years, which includes 2010 to28a¢
concluded that there are no material uncertaimtié® recognized.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 20122aad, the Compang’ TRSs recorded approximately $0.7 million, $0.%iom, and $0..
million, respectively of income tax expense. Tharpanys estimated taxable income differs from the stayuthS. federal rate as a result of state and
taxes, non-taxable REIT income, valuation allowazuce other differences.

A reconciliation of the statutory income tax praeisto the effective income tax provision for theays ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and
respectively, are as follows (dollar amounts inusends).

December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Provision at statutory rate $ 24,39 35.(% $ 10,19( 35.(% $ 1,857 35.(%
Non-taxable REIT income (26,21%) (37.6) (9,779 (33.6) (1,08¢) (20.5)
State and local tax provision 34¢ 0.t 12¢ 04 23¢ 4.t
Other (859) (1.2) 331 1.1 (1,810 (34.1)
Valuation allowance 3,06¢ 4.4 56 0.2 1,23¢ 23.c
Total provision $ 73¢ 1.1% $ 932 3.1% $ 43¢ 8.2%

The income tax provision for the years ended Deeem3fi, 2013, 2012 and 2011 is comprised of thedetlg components (dollar amounts
thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Current income tax expense $ 73¢ % 93z % 43¢
Deferred income tax expense — — —
Total provision $ 73¢ % 93z % 43¢

The gross deferred tax asset at December 31, 2@13G12 is $30.3 million and $27.2 million, respesly. The major sources of temporary
differences included in the deferred tax assetstlagid deferred tax effect as of December 31, 2082012 are as follows (dollar amounts in thouspand

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforward $ 28,25( $ 27,07¢

Net capital loss carryforward 1,59« —

GAAP/Tax basis differences 48¢ 13E

Total deferred tax asséfs 30,33 27,21
Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 55 —

Total deferred tax liabilitie&®) 55 —

Valuation allowance (30,27¢) (27,219
Total net deferred tax asset $ — $

@D Included in receivables and other assets in therapanying consolidated balance sheets.
() Included in accrued expenses and other liabilitidee accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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18. Related Party Transactions
Management Agreement

On April 5, 2011, the Company entered into a mamaage agreement with RiverBanc LLC (“RiverBangiyrsuant to which RiverBanc provic
investment management services to the Company. @mtM13, 2013, the Company entered into an ameadddrestated management agreement
RiverBanc (as amended, the “RiverBanc Managememeekgent”). The RiverBanc Management Agreement replaces thta pmanagement agreem
between RiverBanc and the Company, dated as of Bp#i011. The amended and restated agreemennheffeative date of January 1, 2013 and has a
that will expire on December 31, 2014, subjectutoeatic annual one-year renewals thereof.

As of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012Ctmpany owned a 20% and 15% membership interegtecévely, in RiverBanc. For t
year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recab$iz8 million in income related to its investmenRiverBanc.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 ant 24 Company expensed $3.4 million, $0.9 millkord $0.1 million in fees to RiverBal
respectively. As of December 31, 2013 and Decer8lie2012, the Company had management fees pay@aBe¢rBanc of $1.0 million and $0.1 millic
respectively, included in accrued expenses and o#imlities.

Accounting Outsourcing Agreement

The Company entered into an outsourcing agreem#htReal Estate Systems Implementation Group, LIRESIG”) effective May 1, 201!
pursuant to which RESIG, among other things, (ajopms day-today accounting services for the Company and (l8céffe October 4, 2010, provide
Chief Financial Officer to the Company. During tyears ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 ctashe, RESIG earned $0.7 million, $0.7 milli
and $0.5 million in fees. As of December 31, 208 2012, the Company had fees payable to RESIBeiramount of approximately $0.1 million and ¢
million, respectively, included in accrued expenaed other liabilities.

Termination of Advisory Agreement

On December 30, 2011, the Company and Harvest & &titategies LLC (“HCS"pgreed to terminate the HCS Advisory Agreementiffe or
December 31, 2011, with HCS agreeing to waive 8tedhy advance notice requirement provided in the A@8sory Agreement. In addition, the Comp.
and HCS agreed that, in consideration of the teatiin of the HCS Advisory Agreement, the Companyubldgpay to HCS a termination fee equa
$2,235,000 (the “Agreed Feethich fee is the sum of (a) the termination feevjmed in the HCS Advisory Agreement and (b) $500,00hich represer
the fees that otherwise would have been payabteugfr the end of the term of the HCS Advisory Agreem The Agreed Fee was paid to HCS by
Company in three separate installments with the firstallment of $1,735,000 paid on December 81,12 and the final two installments of $250,000
paid on May 9, 2012.

Pursuant to the terms of the HCS Advisory Agreemtatiowing the termination date of December 31120the Company will continue to f
incentive compensation to HCS with respect to aflets of the Company that were, as of the effed¢éwmination date, managed pursuant to the
Advisory Agreement (the “Incentive Tail Assetsiitil such time as such Incentive Tail Assets dspaked of by the Company or mature. The Com
expensed $40,000 and $2.2 million in 2012 and 2fEshectively, relating to the termination of th€ $1Advisory Agreement.
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19. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudid)

The following table is a comparative breakdown of onaudited quarterly results for the immediat@ceding eight quarters (dollar amounts in
thousands, except per share data):

Three Months Ended

Mar. 31, Jun. 30, Sep. 30, Dec. 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013
Interest income $ 59,12¢ $ 68,81¢ $ 77,02 $ 86,75¢
Interest expense 46,14 54,911 61,532 68,58¢
Net interest income 12,98¢ 13,89¢ 15,49: 18,17
Other Income:
Provision for loan losses (283) (389 (239) (357)
Impairment loss on investment securities — — (225) —
Realized gain (loss) on investment securities atated hedges, net (3,162) (8,490 3,31¢ (2,386
Realized gain on distressed residential mortgagesio 13€ 43t 48¢€ 542
Unrealized (loss) gain on investment securitiesrafated hedges, net 2,45¢ 2,057 (1,499 2,44¢
Unrealized gain on multi-family loans and debt heldecuritization trusts, ne 7,051 8,981 6,33¢ 9,12¢
Other Income (loss) 26€ 23k 5 2,201
Total other income 6,46¢ 2,83¢ 8,187 11,57¢
General, administrative and other expenses 3,93¢ 4,644 5,082 6,25¢
Income from operations before income taxes 15,51« 12,08¢ 18,591 23,49¢
Income tax expense 131 18¢ 211 20¢
Net income 15,38¢ 11,90( 18,38¢ 23,28¢
Preferred Stock Dividends (662) (1,459 (1,459)
Net income attributable to common stockholc $ 15,38 $ 11,23t $ 16,93 $ 21,83
Per share basic income $ 031 $ 0.1¢ $ 027 $ 0.34
Per share diluted income $ 031 §$ 0.1¢ $ 027 $ 0.34
Dividends declared per common share $ 027 $ 027 $ 027 $ 0.27
Weighted average shares outstanding-basic 49,61! 58,95¢ 63,75¢ 63,87¢
Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted 49,611 58,95¢ 63,75¢ 63,87¢
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Three Months Ended

Mar. 31, Jun. 30, Sep. 30, Dec. 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012
Interest income $ 19,091 $ 24991 $ 43837 $ 49,42¢
Interest expense 12,88¢ 19,15( 35,74¢ 38,14«
Net interest income 6,201 5,841 8,08¢ 11,28¢
Other Income:
Provision for loan losses (230 (59) (247) (230)
Realized gain (loss) on investment securities atated hedges, net 1,057 (45€) 5,037 63C
Realized gain on distressed residential mortgagiesideld in securitization
trusts — — — 85
Unrealized (loss) gain on investment securitiesrafated hedges, net (872) 171 (1,875 (1,37)
Unrealized gain on multi-family loans and debt heldecuritization trusts, ne 2,02: 2,20¢ 762 1,67
Other Income (loss) 37¢ 35¢ (65) 13t
Total other income 2,35¢ 2,21¢ 3,617 922
General, administrative and other expenses 2,661 2,64t 3,18¢ 2,93:
Income from continuing operations before income$ax 5,89¢ 5,41¢ 8,517 9,27
Income tax expense (benefit) — 467 59¢ (133)
Income from continuing operations 5,89¢ 4,94 7,91¢ 9,40¢
(Loss) income from discontinued operation - netaaf (9) 42 (2) (18)
Net income 5,89( 4,98¢ 7,91z 9,39(
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrollingeiest 51 (14¢) — —
Net income attributable to common stockholc $ 583 $ 51371 $ 791 % 9,39(
Per share basic income $ 04z $ 034 $ 03C $ 0.1¢
Per share diluted income $ 04z $ 034 $ 03C $ 0.1¢
Dividends declared per common share $ 0.2t $ 027 $ 027 $ 0.27
Weighted average shares outstanding-basic 13,99¢ 15,26: 26,541 48,21¢
Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted 13,99¢ 15,26: 26,541 48,21¢

20. Subsequent Events
On January 10, 2014, we closed on the issuanc#,50@,000 shares of common stock to the undensr{tecluding the 1,500,000 shares issu
pursuant to the option granted to the underwriteesulting in net proceeds to the Company of axprately $75.8 million, after deducting estimatetenng

expenses.

In January 2014, the Company sold a pool of dise@sesidential mortgage loans with a carrying eadfi approximately $29.4 million f
aggregate proceeds of approximately $36.9 millidnis resulted in approximately $7.5 million netlized gain, before income taxes, to the Company.
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Exhibits: The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation &+ listed below. Management contracts or compensplans are filed as Exhibits 10.11

through 10.15.

Exhibit

Description

3.1

3.2

3.3

4.1

4.2

4.3(a)

4.3(b)

4.4(a)

4.4(b)

10.1

10.2

10.3

Articles of Amendment and Restatement of New Yordrtgage Trust, Inc. (as amended)*

Bylaws of New York Mortgage Trust, Inc., as amendledorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to thmmpanys Annual Report on Fot
10-K filed on March 4, 2011).

Articles Supplementary designating the Comy's 7.75% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferak $the" Series B Preferred Stc”)
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the @amy's Registration Statement on For-A filed on May 31, 2013)

Form of Common Stock Certificate. (Incorporatedréference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s RegigiraStatement on Form &t as filet
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (Resgish No. 333-111668), effective June 23, 2004).

Form of certificate representing the SerigSuBnulative Redeemable Convertible Preferred S@ettificate (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.4 to the Compar’'s Registration Statement on For-A filed on May 31, 2013)

Junior Subordinated Indenture between The New Ytokigage Company, LLC and JPMorgan Chase BankoNakiAssociation, as trust
dated December 1, 2005. (Incorporated by referemé&sxhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report amrf 8K as filed with the Securiti
and Exchange Commission on December 6, 2005).

Amended and Restated Trust Agreement among The Yaw Mortgage Company, LLC, JPMorgan Chase Banktiddal Associatior
Chase Bank USA, National Association and the Adstiative Trustees named therein, dated Decemt®80B. (Incorporated by referenct
Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on F& as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cassian on December 6, 2005).

Junior Subordinated Indenture between The New Ytokigage Company, LLC and JPMorgan Chase BankoNakiAssociation, as trust
dated March 15, 2005 (Incorporated by referendéxuibit 4.3(a) to the Company's Quarterly Reportcamm 10Q filed on August 9, 20:
(File No. 001-32216)).

Parent Guarantee Agreement between New York Moetdagst, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank, Nationabdiaton, as guarantee trus
dated March 15, 2005. (Incorporated by referendeéxtuibit 4.3(b) to the Company's Quarterly Repeartrmrm 10Q filed on August 9, 20:
(File No. 001-32216)).

Certain instruments defining the rights of holdefdongterm debt securities of the Registrant and its Elilases are omitted pursuant
Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of Regulation-K. The Registrant hereby undertakes to furnisthéSEC, upon request, copies of any such instriamen

Form of Registration Rights Agreement, by and amidag York Mortgage Trust, Inc. and the Investossed on Schedule A thereto, date
of February 14, 2008 (Incorporated by referenc&xhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report onnr@K filed on February 19, 20!
(File No. 001-32216)).

Investment Management Agreement, by and between Yaw Mortgage Trust, Inc. and The Midway Group, t&ed as of February :
2011 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.theoCompany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filadway 5, 2011 (File No. 0032216))

First Amendment to Investment Management Agreerbgrand between New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. and Wdway Group, L.P., dat

March 9, 2012 (Incorporated by reference to ExHibitl9 to the Company’s Annual Report on FormKifiled on March 12, 2012 (File N
001-32216)).
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Management Agreement, by and between RB CommeMzidigage LLC and RiverBanc LLC, dated as of April2011 (Incorporated |
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s QuaytBéport on Form 10-Q filed on May 5, 2011 (File.[9061-32216)).

Amended and Restated Management Agreement, by etsceén RB Commercial Mortgage LLC, New York Mortgagrust, Inc. ar
RiverBanc, LLC, dated as of March 13, 2013. (Incogped by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Compsyinual Report on Form 10-
for the year ended December 31, 2012 (File No. 3#At6)).

Underwriting Agreement among New York Mortgage Trusc. and the several underwriters listed therdieted as of May 25, 20
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to therpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 3012 (File No. 001-32216)).

Equity Distribution Agreement, dated June 11, 20fg, and between New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. ahdiPJSecurities LL¢
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to themPany’s Current Report on Formk3-as filed with the Securities and Excha
Commission on June 11, 2012 (File No. 001-32216)).

Underwriting Agreement, dated as of July 12, 20@tween New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. and Ladenblihgdmann & Co., In
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to therPany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 2012 (File No. 001-32216)).

Underwriting Agreement, dated August 16, 2012, by éetween New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. and DehesBank Securities Ir
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to thenpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed Augest 2012 (File No. 001-32216)).

Underwriting Agreement, dated as of October 3, 20E2veen the Company and Deutsche Bank Securitie¢incorporated by referer
to Exhibit 1.1 to the Company’s Current Report @mrf 8-K as filed October 9, 2012 (File No. 001-32p1

New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. 2005 Stock Incent®kan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1tHe Compan's Registratio
Statement on Form S-3/A (File No. 333-127400) kesl fivith the Securities and Exchange Commissiobecember 9, 2005).

New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. 2010 Stock Incent®ian (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2he Compan’'s Current Report (
Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on May 17, 2010 (File No. 001-32216)).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Offscéincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 te @ompanys Current Report ¢
Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on July 14, 2009 (File No. 001-32216)).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Dicest(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2hte €ompanys Current Report ¢
Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on July 14, 2009 (File No. 001-32216)).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, by atveelen New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. and SteveMRmma dated as of
November 22, 2011 (Incorporated by reference taltixh0.1 to the Compars Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 2811
(File No. 001-32216)).

Underwriting Agreement, by and among New York Magg Trust, Inc., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.@radlit Suisse Securities (US
LLC, dated as of April 29, 2013. (Incorporated kference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Company’s Currerpdreon Form 8-K filed on May 2,
2013 (File No. 00-32216)).

Underwriting Agreement, dated May 28, 2@#3and among New York Mortgage Trust, Inc., Citigp Global Markets Inc. and Keefe,
Bruyette & Woods, Inc. (Incorporated by referermé&xhibit 1.1 to the Company’s Current Report onnk8-K as filed with the Securitie
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F-46




23.1

311

31.2

32.1

101.INS

101.SCH

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRE

Consent of Independent Registered PuldanAnting Firm (Grant Thornton LLP).*

Section 302 Certification of Chief ExewatOfficer.*

Section 302 Certification of Chief Financial Office

Section 906 Certification of Chief Executive Officand Chief Financial Officer.*
XBRL Instance Document ***

Taxonomy Extension Schema Document ***

Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Documerit **

Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document ***

Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document ***

Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Documen
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** Furnished herewith. Such certification shallt i@ deemed “filed” for the purposes of Sectiorofléhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

*** Submitted electronically herewith. Attached as Bikhi01 to this report are the following documeiatsnatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Repor
Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets at DeeeBil, 2013 and 2012; (ii) Consolidated Statemeh@perations for the years ended Decembe
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(iv) Consolidated Statements of Equity for the geandedDecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011; (v) Consolidatatements of Cash Flows for the y:

ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011; and (¥89\o Consolidated Financial Statements.

F-47



Exhibit 3.1

NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC.

ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT

FIRST: New York Mortgage Trust, Inc., a Maryland corpara (the “Corporation”), desires to amend andatesits charter (the “Chartgr”
as currently in effect and as hereinafter amended.

SECOND: The following provisions are all the provisioristiee Charter currently in effect and as hereinadtaended.
ARTICLE |
INCORPORATION

The undersigned, Daniel M. LeBey, whose addresgdsHunton & Williams LLP, Riverfront Plaza, Easbower, 951 E. Byrd Stre
Richmond, Virginia 23219, being at least eight&E8) years of age, does hereby form a corporatimteuthe general laws of the State of Maryland.

ARTICLE Il
NAME
The name of the corporation (which is hereinaftdied the “Corporation”) is:
New York Mortgage Trust, Inc.
ARTICLE 11l
PURPOSE
The purposes for which the Corporation is formeal tar engage in any lawful act or activity (incluglirwithout limitation or obligatiol
engaging in business as a real estate investmesttunder the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, an@eae or any successor statute (the “Codiet) whict

corporations may be organized under the general tdwthe State of Maryland as now or hereaftdoine. For purposes of this Charter, “RElfieans a re
estate investment trust under Sections 856 thr86@hof the Code.




ARTICLE IV
RESIDENT AGENT AND PRINCIPAL OFFICE IN MARYLAND

The address of the principal office of the Corpioratn this State is c/o The Corporation Trust mpaated, 300 E. Lombard Street,
Baltimore, Maryland 21202. The name and addresiseofesident agent of the Corporation are The Catjmm Trust Incorporated, 300 E. Lombard Street,
Baltimore, Maryland 21202. The resident agentli4aayland corporation.

ARTICLE V

PROVISIONS FOR DEFINING, LIMITING
AND REGULATING CERTAIN POWERS OF THE
CORPORATION AND OF THE STOCKHOLDERS AND DIRECTORS

Section 5.1 Number_of DirectorsThe business and affairs of the Corporation sbalmanaged under the direction of the Boa
Directors. The number of directors of the Corpamrashall be nine (9)hich number may be increased or decreased ontlgeoBoard of Directors pursui
to the Bylaws of the Corporation (the “Bylaws”).tlalall never be less than the minimum number redudy the Maryland Gener&lorporation Law, or ar
successor statute (the “MGCL"The names of the directors who shall serve undilfitst annual meeting of stockholders and ungirtisuccessors are d
elected and qualify are:

Steven B. Schnall

David A. Akre

Raymond A. Redlingshafer, Jr.
David R. Bock

Alan L. Hainey

Steven G. Norcutt




Mary Dwyer Pembroke
Jerome F. Sherman
Thomas W. White

These directors may increase the number of direend may fill any vacancy, whether resulting framincrease in the number of directors or othervas
the Board of Directors occurring before the finshaal meeting of stockholders in the manner pravidehe Bylaws.

The Corporation elects, at such time as it becoatigible to make the election provided for undect®a 3-802(b) of the MGCL, that, except as may
provided by the Board of Directors in setting teems of any class or series, any and all vacarariethe Board of Directors may be filled only by
affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining efitors in office, even if the remaining directomsribt constitute guorum, and any director elected to f
vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the &ritrt of the directorship in which such vacancy ocemr

Section 5.2 _ Extraordinary Action€Except as specifically provided in Section 584dting to removal of directors) and in Article
notwithstanding any provision of law permittingrequiring anyaction to be taken or approved by the affirmatigtevof the holders of shares entitled to
a greater number of votes, any such action shaffieetive and valid if taken or approved by thrafative vote of holders of
shares entitled to cast a majority of all the vatetitled to be cast on the matter.

Section 5.3 _Authorization by Board of Stockuance The Board of Directors may authorize the issudrma time to time of shares
stock of the Corporation of any class or seriestter now otereafter authorized, or securities or rights catitMe into shares of its stock of any clas
series, whether now or hereafter authorized, fohstonsideration as the Board of Directors may dadwisable (or withoutonsideration in the case c
stock split or stock dividend), subject to suchtriesons or limitations, if any, as may be settfoin the charter (the “Charter”) or the Bylaws.




Section 5.4 Preemptive Rights and AppraisalhRi. Except as may be provided by the Board of Dimscin setting the terms
classified or reclassified shares of stock purst@r@ection 6.4 or amay otherwise be provided by contract, no holdestadres of stock of the Corporat
shall, as such holder, have any preemptive riglguehase or subscribe for any additional sharestawfk of the Corporation or amther security of tt
Corporation which it may issue or sell. Holdersshfires of stock shall not be entitled to exerciseraghts of an objecting stockholder provided fmde
Title 3, Subtitle 2 of the MGCL unless tiBoard of Directors, upon the affirmative vote ofnajority of the Board of Directors, shall determiat suc
rights apply, with respect to all or any classesamies of stock, to one or more transactions ocguafter thedate of such determination in connection
which holders of such shares would otherwise bigdl@to exercise such rights.

Section 5.5 IndemnificationThe Corporation shall have the power, to the maxn extent permitted by Maryland law in effect fi
time to time, to obligate itself to indemnify, at@lpay or reimbursesasonable expenses in advance of final dispogitfi@proceeding to, (a) any individ
who is a present or former director or officer bé& tCorporation or (b) any individual who, while medtor of the Corporation and #te request of tt
Corporation, serves or has served as a directficenfpartner or trustee of another corporati@al estate investment trust, partnership, jointwe trust
employee benefit plan or any other enterpfisen and against any claim or liability to whichcbuperson may become subject or which such persgnimeu
by reason of his service in any of the foregoingacities. The Corporation shall have the power wieapproval of the Board of Directors, to provide ¢
indemnification and advancement of expenses tarsopevho served a predecessor of the Corporati@mynof the capacities described in (a) or (b) &
and to any employee or agent of the Corporaticm mpredecessor of the Corporation.




Section 5.6 Determinations by Boar@he determination as to any of the following reett made in good faith by or pursuant tc
direction of the Board of Directors consistent witle Charter and in the absence of actual recéiphamproper benefit in money, property or sersics
active and deliberate dishonesty established ue,cshall be final and conclusive and shall brdlvig upon the Corporation and every holder of shaff it:
stock: the amount of the net income of the Corpamator any period and the amount of assets attang legally available for the payment of dividej
redemption of its stock or the payment of othetriftigtions on its stock; the amount of paidsurplus, net assets, other surplus, annualhar etet profit, cas
flow, fund from operations, net assets in excessagital, undivided profits or excess of profitseoVosses on sales of assets; the amount, purfiosep!
creation, increase or decrease, alteration or datioa of any reserves or charges and the proptieereof (whether or not any obligation or liatyilfor
which such reserves or charges shall have beetedrshall have been paid or discharged); the faline; or any sale, bid or asked price to be apph
determining the fair value, of any asset ownedeid by the Corporation or of any shares of stockhef Corporation; the number of shares of stocarny
class of the Corporation; any matter relating ® #lcquisition, holding and disposition of any asdst the Corporation; or any other matter relatmghe
business and affairs of the Corporation or requinepermitted by the Charter to be determined leyBbard of Directors.




Section 5.7 REIT Qualification If the Board of Directors determines that it i3 longer in the best interests of the Corporatia
continue to be qualified as a REIT, the Board aEbliors may revoke or otherwise terminate the Qatpn's REIT election pursuant to Section 856(g) o
Code. The Board of Directors also may determinédbempliance with any restriction or limitation stock ownership and transfers set forth in Arti¢leis
no longer required for REIT qualification.

Section 5.8 _Removal of DirectarSubject to the rights of holders of one or mdesses or series of Preferred Stock to elect oove
one or more directors, any director, or the erBioard of Directors, may be removed from office my ime but only by the affirmative vote of at leaso-
thirds of the votes entitled to be cast generallthe election of directors.

ARTICLE VI

STOCK

Section 6.1 Authorized Share$he Corporation has authority to issue 600,00D glares of stock, consisting of 400,000,000 shaf
Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share (“Commonk3), and 200,000,000 shares of Preferred Sto@lI$par value per share (“Preferred Stockhe
aggregate par value of all authorized shares ekdtaving par value is $6,000,000. If shares of dass of stock are classified or reclassified sitares ¢
another class of stock pursuant to this Articletiie number of authorized shares of the formesdasll be automatically decreased and the nunftstrane
of the latter class shall be automatically increage each case by the number of shares so clsifireclassified, so that the aggregate numbsharfes ¢
stock of all classes that the Corporation has aifyhtw issue shall not be more than the total nemtif shares of stock set forth in the first sec¢éeaf thi:
paragraph. The Board of Directors, without anyachy the stockholders of the Corporation, may airtee Charter from time to time to increase or das
the aggregate number of shares of stock or the aupflshares of stock of any class or series HeCorporation has authority to issue.




Section 6.2 _Common StoclSubject to the provisions of Article VII, eachasd of Common Stock shall entitle the holder thEtemne
vote. The Board of Directors may reclassify anysaned shares of Common Stock from time to timenena more classes or series of stock.

Section 6.3 _ Preferred StocRhe Board of Directors may classify any unissabdres of Preferred Stock and reclassify any pusly
classified but unissued shares of Preferred Stbakyseries from time to time, in one or more st&sor series of stock.

Section 6.4 _Classified or Reclassified SharBsior to issuance of classified or reclassifibdres of any class or series, the Boal
Directors by resolution shall: (a) designate tHasg or series to distinguish it from all othersskes and series of stock of the Corporation; (bipthe
number of shares to be included in the class des€ic) set or change, subject to the provisidr&riicle VII and subject to the express terms ny @&lass ¢
series of stock of the Corporation outstandindhattime, the preferences, conversion or other gighdting powers, restrictions, limitations as teidends o
other distributions, qualifications and terms aodditions of redemption for each class or series; @) cause the Corporation to file articles sapmntar
with the State Department of Assessments and Taxafi Maryland (“SDAT”").Any of the terms of any class or series of stodkosechanged pursuant
clause (c) of this Section 6.4 may be made depéngem facts or events ascertainable outside tlat@h(including determinations by the Board ofdator:
or other facts or events within the control of tberporation) and may vary among holders thereafyiged that the manner in which such facts, ever
variations shall operate upon the terms of sucksata series of stock is clearly and expresslyastt in the articles supplementary or other Chadttecumer
accepted for record by the SDAT.




Section 6.5 _ Charter and BylawAll persons who shall acquire stock in the Cogpion shall acquire the same subject to the prowgsd
the Charter and the Bylaws.

ARTICLE VII

RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER AND OWNERSHIP OF SHARES

Section 7.1 _ DefinitionsFor the purpose of this Article VII, the follovgrterms shall have the following meanings:

Adgagregate Stock Ownership LimifThe term “Aggregate Stock Ownership Limit” shakan nine and fouenths percent (9.4%) in value
the aggregate of the outstanding shares of Ccftitak.

Beneficial Ownership The term “Beneficial Ownershipshall mean ownership of Capital Stock by a Persdrether the interest in t
shares of Capital Stock is held directly or indikgéincluding by a nominee), and shall includesirgsts that would be treated as owned throughppkécatior
of Section 544 of the Code, as modified by Secisé(h)(1)(B) of the Code. The terms “Beneficial G “Beneficially Owns” and “Beneficially Ownéd
shall have the correlative meanings.

Business Day The term “Business Dayshall mean any day, other than a Saturday or Sunbalis neither a legal holiday nor a da
which banking institutions in New York City are hatized or required by law, regulation or executivéer to close.

Capital Stock The term “Capital Stockshall mean all classes or series of stock of thep@ation, including, without limitation, Comm
Stock and Preferred Stock.




Charitable Beneficiary The term “Charitable Beneficiaryshall mean one or more beneficiaries of the Trgstletermined pursuant
Section 7.3.6, provided that each such organizatiast be described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Cari: contributions to each such organization meg
eligible for deduction under one of Sections 17QA(J{A), 2055 and 2522 of the Code.

Charitable Trust The term “Charitable Trust” shall mean any tqustvided for in Section 7.3.1.

Common Stock Ownership LimitThe term “Common Stock Ownership Limit” shall me@ine and foutenths percent (9.4%) in value
in number of shares, whichever is more restrictvfethe outstanding shares of Common Stock of thep@ation excluding any outstanding share
Common Stock not treated as outstanding for fedecalme tax purposes.

Constructive OwnershipThe term “Constructive Ownershiphall mean ownership of Capital Stock by a Peradwether the interest in t
shares of Capital Stock is held directly or indile¢including by a nominee), and shall includeesir@sts that would be treated as owned throughpplcatior
of Section 318(a) of the Code, as modified by ®ec856(d)(5) of the Code. The terms “Constructiwen®r,” “Constructively Owns” andConstructivel
Owned” shall have the correlative meanings.

Disqualified Organization The term “Disqualified Organizatiorshall mean (i) the United States, any state otipalisubdivision therec
any foreign government, any international orgamirgtand any agency or instrumentality of the foiag, (i) any taxexempt organization (other tha
farmers’cooperative described in Section 521 of the Coldaf) is exempt from both income taxation and frorati@n under the unrelated business ta
income provisions of the Code, and (iii) any rwgctrical or telephone cooperative.




Excepted Holder The term “Excepted Holdeshall mean a stockholder of the Corporation for mban Excepted Holder Limit is crea
by the Charter or by the Board of Directors pursuarSection 7.2.7, and shall include Steven B.n&tthas long as the Excepted Holder Limit for $eB
Schnall (described below) remains in effect purstmits terms.

Excepted Holder Limit The term “Excepted Holder Limitghall mean, provided that the affected Exceptediéfohgrees to comply w
the requirements established by the Charter ohbyBoard of Directors pursuant to Section 7.2.7 suigject to adjustment pursuant to Section 7.2€
percentage limit established for an Excepted Holgethe Charter or by the Board of Directors pumsua Section 7.2.7. Subject to adjustment pursta
Section 7.2.8, the Excepted Holder Limit for StederSchnall shall be twelve percent (12.0%) in eatfi the aggregate of the outstanding shares oital
Stock and twelve percent (12.0%) in value or in hamof shares, whichever is more restrictive, af tutstanding shares of Common Stock o
Corporation.

Initial Date. The term “Initial Date’shall mean the date of issuance of Common Stockupnt to the initial underwritten public offering
Common Stock.

Market Price. The term “Market Pricedn any date shall mean, with respect to any claseries of outstanding shares of Capital Stod
Closing Price for such Capital Stock on such dake “Closing Price’on any date shall mean the last reported sale foicguch Capital Stock, regular w
or, in case no such sale takes place on such liayverage of the closing bid and asked pricesjaewvay, for such Capital Stock, in either caseep®rte:
in the principal consolidated transaction reportiygtem with respect to securities listed or admitb trading on the NYSE or, if such Capital Stecko
listed or admitted to trading on the NYSE, as rggbron the principal consolidated transaction rpgrsystem with respect to securities listed og
principal national securities exchange on whichhsGepital Stock is listed or admitted to tradingibsuch Capital Stock is not listed or admittedriading
on any national securities exchange, the last quatiee, or, if not so quoted, the average of tigh Ibid and low asked prices in the over-ttmemter marke
as reported by the National Association of SeasgibDealers, Inc. Automated Quotation System osugh system is no longer in use, the principal r
automated quotation system that may then be iroysésuch Capital Stock is not quoted by any saddanization, the average of the closing bid agiak¢
prices as furnished by a professional market maieking a market in such Capital Stock selectechbyBoard of Directors of the Corporation or, in @wen
that no trading price is available for such Captidck, the fair market value of the Capital Stakdetermined in good faith by the Board of DinezDf the
Corporation.




NYSE . The term “NYSE” shall mean the New York Stock Bange.

Person The term “Personshall mean an individual, corporation, partnerskgiate, trust (including a trust qualified undect®ns 401(¢
or 501(c)(17) of the Code), a portion of a trustnpgnently set aside for or to be used exclusivetytlie purposes described in Section 642(c) ofCbde
association, private foundation within the mearsfigection 509(a) of the Code, joint stock compangther entity and also includes a “growgs’ that tert
is used for purposes of Section 13(d)(3) of theufites Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and apgiewhich an Excepted Holder Limit applies.

Prohibited Owner The term “Prohibited Owneshall mean, with respect to any purported Transfiey, Person who, but for the provisi
of Section 7.2.1, would Beneficially Own or Constively Own shares of Capital Stock in violationtbé provisions of Section 7.2.1(a), and if appiaterir
the context, shall also mean any Person who waaNe been the record owner of the shares of Ceftitak that the Prohibited Owner would have so owned




REIT . The term “REIT” shall mean a real estate investintieist within the meaning of Section 856 of thel€.

Restriction Termination Date The term “Restriction Termination Datehall mean the first day after the Initial Date which the
Corporation determines pursuant to Section 5. h@fGharter that it is no longer in the best intisre$ the Corporation to attempt to, or continuedtaalify a:
a REIT or that compliance with the restrictions éindtations on Beneficial Ownership, Constructi®@nership and Transfers of shares of Capital Ss&
forth herein is no longer required in order for @arporation to qualify as a REIT.

Transfer. The term “Transfershall mean any issuance, sale, transfer, giftgaa®ent, devise or other disposition, as well asathgr ever
that causes any Person to acquire Beneficial Owipers Constructive Ownership, or any agreemerttke any such actions or cause any such evel
Capital Stock or the right to vote or receive dands on Capital Stock, including (a) the grantingxercise of any option (or any disposition of apyion)
(b) any disposition of any securities or rights wentible into or exchangeable for Capital Stockany interest in Capital Stock or any exercise of suct
conversion or exchange right and (c) Transfersitrests in other entities that result in changeBaneficial or Constructive Ownership of Capitédc; ir
each case, whether voluntary or involuntary, whethened of record, Constructively Owned or Benefilgi Owned and whether by operation of lav
otherwise. The terms “Transferring” and “Transfdtrehall have the correlative meanings.




Trustee. The term “Trustee’shall mean the Person unaffiliated with the Corfionaand a Prohibited Owner, that is appointed Hx
Corporation to serve as trustee of the CharitablstT

Section 7.2 __Capital Stock

Section 7.2.1 _ Ownership LimitationBuring the period commencing on the Initial Datel prior to the Restriction Terminat

Date:
(@ Basic Restrictions

(i) (1) No Person, other than an Excepted Hvldball Beneficially Own or Constructively Own sés 0
Capital Stock in excess of the Aggregate Stock @simig Limit, (2) no Person, other than an Excepietter, shall Beneficially Own or Constructively @
shares of Common Stock in excess of the CommorkS@mership Limit and (3) neither Steven B. Schnalt any other Excepted Holder shall Benefic
Own or Constructively Own shares of Capital Statkxcess of the Excepted Holder Limit for such fxed Holder.

(i)  Except as provided in Section 7.2.7 heyeaf Person shall Beneficially Own or Constructv®wn share
of Capital Stock to the extent that such Benefi€ainership or Constructive Ownership of Capitalc8tevould result in the Corporation being “closeBidt
within the meaning of Section 856(h) of the CodéHaut regard to whether the ownership interesieisl during the last half of a taxable year).

(i)  Except as provided in Section 7.2.7 hdéramtwithstanding any other provisions containeaeimn, n
person shall Transfer shares of Capital Stock (aéredr not such Transfer is the result of a tratimaentered into through the facilities of the NY8r an
other national securities exchange or automatexat-itgaler quotation system) to the extent such transfelld result in the Capital Stock being beneflgi
owned by less than one hundred (100) Persons (dlieted under the principles of Section 856(a)(5hef Code).




(iv)  Except as provided in Section 7.2.7 hereof Disqualified Organization shall Beneficiallyv® any share
of Capital Stock, and no Person shall Transfereshaf Capital Stock to the extent that such Trangéeuld result in shares of Capital Stock being &eially
Owned by a Disqualified Organization.

(b) Transfer in TrustIf any Transfer of shares of Capital Stock (wleethr not such Transfer is the result
transaction entered into through the facilitieshaf NYSE or any other national securities exchargeutomated intetlealer quotation system) occurs wh

(iv),

(i) then that number of shares of the Capitatisthe Beneficial or Constructive Ownership ofiethotherwis
would cause such Person to violate Section 7.ZiL(&)), (iii), or (iv) (rounded up to the neatewhole share) shall be automatically transferrect
Charitable Trust for the benefit of a CharitablenBfciary, as described in Section 7.3, effectiseofithe close of business on the Business Day fwithe
date of such Transfer, and such Person shall a&quirights in such shares of Capital Stock; or

(i)  if the transfer to the Trust describedclause (i) of this sentence would not be effecfareany reason
prevent the violation of Section 7.2.1(a)(i), ({ji), or (iv), then the Transfer of that numbdrahares of Capital Stock that otherwise would eaarsy Persc
to violate Section 7.2.1(a)(i), (ii), (iii), or (\shall be void alnitio , and the intended transferee shall acquire nagighsuch shares of Capital Stock.




Section 7.2.2 Remedies for Breadfi the Board of Directors of the Corporation ayaduly authorized committee thereo
other designees if permitted by the MGCL shallrat ime determine in good faith that a Transfeothrer event has taken place that results in atiaolai
Section 7.2.1 or that a Person intends to acquira® attempted to acquire Beneficial or Constvec@wnership of any shares of Capital Stock inatioh o
Section 7.2.1 (whether or not such violation igimuted), the Board of Directors or a committee hfeoe other designees if permitted by the MGCL btade
such action as it deems advisable to refuse togjfeet to or to prevent such Transfer or otheméviecluding, without limitation, causing the Corgtion tc
redeem shares of Capital Stock, refusing to giteceto such Transfer on the books of the Corponatir instituting proceedings to enjoin such Transf
other event;_providedhowever, that any Transfers or attempted Transfers orahents in violation of Section 7.2.1 shall auttinaly result in the transf
to the Charitable Trust described above, and, whppticable, such Transfer (or other event) shallbid abinitio as provided above irrespective of
action (or non-action) by the Board of Directorsaarommittee thereof.

Section 7.2.3 _ Notice of Restricted TransfAny Person who acquires or attempts or intendsctpire Beneficial Ownership
Constructive Ownership of shares of Capital Stdek tvill or may violate Section 7.2.1(a) or any $2&r who would have owned shares of Capital Stoat
resulted in a transfer to the Charitable Trust pams to the provisions of Section 7.2.1(b) shaliniediately give written notice to the Corporationsofct
event, or in the case of such a proposed or attintpansaction, give at least fifteen (15) daysrpnritten notice, and shall provide to the Corpiorasuct
other information as the Corporation may requesirder to determine the effect, if any, of suchribfar on the Corporation’s status as a REIT.




Section 7.2.4 _ Owners Required To Provide mftion. From the Initial Date and prior to the Restrintibermination Date:

(@) Every owner of more than five percent (5% such lower percentage as required by the CodbeoTreasut
Regulations promulgated thereunder) in value ofathiistanding shares of Capital Stock, within th{@9) days after the end of each taxable year| ghad
written notice to the Corporation stating the naand address of such owner, the number of shar€sfal Stock Beneficially Owned and a descriptid
the manner in which such shares are held. Each mwoer shall provide to the Corporation such adddi information as the Corporation may reque
order to determine the effect, if any, of such Bieied Ownership on the Corporatianstatus as a REIT and to ensure compliance wéttAggregate Stor
Ownership Limit and the Common Stock Ownership ILimand

(b) Each Person who is a Beneficial or CongitracdOwner of Capital Stock and each Person (irinlyidhe stockholdt
of record) who is holding Capital Stock for a Beail or Constructive Owner shall provide to ther@wation such information as the Corporation
request, in good faith, in order to determine tlwrpOrations status as a REIT and to comply with requiremehtany taxing authority or governmer
authority or to determine such compliance and susmcompliance with the Aggregate Stock Ownerkhipt and the Common Stock Ownership Limit.

Section 7.2.5 _ Remedies Not LimiteSubject to Section 5.7 of the Charter, nothingtaimed in this Section 7.2 shall limit
authority of the Board of Directors of the Corpaoatto take such other action as it deems necessagvisable to protect the Corporation and ther@sts ¢
its stockholders in preserving the Corporation&ist as a REIT.




Section 7.2.6 _ AmbiguityIn the case of an ambiguity in the applicatioran§ of the provisions of this Section 7.2, Sectiod
or any definition contained in Section 7.1, the Bbaf Directors of the Corporation shall have tlevpr to determine the application of the provisiohghis
Section 7.2 or Section 7.3 or any such definitiath wespect to any situation based on the factsvknio it. In the event Section 7.2 or 7.3 requaesactiol
by the Board of Directors and the Charter failsptovide specific guidance with respect to suchoagtihe Board of Directors shall have the powe
determine the action to be taken so long as sutitnas not contrary to the provisions of Sectigns, 7.2 or 7.3.

Section 7.2.7 Exceptions

(@) The Board of Directors of the Corporatiam,its sole discretion, may exempt (prospectivetyretroactively)
Person from the Aggregate Stock Ownership Lim#, @ommon Stock Ownership Limit and/or the reswitsi contained in Section 7.2.1(a)(ii), or (iii), the
case may be, and may establish or increase an texcefplder Limit for such Person if the Board ofr@itors obtains such representations, covenan
undertakings as the Board of Directors may deennagpjate in order to conclude that granting thenepiion and/or establishing or increasing the Exet
Holder Limit, as the case may be, will not cause@lorporation to lose its status as a REIT.




The Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, maxempt a Disqualified Organization from the resion
contained in Section 7.2.1(a)(iv) if either (i) tbésqualified Organization agrees to reimburse@oeporation for any tax it incurs as a result ofihg sucl
Disqualified Organization as a stockholder and kenthe Corporation whole for any tax imposed @nrgimbursement payment, (ii) each of the follo
requirements is met: (A) the record holder of thares of Capital Stock Beneficially Owned by thesduialified Organization is a nominee of <
Disqualified Organization, (B) the nominee is nself a Disqualified Organization, (C) the nomirsggees not to transfer record ownership of sucheshaz
Capital Stock to a Disqualified Organization, arid)) (the Board of Directors obtains such represematiand undertakings from such Disquali
Organization and nominee as are reasonably negessascertain the foregoing, or (iii) the Corpa@atreceives a ruling from the Internal Revenuerigerol
an opinion of counsel in each case to the effettditax will not be imposed on the Corporatiom assult of the exemption.

(b) Prior to granting any exception pursuanbéztion 7.2.7(a), the Board of Directors of thepgdoation may require
ruling from the Internal Revenue Service, or amapi of counsel, in either case in form and sulzsasatisfactory to the Board of Directors in itde
discretion, as it may deem necessary or advisalbeder to determine or ensure the Corporasi@tatus as a REIT. Notwithstanding the receiftnyf ruling
or opinion, the Board of Directors may impose scghditions or restrictions as it deems appropia@nnection with granting such exception.

(c) Subject to Section 7.2.1.(a)(ii), an undeev or placement agent that participates in alipudffering or a privat
placement of Capital Stock (or securities convéatihto or exchangeable for Capital Stock) may Bieradly Own or Constructively Own shares of Caf
Stock (or securities convertible into or exchandedbr Capital Stock) in excess of the AggregatecktOwnership Limit, the Common Stock Owner:
Limit, or both such limits, but only to the extergcessary to facilitate such public offering ovaté placement and provided that the restrictiamtained il
Section 7.2.1(a) will not be violated following tHestribution by such underwriter or placement aggrsuch shares of Capital Stock.




Section 7.2.8 Change in Aggregate Stock Ownership Limit, Comméocls Ownership Limit, and Excepted Holder Limit
Steven B. Schnall The Board of Directors may from time to time ie@se or decrease the Common Stock Ownership Limiittlae Aggregate Sto
Ownership Limit; provided, however, that a decréda8emmon Stock Ownership Limit and/or Aggregateckt@wnership Limit will not be effective for a
Person whose percentage ownership of Capital $taokexcess of such decreased Common Stock Owpdrshit and/or Aggregate Stock Ownership Li
until such time as such Perssrpercentage of Capital Stock equals or falls betmsvdecreased Common Stock Ownership Limit andifmgregate Stoc
Ownership Limit, but until such time as such Petsgpmercentage of Capital Stock falls below such esed Common Stock Ownership Limit an
Aggregate Stock Ownership Limit, any further acdigis of Capital Stock will be in violation of theommon Stock Ownership Limit and/or Aggregate S
Ownership Limit and, provided further, that the nEéammon Stock Ownership Limit and/or Aggregate Bt@evnership Limit would not allow five or few
Persons (taking into account all Excepted Holder8eneficially Own more than 49.9% in value of theéstanding Capital Stock.

If at any time Steven B. Schnall’s ownership of @@mmon Stock falls to or below nine and nieaths percent (9.9%) in value ant
number of the outstanding shares of Common Stdag,tat all times after such decrease in SteveBcBnalls ownership of the Common Stock, (i)
Common Stock Ownership Limit shall be increasedit@ and ningenths percent (9.9%) in value or in number of shawhichever is more restrictive, of
outstanding shares of Common Stock, (ii) the AgaredStock Ownership Limit shall be increased tceramd ningenths percent (9.9%) in value of
aggregate of the outstanding shares of CapitakStod (iii) the Excepted Holder Limit for Steven 8chnall shall no longer apply and Mr. Schnalllishe
subject to the Common Stock Ownership Limit andAlggregate Stock Ownership Limit.




Section 7.2.9 _ Legendeach certificate for shares of Capital Stock Idhedr substantially the following legend:
The shares represented by this certificate areesutyg restrictions on Beneficial and Construcsenership and Transfer.
Subject to certain further restrictions and exceptexpressly provided in the Corporation’s Chaifi¢rmo Person may
Beneficially or Constructively Own shares of ther@wation’s Common Stock in excess of nine and-feaths percent
(9.4%) in value or in number of shares, whichexemiore restrictive, of the aggregate of the outhtan shares of
Common Stock of the Corporation unless such Peisam Excepted Holder (in which case the Exceptettiét Limit
shall be applicable); (i) no Person may Benefigiar Constructively Own shares of Capital Stockteé Corporation in
excess of nine and four-tenths percent (9.4%) Inevaf the aggregate of the outstanding sharesapitél Stock of the
Corporation unless such Person is an Excepted H@ldevhich case the Excepted Holder Limit shalldmplicable); (iii)
no Person may Beneficially or Constructively Owrargls of Capital Stock that would result in the @oation being
“closely held” under Section 856(h) of the InterRavenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code))nfvPerson may
Transfer shares of Capital Stock that would resuthe Capital Stock of the Corporation being banafy owned by less
than one hundred (100) Persons (determined withefgrence to any rules of attribution) and (v) nesdbalified
Organization shall Beneficially Own any shares afpifal Stock, and no Person shall Transfer shar€apital Stock to
the extent that such Transfer would result in shaye Capital Stock being Beneficialy Owned by asdialified
Organization. Any Person who Beneficially or Coustively Owns or attempts to Beneficially or Constively Own
shares of Capital Stock which causes or will caugerson to Beneficially or Constructively Own gsaof Capital Stock
in excess or in violation of the above limitatiomsist immediately notify the Corporation. If any tbe restrictions on
transfer or ownership are violated, the shares ayit@l Stock represented hereby will be automasidsansferred to a
Trustee of a Charitable Trust for the benefit o0& @r more Charitable Beneficiaries. In additiore tborporation may
redeem shares upon the terms and conditions sgidiff the Board of Directors in its sole discretibthe Board of
Directors determines that ownership or a Transfatloer event may violate the restrictions desctiabove. Furthermore,
upon the occurrence of certain events, attemptedsters in violation of the restrictions descriladxbve may be void ab
initio . All capitalized terms in this legend have the niegs defined in the Charter of the Corporationthessame may be
amended from time to time, a copy of which, inchgithe restrictions on transfer and ownership, bélffurnished to each
holder of Capital Stock of the Corporation on regjiend without charge. Requests for such a copybeadirected to the
Secretary of the Corporation at its principal affic




Instead of the foregoing legend, the certificatey mtate that the Corporation will furnish a fulament about certain restrictions
transferability to a stockholder on request andhetit charge.

Section 7.3 _ Transfer of Capital Stock in Trust

Section 7.3.1 _ Ownership in Trudtpon any purported Transfer or other event deedrin Section 7.2.1(b) that would resu
a transfer of shares of Capital Stock to a Chdetabust, such shares of Capital Stock shall bendekto have been transferred to the Trustee aeérémr the
exclusive benefit of one or more Charitable Benafies. Such transfer to the Trustee shall be ddetmébe effective as of the close of business &
Business Day prior to the purported Transfer oep#vent that results in the transfer to the Chllgt Trust pursuant to Section 7.2.1(b). The Taustaall b
appointed by the Corporation and shall be a Petswffiliated with the Corporation and any Prohidit®wner. Each Charitable Beneficiary shal
designated by the Corporation as provided in Sedti.6.

Section 7.3.2 _ Status of Shares Held by thet€ri Shares of Capital Stock held by the Trustee stwatinue to be issued €
outstanding shares of Capital Stock of the CorpammafThe Prohibited Owner shall have no rightshia Capital Stock held by the Trustee. The Protd
Owner shall not benefit economically from ownersbfpany shares held in trust by the Trustee, dialle no rights to dividends or other distributi@ms
shall not possess any rights to vote or other sigttributable to the shares held in the Trust.




Section 7.3.3 _ Dividend and Voting RighfShe Trustee shall have all voting rights andtSgb dividends or other distributic
with respect to shares of Capital Stock held inGharitable Trust, which rights shall be exercigedhe exclusive benefit of the Charitable Beriafig. Any
dividend or other distribution paid to a Prohibi@d/ner prior to the discovery by the Corporatioatttihe shares of Capital Stock have been transféoréhe
Trustee shall be paid with respect to such shdr@apital Stock by the Prohibited Owner to the Teesupon demand and any dividend or other distah
authorized but unpaid shall be paid when due tdltlustee. Any dividends or distributions so paigioto the Trustee shall be held in trust for thei@hble
Beneficiary. The Prohibited Owner shall have nangtights with respect to shares held in the Ghhale Trust and, subject to Maryland law, effecthgeo
the date that the shares of Capital Stock have tvaesferred to the Trustee, the Trustee shall tlev@uthority (at the Trustesesole discretion) (i) to resci
as void any vote cast by a Prohibited Owner paahe discovery by the Corporation that the shafé3apital Stock have been transferred to the €ruan
(ii) to recast such vote in accordance with theirdesof the Trustee acting for the benefit of theaable Beneficiary; provided however, that if the
Corporation has already taken irreversible corgoaation, then the Trustee shall not have the aityho rescind and recast such vote. Notwithstagdhe
provisions of this Article VII, until the Corporaith has received notification that shares of Caj8tack have been transferred into a CharitabletTthe
Corporation shall be entitled to rely on its shaensfer and other stockholder records for purpadegreparing lists of stockholders entitled to evat
meetings, determining the validity and authoritypodxies and otherwise conducting votes of stoakdal.




Section 7.3.4 _ Sale of Shares by Trustdéthin twenty (20) days of receiving notice frahre Corporation that shares of Caj
Stock have been transferred to the Charitable TtustTrustee of the Charitable Trust shall sedlghares held in the Charitable Trust to a pemesignate
by the Trustee, whose ownership of the sharesnaillviolate the ownership limitations set forth Section 7.2.1(a). Upon such sale, the intereshe
Charitable Beneficiary in the shares sold shalinieate and the Trustee shall distribute the netgmds of the sale to the Prohibited Owner and &
Charitable Beneficiary as provided in this SectfoB.4. The Prohibited Owner shall receive the les§€l) the price paid by the Prohibited Owner tioe
shares or, if the Prohibited Owner did not giveueafor the shares in connection with the eventiogube shares to be held in the Charitable Trasg(, in
the case of a gift, devise or other such transa)tibe Market Price of the shares on the day efetvent causing the shares to be held in the @bbeifrus
and (2) the price per share received by the Trysteeof any commissions and other expenses of Balm the sale or other disposition of the shdvelsl ir
the Charitable Trust. The Trustee may reduce theuatrpayable to the Prohibited Owner by the amafidiividends and distributions paid to the Prolt
Owner and owed by the Prohibited Owner to the Breugtursuant to Section 7.3.3 of this Article VIhyAnet sales proceeds in excess of the amount [
to the Prohibited Owner shall be immediately paidhie Charitable Beneficiary. If, prior to the disery by the Corporation that shares of CapitatStrave
been transferred to the Trustee, such shares lrépa Prohibited Owner, then (i) such sharesl dfebleemed to have been sold on behalf of thet Ginc
(i) to the extent that the Prohibited Owner reeéivan amount for such shares that exceeds the ariairsuch Prohibited Owner was entitled to ree
pursuant to this Section 7.3.4, such excess shalbi to the Trustee upon demand.




Section 7.3.5 Purchase Right in Stock Transfeto the Trustee Shares of Capital Stock transferred to the Teusteall b
deemed to have been offered for sale to the Catiparaor its designee, at a price per share equtild lesser of (i) the price per share in thes@ation the
resulted in such transfer to the Charitable Trasti the case of a devise or gift, the Market@at the time of such devise or gift) and (ii) Market Prici
on the date the Corporation, or its designee, asagh offer. The Corporation may reduce the ampapable to the Prohibited Owner by the amou
dividends and distributions paid to the Prohibi@&aner and are owed by the Prohibited Owner to thust€e pursuant to Section 7.3.3 of this Articlé Yhe
Corporation may pay the amount of such reductiothéoTrustee for the benefit of the Charitable Bieray. The Corporation shall have the right tceg
such offer until the Trustee has sold the shar&bihghe Charitable Trust pursuant to Section4/.8lpon such a sale to the Corporation, the intexethe
Charitable Beneficiary in the shares sold shathieate and the Trustee shall distribute the netgeds of the sale to the Prohibited Owner and aigleshd
or other distributions held by the Trustee shalphil to the Charitable Beneficiary.

Section 7.3.6 _ Designation of Charitable Begiafies. By written notice to the Trustee, the Corporatihrall designate one
more nonprofit organizations to be the Charitabend&iciary of the interest in the Charitable Traath that (i) the shares of Capital Stock heldhi
Charitable Trust would not violate the restrictia®s forth in Section 7.2.1(a) in the hands of sObhritable Beneficiary and (ii) each such orgatidramus
be described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code amdributions to each such organization must bakségor deduction under one of Sections 170(bX}.,
2055 and 2522 of the Code.




Section 7.4 NYSE TransactiondNothing in this Article VII shall preclude thetdement of any transaction entered into througt
facilities of the NYSE or any other national seties exchange or automated inteyaler quotation system. The fact that the settéroany transactic
occurs shall not negate the effect of any othevipian of this Article VIl and any transferee inckua transaction shall be subject to althef provisions ar
limitations set forth in this Article VII.

Section 7.5 EnforcementThe Corporation is authorized specifically toksequitable relief, including injunctive relief, nforce th
provisions of this Article VII.

Section 7.6 _No#Vaiver. No delay or failure on the part of the Corpomatar the Board of Directors in exercising any rigletreunde
shall operate as a waiver of any right of the Crapon or the Board of Directors, as the case nggyekcept to the extent specifically waived in ingt

Section 7.7 _Ambiguity In the case of an ambiguity in the applicatiomoy of the provisions of this Article VII, includyj any definitiol
contained in Section 7.1 of this Article VII, the&d of Directors shall have the power to deterntireeapplication of the provisions of this Artidlél with
respect to any situation based on the facts knovitn t

ARTICLE VIII
AMENDMENTS

The Corporation reserves the right from time toetito make any amendment to its Charter, now orafiereauthorized by law, includi
any amendment altering the terms or contract rigtgexpressly set forth in the Charter, of anyeshaf outstanding stock. All rights and powersfeared by
the Charter on stockholders, directors and offieeesgranted subject to this reservation. Excepttlasrwise provided in the Charter, any amendmetibe
Charter shall be valid only if approved by the raffative vote of the holders of a majority of aletkiotes entitled to be cast on the matter. Howeaey
amendment to Section 5.8, Section 6.3, Section/title VII or to this sentence of the Charter blhe valid only if approved by the affirmative wobf the
holders of two-thirds of all the votes entitledo® cast on the matter.




ARTICLE IX
LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

To the maximum extent that Maryland law in effecini time to time permits limitation of the liabilitof directors and officers of
corporation, no present or former director or @fiof the Corporation shall be liable to the Cogpion or its stockholders for money damages. Neithe
amendment nor repeal of this Article IX, nor thejiibn or amendment of any other provision of theu@er or Bylaws inconsistent with this Article I3hal
apply to or affect in any respect the applicabitifythe preceding sentence with respect to anymafdilure to act which occurred prior to such anraent
repeal or adoption.

THIRD : The foregoing amendment to and restatement ofCtharter has been approved by a majority of therd@d Directors an
approved by the stockholders of the Corporatioregaired by law.

FOURTH: The current address of the principal office & @orporation is as set forth in Article IV of tferegoing amended and reste
Charter.

FIFTH : The name and address of the Corporasianirrent resident agent is as set forth in Artidl®f the foregoing amended and rest
Charter.

SIXTH : The number of directors of the Corporation arelthmes of those currently in office are as sehfior Article V of the foregoin
amended and restated Charter.




SEVENTH : The total number of shares of stock which thepBoation had authority to issue immediately priorthis amendment a
restatement was 100 shares, $0.01 par value pe. Stiee aggregate par value of all shares of dtawkng par value was $1.00.

EIGHTH : The total number of shares of stock which thepBmation has authority to issue pursuant to thegoing amended and restze
Charter is 600,000,000, consisting of 400,000,d€res of Common Stock, $0.01 par value per shack280,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, $.0
value per share. The aggregate par value of alesha stock having par value is $6,000,000.00.

NINTH : The undersigned President acknowledges these dgtafl Amendment and Restatement to be the corpacai@f the Corporatic
and as to all matters or facts required to be ieeritinder oath, the undersigned President ackngefethat, to the best of his knowledge, informatiot
belief, these matters and facts are true in alenadtrespects and that this statement is mader uhegenalties for perjury.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has causedethfesicles of Amendment and Restatement to be signéts name and on
behalf by its President and attested to by its&agy on this 17th day of June, 2004.

ATTEST: New York Mortgage Trust, Inc
/sl Michael I. Wirth By: /s/Raymond A. Redlingshafer, . (SEAL)
Michael 1. Wirth Raymond A. Redlingshafer, .

Secretan Presiden




NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC.

ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT

New York Mortgage Trust, Inc., a Maryland corpooatithe "Corporation"), hereby certifies to thet&t@aepartment of Assessments and
Taxation of Maryland that:

FIRST : The charter of the Corporation is hereby amenuedeleting the definitions of "Aggregate Stock Gnship Limit," "Commo
Stock Ownership Limit," "Excepted Holder" and "Epted Holder Limit" in Section 7.1 of Article Sevénh their entirety and inserting the followingliau
thereof:

Adgaregate Stock Ownership LimitThe term "Aggregate Stock Ownership Limit" shakkan not more than 5 percent, or such
higher or lower percentage as the Board of Dirscstirall from time to time determine pursuant toti®ac7.2.8, in value of the aggregate of
the outstanding shares of Capital Stock. The vafuitbe outstanding shares of Capital Stock shaliétermined by the Board of Directors,
which determination shall be conclusive for allpases hereof.

Common Stock Ownership LimitThe term "Common Stock Ownership Limit" shall me®t more than 5 percent (in value or in
number of shares, whichever is more restrictive)such higher or lower percentage as the Board icgcidrs shall from time to time
determine pursuant to Section 7.2.8, of the agdeeghthe outstanding shares of Common Stock. Tiheber and value of outstanding
shares of Common Stock shall be determined by teedBof Directors, which determination shall beauasive for all purposes hereof.

Excepted Holder The term "Excepted Holder" shall mean a stockéiotf the Corporation for whom an Excepted Holdienit.is
created by these Atrticles or by the Board of Dwexpursuant to Section 7.2.7.

Excepted Holder Limit The term "Excepted Holder Limit" shall mean, gded that the affected Excepted Holder agrees to
comply with the requirements established by ther8ad Directors pursuant to Section 7.2.7 and sihje adjustment pursuant to Section
7.2.8, the percentage limit established by the 8o&Directors pursuant to Section 7.2.7.

SECOND: The charter of the Corporation is hereby furweended by deleting Section 7.2.8 of Article Selvémfts entirety and insertil
the following in lieu thereof:




Section 7.2.8 _ Change in Aggregate Stock Ovhieiisimit and Common Stock Ownership LimiThe Board of Directors may
from time to time increase or decrease the CommookSOwnership Limit and the Aggregate Stock Owhigrd.imit; provided, however,
that a decreased Common Stock Ownership Limit anfiggregate Stock Ownership Limit will not be effiwe for any Person whose
percentage ownership of Capital Stock is in exoéssich decreased Common Stock Ownership Limitanéiggregate Stock Ownership
Limit until such time as such Person’s percentag€apital Stock equals or falls below the decreaGedhmon Stock Ownership Limit
and/or Aggregate Stock Ownership Limit, but untitls time as such Person’s percentage of CapitakStlls below such decreased
Common Stock Ownership Limit and/or Aggregate St@stnership Limit, any further acquisition of Capigtock will be in violation of
the Common Stock Ownership Limit and/or Aggregatecs Ownership Limit and, provided further, thaietmew Common Stock
Ownership Limit and/or Aggregate Stock Ownershimitiwould not allow five or fewer individuals (talg into account all Excepted

Holders) to Beneficially Own more than 49.9% inusbf the outstanding Capital Stock or otherwiseseahe Corporation to fail to qualify
as a REIT.

THIRD : The amendments to the charter of the Corporatioset forth above have been duly advised by tlaedBaf Directors and
approved by the stockholders of the Corporatioregsired by law.

FOURTH: There has been no change in the authorized sfdtie Corporation effected by the amendmentsédctiarter of the Corporati
as set forth above.

FIFTH : The undersigned President acknowledges theseléstof Amendment to be the corporate act of thep@ation and as to all
matters or facts required to be verified under gdwh undersigned President acknowledges thattbedht of his knowledge, information and belie¢sth
matters and facts are true in all material respautsthat this statement is made under the pesédtigoerjury.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has causedetifeticles of Amendment to be executed in its name on its behalf by
its President and attested to by its Secretarhisriltlth day of June, 2009.

ATTEST: NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC
By:/s/ Nathan R. Ree: By:/s/ Steven R. Mumm
Name: Nathan R. Rees Name: Steven F Mumma

Title: Secretary Title: Presiden




NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC.

CERTIFICATE OF NOTICE

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT:

FIRST: The Board of Directors of New York Mortgage Trusic., a Maryland corporation (the “Corporationgyrsuant to Section 7.2.8 of
Article VII of the charter of the Corporation (th€harter”), has (i) increased the Common Stock Ownership L{asitdefined in the Charter) to 9.9% (in ve
or number of shares, whichever is more restrictivE}he aggregate of the outstanding shares ofr@mmStock (as defined in the Charter), and (iiyéased
the Aggregate Stock Ownership Limit (as definethim Charter) to 9.9% in value of the aggregatdefautstanding shares of Capital Stock (as defiméae
Charter).

SECOND: The undersigned officer acknowledges this Ce#it of Notice to be the corporate act of the Catian and as to all matters
facts required to be verified under oath, the usidaeed officer acknowledges that to the best okhmwledge, information and belief, these matteus facts
are true in all material respects and that thiestant is made under the penalties for perjury.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused@erificate of Notice to be signed in its name andts behalf by the undersigr
officer and attested to by its Secretary on thiisdéty of May, 2012.

ATTEST: NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC.
/s/Nathan R. Rees By:/s/ Steven R. Mumm (SEAL)
Name: Nathan R. Rees Name: Steven R. Mumn

Title: Secretan Title: President and Chief Executive Offic



Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Prfferred Stock Dividends

(dollars in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,

Exhibit 12.!

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Earnings:

Pretax income from continuing operations $ 69,69 $ 29,10 $ 524: $ 567C $ 10,88¢

Fixed charges 231,17¢ 105,92¢ 4,831 9,611 14,23t

Dividends distributed to shareholders 61,30: 22,30¢ 8,27( 8,10z 7,10¢

Equity investee adjustment (185 (39) 174 (64) -

Noncontrolling interest - 97 (97) - -
Total Earnings $ 361,98¢ $ 157,38¢ $ 18,07¢ $ 23,31¢ % 32,22
Fixed Charges:

Interest expense $ 231,17¢ $ 105,92¢ $ 4837 $ 9,611 $ 14,23t
Total Fixed Charges 231,17¢ 105,92¢ 4,831 9,611 14,23t
Preferred stock dividends 3,56¢ - - - -
Total Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred StouidBids $ 234,74t $ 105,92t $ 4831 $ 9,611 $ 14,23t
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 1.57 1.4¢ 3.74 2.4% 2.2¢
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges antepred
stock dividends 1.54 1.4¢€ 3.74 2.43 2.2¢
Deficiency related to ratio of earnings to fixecaoies NA NA NA NA NA
Deficiency related to ratio of earnings to combifigdd
charges and preferred stock dividends NA NA NA NA NA



Name

List of Significant Subsidiaries

State of Incorporation

Exhibit 21.!

Names under which it does Business

Hypotheca Capital, LLC (formerly known as

The New York Mortgage Company, LLC)
New York Mortgage Funding, LL¢

NYMT Ownership Corporatio

NYMT Securities Corporatio

NYMT Servicing Corporatiol

New York Mortgage Securitization Trust 2(-1
New York Mortgage Securitization Trust 2(-1

New York Mortgage Trust 20(-1

New York Mortgage Trust 20(-2

New York Mortgage Trust 20(-3

NYM Preferred Trust

NYM Preferred Trust |

NYMT Commercial LLC

NYMT -Midway LLC

NYMT Residential, LLC

NYMT Residential 201-RP1, LLC
NYMT Residential Tax, LLC

NYMT Loan Financing, LLC

NYMT Loan Trust 201-RP1, LLC
NYMT Residential 201-RP1, LLC
NYMT Residential Tax 201-RP1, LLC
NYMT Loan Trust 201-RP2, LLC
NYMT Residential 201-RP2, LLC
NYMT Residential Tax 201-RP2, LLC
NYMT Loan Trust 201-RP3, LLC
NYMT Residential 201-RP3, LLC
NYMT Residential Tax 201-RP3, LLC
RB Commercial Mortgage LLC

RB Commercial Trust Series 2012-RS1

New York

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a



Exhibit 23.!

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our reports dated March 10, 201H,respect to the consolidated financial statemamdsinternal control over financial reporting indéd ir
the Annual Report of New York Mortgage Trust, llmm Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2013. We herelmgent to the incorporation
reference of said reports in the Registration &iatds of New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. on Forms @i No. 333186017 effective January 28, 2013,
No. 33:-186016 effective January 14, 2013, File No. 339314 effective April 11, 2012, and File No. 333-088 effective April 18, 2008) and on Forms S
8 (File No. 333-167609 effective June 17, 2010 RitelNo. 333-137987 effective October 13, 2006).

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP

New York, New York
March 10, 2014



Exhibit 31.!

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Steven R. Mumma, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 1fathe year ended December 31, 2013 of New Yorktlygme Trust, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorany untrue statement of a material fact or am#tate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts. under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the period covered by
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemetd, other financial information included in theport, fairly present in all mater
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, andtlfie periods presented in this report;

4. The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure conteoisl procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))1%(nd internal control over financial reportireg @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
() for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedutes ttesigned under our supervisior
ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepare

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finaho#gporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtde reliability of financial reporting and thpeeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallygedeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedisnréport our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regissdnternal control over financial reporting tlatcurred during the registrant's most re
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal damiin the case of an annual report) that has ma#lteaffected, or is reasonably likely
materially affect, the registrant's internal cohtreer financial reporting; and

5. The registrans other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @rarer financic
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatauminmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesse the design or operation of internal controkm¥inancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize and fefpraincial  information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesrmagement or other employees who have a significdetin the registrant's interi
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 10, 2014
/s/ Steven R. Mumma
Steven R. Mumma
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.:

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Fredric S. Starker, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 1fathe year ended December 31, 2013 of New Yorktlygme Trust, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorany untrue statement of a material fact or am#tate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts. under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the period covered by
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemetd, other financial information included in theport, fairly present in all mater
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, andtlfie periods presented in this report;

4. The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure conteoisl procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))1%(nd internal control over financial reportireg @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
() for the registrant and have:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduressaosed such disclosure controls and procedurebetalesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtioe reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallygedeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsrrdport our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #gpsnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regiganternal control over financial reporting tratcurred during the registrant's n
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourthdlsguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably ik
to materially affect, the registrant's internal wohover financial reporting; and

5. The registrans other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @rarer financic
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatauminmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesée the design or operation of internal controkmfinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize and figfpraincial  information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéatin the registrant's interi
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 10, 2014
/sl Fredric S. Starker
Fredric S. Starker
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




Exhibit 32.:

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of New York Myage Trust, Inc., (the “Company”) on Form K@er the year ended December 31, 2013, as filet
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thetaaeof (the “Report”)the undersigned hereby certifies, pursuant to BEI.§ 1350, as adopted pursi
to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200at:t

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgwmAct of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@alition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 has been provided to the Compadywall be retained by the Company and furnishe
the Securities and Exchange Commission or its gfadh request.

Date: March 10, 2014
/sl Steven R. Mumma
Steven R. Mumma
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 10, 2014
/sl Fredric S. Starker
Fredric S. Starker
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




